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When a new international airport is being planned,
when a doctor recommends a treatment to a
patient, when political leaders and society want to
ensure reliable energy supplies for the future,
when a company wants to offer tailor-made service
solutions, when the development of innovative
products demands the creativity, experience and
dedication of a wide range of experts, that’s when
tough decisions have to be made - far-reaching
decisions based on a strong sense of responsibility.

The success of our integrated technology company
rests not only on our technological excellence, power
of innovation and financial strength but also on
our commitment to responsibility — a commitment
that’s made us a strong partner of trust to people
all around the world for 165 years.

Trust unites us -
Building strong partnerships for 165 years




Trust unites us — Building strong
partnerships for 165 years

Ever since our Company was founded, we’ve stood for
technological excellence, quality, reliability and international
focus. Coupling innovative concepts and visionary ideas
with a willingness to take calculable entrepreneurial risks in
order to attain long-term success, our founder, Werner von
Siemens, put us on track for achievement - as the following
milestones from our history attest.

[ WWW.SIEMENS.COM/HISTORY

1872 Siemens establishes a /
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pension fund for employees
and their families.

1870 After only two years of construction,
Siemens begins operation of
the Indo-European telegraph line.

1866 Werner von Siemens discovers /

184 8 Siemens & Halske wins the contract the dynamo-electric principle.
to build a telegraph line from Berlin

to Frankfurt am Main — the longest
communications link on the European
continent.

1847 Werner von Siemens and 1850 Siemens' first sales office

Johann Georg Halske establish outside Germany is opened

Telegraphen-Bauanstalt von in London.

Siemens & Halske in Berlin.
1855 Siemens' first subsidiary outside

Germany is established in

St. Petersburg by Carl von Siemens.
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192 5 The Irish Free State commissions
Siemens to electrify the entire
country.

1938 Siemens scientists formulate the

barrier layer theory, the springboard

for modern semiconductor physics. /
/ \
1932 Siemens-Reiniger-Werke is established to

bring all of Siemens’ businesses in the area
of medical engineering under one roof.

1879 The world’s first electric railway

with an external power source

is showcased in Berlin.

19 03 Siemens-Schuckertwerke is

founded to conduct Siemens’

electrical engineering business. \

T 1897 To broaden its financial base,

Siemens & Halske is reorganized
as a publicly listed company.

[

1951 Construction is begun on a 300-mega-
watt steam power plant in San Nicolds,
Argentina — marking Siemens’ return to

/ the world markets following World War 1.

19 59 Siemens launches the SIMATIC

1972 Siemens supplies important

electrotechnical equipment for
the Olympic Games in Munich.

2 O O 8 Siemens introduces its

Environmental Portfolio.

N\

T 1966 In response to new technological developments
and structural changes on the world market,
Siemens combines its competencies and activities
in a new organization: Siemens AG.

N

2001 The Siemens share is

listed on the New York
Stock Exchange.

control system, enabling it

to capture a leading position
in automation technology. \

2011 In Irsching, Germany,

Siemens sets a world
record for combined cycle
power plant efficiency.

3
1983 In Germany, Siemens installs a

MAGNETOM scanner, the world’s first
magnetic resonance imaging system.



What sets us apart —
What we stand for

People all over the world place their trust in Siemens because,
as an integrated technology company, we're poised to seize
competitive advantages even in a challenging business environ-
ment. Siemens stands for:

Proximity

With activities in some 190 countries, we're close to our customers
worldwide. The construction of Bengaluru International Airport is

a prime example. Siemens employees are on site, providing the air-
port’s operators with products and solutions from a single source.
Our global presence — coupled with development, procurement and
production activities at customer locations all over the world — makes
us a strong local partner and is strengthening our position on tomor-
row's growth markets.

—> PAGE 8

The integrated technology company

Ideas

Our research activities also span the globe. To create the
technologies and innovations of tomorrow, the experts at
our integrated technology company cooperate across organ-
izational as well as regional boundaries, working closely
with customers, universities, research facilities and industry
partners worldwide. The Biograph mMR scanner — devel-
oped in collaboration with Tlbingen University Hospital in
Germany — is just one example of how our pioneering ideas
are benefiting people everywhere.

—> PAGE 20



Strength

As a company with a solid financial basis and an outstanding com-
petitive position, we practice intensive portfolio management, focus-
ing our portfolio and investments on attractive markets with high
growth potential. The successful test of our new six-megawatt wind
turbines in @sterild, Denmark and our strong partnership with the
German utility EnBW Energie Baden-Wiirttemberg AG show how this
strategy is paying off: thanks to timely investments in offshore wind
turbines and combined cycle power plants, we're already profiting
from the transition to a new energy system. Both technologies are
part of our groundbreaking Environmental Portfolio.

—> PAGE 34

_ Networking
==

In all areas of Company-wide relevance, we foster
continuous knowledge exchange across our entire
organization. Our service business is a good example
of how our cross-business activities are creating
value. The IT-supported services we're providing for
machine tool manufacturer Schwabische Werkzeug-
maschinen, for instance, not only improve processes;
they also strengthen customer loyalty. Other cross-
business activities bundle our expertise in procure-
ment and foster the development of our employees.

—> PAGE 54

\ Diversity

We offer our highly qualified, international workforce a wide range
of opportunities for further education and professional development.
Our Company-wide training and continuing education programs —
coupled with measures to make our teams more diverse — are strength-
ening our employees and our management culture and enabling us

to rigorously leverage the power of Siemens across our entire organi-
zation. A specialized software platform allows us to effectively and
successfully coordinate diverse teams across continents and time zones.
We also conduct entry-level programs for university graduates and
run a Company-wide idea management program that enables us to
benefit from our employees’ suggestions.

—> PAGE 66




We invite you to take a look at the five special
reports that follow. In them, our partners,
customers and employees talk about how they
view their day-to-day cooperation with us
and how this cooperation is deepening their
trust in Siemens.

The reports provide a look behind the scenes
at how we’re leveraging the potential of our
integrated technology company and turning it
into reality every day.

Proximity, page 8

Ideas, page 20

Strength, page 34

The integrated technology company Networki »
etworking, page

Diversity, page 66






Trust through proximity

“Progress requires
a high-performance
Infrastructure.”

Home to nearly 8.5 million people, Bangalore is India’s third-largest
metropolitan area. Called the Silicon Valley of India due to the many
IT, aerospace and biotech companies located in and around it, the
city owes its success to an advanced infrastructure that’s also driving
progress across the entire state of Karnataka, which has a popula-
tion of more than 60 million.

Bengaluru International Airport, which was built with the help of

an innovative public-private partnership initiated and supported by
Siemens, is part of this impressive infrastructure development.
Close, trust-based collaboration ensured the huge project’s success.
As Managing Director of the international airports in Bangalore and
Mumbai, G.V. Sanjay Reddy is ideally positioned to understand the
subcontinent’s infrastructure requirements. In the report that follows,
he talks about his experiences.




Proximity

The integrated technology company S

The challenge for Bangalore —

Population growth of roughly
50% between 2001 and 2011 —
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ABOVE — Bangalore’s growth continues unabated.

To meet the needs of its booming population —

which already totals about 8.5 million — the Indian Aerospace industry
metropolis needs a high-performance infrastructure.

. ngh levels of air pollution
India’s \
third-largest city
The challenge for Bangalore

8.5 million inhabitants

in 2011

10 Overburdened
transportation infrastructure



Siemens Corporate Technology established

its first research center in Bangalore in 2004.

Today, experts at the center are conducting
research in areas like software technology
and decentralized energy systems.

IT location

India’s Silicon Valley

RIGHT — As Vice Chairman of the Indian conglomerate
GVK, G.V. Sanjay Reddy is Managing Director of
the international airports in Mumbai and Bangalore.

“Our vision: Bangalore - The Gateway to South India”

G.V. Sanjay Reddy has a vision: to make Bangalore — or, as the local people call
it, Bengaluru — the Gateway to South India. And he and his company, the Indian
conglomerate GVK, are doing everything in their power to make that vision a
reality. In 2011, GVK acquired a majority stake in Bangalore International Airport
Limited (BIAL), the company that owns and operates Bengaluru International
Airport. For Reddy, Vice Chairman of GVK and Managing Director of the airport,
this transaction was much more than just a business venture. “Our plans are
very ambitious and far-reaching,” he says. “In building and operating the air-
port, we have the interests and expectations of the city and the entire region
before our eyes.”

The potential is endless. India is one of the world’s fastest-growing countries.
Since 2004, its economy has expanded at an annual rate of over 8%. And the
Bangalore area has been one of the big winners. Immigrants have poured in
from other parts of India and from all around the world. Many of the newcom-
ers, who now account for more than half of the city’s population, are highly
qualified IT experts employed at the national and international computer and
high-tech companies that have made Bangalore what it is today: a center of
the country’s software industry and the Silicon Valley of India. Between 2001
and 2011, the population of the metropolitan area grew almost 50%. Home to
some 8.5 million people, Bangalore is now India’s third-largest city after Mumbai
and Delhi and one of the country’s key business and commercial centers. To
find sustainable solutions to the challenges facing the booming conurbation,
the local infrastructure will have to be substantially expanded.

G.V. Sanjay Reddy’s predecessors had to start virtually from scratch. At the turn
of the millennium, political leaders in Karnataka realized that economic growth
required a highly efficient infrastructure. However, the public funds available for
its expansion were not sufficient. And the government needed a strong partner.
Having already demonstrated in projects worldwide how innovative transportation
solutions, efficient power supply and advanced healthcare facilities can create an
environment in which economic growth benefits all of a region’s inhabitants,
Siemens filled the bill.




“Public-private partnerships — The formula for India’s success”

Bengaluru International Airport is a prime example of how Siemens provides
financing as well as technological solutions for future-oriented infrastructure
developments. The project was launched in the early 1990s, when a public-
private partnership was first proposed. G.V. Sanjay Reddy is convinced that
cooperative efforts of this kind — partnerships in which governments and private
companies work hand-in-hand to implement projects that benefit entire com-
munities — are “the formula for India’s success.” Why? There are two reasons,
Reddy explains. The first is financing: “The Indian government doesn’t have the
ability to fund the huge infrastructure deficit that we have in India,” he says.
“Over the next five years, the government expects that India will need around
$1 trillion worth of infrastructure investment. And the public sector does not
have the capability to invest that amount.” Therefore, the Indian government is
relying increasingly on private investment. And the second reason why public-
private partnerships are so important is that they offer major advantages for private
companies: “The private sector has the ability,” says Reddy, “to benchmark to
the global best practices and find the best solution.” In the case of Bengaluru
International Airport, for example, that solution was Siemens.

Siemens paved the way for the public project’s private financing and also sub-
sequently invested in BIAL, with Siemens Project Ventures (SPV), a business
unit of Financial Services (SFS), acquiring a 40% stake in the new airport com-
pany. Other investors included Larson & Toubro Ltd., India’s largest engineering
and construction company, and Unique Zurich Airport, a Swiss airport operator,
each of whom acquired a 17% stake. To ensure that the state would also have

a say in the running of this strategically vital infrastructure project, the remain-
ing 26% was split between the government of Karnataka and India’s federal
government. “"And this still applies today,” says G.V. Sanjay Reddy, “because under
Indian law, its 26% stake gives the government a minority veto.”

BIAL has primary entrepreneurial responsibility for the entire airport. To enable
the company to recoup its investment, the Indian government has granted it
long-term rights to collect airline and passenger fees.

Bengaluru

International
Airport T

Public-private partnership

12

» Siemens has been active in India since
1867. Today, the Company has some
17,700 employees in the country.




LEFT/RIGHT — Its international airport is helping make
Bangalore the Gateway to South India. All key air-
port data is collected in the airport’s control tower.

About 12 million passengers in fiscal 2010/2011

/ Sharply increasing passenger numbers

India’s most advanced

~ major airport

AN

Innovative infrastructure solutions
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ABOVE — Countless planes take off from Bengaluru
International Airport every day, linking South India
with cities throughout the world.

July 2004

Contract signed by the Indian
government and the airport operator

\

" July 2005

Construction begun

May 2008
/ X

Official opening



Our Company-wide Siemens One approach en- <
ables us to offer complete, customized solutions —
systematically and across business areas — for

hotels, hospitals and airports, for instance. The

idea behind Siemens One is simple: at an inte-

grated technology company, the whole is greater
than the sum of its parts.

New runway ready for takeoff in record time

After years of preparation, work on Bengaluru International Airport proceeded
very quickly. Construction began 35 kilometers north of the city center in July
2005. Only 33 months later, in May 2008, the first commercial flight took off
from the new runway.

Project implementation was smooth and rapid because Asia’s most advanced
airport had selected a complete, customized technology solution from Siemens.
For the project, Siemens fully leveraged its unique strengths as an integrated
technology company. As in other major projects, we demonstrated locally the
entire scope of our international expertise. For example, all sub-solutions were
internally coordinated in advance. In line with the Siemens One approach, a key
account management team advised the project company every step of the way.

We tackled the challenge head-on, delivering electrical systems on a turnkey basis,
supplying energy for the airport buildings, installing customized IT solutions and
providing suitable mobility solutions — all in record time. The service package
covered everything from planning and delivery to installation and commissioning.
And, as G.V. Sanjay Reddy recalls, our involvement didn't end when the airport
opened: “Siemens was very active in implementing the project from the begin-
ning. The Company is solutions-oriented and views its tasks from a 360-degree
perspective. That makes Siemens a strong, reliable and trustworthy partner.”

G.V. Sanjay Reddy, Managing Director of Bangalore International Airport Limited

“In Siemens, we’ve found a strong, reliable and
trustworthy partner. The company’s technology
leadership - coupled with its strong focus
on sustainability — has made its input into the
project invaluable.”

15



Increasing passenger numbers make expansion necessary

In 2008, when the first flights took off from the new Bengaluru International
Airport, Bangalore had about seven million inhabitants. Today, it has a popula-
tion of nearly 8.5 million. And as the city has grown, so has its airport. In BIAL's
fiscal year 2010/2011, around twelve million travelers passed through the
terminal — an increase of almost 12% over the year before. The original plans
at the end of the 1990s were based on a figure of only 3.7 million passengers

a year. An expansion is necessary, and we're involved in this project too. The
single-source infrastructure solutions for which we're responsible include the
provision of security and electrical systems — from design to commissioning.

As planned, we're scaling back our own financial commitment in view of the
airport’s successful business development. In fiscal 2012, we announced the
sale of a 14% stake in BIAL to G.V. Sanjay Reddy’s GVK Power & Infrastructure
Limited. However, we continue to hold a substantial 26% stake in the airport
operator.

G.V. Sanjay Reddy is looking to the future. Throughout the continued expansion
of Bengaluru International Airport, he intends to keep the focus on sustain-
ability. “We as a company — and Siemens as well — have put a lot of emphasis
on sustainability,” he notes. “For us, receiving the prestigious Golden Peacock
Environment Award in 2012 is both a distinction and an incentive. It honors our
joint activities in the past and sets a new benchmark for the future. We want to
continue our efforts to maintain an environmental balance and minimize adverse
environmental impacts. And it's here that Siemens is making a very valuable
contribution.”

CJ WWW.SIEMENS.COM/AR/PROXIMITY
E] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/AR/PROXIMITY-MOVIE

|

ABOVE — Thanks to innovative Siemens tech-
nologies, passengers can check in very quickly
at Bengaluru International Airport.
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SINGLE-SOURCE INFRASTRUCTURE
SOLUTIONS FROM SIEMENS

Key account Power supply
management
Building technologies

Financing solutions Security systems

IT systems

Overall project

Power distribution systems
management

Fire detection and
alarm systems

Services

Siemens infrastructure solutions

Our intelligent infrastructure solutions are proving their value worldwide.

The construction of Bengaluru International Airport is just one of many projects that
have enabled us to impressively demonstrate our capabilities as an integrated technology
company. In particular, our cross-Sector Key Account Management Program — as is usual
in large-scale projects of this type — provides support for managers on site, from the initial
planning phase to servicing and maintenance. Tapping the full extent of our knowhow,
our Key Account Managers combine solutions from a wide range of Siemens Sectors and
Divisions to create integrated, end-to-end solutions tailored to specific requirements —
thus saving customers valuable time and ensuring outstanding customer support around
the globe. We've bundled our extensive infrastructure portfolio in our Infrastructure &Cities
Sector, which supplies integrated products, solutions and services from a single source —
from mobility and logistics solutions to intelligent power distribution systems to highly
efficient building technologies. Financial Services (SFS) is an international provider

of financing solutions. With its financial and industry knowhow, SFS helps make infra-
structure projects like Bengaluru International Airport a reality.

Not only do we have the necessary technologies in our
portfolio; we also have decades of experience
acquired in bringing hundreds of major projects worldwide
to successful completion.

At the heart of our solutions for Bengaluru International Airport are our IT solutions,
which network all the applications of the airport’s IT landscape and link independent
IT solutions from different suppliers to create a structured, flexible whole. All participants
profit from a simplified data exchange with optimized, accelerated processes.

Bengaluru International’s surveillance and alarm management systems are
equipped with a Siemens danger management system, which bundles all the information
provided by security and fire protection subsystems in a central control room. These
subsystems include an access control system with 105 readers, an audio and voice
evacuation system with 650 loudspeakers, a fire detection system with 1,800 smoke, heat
and flame detectors, an intrusion protection system with 100 detectors and a video
surveillance system with 60 cameras.

17



18

Active worldwide —

At home around the globe

To be a strong and reliable local partner to our customers
worldwide - this is our aspiration. Siemens employees

are working around the clock, in all the world’s time zones
and on every continent to provide trailblazing products
and solutions tailored to individual customer requirements.
This dedication has been our formula for success for

165 years.

As a local supplier with a global presence, we're a trusted
partner everywhere we do business. Our ten largest Regional
Companies alone employ people from some 140 different
countries - experts working for the benefit of our partners,
customers and shareholders worldwide.

Local commitment creates trust and lays the basis for long-
term customer relationships. That's why we've maintained
local development, procurement and manufacturing activities
in many countries for decades. In addition to our more than
290 production facilities worldwide, we have office buildings,
warehouses, R&D centers and sales offices in virtually every
country in the world.

Over the years, we've captured outstanding competitive posi-
tions in the industrialized countries. Now, through a wide
range of measures, we want to further strengthen these posi-
tions and expand our activities in the booming markets of the
emerging countries.

Long-term customer relationships have been the hallmark of
our business for 165 years. To support major customers, we've
set up a Company-wide Key Account Management Program
that enables us to tailor our products, solutions and services to
local customer requirements and regional structures while
ensuring that our Key Account Managers continuously expand
and reinforce our customer relationships on a long-term basis.
These managers, whose performance is measured in terms of

customer-specific growth, report to our cross-Company Market
Development Boards and Vertical Market Management teams,
which are focused, in turn, on the requirements of individual
vertical markets. Staffed by experts from many different busi-
ness units, these organizations leverage our entire portfolio
to provide a comprehensive range of industry-specific, single-
source offerings for customers in the automobile, IT and power
generation industries, for instance.

With 370,000 employees around the
globe, we provide targeted and tailored
solutions to customers worldwide
on a local basis — giving us a virtually
unparalleled competitive advantage.

Worldwide responsibility for revenue and profit generation has
been assigned to our individual operating units. This decen-
tralization of business responsibility benefits customers of all
sizes — particularly the small and medium-sized businesses and
organizations that comprise the largest part of our customer
base — by enabling us to provide locally based support every-
where in the world. Our extensive international sales team,
which is managed by our Regional Clusters and Regional
Companies, ensures the implementation of business-specific
sales strategies. For large-scale projects around the globe,
direct customer support is provided via our headquarters units.



€11.072 billion in revenue (14% of total worldwide)>

119,000 employees (32% of total worldwide)?

44 major R&D facilities (23% of total worldwide)*
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Commonwealth of Independent States
By customer location

As of September 30, 2012

15 employees or more
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As part of Siemens’ Executive Relationship Program, our
100 most important customers are personally supported by
members of Siemens’ Managing Board. To determine if this
program is actually meeting our customers’ expectations, we
conduct annual surveys. For us, the results of these surveys
are crucial since we want to strengthen our customers’ trust —
everywhere in the world.

To gear our activities even more closely to the needs of our
customers and markets worldwide, we're breaking new ground
with innovative projects like our new urban sustainability
centers. These centers provide a common platform where our
experts can work together with scientists, urban planners and
city officials to develop the infrastructure solutions of tomor-
row. Our first sustainability center, the Crystal, opened its
doors in London in 2012. Two more centers — one in Shanghai
and another in New York — are set to follow.

A strong worldwide presence coupled with the power of a
global technology company - that’s what's made us successful
and the strong local partner that we are today — around the
world and around the clock.

<F COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT, PAGES 63-64
71 SIEMENS AT A GLANCE, PAGES 6-7
] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/WORLDWIDE

€22 .864 billion in revenue (29% of total worldwide)?
S 84,000 employees (23% of total worldwide)?

= =2 70 major R&D facilities (37% of total worldwide)*

€15.523 billion in revenue (20% of total worldwide)?

€39.9009 billion in revenue (51% of total worldwide)?
222,000 employees (60% of total worldwide)?
90 major R&D facilities (48% of total worldwide)*
>
<

N

63,000 employees (17% of total worldwide)?

28 major R&D facilities (15% of total worldwide)*

Global presence is the basis of our competitive-
ness. Active in some 190 countries, our Energy,
Healthcare, Industry and Infrastructure & Cities
Sectors occupy leading market and technology
positions worldwide.
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Trust based on ideas

"My son has
new hope.”

Fifteen-year-old Christian from the town of Beuren in south-
west Germany has been diagnosed with cancer. In the summer
of 2011, doctors discovered a tumor in his pancreas. A combina-
tion of chemotherapy and radiation has given him new hope.

Our new Biograph mMR played a major role in Christian’s treat-
ment. The combination of magnetic resonance imaging (MRI)
and positron emission tomography (PET) technology enabled
doctors at Tubingen University Hospital to observe the tumor’s
shape and metabolism in detail and obtain vital information
during the course of his therapy.
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LEFT — A relaxed young man looking
toward the future with confidence:
Christian is again living life to the full.

RIGHT — A summer’s day back home
in Beuren. After a year of worry,

the family is once again enjoying life
together.

Christian’s mother

“This experience has brought us closer
together. We’ve become very caring and
gentle with one another.”

Certainty is the key factor. The therapy has been effective. “Luckily, the tumor’s gone,”
says Christian. Finally, life can return to normal. Now, it's out of the hospital and back

to school. “What | want is to finish school and start an apprenticeship.” A joyful prospect
a year after the big shock of the summer of 2011. At first, Christian felt ill. Then his eyes
and face turned yellow. The diagnosis at Reutlingen Hospital: an advanced pancreatic
tumor obstructing the bile duct. Christian’s mother remembers the fateful day: “l can’t
describe it: tears, anger, rage, sadness — | couldn’t control my feelings.”

Examination with the Biograph mMR scanner

The specialists in Tlbingen launched their attack on the tumor immediately. “I had chemo-
therapy for the first four months, then radiation, and then chemotherapy for four more
months,” reports Christian. “After every second treatment, they stuck me into the tube to
see how well the chemotherapy was working.” The tube, as Christian calls the Siemens
Biograph mMR, is an innovative combination of MRI and PET technology that helps physicians
monitor the impact of chemotherapy treatments. The system can simultaneously display
structures in the body and their metabolic activity.









The question now is: does Christian’s pancreas still contain tumor cells? And if so, how
active are they? In their examinations, the Tiibingen cancer specialists never lose sight
of Christian’s particular situation. “Children aren’t just small versions of adults. That
means we have to consider a wide range of factors when evaluating their symptoms
and determining the length of their examinations,” says Christian’s doctor, Professor
Dr. Jiirgen Schafer.

For Christian, the past year has been an anxious one, full of uncertainty. “I often wondered
if the tumor was getting larger or smaller,” he says. “If it was smaller, that was good, of
course, and a sign the chemo was working. That motivated me to keep fighting.” But he
wasn’'t going to give up anyway. After the first shock, Christian promised himself he'd stay
optimistic no matter what. Fortunately, the examination results boosted his confidence.
The images from the Biograph mMR showed the radiologist both how the tumor’s size
had changed during treatment and how its metabolism was developing — key indicators
of its activity.

Today, the young patient has a very important appointment: together with his mother
and sister, he’s come to Tuibingen University Hospital to find out if his cancer treatment
has been effective. In his patterned hospital gown, Christian lies down on a table in the
examining room before entering the Biograph mMR scanner once again.

FAR LEFT — Professor Dr. Jlirgen
Schéfer and Christian discuss the
upcoming examination in the
Siemens Biograph mMR. It will
show if the tumor is still active.

LEFT — Christian with his mother
and sister on the way to the exam-
ination at Tlibingen University
Hospital.
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Christian

“I feel I'm well looked after in Tubingen.
The doctors are very honest with me.
And I think that’s good - because I want
to know exactly what’s happening and
why I'm doing all these things.”

The examination is over in half an hour. And a few days later, after a detailed evaluation
of the images, Professor Dr. Schafer has good news for his young patient. “Right now, it
looks very good,” reports the head of pediatric radiology in the Department for Diagnostic
and Interventional Radiology. “The functional and metabolic findings show that the therapy
has been successful. The tumor is no longer showing increased metabolic activity.”

Greater certainty thanks to excellent imaging

At the last examination, small remnants of malignant tissue were still visible. But it's now
clear that they're completely inactive. “This is exactly why we're so happy to have this
combination of morphological and functional findings,” says Professor Dr. Schafer. “Since
morphologically a very small remnant was still visible. But it's no longer functioning,
thank God.”

The doctors in Tibingen have been working with the Biograph mMR since March 2011.
For Christian’s mother, it was clear from the beginning that she wanted to exploit this
diagnostic opportunity for her son. “The doctors told us there was a new imaging system
they could use to examine Christian,” she recalls. “l agreed immediately — and now | know
for sure that the therapy’s worked.”

LEFT — Christian prepares for
an examination in the Siemens
Biograph mMR.

BELOW — An assistant inserts
a tube for the PET imaging tracer.

RIGHT — Christian on the table
just before entering the magnetic
field of the molecular MR scanner.
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Professor Dr. Claus Claussen, Tiibingen University Hospital

“Our cooperation with Siemens is based on
enormous trust, which has grown continually
over the years.”

‘
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Professor Dr. Claus Claussen is head of the Radiology
Clinic at Tubingen University Hospital. Professor
Dr. Claussen discusses the prospects for the innovative
technology below.

Professor Dr. Claussen, Tiibingen University Hospital has been using the Siemens
Biograph mMR since March 2011. In your experience, which applications is the
system most suitable for?

PROFESSOR DR. CLAUSSEN: There are currently three fields of application for the Biograph mMR.
About 90% of the applications relate to oncology, where we can identify what stage a
tumor is in and monitor the course of treatment. The other fields are neurological diag-
nostics — in particular, neurodegenerative disease — and metabolic changes near the
heart muscle. The Biograph mMR provides simultaneous, detailed images of the changes
and processes taking place in living organisms. This is a tremendous advance. The
simultaneous acquisition of MR and PET offers precise morphological and functional
insights into the human body and makes it possible to pinpoint even the smallest patho-
logical changes - for example, in the liver, the brain and bone marrow.

How long had you been dreaming about combining MRI and PET in this way?
PROFESSOR DR. cLAUssEN: Computed tomography became well established in the 1970s,
and ever since we've been dreaming of visualizing anatomical structures and forms in
combination with their functions. Dynamic computed tomography, which involves
injecting contrast agents, was developed in the early 1980s. This enabled us to monitor
blood flow in organs and tumors. Positron emission tomography (PET) made it possi-
ble to obtain images of specific metabolic activities in the body but afforded very poor
spatial resolution. Results improved when CT and PET technologies were combined in
PET-CT scanners. Then, about ten years ago, the enhanced contrast achieved in images
of soft tissue by using MRI technology awakened hopes of further improvement — and
today we have the Biograph mMR.

What is the special technical challenge of the Biograph mMR?

PROFESSOR DR. cLAUSSEN: The strong magnetic field of the magnetic resonance imaging
systems interfered with the operation of conventional PET detectors. That's why new
detectors had to be developed for use with magnetic resonance imaging systems. At

our lab for preclinical imaging, Professor Dr. Bernd Pichler performed very important pre-
paratory work before we and Siemens tried out and tested this new technology in a first
combined MRI and PET head scanner. This example highlights how important it is for an
industrial company like Siemens, which is geared to research and development, to lever-
age its customers’ potential and pursue open innovation through joint research projects.

LEFT — Professor Dr. Claussen (left) and Professor
Dr. Schéfer (right) at Tlibingen University Hospital

LEFT ABOVE — Professor Dr. Claussen is head of the
Radiology Clinic at Tlibingen University Hospital.

RIGHT ABOVE — The images of Christian generated by the
Biograph mMR show no tumor activity in the pancreas.

RIGHT — Professor Dr. Schafer evaluates the images
of Christian’s body produced by the Biograph mMR.



Tiibingen University Hospital and Siemens have been cooperating for many
years to develop innovative imaging technologies. How would you describe

this partnership?

PROFESSOR DR. CLAUSSEN: [t's based on enormous trust, which has continually grown over the
years. We were one of the first university hospitals to conclude a cooperation agreement
with Siemens. Since then, we've tested many new Siemens products. The experts were
very skeptical at first about the leading-edge molecular MR process, but Siemens was
convinced that the new technology would succeed, and that conviction is paying off.

Which patients profit most from the Biograph mMR?

PROFESSOR DR. cLAUSSEN: Above all, this new system benefits children and young people
since radiation exposure during imaging is substantially lower than with conventional
exam methods. This is an enormous advantage since we have to monitor the effective-
ness of medications frequently, particularly with young patients’, who are especially
sensitive to radiation.

What new insights do you expect to gain for research?

PROFESSOR DR. CLAUSSEN: [t's still too soon to foresee the full potential of this hybrid MRI » We're inviting more than 100 radiologists, nuclear
and PET technology. We have new therapy options and can now determine much earlier medicine experts and physicists from around the
which therapies are effective — in terms of treatment quality, this definitely represents world to a meeting in December 2012 to discuss

. o . - - thei i ith the Bi h mMR.
a big step forward. But it will certainly be years before we can measure this innovation's eI expeniences with the Blograpim

full impact on healthcare.

If you could make a wish, what would you want from Siemens for the next
generation of diagnostic imaging systems?

PROFESSOR DR. cLAUsseN: Of course there are always things you can wish for — otherwise,
we'd stop dreaming. The ability to visualize functional and physiological processes in
living organisms is already an important advance. This was unimaginable just 20 years
ago. However, we're still just at the beginning, and that's why I'd like the reliability

of diagnostics to increase even more in the future. But the first step has already been
taken. And that's a major milestone for imaging and healthcare in general.

LEFT — The Siemens Biograph mMR
is prepared for the next exam.
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INNOVATION IN IMAGING
SIEMENS’ BIOGRAPH mMR

The two imaging technologies complement one another perfectly: magnetic reso-
nance imaging (MRI) provides millimeter-precise images of the body's organs, while
positron emission tomography (PET) displays, above all, the metabolic activity of cells.
The Siemens Biograph mMR is the world's first device to combine MRI and PET imag-
ing in an integrated system — enabling clinicians to simultaneously capture data on
organ function and metabolism as well as any changes in organs in a single scan.

SIEMENS

60-centimeter-wide opening

\ ‘\ Integrated MRI body coil
l-m‘ Integrated PET detector

MRI gradient coil

)/

Magnet with a field strength
of three tesla

A pioneering achievement in medical imaging,
the Biograph mMR combines two previously separate
technologies in a single system.

For patients, this means diagnoses in less time and with less radiation exposure.
Instead of having to perform several separate scans, clinicians can now acquire all
images in a single process — thus shortening patient waiting times. The integration
of MRI and PET technologies also reduces the amount of radiation that patients are
exposed to, compared to conventional imaging technologies.

Until now, two separate devices were required for these examinations because
the operation of conventional PET detectors is impaired by the strong magnetic fields
generated by MRI scanners. Previously, the images generated had to be superimposed
using special software. This second step reduced precision since patients — and thus
organ positions - often shifted between scans. The Siemens Biograph mMR features
new PET detectors whose operation is not disturbed by the MRI's strong magnetic field.
That's why the innovative system can capture all data simultaneously, recording even
the smallest details and functional processes. Healthcare facilities also profit from
the Siemens Biograph mMR: the system streamlines processes and cuts costs for floor
space and operation by eliminating the need for a second system. And that's to the
advantage of a growing number of patients around the world.

[ wWwWw.SIEMENS.COM/AR/IDEAS
=] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/AR/IDEAS-MOVIE
[JJ WWW.SIEMENS.COM/BIOGRAPHMMR

1 MR scanning has not been established as safe for imaging fetuses and infants less than two years of age. The responsible physician
must evaluate the benefits of the MR examination compared to those of other imaging procedures.

The statements by Siemens’ customers described herein are based on results that were achieved in the customer’s unique setting.
Since there is no “typical” hospital and many variables exist there can be no guarantee that other customers will achieve the same results.
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For us, progress means placing trust
In people with a pioneering spirit

For 165 years, we've been providing answers to the challeng-
es of our day - in the areas of healthcare, energy, industry
and infrastructure. Few companies have more researchers
and developers working to create innovative products and
solutions worldwide. In a record number of research partner-
ships, our R&D employees are shaping technological progress
more actively and openly than ever before.

Never completely satisfied, always looking for better solu-
tions, taking personal responsibility for progress and
blazing new trails in technology - this strategy has made
us the powerhouse in electronics and electrical engineer-
ing that we are today.

The latest figures confirm our power of innovation. Our R&D
employees are now reporting more than twice as many inven-
tions per day as in 2001. In fiscal 2012, we filed 8,900 invention
reports, some 5% more than a year earlier. During the same
period, we increased the number of our patent first filings by
about 7% to 4,600, making us once again a leader in the world-
wide patent statistics and No. 1 in Europe.

Our innovations impact many areas of life — transportation,
industry and healthcare, for instance. Today, people all around
the world rely on trains, metros and light-rail systems from
Siemens to provide them with safe, ecofriendly transport to and
from their homes and places of work. In industry, our product
lifecycle management (PLM) software is making it possible to
develop, simulate and test products in the virtual world and
to model entire production processes before a single screw is
manufactured in the real world. In hospitals, our innovative
liver fibrosis test is enabling doctors to examine patients
suffering from chronic liver disease without having to conduct
time-consuming, potentially dangerous biopsies. And last but
not least, innovations from Siemens are helping shape the
future of energy.

Corporate Technology (CT), our central research department,
has overall responsibility for our strategic and cross-unit
research activities. More than 7,000 CT experts cooperate
across team and national boundaries to ensure that we main-
tain our technology leadership. Products with major profit
potential on the world's innovation-driven growth markets are
developed and then incorporated into our day-to-day business
operations. Our key research focuses today include electric
mobility, sustainable urban development and next-generation
biotechnology.

In fiscal 2012, we invested some
€4.2 billion in research and development.

We've introduced a policy of open innovation. In more than
1,000 research partnerships, we're facilitating targeted infor-
mation exchange and cooperation with leading international
universities and research institutes worldwide.

Technology and innovation — for us, that means securing our
technological basis, helping shape the future with innovative
solutions and strengthening our integrated technology com-
pany. The pioneering spirit of our employees is making us
strong — every day and all around the world.

2| COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT, PAGES 98-101
71 SIEMENS AT A GLANCE, PAGES 8-11
] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/INNOVATION
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Siemens’
position in the 2011
patent statistics

U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office

Patent applications: In 2011, we were No.1in
patent applications at the European Patent Office
and No.3 at the German Patent and Trade Mark
Office — where we were among the most active
patent applicants. According to U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office (USPTO) statistics, as published by
the Intellectual Property Owners Association (IPO),
we were No. 10 in the U.S. in the number of
patents granted.

Major R&D facilities
by region
in fiscal 2012

— 37%

Americas

Europe, C.I.S.,
Middle East
therein Germany (23%)

—1— 48%

—— 15% Asia, Australia

R&D employees: In fiscal 2012, Siemens had
roughly 29,500 R&D employees working at
some 188 locations in more than 30 countries

worldwide to create and develop new solutions

in the areas of energy, industry, infrastructure
and healthcare.

European Patent

Office

No.

No.

Invention reports, patent first filings
and R&D employees (approximate)
in fiscal 2012

29,500

R&D employees

8,900

Invention reports

4,600

Patent first filings

Inventions and patents: In fiscal 2012, Siemens
reported around 8,900 inventions and submit-
ted about 4,600 patent first filings — an average
of some 40 inventions and roughly 21 patents
on each of the 220 workdays in the year. These
inventions and patents were generated by all

our Sectors as well as Corporate Technology, our

central research department.

No.

German Patent and
Trade Mark Office

Revenue from Siemens’
Environmental Portfolio

in fiscal 2012
—1— €78.3 billion — Total Siemens revenue
| ‘i __ Revenue from Siemens’
€33.2 billion Environmental Portfolio

Siemens’ Environmental Portfolio: In fiscal
2012, our Environmental Portfolio, which fea-

tures a large number of innovations, gener-
ated revenue of €33.2 billion and enabled our
customers to cut their CO, emissions by 332
million tons — an amount equal to about 41%

of the CO, emissions generated in Germany
in 2010.
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Creating trust through str

“We care deeply abous
the future of energy.:

Jens Hald Jensen believes the time has come to create a new energy
system. Why? Because he’s convinced that the transition to a sus-
tainable energy infrastructure can stop climate change. And because
he wants to pass on to future generations a world worth living in.
Jensen, a Siemens employee who's project manager at the test center
for wind turbines in the Danish town of @sterild, is working every
day to make our energy supply a little bit greener — one step at a time.

Making a successful transition to a new energy system will require
implementing a complex puzzle of measures. As an integrated technol-
ogy company, we offer a virtually unrivaled portfolio of products and
solutions spanning the entire Power Matrix. On the following pages,
Jens Hald Jensen describes how he’s taking personal responsibility to
help shape the future of energy. And in an interview with Dr. Hans-Josef
Zimmer, Chief Technology Officer for our key customer EnBW Energie
Baden-Wirttemberg AG, you'll learn how one of Germany’s major utility
companies views that future.



Proximity, page 8

Ideas, page 20

Strength

The integrated technology company =

Networking, page 54

Diversity, page 66
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ToP — A logistical tour de force was required just
to transport the Siemens B75 rotor blades 320 kilo-
meters from the Danish port of Esbjerg to @sterild.

LEFT — Clear instructions for the team: Siemens
engineer Jens Hald Jensen (left) oversees the
assembly of the wind turbine with the longest
rotor blade currently in operation worldwide.

CENTER — The housing — or “nacelle” - for the gener-
ating components of the Siemens SWT 6.0 gearless
wind turbine is 15 meters long and 6.5 meters wide.



Jens Hald Jensen,

project manager at the wind turbine test center in @sterild, Denmark

“These rotor blades have a very special magic

for me. I saw them while they were still on the ground,

I was there when they were raised up, and now
I'm watching them rotate and produce energy -
it’s simply magical.”

Transitioning to a new energy system will <«
require implementing diverse measures

that need to fit together like the pieces

of a puzzle. Our engineers are continu-

ally developing and honing a wide variety

of solutions that promise to drive this
transition.

“At 75 meters in length, the new rotor blades have nearly the wing-
span of an Airbus A380.” When Jens Hald Jensen talks about his
work, he makes generous use of superlatives. And today is a very
fitting occasion for them: on this gorgeous August day, the Siemens
engineer is supervising the assembly of the world’s largest wind
turbine rotor. Sporting a white hardhat and neon-yellow safety vest,
Jensen stands in the middle of a test center in the Danish town of
Osterild, where we're testing our latest products before they are
commissioned on site. The test subjects arrived several days ago:
our SWT 6.0 wind turbine, which has a capacity of six megawatts,
and our B75 rotor blades, which, at 75 meters in length, are the
longest blades of their kind currently in operation wordwide. And
although Jens Hald Jensen has worked in the wind industry ever
since earning his university degree, he sees this test as the high-
light of his career to date. “It's simply incredible to stand here
between these gigantic rotor blades — just look at these unbeliev-
able dimensions,” exclaims the engineer from the Danish town of
Brande. “It really is a technical tour de force to be able to manufac-
ture something this imposing in one piece.”

More than just an impressive rotor

For decades, Jensen has dreamed of an energy infrastructure that
relies more heavily on renewable sources such as wind. “The wind
delivers an unbelievable amount of energy around the clock, espe-
cially offshore,” says the engineer enthusiastically. “The transition
to a new energy system is offering us the opportunity to help shape
the future of energy — and that’s where | feel a very personal
responsibility to future generations.”

It's no wonder that Jensen is excited about combining the SWT 6.0
turbine with the B75 rotor blade: a single turbine will be able to
supply green energy to 6,000 European households — emission-
free and without the use of fossil fuels. And the first customers are
already lining up to make large-scale use of the new technology:
plans call for installing 300 SWT 6.0 turbines with a total capacity

of 1,800 megawatts off the coast of the UK between 2014 and 2017.
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Years of offshore experience

Once the turbines and rotor blades have successfully completed

the test phase, two giant cranes lift the housing for the SWT 6.0's
generating components into the air. Under Jensen’s watchful eye,
the housing — or the “nacelle” — is moved in slow motion to the top
of the 120-meter tower. The culmination of more than 20 years of
experience in offshore projects, the SWT 6.0 is remarkable not only
for its output but also for its new drive technology, which is entirely
gearless. Such innovations have enabled our engineers to reduce
the number of components by about 50%. The streamlined design
facilitates maintenance while also cutting down on weight: the
SWT 6.0 is by far the lightest wind turbine in its class. And this, in
turn, lowers costs for the foundation and the tower — making wind
energy more competitive and moving us a step closer to Jensen’s
vision of a greener energy future.

BELOW — Once installed, the gigantic rotor will sweep
an area equivalent to two-and-a-half soccer fields. An
enormous amount of space is also required for unload-
ing the rotor blades and mounting them on the hub
(pictured on the left).




Dr. Michael Sii83,
member of the Managing Board of Siemens AG and CEO of the Energy Sector

“The transition to a new energy system is Germany’s
project of the century. It’s the right strategy, and it’s
feasible. But we still have a long way to go in order
to make it happen. The greatest challenges are the
tight schedule and the required expansion of the
power grid. The world is watching closely to see how
Germany tackles these challenges.”




The largest single-cast fiberglass component

But Jens Hald Jensen has no time for visions today. Because once
the turbine is assembled, it's time to hoist up the three giant rotor
blades with steel cables. “This is the biggest rotor blade we've ever
installed,” notes Jensen. “It's a monumental challenge to hoist up
the blades — which have a total rotor diameter of 154 meters — and
attach them to the turbine.” Each rotor blade looks a bit like a

beached whale, and people standing beside it look as small as they

would next to one of the giant creatures of the sea. After all, the
B75 is the largest single-cast fiberglass component ever constructed.
And it's innovations like this one that Jensen always finds exciting.
“Our intense involvement in this field demonstrates very clearly
that we intend to be pioneers in shaping the future of energy,” he
says during a break. “The products shown here in @sterild under-
score our commitment to leadership.”

Our technologies are bringing the future of energy closer
Siemens offers its customers not only wind power installations but

also a broad portfolio of other products and solutions that will facil-

itate the transition to a new energy infrastructure: long-distance
low-loss high-voltage direct-current transmission systems, compo-

nents for the smart grid of the future, gas turbines with record effi-

ciencies, and high-efficiency electric motors that cut energy con-
sumption. Only an integrated technology company with a broad
portfolio can provide such a complete range of offerings — thus
strengthening public confidence that the transition to a new energy
system can indeed be achieved. Because rebuilding our energy

infrastructure will require much more than “just” phasing out nuclear

energy. Many individual innovations along the entire energy chain

will have to fit together perfectly like the pieces of a puzzle in order

to make tomorrow’s energy supply both reliable and sustainable.
And it's here that our Environmental Portfolio is equipping us to
play a key role.

In @sterild, we've just taken another step forward. After hours of
exacting work, two crane operators and a handful of our technicians

have attached the three rotor blades to the wind turbine. Jens Hald

Jensen looks up with rapt attention, captivated by the imposing
sight. “These rotor blades have a very special magic for me,” he
says pensively. “I saw them while they were still on the ground, |
was there when they were raised up, and now I'm watching them
rotate and produce energy — it's simply magical.” Nothing more
stands in the way of the exhaustive testing that will follow in the
weeks ahead. But for now, Jensen has called it a day. “We did it!"
he exclaims, making no attempt to hide his feelings. “We've just
installed one of the world’s largest wind turbine rotors — now that’s
something you just have to be proud of.”

Dr.Felix Ferlemann, CEO, Siemens Wind Power

“Every second that the rotor, which has
a total diameter of 154 meters,
operates at a wind speed of ten meters

» Thanks to an innovative production
process that eliminates the use of
adhesive joints, the rotor blades are
20% lighter than their conventionally
manufactured counterparts — reduc-
ing operating costs and making wind
energy more attractive.

80

meters per second

290km/h

| @l Maximum rotational speed

per second, it captures the energy
of 200 metric tons of air.”
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LEFT — A job well done: after two huge cranes
have positioned the rotor — which has a total
diameter of 154 meters — specialists connect it
directly to the generator shaft.

ABOVE — Smiles all around following the successful
assembly of the wind turbine: Dr. Felix Ferlemann,
CEO of Siemens Wind Power (center), and Jens
Hald Jensen, project manager in @sterild (back right),
share a proud moment with colleagues.
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Dr. Hans-Josef Zimmer, Chief Technology Officer, EnBW

“Renewables will be a vital pillar of our future
energy supply. As an energy company, we need strong,
reliable partners for the challenges ahead.”
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“Building a new energy
system is a huge challenge.”

Providing energy for the future will require innovative
solutions and strong partnerships. Siemens and the energy
company Energie Baden-Wurttemberg AG (EnBW) have been

cooperating closely for years. Dr. Hans-Josef Zimmer,

Chief Technology Officer of EnBW, talks about the steps

that must be taken to usher in a new energy era.

Dr. Zimmer, the future of energy is currently a hot topic in Germany.
With revenue of more than €18 billion <« What stance is EnBW taking?
in 2011 and some 20,000 employees,  pgr.zimmer: Building a new energy system is a huge challenge for Germany.
EnBW is one of the largest energy And as one of the country’s largest energy companies, we're tackling it head-
companies in Germany and in Europe. on. In terms of our strategy, this means we're continuing to safequard our
position as a low-carbon energy producer. In addition to supplying power
from highly efficient conventional plants, we intend to double the amount
of power we generate from renewable energies by 2020. We already have
a relatively large share of hydropower-based renewables in our portfolio.
By 2020, we want to further expand our installed capacity from renewables
by about 3,000 megawatts.

One step in this direction is certainly the EnBW Baltic 1 wind farm,
Germany's first commercial offshore wind installation. Your company
partnered with us on its construction in 2011. How did the idea for
this project develop, and what conclusions have you drawn from the
operation of the wind farm?
Dr. Hans-Josef Zimmer (54), Chief <« pr.zimmer: We on EnBW's executive board decided in fiscal 2007/2008 that we
Technology Officer of EnBW, is a wanted to invest more heavily in renewable energies. Complementing our
mechanical engineer who has been traditionally strong involvement in hydropower, we've defined wind energy
employed at EnBW for 23 years. He's . . .
as a further focus. Following extensive analyses, we concluded that wind

installed a solar-thermal system at X X .
his own home to provide heat and turbines and wind farms, both onshore and offshore, could be particularly

hot water. Zimmer was also one profitable. That's why in 2008 we bought four licenses for offshore instal-
of EnBW's first customers to opt for lations - two in the Baltic Sea and two in the North Sea — and now we're in
a smart electricity meter — which the process of developing these projects. The EnBW Baltic 1 wind farm has
quickly showed him that power con- 21 wind turbines from Siemens and a total capacity of up to 48.3 megawatts.

sumption can be slashed by switch-
ing devices off rather than operating
them in standby mode.

We're very satisfied with its current performance. Availability is very good,
and we achieved quite gratifying overall results the first year.

How’s the partnership with Siemens worked out?

pr.zimmer: When planning and implementing projects of this magnitude, we
need reliable partners who keep their promises. Since the very beginning of
the EnBW Baltic 1 project, the cooperation with our colleagues at Siemens has
been characterized by great trust. And this trust is also based on our experi-
ence in other major projects on which we have partnered.

EnBW Baltic 1 is quite far from your home region in southwestern
Germany. How is the electricity generated there distributed through-
out the country?

pr.zimmer: Our wind farm in the Baltic feeds directly into the 50-hertz grid.
From there, the energy is further distributed within Germany via an extensive
interconnected grid. If we build more wind farms on the coast and offshore,
where there’s lots of wind, we'll have to transport large amounts of energy

to the southern part of the country. By 2030, offshore wind farms operating
off Germany's coasts are expected to be supplying 25,000 megawatts of elec-
tricity. That's why we'll also need low-loss high-voltage direct-current (HVDC)
transmission in the future. The grid development plan prepared by our 43
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subsidiary Transnet BW and three other grid operators foresees HVDC trans-
mission lines along several corridors. However, I'm assuming the approval
process will take a very long time. There are also technical challenges to be
mastered — because, even though HVDC lines have already been installed

in countries like China and India, that doesn't mean such routes can be planned
and implemented overnight in Germany. On the contrary, the process will
take several years. But we must address this challenge if we want to succeed
in restructuring the energy system.

In our view, highly efficient power plants like our combined cycle
plants are another factor that can facilitate the transition to a new
energy infrastructure: Stadtwerke Diisseldorf, a municipal utility

in which EnBW holds a majority stake, plans to build just such a plant
at the Lausward site in Diisseldorf. As with the EnBW Baltic 1 and 2
projects, Siemens will be the supplier. What criteria played a role

in your investment decision?

or.zimmer: Combined cycle power plants of the type supplied by Siemens
are highly efficient systems that generate low-carbon power. They have fast-
start capability and are highly flexible in terms of startup and shutdown —
which makes them particularly suitable for an energy market moving toward
fluctuating renewable energies. Of course, in addition to boasting high effi-
ciency and rapid startup, every new plant must also be economically viable.

Another concern is reducing energy consumption, in other words,
saving electricity. What can an energy company like EnBW contribute
here?

pr.zimMer: A couple years ago, our slogan was “Empowered to cut consump-
tion.” Now you could, of course, say that a utility company should be happy

if its customers use lots of energy. But quite the opposite is true: we want to
help our customers conserve energy and boost energy efficiency. For years,
we've been offering tailored solutions that make our customers’ operations
more energy-efficient. One thing is clear to us: at EnBW, we can be compet-
itive only if we provide our industry customers with energy that is so afford-
able that they can keep their production in Germany.

Smart grids are one option for flattening consumption peaks. To what
extent is EnBW involved here?

pr.zimmer: We've been testing smart grids in trial communities for several
years now. We're also analyzing how our customers can benefit from intelli-
gent electricity meters. We want to help our private, business and industry
customers consume less energy. For example, appliances and equipment that
require a lot of energy should be operated at night, when electricity is less
expensive, rather during the day, when demand is high.

That sounds like a business field with lots of potential for EnBW.
How can Siemens provide support here?

DR.zIMMER: Siemens is a technology leader in many fields. Since the entire
development process for the production, distribution and consumption

of energy is extremely complex, system providers like Siemens have major
market opportunities.

In your view, what factors are most crucial for the successful
transition to a new energy system?

or.zimmer: We need a wide range of technical solutions to make the new
system a success. In addition, a very stable legal framework for marketing
renewables must be in place. We also need to expand the grid so that
energy from the generation centers, which in the future will be in northern
Germany, can be transported to the consumption centers in the south. We'll
need a greater number of highly flexible power plants, such as the combined
cycle plants I've already mentioned. In addition — and this is very important —

ABOVE — EnBW has commissioned
Germany's first commercial offshore
wind farm, the EnBW Baltic 1 project,
using wind turbines from Siemens.
Comprising 21 turbines with a total
capacity of 48.3 megawatts, the instal-
lation is located in the Baltic Sea, about
16 kilometers north of the German town
of Zingst on the DarB peninsula.



we'll need a public consensus to implement all of these things. Grid expan-
sion will entail installing hundreds of kilometers of transmission lines all across
Germany. And the construction of additional pumped-storage hydropower
plants to store energy temporarily will also have an impact on the environ-
ment. We have to convince people and make it clear that the transition to a
new energy system cannot be accomplished from one day to the next but will
require a great deal of patience, money and effort.

In which of these fields do you anticipate major advances?

pr.zimmer: We need highly efficient plants, but it will take time to develop
them. After all, Siemens didn't develop its high-efficiency combined cycle
plants overnight. And we'll also need time to install HVDC transmission lines
and smart grids throughout Germany. Until that happens, coal-fired plants
will also be a component of the evolving energy system. While such power
plants will still be necessary as a backup for many decades to come, they'll be
more efficient than before, delivering the same output while consuming
much less fuel.

Now you've brought up the topic of the energy mix. How will the
energy mix at EnBW look ten years from now?

pr.zimmer: While EnBW will also still be operating conventional plants in ten
years, we intend — compared to today — to double the share of renewables by
2020, expanding their capacity by about 3,000 megawatts. Renewable energy
sources include offshore wind, onshore wind, photovoltaics, biogas and water.
To obtain an economically viable mix, all types of renewable energies will
have to be combined. That's how the restructuring of the energy system will
succeed.

What do you expect of Siemens in this context?

pr.zimmer: We expect that Siemens will always be at the cutting edge of tech-
nology and that we can count on Siemens as a technology leader who provides
us with efficient solutions — solutions that make sense from both an eco-
nomic and an environmental perspective. We value Siemens’ power of inno-
vation. And we value the trust that we have in Siemens, which has evolved
over many decades, just like the plants that we built together and are suc-
cessfully operating today. We expect Siemens to continue pursuing this strat-
egy and to offer us the best solutions on the market. And we at EnBW wish
Siemens every success in this endeavor.

[JJ WWW.SIEMENS.COM/AR/STRENGTH
B WWW.SIEMENS.COM/AR/STRENGTH-MOVIE

LEFT — Plans are far advanced for the con-
struction of the world’s most efficient natural
gas power plant — an order placed by Stadt-
werke Dusseldorf, a municipal utility in which
EnBW holds a majority stake. Here EnBW
Chief Technology Officer Hans-Josef Zimmer
examines up-to-date project planning infor-
mation from Siemens. The plant is expected
to begin supplying ecofriendly electricity
and district heating in 2016.
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THE FUTURE OF ENERGY —
A COMPLEX PUZZLE OF MEASURES
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Demand management
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Ensuringla reliable
power supply

The foremost aim of all the measures that are
bringing about sustainable change in the energy
system must be to ensure the reliable availability of
energy — at all times and at prices that are afford-
able for all. Blackouts must be avoided, and the
international competitiveness of industry must not
be endangered by excessive energy costs. That's
why the various measures comprising the pieces of
the energy puzzle require careful planning and
implementation. Only if these measures find broad
public acceptance and fit together perfectly will the
restructuring of the energy system be a success and
the solutions deployed succeed on international
markets.

conventional power plants

When the wind subsides or clouds cover the sun,
fluctuations in power output must be offset fast —
for example, by using combined cycle power plants.
In less than 30 minutes, such plants can be gener-
ating enough power for a city the size of Berlin. As
the world's most efficient model — from Siemens —
shows, combined cycle plants can reach an effi-
ciency of almost 61% when converting natural gas
into electricity, and waste heat can be used for
heating. In many countries, coal will remain a key
pillar of power generation for years to come. Coal-
fired plants can also be made much cleaner and
more efficient. What's more, CO, can be separated
from waste gas, stored underground or used for
industrial purposes. Researchers are working on
converting CO, into methane and the raw materials
needed to produce biofuels and bioplastics.

Balancing supply
and demand

Often, it doesn't matter if the power for a refriger-
ated warehouse or an air conditioning system is
shut off briefly — just as it's hardly noticeable if an
elevator is moving a little more slowly than usual.
These are just a few of the many possibilities for
cutting energy consumption. Such demand man-
agement eases the burden on power grids. Our
researchers are now developing building automation
systems that adapt energy consumption to price
fluctuations in real time, flattening demand peaks.

Smart grids:Making power
grids more intelligent

Fifteen years ago, there were only a few hundred
energy producers in Germany. In the future, there
will be thousands, generating power from solar, wind
and biomass installations and residential cogenera-
tion units. Energy consumers are increasingly becom-
ing producers too — “prosumers.” This development,
coupled with the growing use of fluctuating renew-
ables, is making smart grids indispensable. Using
sensors, variable network components and self-organ-
izing software modules, smart grids maintain a
balance between production and consumption. We're
testing these grids in Germany’s Allgdu region, where
private producers are generating over three times
as much electricity as they use.

Saving electricity and using
it more efficiently

The cleanest energy is always the energy that's not
used. Industry offers considerable potential for
savings. Electric motors — for pumps and drives, for
example — account for nearly two-thirds of indus-
trial power consumption. Our energy-saving motors
and intelligent controls slash power consumption
by up to 60% and pay for themselves in under two
years. In the area of transportation, electric motors —
in buses, trains and cars — are about three times as
efficient as combustion engines. In buildings, which
consume 40% of the power required worldwide,
substantial savings can be achieved by using insu-
lation, heat pumps, intelligent building techno-
logies and efficient lighting systems. Household
appliances also harbor huge savings potential.
Today’s advanced models use less than half the
power needed by their predecessors in the 1990s.

QO
Offeringin

financing solutions

If companies, towns and cities are to cut their
energy consumption even when budgets are tight,
they'll need intelligent financing solutions. One
proven approach is our energy-saving performance
contracting — a combination of consulting, instal-
lation and financing services. Customers are not
required to make any upfront investment; project
costs are amortized with the energy savings achieved.
Using this model, we've upgraded more than
4,500 facilities worldwide — generating savings of
roughly €1 billion.

Making renewables
competitive

If half of Germany’s energy is to come from re-
newable sources by 2030 (and some 80% by 2050),
then these must be competitive without being
subsidized. For wind power in particular, this goal
will soon be reality. We're currently pushing inno-
vations that are expected to make electricity from
wind power as economical as energy from coal.
Our innovations range from scimitar-shaped rotor
blades and gearless turbines to adaptive software
that optimally adjusts wind loads, automated
production processes and the longest rotor blades
currently in operation worldwide for the most
efficient offshore wind turbines on the market.

Buildi w-loss
power superhighways

Renewable resources, like wind on the high seas
and sun in warm regions, are best harvested where
they're most abundant. And that’s why long-distance
transmission networks must be expanded — across
national borders and via underground cables and
highly efficient power superhighways based on
high-voltage direct-current (HVDC) transmission
technology. An HVDC line we installed in China is
showing how a link based on this technology can
transport 5,000 megawatts — the output of five
large power plants — across a distance of 1,400 kilo-
meters with a loss of only about 5%. With conven-
tional alternating-current power lines, losses would
be two to three times higher. And HVDC transmis-
sion technology can also be used offshore: an HVDC
link is now transporting green electricity from the
Spanish mainland to Mallorca.

Developing and expanding
energy storage facilities

When the weather changes, so does the output of
wind and solar installations. That's why facilities that
can store excess energy for hours or even weeks are
indispensable. One promising technology is electro-
lysis, which uses surplus energy to produce hydro-
gen, an energy carrier that can be fed into the natural
gas grid, stored in subterranean caverns, reconverted
into electricity and used in industrial processes or
fuel-cell vehicles. Batteries in buildings and electric
cars can also act as intermediate energy storage
devices. We're conducting research in all these fields.
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OUR SOLUTIONS —
SHAPING THE FUTURE OF ENERGY

We're convinced that the transition to a new energy system will succeed. It will unleash
a wave of innovation and create an exemplary energy infrastructure. Our technologies
are making it possible to increase the share of renewables in the energy mix and slash
greenhouse gas emissions. To make the transition a success, a variety of measures will
have to be implemented - measures that fit together like the pieces of a puzzle. Here are
some examples of how our technologies are already shaping the future of energy.

2
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6 cogeneration modules

5 hydropower plants

Virtual power plant

1 wind turbine assembly Smart grids: Making power

grids more intelligent

Can be virtually expanded at any time

20 MW MUNICH, GERMANY
Current capacity

We've partnered with Stadtwerke Miinchen, Munich’s
municipal utility, to develop and implement a so-called
virtual power plant in which a number of small-scale,
decentralized power generation installations are net-
worked and operated as a single system. In the first stage,
cogeneration plants with a total output of eight mega-
watts were virtually combined with renewable-energy
generating units with a capacity of 12 megawatts.

The main aim of the virtual power plant is to improve the
reliability of planning and forecasting for the decentralized
power generation systems in the area served by Stadt-
werke Miinchen. Operation is more efficient and economi-
cal than when the individual units are deployed separately.
What's more, the virtual power plant can serve as a key
element of a smart grid, maximizing the benefits for both
the operators of the decentralized energy installations and
the power suppliers. The core component of this virtual
interconnection is our Decentralized Energy Management
System (DEMS), which is enabling the Munich utility not
only to optimize the deployment and operation of decen-
tralized power generation facilities and power loads but
also to create value through enhanced marketing scope.
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Better forecasts for
electricity production

Ensuring a reliable
power supply

Grid forecast software

LAUFENBURG, SWITZERLAND
Our self-learning software system is stabilizing the ~ 9 OO/O predictive accuracy over a 72-hour period
power grid operated by Swissgrid in Laufenburg,
Switzerland. The program can forecast the electrical
output of renewable energy sources over a 72-hour
period with more than 90% accuracy. This information
helps grid operators calculate power demand in their ~=€2 OO OOO in annual savings
networks and achieve the greatest possible precision !

when determining the amount of additional electricity

to be ordered in advance.


http://www.siemens.com/future-of-energy

Electricity for 1, 500 households

w 600-kKW turbines

AN

Tidal current power plant

In operation since 2 008

Making renewables
competitive

STRANGFORD, IRELAND

Northern Ireland’s Strangford Lough is home to the
world’s first commercial tidal current power plant.
Since November 2008, two turbines have been produc-
ing a combined output of 1.2 megawatts — enough
electricity to meet the needs of 1,500 households.

To date, the installation has fed more than five giga-
watt-hours of electrical energy into the grid, making

it the world's largest tidal turbine project. Further tidal
farms are now in the planning phase: the eight-mega-
watt Kyle Rhea project in Scotland and the ten-mega-
watt Anglesey Skerries project in Wales.

Overall natural gas fuel utilization rate of

85%

Electrical output of

595 MW

Combined cycle power plant

Boosting the efficiency of
conventional power plants

Electrical efficiency > 610/0

DUSSELDORF, GERMANY
We're building a record-breaking combined cycle power
plant in Dusseldorf, Germany. Boasting an electrical out-
put of 595 megawatts, the facility will set a new world
record for a single power plant in combined cycle opera-
tion. With a net efficiency of more than 61%, it will also
surpass the previous world record of 60.75%. And the
plant will set a third record as well: never before has
it been possible to extract 300 megawatts of thermal
energy from a single combined cycle plant for use in
a district heating system.



Western link HYDC

Building low-loss
power superhighways

HUNTERSTON/CONNAH’S QUAY, UNITED KINGDOM
We're building the first submarine direct-current grid
connection in the Irish Sea. With a voltage of 600 kilo-
volts, this link will surpass the previous record of
500 kilovolts. The low-loss high-voltage direct-current
= (HVDC) transmission system will connect Hunterston,
near Glasgow on Scotland’s western coast, with
Connah’s Quay, in northwestern England. The link,
which will have a capacity of 2,200 megawatts, is
scheduled to go into operation at the end of 2015.

Connected load of approximately

5,000 kW

Saving electricity and using
it more efficiently

Efficiency class I EZ

Electric motors for a brick factory

500,000 kWh

in annual savings
ALFONSINE, ITALY

Italy’s most advanced brick-making plant, located

in the town of Alfonsine, showcases the potential of

. . ent.er.gy—efficient technologies. Thanks to our highly

after only six months efficient asynchronous motors, the amount of power
consumed by the factory’s electric drives — 170 motors
with a total capacity of 1,065 kilowatts are in opera-
tion on the drying line alone — has been slashed by
500,000 kilowatt-hours. Investment costs were amor-
tized within a short time. The result? Not only have
costs been cut; the plant’s environmental footprint has
also been reduced.

Energy management
for retailers

Electricity bills cut by 150/0 - 300/0

N—"1

¢ £ooo

OO0 OO

Option: adjust consumption
to changing market prices

Perceived improvement
of indoor climate

Balancing supply
and demand

IRVING, TEXAS, U.S.
With more than 1,000 stores in North America,
Michaels is the largest supplier of arts and crafts mer-
chandise in the U.S. Energy is the company’s second-
highest line-item expense, after labor costs. With this
in mind, Michaels has equipped nearly all its stores
with our RCS energy management platform. Intelligent
sensors and software operate on a real-time basis
to monitor and regulate heating, cooling, lighting and 50
humidity — resulting in energy savings of some 25%.



e 420 km vorase 600KV

oupu 2,200 MW
Project completion 2015

Energy savings of

6,300 MWh /year

CO, emissions cut by

1,000 tons/year

Self-financing energy-saving

performance contract
2012

European Energy Service Award

H,

Electrolyzers

Developing and expanding
energy storage facilities

ERLANGEN, GERMANY

It's a promising solution for storing electricity generated
by wind and solar power: electrolysis is used to split
water into oxygen and hydrogen. The hydrogen is then
stored and later used to power vehicles and turbines or
for applications in industrial processes. A test unit with
a peak power rating of 0.3 megawatts produces two

to six kilograms of hydrogen an hour. When electricity
from renewable sources is used for electrolysis, hydrogen
production is virtually climate-neutral. The next gen-
eration of electrolyzers, which will have a rated power
of two megawatts, is expected to be ready for use in
the medium term. Researchers are aiming to develop
an electrolyzer that has up to a triple-digit-megawatt
maximum power rating and can accommodate the
surplus energy generated by a large wind farm.

Energy performance contracting

Offering intelligent
financing solutions

VELLINGE, SWEDEN

The town of Vellinge, in southern Sweden, has imple-
mented a self-financing energy modernization project
for its municipal properties. Thanks to our advanced
building technology systems, energy consumption and
costs for the town’s administrative buildings, schools,
retirement homes and public swimming pools have
been slashed. Under our energy-saving performance
contracting model, we covered all upfront costs. The
community of Vellinge will pay for the modernization
through contractually guaranteed energy cost savings
within the next few years.

Hydrogen as storage medium

Technology under development

Storing wind and solar power
in the form of hydrogen

For example, using hydrogen
to power fuel-cell vehicles
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A strong portfolio — Geared to
tomorrow’s growth markets

The world is being transformed: the parameters of daily life
and economic activity are changing faster than ever before.
This development is providing us with tremendous opportuni-
ties to continually improve our position in growth markets
worldwide. Intensive portfolio management is enabling our
innovation-driven Company to identify new business fields
early on and capture leading market positions.

We can generate sustainable growth only if we focus on
attractive future markets. That’s why we practice inten-
sive, systematic portfolio management.

All our business activities have the same ambitious goal: we
want to capture a No.1 or No.2 position in all our markets — be-
cause that's the only way to generate profitable growth and
increase our Company’s value in the long term. A look at our
past confirms that we've always been particularly successful
when we've been a market and technology leader.

And we want our pioneering achievements to continue driving
our business success in the future. With this in mind, we're
continually adapting our portfolio to major global trends
through both organic growth and acquisitions, for which we
apply strict criteria. Our policy of intensive portfolio manage-
ment is enabling us to move into attractive future markets
quickly and capture leading competitive positions.

In the IT field for example, we're already one of the largest
software companies in Europe — a position we're steadily
expanding through targeted acquisitions. In 2012, for instance,
we acquired RuggedCom Inc. of Canada, a leading supplier
of communications and network solutions for industry. This
acquisition is strengthening our position in the areas of
industrial Ethernet and industrial routers and switches.

Over the last few years, we've introduced a large number of
energy-efficient, low-carbon solutions that enable customers
to slash their CO, emissions and, by reducing their energy
costs, increase their competitiveness.

Our future-oriented portfolio
strategy is strengthening our
Company’s profile and sharpening
our focus on innovation-driven
growth markets.

These solutions are part of our Environmental Portfolio which,
like our activities in the IT field, is one of our strategic growth
drivers. In fiscal 2012, we generated revenue of €33.2 billion
with Portfolio offerings, an amount equal to around 42% of our
total sales. Here, too, we've set ambitious targets: we want to
achieve revenue of €40.0 billion with our green technologies
by the end of fiscal 2014. And this target remains unchanged,
although our planned disposals of OSRAM, our Water Tech-
nologies Business Unit and our solar business will make its
achievement considerably more challenging. We're already one
of the world’s largest suppliers of ecofriendly technologies. By
rigorously pushing the development of these technologies,
we're making a major contribution to sustainable climate
and environmental protection while ensuring our long-term
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business success. Our commitment to sustainable develop-
ment is also being recognized by external observers: at the
end of fiscal 2012, Siemens was named Supersector Leader in
the Industrial Goods and Services category of the Dow Jones
Sustainable Index (DJSI) for the first time. We also won the top
spot for sustainability in the Diversified Industrials category.

As a technology leader, we're helping shape the future of
energy. The conventional energy chain — comprising the gen-
eration, conversion, distribution and effective use of power —
is evolving into a multi-layered system with many new par-
ticipants. Power generation is becoming more decentralized,
with energy increasingly coming from renewable sources. At
the same time, more power is being used by new consumers,
for example, in the area of electric mobility. Our portfolio of-
fers innovative and sustainable solutions for key areas of this
new Power Matrix — solutions that will be vital to a successful
transition to a new energy system.

IT, our Environmental Portfolio, our contribution to the future
of energy: these are just three examples of how we're actively
gearing our portfolio to attractive growth markets while equip-
ping our Company for market leadership and sustainable
growth.

% COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT, PAGES 63-64
[JJ wwWw.SIEMENS.COM/PORTFOLIO

The businesses and markets associated with the
energy system are a key focus of our portfolio
management activities. Looking to the future,
the role of decentralized power generation will
continue to grow — as will the complexity of the
power grid. The linear energy chain is currently
evolving into a many-layered system with a large
number of new participants — we call it the
Power Matrix. This transformation is opening up
huge new market opportunities for us. With our
innovative products and solutions, we're already
supplying key elements of the Power Matrix.
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Everyone’s
a winner

Downtime is every manufacturer’s nightmare — particularly when delivery
schedules are tight. To minimize it, we've joined forces with customers
to develop ePS Network Services — an IT-supported service offering that
maximizes transparency in manufacturing processes and creates added
value. With ePS, everyone’s a winner — as the network linking a German
manufacturer of highly specialized machine tools with its Dutch partners
illustrates. In the following report, Johannes Zuckschwerdt and Ton de
Bruine talk about their experience with ePS.
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No problems overnight

Checking his machines first thing in the morning, Johannes Zuckschwerdt
finds everything running smoothly: no error reports in the last few hours.
Zuckschwerdt is responsible for developing new services at the medium-sized
company Schwabische Werkzeugmaschinen (SW). Headquartered in south-
western Germany, SW specializes in producing top-quality multi-spindle
machining centers and manufacturing systems — primarily for customers in the
automobile, hydraulics and aviation industries. Specially designed for series
production, these machining centers and manufacturing systems enable custom-
ers to process, for example, the cast parts from which components like the
high-precision hydraulic valve blocks installed in virtually all of today’s cars world-
wide are manufactured. Around-the-clock operation with minimal downtime

is vital for optimal large-scale production.

Availability and world-class service are the key factors in SW's success. Wher-
ever the machines are — in Mexico, Brazil or China — Zuckschwerdt and his
colleagues can monitor their operation precisely — thanks to Siemens’ remote
ePS Network Services, which permanently link SW’s machines to their develop-
ers in Germany via an encrypted Internet connection. Experts can now work
proactively. “We can see early on when a part needs changing,” says Peter
Siegel, initiator of online services at SW. The company’s specialists access the
machines’ centrally-stored status information, initiate analyses and isolate
problems online to forestall expensive failures. And this is just one side of the
coin: SW also uses the collected data to help customers run their machines
more efficiently.

Ten years ago, Siegel was searching for ways to expand SW's services, improve
customer support and intensify customer loyalty worldwide. Then, in 2002,
he met Jochen Heinz from Siemens. Heinz had the solution Siegel was looking
for. “Siemens’ ePS Network Services were market-ready at that point,” Heinz
explains. “We've continued developing them with partners like SW ever since.”

» Headquartered in southwestern Germany,
Schwabische Werkzeugmaschinen has around
300 employees and produces highly specialized
machine tools for customers in Europe and
around the world.

Lifecycle management

Collecting and analyzing machine

data enables users to enhance

A
machine productivity. A

="

e J

.

J

2475

AROUND-THE-CLOCK MONITORING DIAGNOSTIC SERVICES

— lays the basis for reliable production — optimize capacity utilization
processes — accelerate fault processing

— detects faults early on and prevents
machine downtime

— systematically manages improvements
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— enable in-depth error diagnoses

SCHEDULED MAINTENANCE

— optimizes maintenance processes

— schedules preventive and status-oriented
maintenance procedures

- reduces machine failures

— increases machine uptime

— improves capacity utilization

— prevents costly unplanned repairs
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Quickly spotting a chance to move to the forefront of IT-supported services,
Peter Siegel put his trust in Siemens. “Close collaboration was an obvious

choice since Siemens had already been a reliable partner for years,” he recalls.

“We've been outfitting most of our machine tools with Siemens controls
for more than 20 years. For example, we're currently using SIMODRIVE and
SINAMICS converters and SINUMERIK control systems.”

Competitive advantages thanks to Siemens technology

Siemens’ online services provide SW with a key competitive edge — beyond
maintenance and servicing. “Using a machine’s diagnostic data, we can
show customers how to increase their output by improving their processes,
for example,” explains Siegel. The payoff is closer customer relationships,
increased revenue and valuable ideas for new machine development. And
Siemens profits too: “ePS enables us to support our customers and our custom-
ers’ customers,” says Jochen Heinz. The result: new business opportunities for
everyone concerned.

LEFT — SW equips most of its machine
tools with our SINUMERIK control
systems, which operate perfectly with
ePS Network Services.

BELOW — Jochen Heinz from Siemens
(left) and Peter Siegel from SW have
been refining ePS Network Services
for many years.
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ABOVE — ePS Network Services are mobile:
whether at the company or on the road,
Johannes Zuckschwerdt can access SW
machine status data worldwide via tablet
computer.

Johannes Zuckschwerdt, head of new services development
at Schwébische Werkzeugmaschinen

“As a highly specialized medium-sized
company, we can’t maintain a local
presence worldwide. But with Siemens’
outstanding online services, we can still
keep very close to our customers.”
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Siemens’ IT-supported services

Its partnership with Siemens is enabling Schwabische Werkzeugmaschinen to
offer services worldwide. “As a highly specialized medium-sized company
with around 300 employees, we obviously cant provide local customer support
in every country,” explains Johannes Zuckschwerdt. “But we don’t need to.
Thanks to ePS Network Services, we can support customers in China, the U.S.
and everywhere else directly from our headquarters in Germany.”

Online diagnostic analysis saves time and money — especially in the very rare
cases in which machines break down. In the past when this happened, a spe-
cialist would have to be dispatched to the customer to conduct detailed on-site
diagnostics. Today, things are easier — instead of travelling halfway around
the world, SW experts can analyze failures online. Using log files, causes can
be pinpointed and customers provided with precise instructions for remedying
defects. “This is how we boost reliability for our customers and help them
maintain production around the clock,” notes Zuckschwerdt.

The idea is actually very simple. But putting it into practice required an intensive
exchange of knowledge and a large measure of trust. “Engaging in joint devel-
opment with Siemens, we've naturally had to share sensitive data about products
and services,” says Zuckschwerdt. “However, this hasn't been a problem for us.
We've been working with Siemens for a long time. So we've built a very close
relationship based on trust. That's the only way to create innovative products
that benefit both partners.”

§ d
Schwibische
— Werkzeugmaschinen

Schwébische Werkzeugmaschinen (SW) supplies
customers in 29 countries with innovative machining

centers, which are networked with the company’s
headquarters in southwestern Germany via
Siemens’ IT-supported services.
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Ton de Bruine, General Director of Brinks Metaalbewerking B.V.

“We have great trust in Schwabische
Werkzeugmaschinen’s online services and the
Siemens technology that backs them up.
They’re making our processes more reliable
and our cost calculations more accurate.”

: Netherlands

650 W

Brinks specializes in the machining of metals: <«

high-precision and high-volume drilling,
milling and thread cutting. For these opera-
tions alone, the company uses 17 machines
from Schwabische Werkzeugmachinen.
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SW customer in the Netherlands

Headquartered in Vriezenveen in the Netherlands,
Brinks Metaalbewerking B.V. produces and supplies
components for carmakers and leading manufacturers
of agricultural machinery.

Value-creating services

Siemens’ IT-supported services also create value for SW’'s customers. Brinks
Metaalbewerking B.V., located in the Dutch town of Vriezenveen, is a prime
example. The company’s 150 employees produce parts mainly for the car indus-
try. Via systems suppliers, numerous top-of-the-line carmakers source com-
ponents like valve blocks for convertible top controls and active spring systems
from Brinks. Leading manufacturers of agricultural machinery are also on Brinks’
customer list.

Operating around the clock, SW’s machines in Vriezenveen manufacture tens
of thousands of identical components in series production — components that
Brinks’ customers want at the right time and in the right quantities for their
assembly lines. Top quality is essential. “If one of our machines shuts down un-
expectedly, we immediately have problems meeting our delivery deadlines,”
says company owner Ton de Bruine. “Because our production lines run 24 hours
a day, there’s little extra machine capacity to compensate for any breakdowns
that may occur.”
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So there’s no room for error. That's why Brinks has been using SW's online
services for several years now. “It's not just that SW provides us with immediate
support from Germany in the event of an acute problem,” explains de Bruine.
“The company also helps us improve the scheduling of servicing and main-
tenance for our machines across their entire lifecycles.” Thanks to the detailed
information that these services provide about the condition of spindles, axles
and other key machine components, Brinks employees always know exactly
when parts need replacing.

Planned downtime instead of unexpected failures — that means no missed
delivery deadlines. “Working closely with Johannes Zuckschwerdt over the last
few years, we've learned to value the many possibilities that ePS offers,” says
Ton de Bruine. And even though he’s not a computer freak himself and doesn’t
even have a PC on his desk, de Bruine doesn’t intend to dispense with the
tried and tested services in the future. “We're equipping all our machines with
this system.” The issue of data security also played a key role in his decision.
“I'm 100% sure that our data is in good hands with Siemens and Schwabische
Werkzeugmaschinen.”

FAR LEFT — Thanks to ePS Network
Services, Brinks employees can count
on a smooth production process.

LEFT — Brinks’ owner Ton de Bruine —
shown here with valve blocks used in
active spring systems for automobiles —
is proud of his company’s products.
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LEFT — Peter Siegel (left) still has lots of ideas
for SW’s online services. And Jochen Heinz,
his long-time Siemens partner, is happy to
hear them.

ABOVE — Still uncommon today, but probably
standard tomorrow: tablet computer access
to machine tool status data.

Secure and reliable processes create trust

Other SW customers are also on board. “Around 90% of our customers now rely
on ePS Network Services,” reports Peter Siegel, who's now reaping the benefits
of his early commitment to the innovative services. “With ePS, we can keep

a close eye on machine status data and provide optimal customer support. The
online services have proven to be a decisive factor in generating long-term
customer loyalty over the past few years, helping us build up a solid customer
base.” So it's no wonder that SW intends to further enhance its competiveness

in the areas of customer support, consulting and, above all, proactive services
that help manufacturers keep their production lines running smoothly.

Jochen Heinz, Siegel’s Siemens partner for many years, sees huge potential in
online equipment monitoring. “Using the system with machine tools has taught
us which algorithms, architectures and business models we need,” he says,
summing up his experience. “Precise, online equipment monitoring is important
for many Siemens customers. In the fields of industry, infrastructure, energy
and healthcare, there are already a large number of similar applications that
are making machines and systems more productive and more reliable.”

[JJ wWwWW.SIEMENS.COM/AR/NETWORKING
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CREATING VALUE WITH
SIEMENS ePS NETWORK SERVICES

Costs are a decisive factor across the entire lifecycle. Machine downtime and
unplanned maintenance are much-feared cost drivers in manufacturing. Consequently,
more and more industrial companies are basing their investment decisions on total
operating costs. And it's not just procurement and consumption costs that they're
taking into account. They're also considering machine availability and productivity.
Companies with technologically advanced and optimally organized maintenance

and production processes have a clear competitive edge. That's why Siemens provides
its customers with comprehensive industry services like ePS Network Services.

The data provided by ePS Network Services
enable companies to calculate machine operating
costs for complete lifecycles.

Siemens
ePS Network
Services
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Online platform with maximum data security. Offering customers an advanced
status monitoring system, our ePS Network Services provide manufacturers with the
information they need to improve service and maintenance processes worldwide and
increase machine productivity and uptime. Service processes are managed via an under-
lying online platform. A multilevel access protection system and high-availability serv-
ers maximize data security and availability. Siemens’ ePS Network Services comprise:

> ePS Diagnostic Services, which enable manufacturers to monitor the status of their
equipment worldwide. Machines automatically report their diagnostic and measure-
ment data to the ePS server at regular intervals. Supported by appropriate algorithms
and automatic features, manufacturers can identify and analyze the causes of faults
more quickly.

> ePS Condition Monitoring, which closely monitors machine status and wear. Poten-
tial faults can be detected at an early stage so that service personal have time to take
appropriate action. Key parameters can be monitored online. When threshold values
are exceeded, specialists are automatically notified by e-mail or text message. Com-
plete machine overviews facilitate preventive and status-oriented maintenance. Main-
tenance schedules can be optimized to increase system availability and productivity.

Everyone’s a winner. Our innovative IT-supported services benefit machine opera-
tors as well as machine manufacturers. By making machine utilization more effective,
enhancing competitiveness and enabling companies to tap lucrative new business
fields, these services create value all along the value chain - for our customers and for
our Company.
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Many areas, one goal — Optimal
knowledge transfer Company-wide

By ensuring a continuous transfer of knowledge and infor-
mation in all areas that concern Siemens as a whole, our
cross-business activities are playing a vital role in our drive
to unleash the full potential of our integrated technology
company. Our commitment to expanding our service offer-
ings via innovative IT solutions is just one example of
how knowledge transfer is benefiting us and our customers.

We talk to each other. We learn from each other. And all
of us get a little better every day thanks to our wide range
of cross-business activities, initiatives and programs that
address topics relevant for our entire organization.

Our search for the talented individuals we'll need to conquer
the markets of tomorrow is one of our key cross-business activ-
ities. To assess our employees’ expertise and potential, we use
transparent, uniform criteria across all our Sectors and Divi-
sions and in all our businesses worldwide. Siemens’ Learning
Campus (LC) — a Company-wide organization that fosters
lifelong learning and personal development — is where it all
begins. Our Divisions contribute their knowhow, and LC
ensures that best practices are communicated to our people
around the globe. Every year, more than 100,000 Siemens
employees participate in seminars, training programs, work-
shops and global e-learning initiatives, accelerating knowl-
edge transfer within the Company and making us that much
smarter. Our commitment to education is also receiving exter-
nal recognition. In fiscal 2012, for example, we were again
awarded the highest possible number of points in the Human
Capital Development category of the Dow Jones Sustainability
Index (DJSI) — the third time we've received this distinction.

Siemens Leadership Excellence is our continuing education
program for managers. Here — as well as in the related Siemens
Leadership Framework — we apply Company-wide standards

that help us foster the development of our future top managers
in an individual, targeted manner, while motivating them to
work toward our common goals.

Continuous knowledge transfer
and information exchange are making
a vital contribution to our
Company’s success.

One of our goals is to expand our businesses in the emerging
countries, where the demand for economical products and
solutions has not yet been completely met. For these coun-
tries, we've launched our SMART (simple, maintenance-
friendly, affordable, reliable and timely-to-market) initiative to
develop new, entry-level products tailored to local require-
ments — for the benefit of our entire Company. In the emerging
markets, SMART has made our Healthcare Sector, for example,
the leading supplier of entry-level imaging systems. In China,
we're the market leader in intelligent rail signaling systems —
posting annual growth of some 25% over the last five years.
As part of our Company-wide topt initiative, we provide our
business units with methods and tools for implementing the
SMART initiative and systematically improving their business-
es. The topt initiative also entails organizing cross-Sector and
cross-Division knowledge transfer and awarding prizes for
outstanding projects.



Cross-business
activities

Our responsibility doesn't end when we complete a sale. With
both conventional product services and new, trailblazing
service offerings, we want to further increase customer loyalty.
As a key component of our growth strategy, services generate
reliable revenue with less capital intensity than other business
activities. We're rigorously exploiting our strengths as an inte-
grated technology company in order to expand our innovative
services.

We're also exploiting our Company-wide expertise in the area
of procurement. We've established a uniform system of supply
chain management to realize synergies, cut costs, guarantee
high quality, ensure on-time delivery, provide efficient logis-
tics and better utilize our suppliers’ power of innovation. The
system — which includes on-site reviews of supplier operations
and an energy efficiency program for suppliers — is also help-
ing us achieve our ambitious sustainability goals by mini-
mizing sustainability-related risks and enabling us to actively
leverage opportunities in our supply chain.

Company-wide cooperation across organizational boundaries
creates a vast range of opportunities: close collaboration
generates the trust we need to power our integrated techno-
logy company faster and more effectively into the future.

% COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT, PAGES 101-102 AND 126-127

Services

Energy

Leadership
Framework

Industry Infrastructure & Cities

SMART

Learning Campus

Supply chain
management

Cross-business activities: To optimally lever-
age the potential of our integrated technology
company, we ensure that knowhow is contin-
uously shared Company-wide in all areas that
concern our organization as a whole. A few
examples of our many cross-business activities
are highlighted in the illustration above.
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Creating trust through diversity

Partnering
across borders

Diversity provides inspiration, unleashes creative potential and expands
horizons — all of which makes it vital to our success. That's because
people from different cultural and educational backgrounds approach
problems completely differently — and when working together as a
team, they often find the best solutions. Of course, it's all the better
when people find it easy to engage in dialogue across borders, lan-
guages and cultures. At Siemens, our Teamcenter software solution
is promoting international cooperation at many company locations.

What are the aims of Teamcenter? To better leverage the opportuni-
ties presented by diversity, increase work efficiency, develop the best
solutions and bring them to market faster. Allen Wang, James D.
Palasek, Tesha Best and Christian Mellenthin (left to right) experience
what this means in practice every day. Thanks to Teamcenter, they
can work closely with colleagues around the world without leaving
their offices in the U.S. city of Tucker, Georgia. Read on to learn how
this software platform is making them feel even more closely inte-
grated into the Siemens family.

<—>TEAMCENTER<—>



BACKGROUND

Following assignments in the German cities of
Erlangen and Nuremberg as well as in the Viet-
namese capital of Hanoi, Amber Sherman began
managing Siemens key accounts in South Carolina,
Georgia, Florida and the Caribbean in 2012.
Sherman holds a master’s of international business
in marketing degree from the University of Erlangen
and Georgia State University in Atlanta. She's espe-
cially proud to be working with major customers,
for example, at the U.S. manufacturing plants

of renowned European carmakers. What Sherman
particularly appreciates about Siemens is the
opportunity to collaborate on successful projects
with colleagues in other countries.

Atlanta,
Georgia, U.S.

TEAMCENTER — PROCESS CHAIN

A sample process chain illustrates how an international project NEGOTIATING THE ORDER — ATLANTA

is completed using Teamcenter. Since the software has not Amber Sherman consults with an industry customer in Florida
yet been fully implemented at Siemens CE, some steps are still about a cabinet that will house the controls for the electric

in the test phase. motors at a production plant. The special challenge: only very

little space is available.

On the ground in key markets worldwide

“It doesn’t matter where at Siemens you work or what culture you call

home: we all share the same goals. That's probably the best thing

you can learn at the Company.” James D. Palasek speaks from experi-

ence. The engineer from Tucker, Georgia has worked at Siemens for

twelve years, partnering closely with colleagues in Mexico, Germany,

China and India. His specialty is developing components and mod-

ules for control cabinets. Here — as in all our business fields — we're

aiming to achieve a leading position in all our markets worldwide. Siemens Control Components and Systems

But only very few components are truly universal: technical requla- ~ Engineering (CE) is a business unit in the

tions, industry standards and even climate conditions vary too much Industry Automation (lA,) [_)‘V'S',OH of siemens
. Industry Sector. CE specializes in products for

from place to place. That's why we have developers working close industrial control systems, industry-specific

to our customers, on site in key markets. And that includes Tucker, products and systems based on industry plat-

Georgia, one of the 15 worldwide locations of Control Components ~ » forms, and related services.

and Systems Engineering (CE).
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BACKGROUND

West Chicago,
Illinois, U.S.

< ——7TEAN\CENTER”'""

Jayne Beck, Technical order processing

PLANNING THE TECHNOLOGY — WEST CHICAGO

Jayne Beck configures control cabinets. Upon determining that
our 3SB3 series does not have a suitable pushbutton with safety
certification for the U.S. market, Beck uses Teamcenter to make
inquiries at the product management center in Flrth, Germany.

But like the employees at the other facilities, James D. Palasek is
active beyond the borders of his home market. “Our colleagues in
Germany help us market our U.S. products in Europe, for example.
By the same token, we reciprocate when they want to bring prod-
ucts developed for Europe to the U.S. market.”

Teamcenter - Collaborative software

Helmut Staufer from CE’s product management center in Fiirth,
Germany goes even further: “New and redesigned products should
work in lots of markets or must be easily adaptable. I'm continu-
ally discussing this issue with our international developers — by web
conference, phone and e-mail.” In this context, optimizing the
pushbuttons of our SIRIUS series for various markets is just one of
many examples. Xu Huihui, a development engineer in Suzhou,
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BACKGROUND

Helmut Staufer is an electrical engineer
who joined Siemens in 2010. He's been
responsible for control and signal devices
at CE's global product management center
since 2011. Staufer’s earlier assignments
included a six-month stint in Suzhou,
China, where he was inspired by the opti-
mism and curiosity of his Chinese col-
leagues and also pleased by their keen
interest in European soccer.

¥ Helmut Staufer, Product management

Flurth, Germany

CLARIFYING AVAILABILITY — FURTH

Helmut Staufer looks into Jayne Beck’s inquiry. And what does he find? Siemens
produces a suitable pushbutton in China, but it lacks the UL safety certification
that's required in the U.S. Via Teamcenter, he asks his colleagues in Suzhou if it
would be possible to obtain UL certification for the pushbutton. Jayne Beck will
automatically be kept up-to-date on any new developments.

<—>TEAMCENTER <>
\ PROPOSING A SOLUTION — SUZHOU

= Xu Huihui uses Teamcenter to call up the inquiry on his screen — including
product data, blueprints and 3D views. He concludes that the pushbutton
would meet all U.S. specifications if a different material were used and passes
this information on to Helmut Staufer and Jayne Beck.

I

near Shanghai in China, who's been charged with this task, uses  » To learn more, please see:
Teamcenter to consult with Staufer and colleagues in different —> TEAMCENTER: TURBO DRIVE
EE—— . i FOR TEAMWORK, PAGE 75
countries. Teamcenter’s benefits immediately won over the eager

networkers in Flirth, Tucker, Suzhou and elsewhere. Xu Huihui is

thrilled: “With Teamcenter, | can work with anyone, anywhere, any-

time, using a single platform. There’s no better way to share infor-

mation, blueprints, CAD data and 3D views.” At Siemens in West

Chicago, Illinois, U.S., Jayne Beck has been using Teamcenter from

the very beginning. What she appreciates most are the uniform

processes: “Our development teams used to work with lots of differ-

ent software solutions. That made data transfer much more diffi-

cult. Now Teamcenter gives us a single platform for sharing product

and design data and managing the entire product lifecycle — from

the initial idea to the design, manufacture and ongoing develop-

ment of our products.”
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BACKGROUND

Xu Huihui was already testing software for
Siemens when he was a student at Yancheng
Institute of Technology. After earning a bache-
lor's degree in mechanical design, manufac-
ture and automation, he joined Siemens in
Suzhou in 2008. Following various assign-
ments in the field of IT, Xu is currently work-
ing in development. His experience here is
that Teamcenter is very easy to learn and

is substantially improving international col-
laboration.

Suzhou, China

Xu Huihui, Development (left)

LU GUOMIN, LOCAL TEAMCENTER
COORDINATOR (RIGHT)

LOOKING AT THE BOTTOM LINE — FURTH

Helmut Staufer brings in the responsible product manager, and they come
to the conclusion that it would make good business sense to produce and
certify the pushbutton for the U.S. market. Staufer then gives the green
light for production to begin.

ORDERING PROTOTYPES — WEST CHICAGO

Jayne Beck uses product data and 3D views to virtually install the push-
button in the control cabinet. Once the customer’s order confirmation has
been received, Beck uses Teamcenter to order prototypes from Suzhou for
U.S. safety certification testing, which she assigns to the Siemens test lab
in Tucker.

Benefits across the board - for employees and customers

What are the advantages of using Teamcenter? Streamlined work-
flows, no more reduplicated processes and even faster solutions.
And something that wasn't a primary objective but may just be
Teamcenter’s greatest benefit: a feeling of belonging that keeps on
growing, transcending national and cultural boundaries. Every day,
all around the world, employees at CE and many other Industry
Sector units are experiencing how Teamcenter improves collabora-
tion among women and men with different skills, knowhow and
qualifications — and enables them to get to know one another bet-
ter. Jayne Beck values diverse teams for yet another reason: “Our
customers, like our employees, come from a wide range of cultural
backgrounds. All around the globe, we have colleagues who are
especially good at putting themselves in our customers’ shoes. And
their knowledge and insights equip us to develop better products
and solutions.”
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BACKGROUND

Wang Yan Qin earned a master’s degree from
Hefei University of Technology before joining
Siemens in Suzhou in 2007. Her responsibilities
include vetting and evaluating suppliers and
monitoring the quality of the components they
supply. Wang Yan Qin is very interested in
other cultures. Since visiting Germany, she raves
about potato dumplings, even though they
taste much different from the dumplings she’s
familiar with from home.

Suzhou, China

LU GUOMIN, LOCAL TEAMCENTER
COORDINATOR (FOREGROUND),
XU HUIHUI, DEVELOPMENT
(BACKGROUND)

CHECKING THE MATERIAL — SUZHOU

In Teamcenter, Wang Yan Qin has all the details at her fingertips. She determines
that the material is suitable for the U.S. market. Further review shows that the
material can be processed problem-free using the equipment and machinery at our

/ facility in Suzhou. Wang changes the status of the part in Teamcenter to “approved.”

WORKING OUT THE DETAILS — SUZHOU

Xu Huihui finalizes the design drawing and product description
for the pushbutton. However, through the Teamcenter data pool,
he discovers that the material intended for use has not yet been
approved for production at Siemens. Xu Huihui uses Teamcenter
to initiate approval of the material by Wang Yan Qin.

Embracing diversity as an opportunity

At Siemens, our unwavering commitment to diversity is firmly
anchored in our corporate strategy. For a company that’s active in
some 190 countries and generates more than two-thirds of its
revenues outside its home market, diversity is more than simply a
business necessity. Our people see diversity as offering great oppor-
tunities for their professional and personal development. “Working
with colleagues around the world expands my horizons and changes
my perspective. | can learn a lot at Siemens,” says Xu Huihui’s col-
league Wang Yan Qin. Helmut Staufer draws particular inspiration
from working with his Chinese counterparts: “They're always very
optimistic, positive and committed to their work.” James D. Palasek
also feels a very personal gain: “l learn a lot about other cultures
and their working style and can apply these insights to my own work.”
Today, countless employees throughout our Company are passion-
ate and motivated about networking and learning from one another
in their day-to-day work.
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James D. Palasek, Development and certification (left)

BACKGROUND
After several assignments at Siemens in the
U.S. and Mexico, James D. Palasek currently
heads a team of developers at CE in Tucker,
Georgia. Palasek holds a bachelor’s degree in
industrial technology and engineering from
lowa State University and has been with
Siemens since 2000. He's always delighted
when he encounters colleagues in Europe
who've read his favorite book, the cult classic
The Hitchhiker’s Guide to the Galaxy. A few
years ago, Palasek still had to send data and
blueprints to China manually. Today, Team-
center does the job automatically.

Tucker,
Georgia, U.S.

CHECKING UL CONFORMITY — TUCKER

The pushbutton prototypes have arrived. James D. Palasek tests them
for UL conformity on the basis of the specifications stored in Teamcenter.
/ After the prototypes pass muster, Palasek saves the official UL certifica-
> TEAMCENTER<—> < tion for the U.S. market in Teamcenter.
MANUFACTURING PROTOTYPES — SUZHOU
Xu Huihui is immediately notified via Teamcenter that the new

" material has been granted internal approval. He then requests
that prototypes be manufactured in Suzhou and sent to Tucker.

The global Siemens family

Despite all the differences in cultural and educational background,
the members of the extended Siemens family have many things

in common. Helmut Staufer enjoys having a brief personal conversa-
tion with his colleagues before every web conference. And James D.
Palasek has even gotten swept up in European soccer fever: “l root
for the German team, unless they happen to be playing against the
United States.” Close collaboration strengthens the feeling of being
part of the global Siemens family. Amber Sherman from Industry
Sales in Atlanta experienced a sense of community at her interna-
tional posts: “Wherever Siemens takes me today, | find that we
basically speak the same language.” And that language isn't German,
English or Chinese. Philipp Bierschneider, who is responsible for
implementing Teamcenter at CE, comes from Amberg, Germany,
but has experienced the language of the Siemens family at loca-
tions around the world: “My colleagues are really friendly and very
helpful. We work not so much on an organization-to-organization
basis but more hand-in-hand and person-to-person.”
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BACKGROUND

As soon as she finished her bachelor’s degree in
mechanical and electrical engineering at North-
western University in Evanston, lllinois, Jinglu Wen
started gaining hands-on experience at Siemens
in West Chicago, where her job involves con
structing various 3D models and modules. Jinglu
uses Teamcenter to discuss the results of her
work with experienced colleagues around the
world — and she’s very gratified to receive their
strong support.

West Chicago,
Illinois, U.S.

|
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_ ORDERING THE PRODUCT — WEST CHICAGO
Via Teamcenter, Jayne Beck is also notified of the UL certification for the
U.S. market. She orders the necessary number of redesigned pushbuttons
directly in Suzhou and sends the control cabinet blueprints to production.

ADDING THE PRODUCT — FURTH

% Helmut Staufer learns through Teamcenter that the pushbutton now h
meets all requirements for the U.S. market. Staufer adds the button, \\
together with all the relevant data and 3D views, to the global database
of Siemens products. Effective immediately, the new product can be \ D
officially ordered anywhere in the world. \

S
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COMPLETING THE PROJECT — WEST CHICAGO

Once the control cabinet has been shipped, Jayne Beck closes her inquiry.
Together with her colleagues around the world, she will always have
online access to all the details of the project through Teamcenter. This
will make it possible to respond quickly to requests for service, spare parts
and follow-up orders, which in turn will increase customer satisfaction.

Brigitte Ederer, Member of the Managing Board of Siemens AG,
Head of Corporate Human Resources and Labor Director

“The diversity of our people — with their
wide range of backgrounds and skills -
fosters the wealth of ideas at our
company and strengthens our power
of innovation.”
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TEAMCENTER —
THE TURBOCHARGER FOR TEAMWORK

Reach the customer twice as fast. Produce and bring to market while the competition is
still in the planning phase. Put innovation on the fast track. And all this with 280,000 prod-
uct variants, 60,000 employees and production facilities around the world. This is the ambi-
tious vision of our Drive Technologies and Industry Automation Divisions. Integrate Enable
Collaborate (IEC) is what we call our program for greater speed and maximum efficiency.
The goal for the years ahead is to bring new products to market much faster, in some cases
even twice as fast as in the past.

This will require perfect teamwork: developers, product managers, designers, production
planners and many other specialists will have to work as one. And theyll have to enrich
the data pool with their product and process knowhow — whether in the area of computer-
aided design (CAD), office applications (such as word processing) or computer-aided manu-
facturing (CAM). This is the only way to make all information available anywhere, any-
time - including everything from the initial idea for a product to production planning, user
instructions and service feedback. The cycle ends when development of the next product
generation begins.

CAD mechanics, / /~ CAD
e.g. NX® / electronics
Project
management /
Portfolio / Software
management /

development

Requirements
management

Simulation

CENTER

Idea
management

v

Customer experience/
Feedback from the field

Product data
management

Digital
Documentation production

management

Teamcenter makes it possible to store and process all the development and production process data for
our products in a single central location that's accessible worldwide. The system’s unique open architecture
enables users to work with various specialized development tools, even those of other companies.

Teamcenter is the name of the Siemens software that makes smart product lifecycle
management (PLM) across borders and time zones a reality. Some seven million users
around the world are already working with Teamcenter or other products from Siemens PLM
Software in Plano, Texas, U.S. — including nearly all major automotive manufacturers. It
comes as no surprise that we're also deploying this successful software platform in-house.
Roughly 20,000 employees at our Drive Technologies and Industry Automation Divisions
will soon be using Teamcenter at 90 locations in 15 countries.

The IEC program is unique in its size, its complexity and its broad range of applications.
That's why Teamcenter developers are eagerly awaiting feedback from those who are intro-
ducing and using the software. This feedback will be taken into account when developing
the next generation of Teamcenter. And our interest is actually twofold, because at Siemens
we don't just sell our products and solutions; we use them.

[JJ WwWW.SIEMENS.COM/AR/DIVERSITY
=] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/AR/DIVERSITY-MOVIE
[J WWW.SIEMENS.COM/TEAMCENTER
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Employees —

The source of our strength

We're mastering the major challenges of our time, continu-
ously breaking new ground and making technology history.
But these achievements are only possible because we have
outstanding employees who — through their expertise, abilities
and dedication — have made our Company the global power-
house that it is today. That’s why lifelong learning, continuous
personal development and the fostering of diversity and
employee commitment are the foundations of our employee

and management culture.

Siemens is only as strong as its employees. We expect
outstanding performance from our people. In return, we
support them in unleashing their full potential.

Our employees’ creativity and pioneering spirit are the source
of our strength. To build on this foundation and grow even
further, we have to attract and retain the best minds in the
world. By providing them with additional opportunities to
increase their expertise, we also create an atmosphere of trust
and constructive cooperation that enables us to break down
professional, linguistic and national barriers throughout our
organization.

To outperform our competitors in the global battle for talent,
we're partnering with the most prestigious universities in
the world’s most important markets. Our Siemens Graduate
Program, for example, provides top university graduates with
an ideal springboard for launching their professional careers.
We give these young talents — and all Siemens employees —
the chance to continuously develop their capabilities, master
new challenges and assume ever-greater responsibility. As
part of our educational offerings, we've set up uniform Core
Leaning Programs worldwide to make cooperation within our
integrated technology company even more effective by en-
hancing employee knowhow in key areas like project man-
agement, software development, procurement and human
resources. Our central intranet education portal alone offers

our global workforce more than 1,000 business-oriented
courses and programs.

Our employees are as diverse as the customers we serve — all
around the world. People from some 140 different countries
work at our ten largest Regional Companies alone. Our employ-
ees’ diverse languages, cultures and religions are a source of
great strength. Multi-cultural teams with a broad range of
expertise and perspectives promote the wealth of ideas within
our Company and enhance our power of innovation.

With their wide array of
skills, experience and qualifications,
our people give us a decisive
competitive edge in the global arena.

To foster diversity throughout our organization, we've launched
our Diversity Initiative, which bundles targeted measures and
projects for ensuring and further enhancing diversity at all levels
of our Company. Examples include our global network of about
160 Siemens Diversity Ambassadors, who identify diversity issues
Company-wide, and our Global Leadership Organization of
Women (GLOW). To help our employees better understand one
another, we've also established intercultural training programs
and initiatives aimed at eliminating unconscious prejudices.



Siemens employees
worldwide in fiscal 2012

23%

Siemens employee
shareholders in fiscal 2012

127,000

employees

Americas —— 170/0
\\ Asia, Australia
\\ / 1 / 3

of all employees
60%

Europe, Commonwealth
of Independent States,
Africa, Middle East

Worldwide presence: We're active in all regions Employee shareholders: We're proud that

of the world. And our workforce reflects it. The roughly 127,000 Siemens employees took part
number of Siemens employees outside Europe in employee share programs in fiscal 2012.
has grown continuously in recent fiscal years. This is a clear sign of our employees’ trust in

our values, our vision and, in short, the future

of our Company.

To leverage our employees’ wealth of ideas for the benefit of
our entire organization, we've launched the Ideas, Impulses,
Initiatives (3i) Program — a Company-wide idea management
initiative. And it's paying off: we've put over 500,000 employee
suggestions into practice over the last five years — achieving
savings of more than €1.1 billion.

But we want to do even better. That's why we conduct world-
wide surveys every year to measure employee satisfaction and
pinpoint areas for further improvement. We take the survey
findings very seriously since we know that only highly moti-
vated employees who identify with our Company can achieve
the excellent results we need to remain successful. Our em-
ployees’ commitment, expertise and performance are one of
our greatest strengths.

>F| FINANCIAL REPORT, PAGES 107-109
A SIEMENS SUSTAINABILITY REPORT, PAGES 70-73
L] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/EMPLOYEES

Expenditure for continuing
education in fiscal 2012

€283 million

total N

€693

per employee

Continuing education: We provide employees
at all levels of our Company with an opportunity
to unleash their full potential. In fiscal 2012,
we again increased our total expenditure for
continuing education as well as our educational

outlays for each individual employee.
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One Siemens — Our path to
sustainable value creation

As an integrated technology company, we have a strong
setup. One Siemens — which defines metrics for revenue
growth, capital efficiency, profitability and the optimi-
zation of our capital structure - is the framework for our
Company’s sustainable development.

] www.SIEMENS.COM/ONE-SIEMENS

Framework for sustainable value creation

To increase our revenue, use our capital more efficiently and more profitably and optimize » To learn more, please see:
our capital structure — these are our goals. Goals that we've further defined with the '/ ‘;‘E’:"OBR':‘ E:A“Gn:sN;“iZ’;"ENT
clear metrics of our One Siemens framework. Taken together, these metrics comprise a !

balanced system that provides the basis for generating a sustainable increase in value. We

have three concrete objectives. First, we want our revenue growth to outpace that of our

key competitors. Second, we want our growth to be capital efficient. That's why we've

defined an ambitious target corridor for return on capital employed. At the Sector level, we

want to continuously achieve top margins compared to our competitors across industry

cycles. And third, we've set a target for our capital structure that will enable us to achieve

sustainable, strongly based profitability.


http://www.siemens.com/one-siemens
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Revenue growth
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Capital structure
Adjusted industrial
net debt/EBITDA

Capital efficiency/Profitability
Return on capital employed/top
margins throughout business cycles
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Focus on innovation-driven growth markets

Our pioneering spirit is a basis of our success. Our activities are focused on inno- »

vation-driven markets - markets with long-term growth potential. To play a leading
role in these markets, we're continuously strengthening our portfolio and further
expanding our Environmental Portfolio.

Be a pioneer in technology-driven markets

We've been delivering innovative engineering achievements for 165 years, continuously
tapping new markets and occupying new growth fields. To enhance this special strength,
we're concentrating on innovation- and technology-driven growth markets — on markets
with potential for our future core business. We're strengthening our power of innovation
by leveraging synergies worldwide and increasingly utilizing external expertise. We've
opened our lab doors to universities, research institutes and industry partners. More than
1,000 cooperative research projects a year enable us to respond quickly to the new require-
ments of local and global markets.

Strengthen our portfolio

Only by keeping our portfolio focused on attractive future-oriented markets can we achieve
profitable long-term growth. That's why we practice intensive, systematic portfolio man-
agement. The cornerstone of our portfolio policy is the principle that our businesses must
capture and maintain No.1 or No.2 positions in their respective markets. The prerequisites
for profitability and growth, these leading positions enable us to sustainably increase
Siemens’ value. As the history of our Company proves, we've always been successful when
we've been at the forefront of technological innovation. Size alone is not enough to ensure
long-term success. This is the guiding principle of all significant changes in our portfolio.

Provide a leading environmental portfolio

Our Environmental Portfolio, which bundles products and solutions that contribute to
environmental and climate protection, has captured an outstanding position on the tech-
nology market worldwide and is one of our strategic growth drivers. In fiscal 2012, the
Portfolio generated revenue of €33.2 billion and made a substantial contribution to climate
protection. At the same time, our ecofriendly products and solutions enabled customers
worldwide to slash their CO, emissions by 332 million tons — an amount equal to some 41%
of the CO, emissions generated in Germany in 2010.

WWW.SIEMENS.COM/
ONE-SIEMENS
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Get closer to our customers

< We want to be close to our markets and a strong local partner to our customers

throughout the world. That’s why - besides playing a leading role in the industrial
countries - we're also successfully developing and producing more and more inno-
vative products and solutions in the emerging countries. The professionalization
and expansion of our service offerings is another of our strategic aims since
innovative services harbor a wealth of new business opportunities and intensify
customer loyalty.

Grow in emerging markets

The so-called BRIC countries (Brazil, Russia, India and China) and the up-and-coming
nations of Asia, South America and the Middle East are achieving high levels of economic
growth, in which we intend to participate. Over the past few years, we've achieved strong
growth in the emerging countries. The demand for economical products and solutions
tailored to local customer requirements is particularly strong in these countries. To meet
this challenge, we've launched our SMART (simple, maintenance-friendly, affordable,
reliable and timely-to-market) initiative, which offers new products targeted for the entry-
level segment.

Expand our service business

To get closer to our customers — for us, this means providing outstanding services that
increase customer value. With our comprehensive service offerings, we want to achieve
the kind of long-lasting customer satisfaction that makes us the first choice for follow-up
investment. It's not only our sales organization that nurtures close relationships with our
customers and fosters their loyalty: above all, it's our local service employees, who — in
some instances building on relationships that go back decades — have detailed knowledge
of our customers’ needs and requirements. For these reasons, we want to consistently
expand our service business in order to leverage additional potential for profitable growth.

Intensify our customer focus

Our customers expect comprehensive, single-source consulting that's geared to their
individual needs. And it's our goal and obligation to meet this expectation everywhere in
the world. For us, a strong customer focus doesn't just mean having an in-depth under-
standing of our customers’ unique requirements; it also means providing them with
customized solutions. Successful customer support requires excellent employees, an
efficient setup and effective methods. Only when these three factors have been fully
integrated to form a unified whole can we expand our strategic partnerships and create
value for our customers.
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Use the power of Siemens

To rank among the best, you have to excel - in everything you do. And that means »

you need an outstanding team. At Siemens, we have extraordinarily dedicated em-
ployees. And we go to great lengths to continuously expand their knowledge while
promoting equal opportunity and nurturing cooperation among men and women
from different countries and cultural backgrounds. Our clear and unambiguous
commitment to integrity guides us in our ongoing pursuit of business success. Our
actions are governed by binding principles to which we expect our customers,
suppliers and employees to adhere.

Encourage lifelong learning and development

One of our greatest strengths is our outstanding workforce. Our employees’ expertise,
skills and dedication have made Siemens the company it is today. Building on this founda-
tion, we're aiming to grow even further. And one means to achieving this strategic end
quickly and effectively is continuous learning, which not only enhances our people’s
knowhow but also directly fosters their pioneering spirit, initiative and willingness to
assume increasing responsibility. All around the world, we give our people at all levels
the chance to fully develop their potential.

Empower our diverse and engaged people worldwide

Siemens is a global powerhouse with a highly diverse workforce. People from some
140 countries work at our ten largest Regional Companies alone. That's why we take a
systematic approach to diversity. Multifaceted teams of employees with a broad range of
skills, experience and qualifications promote the wealth of ideas at our Company and
strengthen our power of innovation. To find out how we can further boost workforce
motivation, we regularly conduct employee surveys worldwide in 40 languages. The
survey input is systematically applied to enhance our processes.

Stand for integrity

We're committed to fair competition. In our efforts to succeed on the world’s markets,
we aim to comply with all applicable laws and regulations. Ethical business conduct is a
non-negotiable component of our corporate culture. We've formulated transparent and
binding principles of behavior and taken a clear and unmistakable position in the battle
against corruption. We also fulfill our responsibilities to society, the environment and our
employees. For us, occupational safety, health management and the conservation of
natural resources are all part of ethical business conduct.

WWW.SIEMENS.COM/
ONE-SIEMENS
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We will emerge from the current economic crisis
with renewed strength. Supported by our new
Company-wide program to reduce costs, increase
productivity, enhance efficiency and improve
our processes and market access, One Siemens -
our framework for sustainable value creation -
1s pointing the way forward.

As an integrated technology company, we have
a virtually unparalleled position in our global
markets — a position that’s made us a true partner
of trust to our customers, our shareholders and
our employees worldwide.

Trust unites us -
Building strong partnerships for 165 years
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KEY FIGURES FISCAL 2012"°

| in millions of €, except where otherwise stated

FY 2012 FY 201 % Change
NEW ORDERS — CONTINUING OPERATIONS VOLUME Actual Adjusted?
FY 2012 76,913 — - Continuing operations
(13)%? -
FY 201 85,166 | — New orders 76,913 85,166 (10)% (13)%
Revenue 78,296 73,275 7% 3%
REVENUE — CONTINUING OPERATIONS
FY 2012 78,296 — -
3%3 —
Fy2om | 73,275 | _
INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS EARNINGS FY 2012 FY 2011 % Change
Fr2o02 | 5184 | — Total Sectors
(30)%— :
FY 201 7,376 | — Adjusted EBITDA 9,471 10,404 (9)%
Total Sectors Profit 7,543 9,442 (20)%
in % of revenue (Total Sectors) 9.5% 12.8%
BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE (IN €) — Continuing operations
CONTINUING OPERATIONS* Adjusted EBITDA 9,788 10,701 (9)%
FY 2012 5.77 — ;EJ)"/ Income from continuing operations 5,184 7,376 (30)%
0
FYy 201 8.23 | \41 Basic earnings per share (in €)* 5.77 8.23 (30)%
Continuing and discontinued operations
Net income 4,590 6,321 (27)%
Basic earnings per share (in €)* 5.09 7.04 (28)%
ROCE (ADJUSTED) — CONTINUING OPERATIONS CAPITAL EFFICIENCY FY 2012 FY 2011
FY 2012 17.0% —: Continuing operations
FYy 201 25.3% | Return on capital employed (ROCE) (adjusted) 17.0% 25.3%
Target corridor: 15-20%
FREE CASH FLOW — CONTINUING OPERATIONS CASH PERFORMANCE FY 2012 FY 2011
FY 2012 4,790 — - Continuing operations
(19)% —
Fr2om | 5918 | h Free cash flow 4,790 5,918
Cash conversion rate 0.92 0.80
Continuing and discontinued operations
Free cash flow 4,562 5,150
Cash conversion rate 0.99 0.81

ADJUSTED INDUSTRIAL NET DEBT /

ADJUSTED EBITDA — CONTINUING OPERATIONS®

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

September 30, 2012

September 30, 2011

FY 2012 0.24 _ Cash and cash equivalents 10,891 12,468
FYy 201 (0.14) l Total equity (Shareholders of Siemens AG) 30,733 31,530
Target corridor: 0.5-1.0 Net debt 9,292 4,995
Adjusted industrial net debt 2,396 (1,534)

September 30, 2012

September 30, 2011

Continuing Continuing
EMPLOYEES (IN THOUSANDS) operations Total® | operations Total®
Employees 370 410 359 402
Germany 119 130 116 127
Outside Germany 250 280 243 275
1 New orders; Adjusted or organic growth rates of revenue and new orders; Total Sectors 3 Adjusted for portfolio and currency translation effects.

Profit; ROCE (adjusted); Free cash flow and cash conversion rate; Adjusted EBITDA; Net debt
and adjusted industrial net debt are or may be non-GAAP financial measures. Definitions of
these supplemental financial measures, a discussion of the most directly comparable IFRS
financial measures, information regarding the usefulness of Siemens’ supplemental financial

4 Basic earnings per share — attributable to shareholders of Siemens AG. For fiscal 2012 and
2011 weighted average shares outstanding (basic) (in thousands) amounted to 876,053 and
873,098 shares, respectively.

measures, the limitations associated with these measures and reconciliations to the most 5 Calculated by dividing adjusted industrial net debt as of September 30, 2012 and 2011

comparable IFRS financial measures are available on our Investor Relations website under

] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/NONGAAP
2 October 1, 2011 - September 30, 2012.

by adjusted EBITDA.

6 Continuing and discontinued operations.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2012)

Revenue €27.537 billion
Profit €2.159 billion

Energy

Our Energy Sector offers a wide spectrum of products, services and
solutions for the generation and transmission of power, and the extrac-
tion, conversion and transport of oil and gas. It primarily addresses
the needs of energy providers, but also serves industrial companies,
particularly in the oil and gas industry.

Revenue €13.642 billion
Profit €1.8715 billion

Healthcare

Our Healthcare Sector offers customers a comprehensive portfolio of
medical solutions across the treatment chain - ranging from medical
imaging to in vitro diagnostics to interventional systems and clinical
information technology systems — all from a single source. In addi-
tion, the Sector provides technical maintenance, professional and
consulting services, and, together with Financial Services (SFS),
financing to assist customers in purchasing the Sector’s products.

Revenue €20.508 billion
Profit €2.467 billion

Industry

Our Industry Sector offers a broad spectrum of products, services
and solutions for the efficient use of resources and energy and im-
provements of productivity and flexibility in industry. Its integrated
technologies and holistic solutions address primarily industrial cus-
tomers, such as process and manufacturing industries. The portfolio
spans industry automation, industrial software and drives products
and services, system integration and solutions for industrial plant
businesses. After the close of fiscal 2012, the Sector decided to
dispose of its business with mechanical, biological and chemical
treatment and processing of water.

Revenue €17.585 billion
profit €1.102 billion

Infrastructure &Cities

Our Infrastructure & Cities Sector offers a wide range of sustainable
technologies for metropolitan centers and urban infrastructures
worldwide, such as integrated mobility solutions, building and secu-
rity systems, power distribution equipment, smart grid applications
and low- and medium-voltage products.

Equity Investments Profit €(549) million

In general, the segment Equity Investments comprises equity stakes
held by Siemens that are accounted for by the equity method, at cost
or as current available-for-sale financial assets and are not allocated
to a Sector, SFS, Centrally managed portfolio activities, Siemens Real
Estate (SRE), Corporate items or Corporate Treasury for strategic
reasons. Our main investments within Equity Investments are our
stake of approximately 50.0% in Nokia Siemens Networks B.V. (NSN),
our 50.0% stake in BSH Bosch und Siemens Hausgerdte GmbH (BSH)
as well as our 49.0% stake in Enterprise Networks Holdings B.V. (EN).

Profit €479 million
Total assets €17.405 billion

Financial Services

Financial Services (SFS) provides a variety of financial services and
products both to third parties and to other Siemens entities and their
customers. SFS has three strategic pillars: supporting Siemens’ Sectors
with financing solutions for their customers, manage financial risks of
Siemens and offering third-party financing services and products.
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Al LETTER TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Dear shareholders,

Fiscal 2012 was not an easy year for us. Even though
we achieved one of our best results ever — despite
the difficult economic environment worldwide — we
didn’t fully attain our goals of outperforming the
market and our competitors.

To move forward, we've launched a new Company-wide program. Presented in November 2012,
the initiative will enable us to make effective, concrete adjustments in our operations — changes
we'll have to make if we're to continue generating profitable growth of the kind we've achieved
in the last few years.

For my colleagues on the Managing Board and myself, the trust that you've placed in our Company
is an invaluable source of support. Your commitment creates trust, and trust unites us all: you, our
shareholders; our 370,000 employees worldwide; our customers in the industrial countries and
emerging markets; our partners in business, government and the scientific community; and, above
all, the countless people around the globe who use Siemens products and solutions every day.

Our strength — Customer proximity

This year, our Annual Report highlights the ways in which we're creating trust by partnering closely
with our customers worldwide and developing innovative technologies that meet the needs of people
with different interests, from different cultures and with different aims and requirements. In five
special reports, we'd like to show you how our products and solutions are improving the lives of
people everywhere.

Contents Financial Report
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Our first report takes us to Bangalore, India, where explosive growth is pushing the local infrastructure
to its limits. In planning a new airport for the booming South Asian metropolis and its surrounding
region, the operators selected Siemens to supply a complete tailor-made solution and provide long-
term technical support. This close partnership is a sign of enormous trust, since it entails tremendous
responsibility: the reliable operation of such vital infrastructure facilities is indispensible for the
Bangalore region’s further economic development.

From India, we move on to the town of Beuren in southern Germany, where our technology has helped
give a young cancer patient new hope. In a long-term partnership, our engineers cooperated with
doctors at Tiibingen University Hospital to develop the Biograph mMR scanner, which enables physi-
cians to monitor the impact of cancer therapies while minimizing radiation exposure. To the relief of
15-year-old Christian and his family, the Biograph mMR showed that his treatment had been success-
ful. And we're very pleased to report that — after a year of uncertainty — the young man is back in school
and again leading a normal life.

A third report provides impressive evidence of how our IT-based services are uniting people all around
the world. Johannes Zuckschwerdt is responsible for developing new services for a manufacturer

of highly specialized machine tools in southwestern Germany. His customer, Ton de Bruine, heads a
company that produces metal components in the Netherlands. Thanks to our ePS Network Services,
Zuckschwerdt can monitor the operation of de Bruine’s machines remotely, via an encrypted online
server. By notifying his customer when machine parts need to be replaced and indicating how work-
flows can be improved and production increased, Zuckschwerdt saves de Bruine time and money
while helping him meet tight deadlines and enhance the efficiency of his production processes.

In a fourth report, you'll meet Jens Hald Jensen, head of the project team that’s assembling and testing
six-megawatt wind turbines in the Danish town of @sterild. These powerful turbines are just one of
the innovative products and solutions we're creating to help shape the future of energy and tap the
opportunities that Germany's transition to a new energy system will provide in many other countries
worldwide. We want to pass on to our children a world that's as healthy, bountiful and beautiful as
the one we've inherited. And we're convinced that we'll reach this goal if business leaders and govern-
ment policymakers work together to tackle the challenges ahead, taking a balanced, targeted approach
to achieving a reliable, clean and affordable energy supply.

Iurge you to take a look at all five special reports. They'll provide you with an inside look at our day-to-
day operations and at the ways we're leveraging our strengths as an integrated technology company,
increasing our customers’ competitiveness, reinforcing our own business success and improving the
lives of people worldwide through our investments in research and development - investments that
totaled €4.2 billion in fiscal 2012.
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Our goal - Excellence

We're closely connected with people everywhere — with workers in factories, with the operators and
users of infrastructure facilities, with engineers in laboratories and research centers. And it's because
we'Te so closely connected with people in so many different regions and environments that we're also
able to precisely gauge their needs and their technology requirements. We know, for instance, that
customers across the board are increasingly demanding tailor-made IT applications and software
solutions. And we're the ideal partner to provide these solutions, since we have the necessary industry
expertise and products — in areas ranging from power plant controls and building management systems
to healthcare solutions and manufacturing technologies. NASA, the U.S. space agency, utilized IT of
this kind to develop the Mars rover Curiosity, whose fascinating images are yet further testimony to
our engineering excellence. We know the challenges posed by the restructuring of the world’s energy
supply. And we know the challenges facing today's city planners. To address these urban challenges,
we've been showcasing future-oriented solutions for the world’s fast-growing cities at the Crystal, our
urban development center in London, since September 2012. As a company that’s been internationally
oriented since its founding, we also know the world's new high-growth markets: the BRIC countries
and the so-called second-wave countries like South Africa, Indonesia and Turkey. We've been active in
all four BRIC countries for more than 100 years. In Russia and South Africa, we've had operations for
over 150 years. Long-term partnerships like these build trust and create opportunities to promote
sustainable development on a local basis while generating profitable growth for our Company. All four
of our Sectors are exploiting these opportunities worldwide by continuing to sharpen their focus on
the megatrends of our globalized age - climate change, demographic change and urbanization. Our
Healthcare Sector has also profited from the rigorous implementation of Agenda 2013, the efficiency-
boosting program we launched in November 2011.

Allin all, Siemens is well positioned to seize the opportunities of the future — as we demonstrated
again in fiscal 2012. Continuing a decade of substantially improved performance, we posted a 7%
increase in revenue and generated €5.2 billion in income from continuing operations, one of our
largest profits ever. I would like to thank Siemens employees around the world for their commitment
and their contribution to this success. As fiscal 2012 also confirmed, our earnings per share have
considerably increased over the last decade as well: still just €2.92 in 2002, they now total more than
€5. And thanks to our tradition of foresighted financial policies, we can be sure that our operations
will continue to have a very stable basis in the future.

But fiscal 2012 makes clear that we haven't always adapted flexibly enough to changes in our markets
and in our market position, and we haven't placed sufficient emphasis everywhere on continuously
improving our Company and driving its efficiency. New orders declined 10% during the year, and,
although we increased our revenue, we didn't meet the targets we'd set for profitability relative to our
competitors.

Our review of fiscal 2012 shows that we're good — but not as good as we can be. Looking to the future,
this means we’ll have to intensify our efforts in order to outpace our competitors once again and
achieve the results that we as Siemens employees and you as our shareholders have a right to expect
of our Company.



We aren't anticipating any substantial boost from economic developments worldwide — at least not
in fiscal 2013. For this reason, it's all the more important that we ourselves take effective action to
enhance our productivity, maintain the strong financial basis that's always been our hallmark and
better adapt to the challenges of our markets and the global economy.

And that's why we've launched Siemens 2014, a Company-wide program that will help us recapture a
leading competitive position within the next two years and thus continue to pursue our One Siemens
targets. Siemens 2014 will strengthen the One Siemens system, drive its implementation and reinforce
our strategy for achieving profitable growth and generating annual revenue of up to €100 billion. It
will also keep us on the same track for success that we've followed in recent years and that enabled us
to achieve record results in fiscal 2011.

Our goal is to raise our total Sectors profit from the latest figure of 9.5% to 12% by increasing our gross
productivity by about €6 billion.

To help us reach these targets, Siemens 2014 will apply five levers:

> First, we want to cut costs. To this end, we're optimizing our procurement operations, improving
our global capacities and activities and enhancing the quality and efficiency of our processes and
project management.

> Second, we want to continuously strengthen our core business activities by, among other things,
making targeted acquisitions in key areas and scrutinizing our less profitable businesses to ensure
that they don't burden our long-term performance.

> Third, we want to refine our sales setup and optimize our local market access worldwide while mak-
ing our organization more flexible and adjusting operations to regional conditions and potential.

> Fourth, we want to simplify our internal processes and regulations in order to provide our business
units with greater leeway for independent entrepreneurial action and partnering with customers.
For example, we're substantially reducing the number of Company- and Sector-wide regulations for
our global and regional businesses.

> And fifth, we're streamlining our global support infrastructure by eliminating redundant functions
and duplicate processes.

Our capital — Trust

The measures we've defined have been very carefully considered. We've made no secret of our Company's
weaknesses, and we've set transparent goals. To boost our competitiveness, we've assigned clear
responsibilities and taken steps to ensure that Siemens 2014 will be rigorously executed. Some meas-
ures have already been taken. For example, we've decided to tighten the focus of our portfolio

in the area of renewable energies, to exit from the water technologies business, which is highly frag-
mented by region, and to reinforce our market position in the area of vertical IT through the purchase
of LMS International NV, a leading supplier of industry software for lifecycle management. As these
moves demonstrate, the new Company-wide program is already having an impact and strengthening
the trust that our customers, the capital markets and you, our shareholders, have placed in us.
Over the next two years, we'll keep you regularly informed of the steps we're taking to implement it.
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With your interests in mind, we're proposing that OSRAM be publicly listed via a spinoff. We're
convinced that OSRAM Licht AG will be an attractive company for investors since, as an independent
entity, it will operate even more successfully than before.

The share buyback program that we finalized at the beginning of November 2012 was also in your
interest. In the course of the buyback, we repurchased Company shares with a total value of
€2.9 billion. We financed the program primarily through bonds, and the interest rates we paid were
the lowest to date on the European capital market — yet further proof of the great trust that our
Company enjoys within the business community and beyond.

The unchanged dividend proposal of €3.00 that the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board will
make to the 2013 Annual Shareholders’ Meeting is also a sign of trust and continuity. We want you

to profit from the positive developments at our Company — and we want you to continue placing your
trust in us. Because Siemens is and will remain a strong company — for our customers worldwide,

for our employees, for our partners in the business and scientific communities, for our stakeholders
in society and particularly for you, our shareholders.

I'm looking forward to the challenges of the year ahead and to our continuing dialogue.

24 [2sely

Peter Loscher
President and CEO of Siemens AG
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In September 2012, we opened our flagship sustainability center, the
Crystal, in the heart of the London Docklands — a district that's a pioneer
in urban renewal.

The Crystal, London’s newest landmark, is home to an exhibition show-
casing infrastructure solutions that are already making our cities more
sustainable, environmentally friendly and livable. The moment you enter
the Crystal, with its futuristic architecture and construction, you'll see
why this iconic structure is one of the most sustainable buildings in the
world. Thanks to green technologies from our Environmental Portfolio,
the Crystal meets the highest environmental standards, raising the bar
for sustainable building.

Join us at the Crystal. Talk to our experts about the options and opportu-
nities for sustainable city development. Explore some fascinating urban
projects. And see for yourself what the future holds for the world's
metropolises.

[ WWW.THECRYSTAL.ORG

The Crystal — A vision of the urban future


http://www.thecrystal.org
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

Dear shareholders,

Despite a difficult economic environment and
special burdens in the project business, Siemens’
overall performance in fiscal 2012 was respectable.

In fiscal 2012, the Supervisory Board performed the duties assigned to it by law, the Siemens Articles
of Association and the Bylaws for the Supervisory Board. We regularly advised the Managing Board
on the management of the Company and monitored the Managing Board's activities. We were directly
involved in all major decisions regarding the Company. In written and oral reports, the Managing
Board regularly provided us with timely and comprehensive information on Company planning and
business operations as well as on the strategic development and current state of the Company.
Deviations from business plans were explained to us in detail. The Managing Board coordinated with
us the Company's strategic orientation. On the basis of reports submitted by the Managing Board,
we considered in detail all business transactions of major significance to the Company. The proposals
made by the Managing Board were approved after detailed examination and consultation. We held

a total of six regular meetings.

In my capacity as Chairman of the Supervisory Board, I was in regular contact with the Managing Board
between Supervisory Board meetings and was kept up-to-date on current developments in the Company'’s
business situation and on key business transactions. At separate strategy meetings, I discussed with
the Managing Board the perspectives and future orientation of the Company's individual businesses.

Work in the Supervisory Board committees

To ensure the efficiency of its work, the Supervisory Board has a total of six standing committees, which
prepare the proposals for the Supervisory Board as well as the issues to be dealt with at the Board's
plenary meetings. Where legally permissible, the Supervisory Board's decision-making powers are also
delegated to these committees. The chairpersons of the committees report to the Supervisory Board
on the committees’ work at the subsequent Board meetings. The composition of the individual Super-
visory Board committees and the number of committee meetings and decisions are shown in chapter

D.7 SUPERVISORY BOARD AND MANAGING BOARD, PAGES 234-235 below.

The Chairman’s Committee met six times in fiscal 2012. It also voted on five proposals using a
notional, or written, voting process. Between meetings, I discussed topics of particular importance
to the Company with the members of the Chairman’s Committee. The Committee dealt with corporate-
governance-related matters, including the Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate
Governance Code, with the preparation of decisions concerning Managing Board compensation, with
the assumption by Managing Board members of positions in other companies and institutions, and
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with a variety of personnel-related topics. The Committee endorsed a decision by the Managing Board
to issue warrant bonds with a value of up to US$5 billion and amended the Articles of Association after
the Company’s capital stock had been reduced as a result of the Managing Board's decision to retire
treasury stock that had been acquired as part of a share buyback program.

The Mediation Committee was not required to meet in fiscal 2012.

The Finance and Investment Committee met three times. It also voted on five proposals using
a notional, or written, voting process. The focuses of its meetings included the preparation of the
decision regarding the budget for fiscal 2012, the further development of the Company’s medium-
term strategy, the Company’s pension system and the approval of Company investment projects.

The Audit Committee met six times. In the presence of the independent auditors, the President and
Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and the General Counsel, the Committee discussed
the financial statements and the Combined Management Report for Siemens AG and Siemens world-
wide, the proposal for the appropriation of net income and the Annual Report on Form 20-F for the
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). In addition, the Audit Committee made a recommen-
dation to the Supervisory Board regarding the Supervisory Board's proposal to the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting concerning the election of the independent auditors. The Audit Committee also gave in-depth
consideration to the appointment of the independent auditors for fiscal 2012, to monitoring the audi-
tors’ independence and qualifications as well as the additional services they perform, to determining
their fee and to the audit reviews of the Company's quarterly financial reports and the half-year finan-
cial report. In addition, the Audit Committee dealt with the Company’s financial reporting process
and risk management system and with the effectiveness, resources and findings of the internal audit
as well as with reports concerning potential and pending legal disputes. The Audit Committee also
focused on Company compliance with the provisions of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOA)
and on the internal audit of the effectiveness of our internal controls, regulatory compliance and the
integrity of our financial reporting.

The Compliance Committee met five times in fiscal 2012. At its meetings, which were generally attended
by Dr. Theodor Waigel in his capacity as Monitor, the Committee discussed primarily the quarterly reports
and the annual report submitted by the Chief Compliance Officer and the Chief Counsel Compliance.
The Committee also concerned itself with the preparation of the communications measures to be imple-
mented in connection with the conclusion of the Monitorship.

The Nominating Committee met six times in fiscal 2012 in order to prepare the election of the
Supervisory Board's shareholder representatives by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of Siemens AG
on January 23, 2013. When preparing the list of candidates to be proposed to the Supervisory Board,
the Nominating Committee took into account the requirements of the German Stock Corporation Act,
the German Corporate Governance Code and the Bylaws for the Supervisory Board as well as the
goals that the Supervisory Board had set for its own composition. The Nominating Committee consid-
ered, in particular, the character, integrity, commitment, professionalism and independence of the
individuals recommended for nomination. With a view to the Company's international orientation,
the Nominating Committee attached particular importance to ensuring that a sufficient number of
members had extensive international experience. It also endeavored to ensure that the participation
of women was appropriate and that at least six shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board



were independent in the meaning of Section 5.4.2 of the German Corporate Governance Code. The
Nominating Committee recommended that the Supervisory Board propose to the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting on January 23, 2013 that Dr. Gerhard Cromme, Dr. Josef Ackermann, Gerd von Brandenstein,
Michael Diekmann, Dr. Hans Michael Gaul, Prof. Dr. Peter Gruss and Dr. Nicola Leibinger-Kammuiller be
reelected and that Gérard Mestrallet, Giiler Sabanci and Werner Wenning be elected for the first time

to serve as shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board. At an election held on September 25,
2012 in accordance with the provisions of the German Codetermination Act, the following individuals
were elected to serve as employee representatives on the Supervisory Board, effective the end of

the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 23, 2013: Berthold Huber, Lothar Adler, Bettina Haller,
Hans-Jirgen Hartung, Robert Kensbock, Harald Kern, Jiirgen Kerner, Dr. Rainer Sieg, Birgit Steinborn
and Sibylle Wankel.

Topics at the plenary meetings of the Supervisory Board

Regular topics of discussion at the Supervisory Board's plenary meetings were revenue, profit and
employment development at Siemens AG, at the Sectors and at Siemens worldwide as well as the
Company's financial position, profitability and major investment and divestment projects. The Manag-
ing Board reported to us regularly and comprehensively on Company planning and on the Company'’s
strategic development, business operations and current situation.

At our meeting on November 9, 2011, we discussed the key financial figures for fiscal 2011 and approved
the budget for 2012. We also determined the compensation of Managing Board members for fiscal 2011
on the basis of their achievement of performance-related targets. The appropriateness of this compen-
sation was confirmed by an independent compensation consultant.

At our meeting on November 30, 2011, we primarily discussed the financial statements and the Com-
bined Management Report for Siemens AG and Siemens worldwide as of September 30, 2011 as well as
the agenda for the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 24, 2012. We also discussed the Annual
Report for 2011 - in particular, the “Corporate Governance report” included therein — and established
the targets for Managing Board compensation in fiscal 2012.

At our meeting on January 23, 2012, the Managing Board reported on the Company's business and
financial position following the conclusion of the first quarter. We also conducted by-elections for the
Audit Committee and the Finance and Investment Committee.

At our meeting on April 24, 2012, the Managing Board reported on the Company’s business and finan-
cial position following the conclusion of the second quarter of fiscal 2012. In addition, the Energy
Sector reported on the situation in its business. We also discussed profit protection measures with the
Managing Board.

At our meeting on July 25, 2012, we discussed the Company’s business and financial position follow-
ing the conclusion of the third quarter and decided to approve the Managing Board's plan to acquire
Siemens shares in order to retire them, offer them for purchase to employees, members of the govern-
ing bodies of Affiliated Companies and members of the Managing Board and/or use them to service
convertible bonds or warrant bonds. In addition, we concerned ourselves with the new version of the
German Corporate Governance Code of May 15, 2012. The Healthcare Sector also reported on the
situation in its business.



At our meeting on September 19, 2012, the Managing Board provided us with an overview of the
current state of the Company. On the occasion of the opening of an information and dialogue center
for urban development in London, the Infrastructure &Cities Sector reported on the situation in its
business. In addition, the Regional Company reported on business development in the UK. We were
also provided with an overview of the activities of Siemens Corporate Technology and approved the
acquisition of LMS International NV, Leuven (Belgium). LMS International NV is a leading provider of
industry software for the testing and mechatronic simulation of complex products.

Corporate Governance Code

The Supervisory Board concerned itself with the provisions of and amendments to the German Corpo-
rate Governance Code. At our meeting on July 25, 2012, we discussed the amendments to the German
Corporate Governance Code contained in the new version of May 15, 2012. At our subsequent meeting
on September 19, 2012, the Bylaws for the Supervisory Board were amended to take into account the
requirements of the new version of the Code. In addition, we adjusted the concrete goals for the Super-
visory Board's composition — which are set outin chapter —> B.1 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT, PAGES 22-25
below - in order to take those requirements into account and determined that, in our estimation, the
Supervisory Board had an appropriate number of independent members. Information on corporate
governance at the Company and a detailed report on the level and structure of the compensation paid
to the members of the Supervisory and Managing Boards is provided in chapter —> 8.4 coMPENSATION
REPORT, PAGES 31-43 below. At their meetings on September 10 and 19, 2012, respectively, the Managing
Board and the Supervisory Board approved the issuance of an unqualified Declaration of Conformity
pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), stating that the Company
complies with all the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code in the version of
May 15, 2012 and will continue to do so in the future. The exception mentioned in the Declaration of
Conformity of October 1, 2011 — namely, that the current compensation rules for the Supervisory Board
do not stipulate a performance-related compensation component — no longer applies since the new
version of the Code no longer includes a recommendation regarding the performance-related compen-
sation of supervisory board members. Siemens’ Declaration of Conformity with the German Corporate
Governance Code is permanently available to shareholders on the Company's website.

Detailed discussion of the financial statements

Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft audited the Annual Financial Statements of
Siemens AG, the Consolidated Financial Statements of Siemens worldwide and the Combined Manage-
ment Report for Siemens AG and Siemens worldwide for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012 in
accordance with the requirements of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and approved them without
reservation. The Annual Financial Statements of Siemens AG and the Combined Management Report
for Siemens AG and Siemens worldwide were prepared in accordance with the requirements of German
commercial law. The Consolidated Financial Statements of Siemens worldwide were prepared in
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European
Union (EU), and with the additional requirements set out in Section 315a (1) of the German Commercial
Code (HGB). The financial statements also comply with the IFRS, as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The independent auditors conducted their audit in accordance
with Section 317 of the HGB and in compliance with the generally accepted German standards for the
audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftspriifer (IDW) and with the
International Standards on Auditing (ISA). The above-mentioned documents as well as the Managing
Board's proposal for the appropriation of net income were submitted to us by the Managing Board in a



timely manner. The Audit Committee discussed the Managing Board's proposal for the appropriation of
net income in detail at its meeting on November 6, 2012. The Committee discussed the Annual Financial
Statements of Siemens AG, the Consolidated Financial Statements of Siemens worldwide and the
Combined Management Report in detail at its meeting on November 27, 2012.

The audit reports prepared by Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft were distributed
to all members of the Supervisory Board and comprehensively reviewed at our meeting on November 28,
2012 in the presence of the independent auditors, who reported on the main findings of their audit.
The independent auditors also reported that there were no major weaknesses in the Company's internal
audit or risk management systems. At this meeting, the Managing Board explained the financial state-
ments of Siemens AG and Siemens worldwide as well as the Company’s risk management system. The
independent auditors also discussed the scope, focal points and costs of the audit.

We concur with the results of the audit. Following the definitive findings of the examination by the
Audit Committee and our own examination, we have no objections. The Managing Board prepared the
Annual Financial Statements of Siemens AG and the Consolidated Financial Statements of Siemens
worldwide. We adopted the Annual Financial Statements and approved the Consolidated Financial State-
ments. We endorse the Managing Board's proposal that the net income available for distribution be
used to pay out a dividend of €3.00 per share entitled to a dividend and that the amount of net income
attributable to shares of stock not entitled to receive a dividend for fiscal 2012 be carried forward.

Changes in the composition of the Supervisory and Managing Boards

Dieter Scheitor resigned from the Supervisory Board, effective the end of the regular Annual Share-
holders’ Meeting on January 24, 2012. Effective January 25, 2012, Jiirgen Kerner was appointed to the
Supervisory Board by court order. At the Supervisory Board meeting on January 23, 2012, Mr. Kerner
was elected to succeed Mr. Scheitor as employee representative on the Audit Committee and the Finance
and Investment Committee, effective January 25, 2012. The Supervisory Board would like to thank
Mr. Scheitor for his many years of loyal support.

There were no changes in the composition of the Managing Board in fiscal 2012.
The Supervisory Board would like to thank the members of the Managing Board as well as the employees

and the employee representatives of all Siemens companies for their work.

For the Supervisory Board

ow/{ a,ou,\l,u{____

Dr. Gerhard Cromme
Chairman
Berlin and Munich, November 28, 2012
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A.4 THE SIEMENS SHARE/INVESTOR RELATIONS

| CHANGE IN THE VALUE OF AN INVESTMENT IN SIEMENS SHARES IN FISCAL 2012 (WITH DIVIDENDS REINVESTED; INDEXED)

in% | September 30, 2011

September 30, 2012

140

130 N
120 oS ﬁt\-\/\/\«/\vw MAV/\/W :jf_m!\,;i
110 A N i VJL\/J —
100 | £ ('; > W“\\/\M\,..A Al

90

80

70

| = Siemens — DAX® MSCI World

The Siemens share price developed positively over the course
of fiscal 2012. However, the markets were volatile during this
period due to ongoing uncertainty in the eurozone. After in-
creasing at the beginning of the fiscal year, stock markets in
general and the Siemens share price in particular declined for
several months. Then, in June 2012, a positive stock market
trend began. This trend continued until the end of fiscal 2012. In
August 2012, the Company launched a share buyback program.
From the start of the buyback program until the end of the
fiscal year, the Siemens share price gained more than 13%.

In the last few years, we have increased our dividend several
times — in some cases substantially — from €1.60 per share in
fiscal 2009 to €3.00 per share in fiscal 2011. In line with the div-
idend policy of the One Siemens framework, we intend for our
shareholders to profit significantly from Siemens’ financial
success again this year. As a result, the Managing Board and
Supervisory Board will propose a dividend payment of €3.00
per share for fiscal 2012, representing a payout ratio of 56%.
Siemens AG continues to have a very sound financial basis. In
an environment in which the ratings of many countries have
come under pressure, the Company continues to enjoy good
investment-grade credit ratings. In the course of the above-
mentioned share buyback program, we repurchased shares up
to the end of November 2012 with a value of about €2.9 billion.
In September 2012, the Company also retired some 33.2 million
of its own shares, thereby reducing its capital stock from about
914 million shares to 881 million.

A.4.1 Stock markets —
Siemens share price increases

Reflecting economic developments, the stock market envi-
ronment was characterized by continuously increasing share
prices during the first four months of fiscal 2012 (October 1,
2011 to January 31, 2012). These gains were then lost in the
following months, with prices bottoming out in June 2012.

To our Shareholders 21 B.

Corporate Governance 49 C.

The markets subsequently recovered steadily from this
trough, again reaching their previous high for the year toward
the end of fiscal 2012.

Over the entire fiscal year, Siemens stock performed compara-
tively well in this market environment, closing at €77.61 per
share on September 30, 2012. For shareholders who reinvested
their dividends, this amounted to a gain of 18.6% (fiscal 2011:
a loss of 9.5%) compared to the closing price a year earlier. The
Siemens share performed somewhat more weakly than the
leading international index, MSCI World (which rose 21.6%),
and remained noticeably behind the leading index of the
German stock market, the DAX (which advanced 31.2%).

LONG-TERM PERFORMANCE OF SIEMENS SHARES
COMPARED WITH LEADING INDICES
| (AVERAGE ANNUAL PERFORMANCE WITH DIVIDENDS REINVESTED)

Ten-year period FY 2003 -FY 2012 |

Siemens 11.3% #
DAX® 10.1% #
MSCI World 8.0% [mmmmmm |

Along-term comparison illustrates the strength of the Siemens
share: the assets of an investor who acquired Siemens stock
worth €1,000 at the beginning of fiscal 2003 and reinvested
the dividends in additional Siemens shares would have in-
creased to €2,911 by the end of fiscal 2012. This annual return
of 11.3% is noticeably above the corresponding results for the
DAX 30 (+10.1%) and MSCI World (+8.0%).

A.4.2 Stable dividend proposed
At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the Managing Board and

the Supervisory Board will propose a dividend payment of
€3.00. After the substantial dividend increases in fiscal 2010

Combined Management Report

Letter to our Shareholders

Managing Board of Siemens AG
Report of the Supervisory Board

The Siemens share/Investor relations
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| DIVIDEND

Fiscal year FY 2012 FY 2011 FY 2010 FY 2009 FY 2008
Dividend per share (in €) 3.00" 3.00 2.70 1.60 1.60
Dividend yield (in %)? 3.9 3.9 2.9 2.4 3.6
Ex-dividend date Jan. 24, 2013 Jan. 25, 2012 Jan. 26, 2011 Jan. 27, 2010 Jan. 28, 2009
Net income (in millions of €) 4,590 6,321 4,068 2,497 5,886
Total dividend payout (in millions of €) 2,5283 2,629 2,356 1,388 1,380
Payout ratio (in %) * 56 41 58 56 23

1 To be proposed to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting

2 Dividend payout/Siemens share price on day of Annual Shareholders’ Meeting;
for fiscal 2012: dividend payout/Siemens share price at fiscal year-end

and fiscal 2011, this proposal reflects our earnings position in
fiscal 2012 and is in strict accordance with our payout policy.
Representing a payout ratio of 56%, this proposal continues
our tradition of paying attractive dividends to our investors.

A.4.3 Share buyback program
and reduction of capital stock

In August 2012, against the backdrop of favorable capital market
conditions, Siemens optimized its capital structure and initiated
a buyback of Company stock with a value of approximately
€2.9 billion. Under this program, which was finalized on
November 7, 2012, a total of about 38 million shares were
acquired at an average price of €76.90 per share. The repur-
chased shares can be used to cancel and reduce capital stock,
to issue shares to employees, the board members of Affiliated
Companies and members of the Managing Board and to service
convertible bonds and warrant bonds. The share buyback was
financed through long-term debt.

In addition to the share buyback program, the Company also
retired approximately 33.2 million of its own shares in Septem-
ber 2012, thereby reducing its capital stock from about 914 mil-
lion shares to 881 million.

| INVESTOR TYPE AND REGIONAL DISTRIBUTION

3 Based on currently estimated number of shares entitled to dividend payment

4 Excluding non-cash items in fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010 (NSN and DX impairment
charges), the payout ratio equaled 34% in fiscal 2009 and 46% in fiscal 2010

A.4.4 Shareholder structure

With some 740,000 shareholders, Siemens AG is one of the
world's largest publicly owned companies. An analysis of our
shareholder structure conducted in August 2012 showed that
shareholders in Germany hold the largest percentage of our
share capital, about 30% of all outstanding shares. Sharehold-
ers in the U.S. hold roughly 16% and shareholders in the UK.,
around 9%, while investors in France and Switzerland hold 8%
and 6%, respectively.

Some 59% of Siemens’ outstanding shares are currently held
by institutional investors, about 20% by private shareholders
and around 6% by members of the Siemens family.

A.4.5 Credit ratings

Siemens AG has good, investment-grade credit ratings:
"Aa3/P-1/outlook stable” from Moody's Investors Service and
"A+/A-1+/outlook stable” from Standard & Poor’s are very posi-
tive ratings — particularly when compared to those of our com-
petitors in the industry segment. Our solid financial position
gives us unrestricted access to the international financial and
capital markets.

Siemens family

Institutional ] l
members: 6%?

investors: 59%"

T' [ Unidentified

investors: 15%

Private investors: 20%

Germany: 30% l I Switzerland: 6%

—— France: 8%

—————— Rest of Europe: 7%

U.K.: 9% 40‘ '% Rest of world: 9%
[

U.S.: 16% Unidentified: 15%

1 This figure includes a 5.02% stake in Siemens’ capital stock held by BlackRock Holdco 2,
Inc., Wilmington, U.S., a 5.01% stake in Siemens’ capital stock held by BlackRock, Inc.,
New York, U.S., and a 3.04% stake in Siemens’ capital stock held by the State of Qatar,
Doha, Qatar (represented by the DIC Company Limited, George Town, Grand Cayman),
as reported to us by these organizations.

135 D. Consolidated Financial Statements 239 E.

2 This figure includes a 1.30% stake in Siemens capital stock for which the von Siemens-
Vermogensverwaltung GmbH exercises voting rights under powers of attorney and a
3.03% stake held by the Werner von Siemens Stiftung, Zug, Switzerland, as reported to
us by the Stiftung.

Additional Information
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At the end of fiscal 2012, the net debt of Siemens AG was
€9,292 million, with cash and cash equivalents of €10,891 mil-

STOCK MARKET INFORMATION
| (IN €, UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED)

lion. For further information on our credit ratings and financial FY 20121 FY 20111
obligations, please see —> NOTE 28 TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL Stock price range (Xetra closing price)
STATEMENTS, PAGES 190-191. High 79.71 99.38
Low 63.06 64.45
| CREDIT RATINGS Fiscal year-end 77.61 68.12
September 30, 2012 September 30, 2011 Number of shares issued
X , (September 30, in millions) 881 914
Moody’s Moody’s
Investors Standard & Investors Standard & Market capitalization (in millions of €)2 66,455 59,554
Service Poor’s Service Poor’s . K
Basic earnings per share
Long-term debt Aa3 A+ Al A+ (from continuing operations)3 5.77 8.23
Short-term debt P-1 A-1+ P-1 A-1+ Diluted earnings per share
(from continuing operations)? 5.71 8.14
I Dividend per share 3.00* 3.00

A.4.6 Siemens on the capital market

We take our responsibility to maintain an intensive dialogue
with the capital market very seriously. Cultivating close con-
tacts with our shareholders, we keep them informed of all ma-
jor developments throughout Siemens.

As part of our investor relations work, we provide information
on the Company's development in quarterly, semiannual and
annual reports. Our CEO and CFO also maintain close contact
with investors through roadshows and conferences. In addi-
tion, Siemens holds Sector Capital Market Days, at which the
management of our Sectors informs investors and analysts
about the Sectors’ business strategies and market environ-
ments.

We also provide extensive information online. Quarterly, semi-
annual and annual reports, analyst presentations, press re-
leases and our financial calendar for the current year (please
see —>» FINANCIAL CALENDAR, PAGE 251), Which includes all major
publication dates as well as the date of the Annual Share-
holders’ Meeting, are available at

] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/INVESTORS

1 Fiscal year from October 1 to September 30
2 On the basis of outstanding shares

Regarding activities classified as discontinued operations, prior periods are presented
on a comparable basis.

4 To be proposed to the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting

A.4.7 Profit-sharing culture/
Stock-based compensation programs

Siemens has set itself the goal of more intensively fostering a
profit-sharing culture at the Company and encouraging em-
ployees to become shareholders. That's why we offer various
share-based payment programs to our employees. In fiscal
2012, 5,225,138 Siemens shares were issued to service these
programs, namely, the Stock Awards program, the Share
Matching Program (including the Base Share Program, the
Share Matching Plan and the Monthly Investment Plan) and the
Jubilee Program. Non-vested and outstanding grants under the
various plans will result in additional share issuances to em-
ployees in the future. For more detailed information on share-
based payment, please see —> NOTE 33 TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, PAGES 208-211.

Our Company-wide Share Ownership Guidelines specify that
the members of the Managing Board and roughly 550 senior
executives must hold an interest in Siemens equal in value to
between 50% and 300% of their base compensation for the
period in which they hold office. For further information on
our employee share programs, please see —> NOTE 33 TO THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, PAGES 208-211.


http://www.siemens.com/investors
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B.1 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Good corporate governance is the basis for our decision-mak-
ing and control processes and comprises responsible, value-
based management and monitoring focused on long-term suc-
cess, goal-oriented and efficient cooperation between our
Managing and Supervisory Boards, respect for the interests of
our shareholders and employees, transparency and responsi-
bility in all our entrepreneurial decisions and an appropriate
risk management system.

Siemens AG fully complies with all recommendations of the
German Corporate Governance Code (Code) in the version of
May 15, 2012.

The Managing Board and the Supervisory Board of Siemens AG
have discussed compliance with the Code’s recommendations
in detail. Based on their deliberations, the boards have ap-
proved the annual Declaration of Conformity as of October 1,
2012. This document is posted on our website and available on
—> PAGE 28.

Siemens voluntarily complies with the Code’s non-binding
suggestions, with the following exception:

> In fiscal 2011, the Supervisory Board decided to appoint Dr.
Roland Busch, Klaus Helmrich and Dr. Michael Sif to the
Managing Board, each for a term of five years, and therefore
to no longer follow the suggestion set out in Section 5.1.2
para. 2 sentence 1 of the Code, according to which the maxi-
mum possible appointment period of five years should not
be the rule for first-time appointments to a managing board.

Our listing on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) subjects
us to a number of provisions under U.S. securities laws (in-
cluding the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOA) as well as to the rules
and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion (SEC) and the NYSE. To facilitate our compliance with the
SOA, we have, among other things, a Disclosure Committee in
place, comprising the heads of a number of our Corporate
Units. This committee is responsible for reviewing certain fi-
nancial and non-financial information and advising our Man-
aging Board in its decisions regarding disclosure. We also have
procedures in place that require the members of the manage-
ment of our Sectors, Divisions, Financial Services, Cross-Sec-
tor Services, Regional Clusters and certain Corporate Units —
supported by certifications provided by the management of
entities under their direction — to confirm to us the correct-
ness of the financial data that they have reported to Siemens’
corporate headquarters and the effectiveness of the related
control systems. Their confirmation provides a basis for our
CEO and CFO to certify our financial statements to the SEC.
Consistent with the requirements of the SOA, we have proce-

dures for handling accounting complaints in place as well as
a Code of Ethics for Financial Matters. This Code of Ethics for
Financial Matters was last updated in 2010.

B.1.1 Management and control structure

B.1.1.1 SUPERVISORY BOARD

Siemens AG is subject to German corporate law. It has a two-
tier board structure, consisting of a Managing Board and a Su-
pervisory Board. As required by the German Codetermination
Act (Mitbestimmungsgesetz), the Company’s shareholders
and its employees each select one-half of the Supervisory
Board's members. The term of office of the current members of
the Supervisory Board will expire at the close of the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting 2013.

The Supervisory Board first defined the objectives for its com-
position in fiscal 2010. At its meeting on September 19, 2012, it
modified these objectives in order to bring them into line with
Section 5.4.1 of the amended Code of May 15, 2012 and reap-
proved them as follows:

> The composition of the Supervisory Board of Siemens AG
shall be such that qualified control and advising for the
Managing Board is ensured. The candidates proposed for
election to the Supervisory Board shall have the expertise,
skills and professional experience necessary to carry out the
functions of a Supervisory Board member in a multinational
company and safeguard the reputation of Siemens in public.
In particular, care shall be taken in regard to the personality,
integrity, commitment, professionalism and independence
of the individuals proposed for election. The goal is to en-
sure that, in the Supervisory Board, as a group, all know-
how and experience is available that is considered essential
in view of Siemens’ activities.

> Taking the Company’s international orientation into ac-
count, care shall also be taken to ensure that the Super-
visory Board has an adequate number of members with
extensive international experience. The goal for the next
Supervisory Board election in 2013 is to make sure that the
present considerable share of Supervisory Board members
with international background is maintained.

> In its election proposals, the Supervisory Board shall also
pay particular attention to the appropriate participation of
women. Qualified women shall already be included in the
initial process of selecting potential candidates for new elec-
tions or for the filling of Supervisory Board positions that
have become vacant and shall be considered, as appropriate,
in nominations. There are currently four women on our
Supervisory Board. Our goal is, at the minimum, to maintain
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and, if possible, to increase this number at the next Super-
visory Board election in 2013. It is also intended that a woman
join the Nominating Committee following this Supervisory
Board election.

> An adequate number of independent members shall belong
to the Supervisory Board. Material and not only temporary
conflicts of interest, such as organizational functions or ad-
visory capacities with major competitors of the company,
shall be avoided. Under the presumption that the mere exer-
cise of Supervisory Board duties as an employee representa-
tive gives no cause to doubt the compliance with the inde-
pendence criteria pursuant to Section 5.4.2 of the Code, the
Supervisory Board shall have a minimum of sixteen mem-
bers who are independent in the meaning of the Code. In
any case, the Supervisory Board shall be composed in such a
way that a number of at least six independent shareholder
representatives in the meaning of Section 5.4.2 of the Code
is achieved. In addition, the Supervisory Board members
shall have sufficient time to be able to devote the necessary
regularity and diligence to their mandate.

> The age limitation established in the Bylaws of the Supervi-
sory Board will be taken into consideration. In addition, no
more than two former members of the Managing Board of
Siemens AG shall belong to the Supervisory Board.

The status of implementation of these objectives can be sum-
marized as follows: On September 25, 2012, three women were
elected, pursuant to the German Codetermination Act’s provi-
sions regarding the election of employee representatives to a
supervisory board,to serve as employee representatives on
Siemens’ Supervisory Board. Their terms of office will begin at
the close of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 23,
2013. In fiscal 2012, the Nominating Committee met six times
in order to prepare the election of the Supervisory Board's
shareholder representatives by the Annual Shareholders’ Meet-
ing 2013. In proposing candidates to the Supervisory Board,
the Nominating Committee took into account not only the re-
quirements of the German Stock Corporation Act, the Code
and the Bylaws for the Supervisory Board but also the Super-
visory Board's objectives for its composition. On the basis of
the Nominating Committee’s the Supervisory Board will pro-
pose that the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting 2013 elect as
shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board several
candidates who are currently engaged in international activi-
ties and/or have many years of international experience. The
candidates will include two women, one of whom is intended
to join the Nominating Committee following the Supervisory
Board election.

Some Supervisory Board members hold - or have held in the
past year — high-ranking positions at other companies with
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which Siemens does business. Nevertheless, transactions be-
tween Siemens and such companies are carried out on an
arm’s length basis. We believe that these transactions do not
compromise the independence of the Supervisory Board mem-
bers in question.

The Supervisory Board oversees and advises the Managing
Board in its management of the Company's business. At regu-
lar intervals, the Supervisory Board discusses business devel-
opment, planning, strategy and implementation. It reviews
the Annual Financial Statements of Siemens AG, the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements of Siemens worldwide, Manage-
ment Reports of these financial statements and the proposal
for the appropriation of net income. It also discusses Siemens’
quarterly and half-yearly reports and approves the Annual Fi-
nancial Statements of Siemens AG as well as the Consolidated
Financial Statements of Siemens worldwide, taking into ac-
count both the audit reports issued by the independent audi-
tors thereon and the results of the review conducted by the
Audit Committee. In addition, the Supervisory Board concerns
itself with the Company’s adherence to the statutory provi-
sions, official regulations and internal Company policies (com-
pliance). It also appoints the members of the Managing Board
and determines each member’s duties. Important Managing
Board decisions — such as those regarding major acquisitions,
divestments and financial measures — require Supervisory
Board approval, unless the Bylaws for the Supervisory Board
specify that such authority be delegated to the Finance and In-
vestment Committee of the Supervisory Board. In the Bylaws
for the Managing Board, the Supervisory Board has established
the rules that govern the work of the Managing Board - in par-
ticular, the rules regarding the allocation of duties among indi-
vidual Managing Board members, the matters reserved for the
Managing Board as a whole and the quorum required for Man-
aging Board decisions.

The Supervisory Board currently has six committees whose du-
ties, responsibilities and procedures fulfill the requirements of
the German Stock Corporation Act and the Code, reflect appli-
cable SOA requirements and incorporate applicable NYSE rules
as well as certain NYSE rules, with which Siemens AG com-
plies voluntarily. Each committee’s chairperson provides the
Supervisory Board with regular reports regarding the activities
of his or her committee.

The Chairman’s Committee, which comprises the Chairman
and Deputy Chairmen of the Supervisory Board as well as one
further employee representative elected by the Supervisory
Board, performs the collective tasks of a “nominating, compen-
sation and corporate governance committee” to the extent
that such tasks are not performed by the Nominating Commit-
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tee and German law does not require that such tasks be per-
formed by the full Supervisory Board. In particular, the Chair-
man’'s Committee makes proposals regarding the appointment
and dismissal of Managing Board members, handles contracts
with members of the Managing Board, prepares the determi-
nation of Managing Board compensation and the review of the
Managing Board compensation system to be conducted at the
Supervisory Board's plenary meetings. In preparing recom-
mendations on the appointment of Managing Board members,
the Chairman’s Committee takes into account a candidate’s
professional qualifications, international experience and lead-
ership qualities, the board’s long-range plans for succession as
well as the board’s diversity and, in particular, the appropriate
consideration of women. The Chairman’s Committee concerns
itself with questions regarding the Company’s corporate gov-
ernance and prepares the resolution regarding the Declaration
of Conformity with the Code to be approved by the Supervisory
Board. Furthermore, the Chairman’s Committee submits rec-
ommendations to the Supervisory Board regarding the compo-
sition of Supervisory Board committees and decides whether
to approve business transactions with Managing Board mem-
bers and parties related to them.

The Audit Committee comprises the Chairman of the Supervi-
sory Board, two of the Supervisory Board's shareholder repre-
sentatives and three of the Supervisory Board's employee rep-
resentatives. According to German law, the Audit Committee
must include at least one independent Supervisory Board
member with knowledge and experience in the application of
accounting principles or the auditing of financial statements.
The Chairman of the Audit Committee, Dr. Hans Michael Gaul,
fulfills these German statutory requirements. The Supervisory
Board has designated Dr. Hans Michael Gaul - in addition to
Dr. Gerhard Cromme - as an “audit committee financial ex-
pert,” as defined by the SOA and the regulations of the SEC.
The Audit Committee oversees the accounting process. It also
prepares the Supervisory Board's recommendation to the An-
nual Shareholders’ Meeting concerning the election of the in-
dependent auditors and submits the corresponding proposal
to the full Supervisory Board. Furthermore, in addition to the
work performed by the independent auditors, the Audit Com-
mittee discusses the Company's financial statements prepared
quarterly, half-yearly and annually by the Managing Board. On
the basis of the independent auditors’ report on the annual fi-
nancial statements, the Audit Committee makes, after its own
review, recommendations to the Supervisory Board regarding
the approval of the Annual Financial Statements of Siemens
AG and the Consolidated Financial Statements of Siemens
worldwide. It concerns itself with the Company’s risk monitor-
ing system and oversees the effectiveness of the internal con-
trol system as this relates, in particular, to financial reporting,

the risk management system and the internal audit system.
The Internal Audit Department reports regularly to the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee awards the audit contract to
the independent auditors elected by the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting and monitors the independent audit of the financial
statements - including, in particular, the auditor's indepen-
dence, professional expertise and services — and performs
other functions assigned to it under the SOA.

The Compliance Committee comprises the Chairman of the
Supervisory Board, two of the Supervisory Board's shareholder
representatives and three of the Supervisory Board's employee
representatives. The Compliance Committee concerns itself, in
particular, with the Company's adherence to the statutory pro-
visions, official requlations and internal Company policies.

The Nominating Committee, which comprises the Chairman
of the Supervisory Board and two of the Supervisory Board's
shareholder representatives, is responsible for making recom-
mendations to the Supervisory Board's shareholder represen-
tatives regarding the shareholder candidates to be proposed for
election to the Supervisory Board by the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting. In preparing these recommendations, the objectives
specified by the Supervisory Board regarding its composition
are to be taken into account as well as the required knowledge,
abilities and experience of the proposed candidates; attention
shall also to be paid to independence, diversity and, in particu-
lar, the appropriate participation of women.

The Mediation Committee, which comprises the Chairman of
the Supervisory Board, the First Deputy Chairman (who is
elected in accordance with the German Codetermination Act),
one of the Supervisory Board's shareholder representatives
and one of the Supervisory Board's employee representatives,
submits proposals to the Supervisory Board in the event that
the Supervisory Board cannot reach the two-thirds majority re-
quired for the appointment or dismissal of a Managing Board
member.

The Finance and Investment Committee comprises the
Chairman of the Supervisory Board, three of the Supervisory
Board'’s shareholder representatives and four of the Superviso-
ry Board's employee representatives. Based on the Company'’s
overall strategy, which is the focus of an annual strategy meet-
ing of the Supervisory Board, the Committee prepares the dis-
cussions and resolutions of the Supervisory Board regarding
questions relating to the Company's financial situation and
structure as well as its fixed assets and financial investments.
In addition, the Finance and Investment Committee has been
authorized by the Supervisory Board to decide on the approval
of transactions and measures that require Supervisory Board

1 A. ToourShareholders 21 Corporate Governance
22 B.1 Corporate Governance Report 31 B.4 Compensation Report
28 B.2 Corporate Governance statement pursuant to (part of the Combined Management Report)
Section 289a of the German Commercial Code 44 B.5 Takeover-relevant information (pursuant to
(part of the Combined Management Report) Sections 289 para.4 and 315 para.4 of the
29 B.3 Compliance Report German Commercial Code) and explanatory report

(part of the Combined Management Report)



approval and have a value of less than €600 million. The Fi-
nance and Investment Committee also exercises the right of
the Supervisory Board pursuant to Section 32 of the German
Codetermination Act to make decisions regarding the exercise
of ownership rights resulting from interests in other compa-
nies. Section 32 para 1 sentence 2 of the German Codetermina-
tion Act stipulates that decisions made by the Finance and In-
vestment Committee require only the votes of the shareholder
representatives.

The composition of the Supervisory Board and its committees
is presented in chapter —> p.7 SUPERVISORY BOARD AND MANAGING
BOARD ON PAGES 232-235. Information on the work of this body
is provided in the Report of the Supervisory Board on —> PAGES
12-17. The compensation paid to the members of the
Supervisory Board is explained in the Compensation Report on
—> PAGES 42-43.

B.1.1.2 MANAGING BOARD

As the Company’s top management body, the Managing Board
is committed to serving the interests of the Company and
achieving sustainable growth in Company value. The mem-
bers of the Managing Board are jointly responsible for the
entire management of the Company and decide on the basic
issues of business policy and corporate strategy as well as on
the Company's annual and multi-year plans.

The Managing Board prepares the Company'’s quarterly and
half-yearly reports, the Annual Financial Statements of
Siemens AG and the Consolidated Financial Statements of
Siemens worldwide. In addition, the Managing Board must en-
sure that the Company adheres to the statutory provisions, of-
ficial regulations and internal Company policies (compliance)
and works to achieve compliance with these provisions and
policies within the Siemens group. Further comprehensive in-
formation on the compliance program and related activities in
fiscal 2012 is available on —> paGEs 29-30 (Compliance Report)
and —> PAGEs 109-111. The Managing Board and the Supervisory
Board cooperate closely for the benefit of the Company. The
Managing Board informs the Supervisory Board regularly, com-
prehensively and without delay on all issues of importance to
the Company with regard to strategy, planning, business de-
velopment, financial position, earnings, compliance and risks.
When filling managerial positions at the Company, the Manag-
ing Board takes diversity into consideration and, in particular,
aims for an appropriate consideration of women.

The Bylaws for the Managing Board provide for the establish-
ment of committees to deal with specific tasks. Currently, there
is one Managing Board committee, the Equity and Employee
Stock Committee. This committee comprises three members of
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the Managing Board and oversees the utilization of authorized
capital in connection with the issuance of employee stock and
the implementation of certain capital measures. It also deter-
mines the scope and conditions of the share-based compensa-
tion components and/or programs for employees and manag-
ers (with the exception of the Managing Board).

The composition of the Managing Board and its committee is
presented in chapter —> p.7 SUPERVISORY BOARD AND MANAGING
BOARD ON PAGES 236-238 of this Annual Report. Information on
the compensation paid to the members of the Managing Board
is provided in the Compensation Report on —> PAGES 35-41.

B.1.1.3 SHARE OWNERSHIP

As of October 12, 2012, the Managing Board's current members
held a total of 293,808 (2011: 248,137) Siemens shares repre-
senting 0.03 (2011: 0.03)% of the capital stock of Siemens AG,
which totaled 881,000,000 (2011: 914,203,421) shares.

As of the same day, the Supervisory Board’s current members
of the Supervisory Board held Siemens shares representing
less than 0.01 (2011: less than 0.01)% of the capital stock of
Siemens AG, which totaled 881,000,000 (2011: 914,203,421)
shares. These figures do not include the 11,454,464 (2011:
11,715,342) shares, or 1.30 (2011: 1.28)% of the capital stock of
Siemens AG, which totaled 881,000,000 (2011: 914,203,421)
shares, over which the von Siemens-Vermdgensverwaltung
GmbH (vSV), a German limited liability company, has voting
control under powers of attorney based on an agreement
between - among others — members of the Siemens family,
including Gerd von Brandenstein, and vSV. These shares
are voted together by vSV based on proposals by the family
partnership established by the Siemens family or by one of its
committees. Gerd von Brandenstein is the current chairman
of the executive committee and has a deciding vote in cases
of deadlock.

B.1.2 Purchase or sale
of the Company’s shares

Pursuant to §15a of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG),
members of the Managing Board and the Supervisory Board
are legally required to disclose the purchase or sale of shares
of Siemens AG or of financial instruments based thereon if the
total value of such transactions entered into by a board mem-
ber or any closely associated person reaches or exceeds €5,000
in any calendar year. All transactions reported to Siemens AG
in accordance with this requirement have been duly published
and can be found on the Company's website

l;l WWW.SIEMENS.COM/DIRECTORS-DEALINGS
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B.1.3 Shareholder relations

Siemens AG reports to shareholders on its business develop-
ment, financial position and earnings on a regular basis four
times a year. An ordinary Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, at
which we also report on business development, normally
takes place within the first four months of each fiscal year. The
Managing Board facilitates shareholder participation in this
meeting through electronic communications — in particular
the Internet — and enables shareholders who are unable to at-
tend the meeting to vote by proxy. Furthermore, shareholders
may exercise their right to vote in writing or by means of elec-
tronic communications (voting by mail). The Managing Board
may enable shareholders to participate in the Annual Share-
holders’ Meeting without the need to be present at the venue
and without a proxy and to exercise some or all of their rights
fully or partially by means of electronic communications. The
reports, documents and information required by law, includ-
ing the Annual Report, may be downloaded from our website.
The same applies to the agenda for the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting and to possible counterproposals or shareholders’
nominations, if any, that are required to be disclosed.

The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting decides, among other
things, on the appropriation of net income, the ratification of
the acts of the Managing and Supervisory Boards, and the ap-
pointment of the independent auditors. Amendments to the
Articles of Association and measures that change the Compa-
ny's capital stock are approved at the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting and are implemented by the Managing Board. Share-
holders may submit proposals regarding the proposals of the
Managing and Supervisory Boards and may contest decisions
of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. Shareholders owning
Siemens stock with an aggregate notional value of €100,000 or
more may also demand the appointment of special auditors to
examine specific issues.

As part of our investor relations activities, we inform our inves-
tors comprehensively about developments within the Company.
For communication purposes, Siemens makes extensive use
of the Internet. We publish quarterly, half-yearly and annual
reports, earnings releases, ad hoc announcements, analyst pre-
sentations and press releases as well as the financial calendar
for the current year, which contains the publication dates of
significant financial communications and the date of the Annu-
al Shareholders’ Meeting, at L] www.SIEMENS.COM/INVESTORS.
Details of our investor relations activities are provided on
—> pAGE 20 of this Annual Report.

B.1.3.1 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE GUIDELINES

Our Articles of Association, the Bylaws for the Supervisory
Board and for its most important committees, the Bylaws for
the Managing Board, all our Declarations of Conformity with
the Code and a variety of other corporate-governance-related
documents are posted on our website at ] www.sIEMENS.com/
CORPORATE-GOVERNANCE

B.1.4 Significant differences between
Siemens’ corporate governance and
NYSE Corporate Governance Standards

Companies listed on the NYSE are subject to the Corporate
Governance Standards of Section 303A (NYSE Standards) of
the NYSE Listed Company Manual. Under the NYSE Standards,
Siemens AG, as a foreign private issuer, is permitted to follow
its home-country corporate governance practices in lieu of the
NYSE Standards, except that it must comply with the NYSE
Standards in having an audit committee whose members are
independent within the meaning of the SOA as well as with
certain NYSE notification obligations. In addition, the NYSE
Standards require that foreign private issuers disclose any sig-
nificant differences between their own corporate governance
practices and those that the NYSE Standards require of U.S. do-
mestic companies.

As a company incorporated in Germany, Siemens AG must
comply in the first instance with the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act and the German Codetermination Act and voluntarily
follows the recommendations of the German Corporate Gov-
ernance Code as set out on —> paGes 22-25 above. Further-
more, Siemens complies with all binding rules and regula-
tions of the markets on which its securities are listed, such as
the NYSE, and also voluntarily complies with many of the
NYSE requirements that by their terms apply only to U.S. do-
mestic issuers.

The significant differences between our governance practices
and those of domestic U.S. NYSE issuers are as follows:

B.1.4.1 TWO-TIER BOARD STRUCTURE

The German Stock Corporation Act requires Siemens AG to
have a two-tier board structure, consisting of a Managing
Board and a Supervisory Board. The two-tier structure is char-
acterized by a strict separation of management and supervi-
sion. The roles and responsibilities of each of the two boards
are clearly defined by law. The composition of the Supervisory

1 A. ToourShareholders 21 Corporate Governance
22 B.1 Corporate Governance Report 31 B.4 Compensation Report
28 B.2 Corporate Governance statement pursuant to (part of the Combined Management Report)
Section 289a of the German Commercial Code 44 B.5 Takeover-relevant information (pursuant to
(part of the Combined Management Report) Sections 289 para.4 and 315 para.4 of the
29 B.3 Compliance Report German Commercial Code) and explanatory report

(part of the Combined Management Report)


http://www.siemens.com/investors
www.siemens.com/corporate-governance
www.siemens.com/corporate-governance

Board is determined in accordance with the German Codeter-
mination Act, which stipulates that one-half of the required
20 Supervisory Board members are to be elected by our em-
ployees in Germany. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board is
entitled to cast a deciding vote when the Supervisory Board is
unable to reach a decision in two separate rounds of voting.

B.1.4.2 INDEPENDENCE

In contrast to the NYSE Standards, which require a board of
directors to affirmatively determine the independence of the
individual directors with reference to specific tests of indepen-
dence, German law does not require the Supervisory Board to
make such affirmative findings on an individual basis. German
law requires an audit committee to include at least one in-
dependent supervisory board member with knowledge and
experience in the application of accounting principles or the
auditing of financial statements. In addition, the Bylaws for
Siemens’ Supervisory Board contain several provisions to help
ensure the independence of our Supervisory Board's advice
and supervision. Furthermore, the members of our Super-
visory and Managing Boards are strictly independent of one
another: a member of one board is legally prohibited from be-
ing concurrently active on the other. Our Supervisory Board
members have independent decision-making authority and
are legally prohibited from following any direction or instruc-
tion. Moreover, they may not enter into consulting, service or
certain other contracts with Siemens, unless approved by the
Supervisory Board. We also use the independence criteria of
the Code as guiding principles.

B.1.4.3 COMMITTEES

In contrast to the NYSE Standards, which require the creation
of several specific board committees, composed of indepen-
dent directors and operating pursuant to written charters that
define their tasks and responsibilities, the Supervisory Board
of Siemens AG has assigned many of the functions of a nomi-
nating, compensation and corporate governance committee to
its Chairman’s Committee and has delegated part of the re-
maining functions to its Nominating Committee. Neverthe-
less, certain responsibilities — for example, the determination
of the compensation of the members of the Managing Board —
have not been delegated to a committee because German law
requires that these functions be performed by the full Super-
visory Board. The Audit Committee, the Chairman’s Committee
and the Compliance Committee have written bylaws — adopted
by the Supervisory Board — that define their respective tasks
and responsibilities. The NYSE Standards were taken into con-
sideration in drawing up these bylaws.
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The Audit Committee of Siemens AG is subject to the require-
ments of the SOA and the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as these apply to a foreign private issuer, and performs - in co-
operation with the Compliance Committee — functions similar
to those assigned to an audit committee by the NYSE Stan-
dards. Nevertheless, German law prohibits delegating certain
responsibilities — such as the selection of independent audi-
tors (who, under German law, must be elected at the share-
holders’ meeting) — to a committee.

The Supervisory Board of Siemens AG also has a Finance and
Investment Committee and a Mediation Committee, the latter
of which is required under German law. Neither of these com-
mittees is required by the NYSE Standards.

B.1.4.4 SHAREHOLDER APPROVAL OF EQUITY
COMPENSATION PLANS; STOCK REPURCHASES

The NYSE Standards generally require that the domestic, i.e.
U.S. companies listed on the NYSE obtain shareholder approv-
al of all equity compensation plans (including stock option
plans) and of any material revisions to such plans. Under
German law, the creation of authorized or contingent capital
in order to issue shares requires approval by our shareholders.
Shareholders must also approve of the key points of a stock op-
tion plan as part of a decision regarding the creation of contin-
gent capital or the authorization to repurchase and use
Siemens shares for servicing a stock option plan.

Under German law, share buybacks generally require prior
shareholder authorization. Such authorization was last given
at our Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 25, 2011, and
this matter will, as a general rule, be voted upon at the expira-
tion of each authorization.
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B.2 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT PURSUANT TO
SECTION 289a OF THE GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE

The Corporate Governance statement pursuant to Section 289a
of the German Commercial Code (Handelsgesetzbuch) is an
integral part of the Combined Management Report. In accor-
dance with Section 317 para. 2 sentence 3 of the German Com-
mercial Code, the disclosures made within the scope of Section
289a of the German Commercial Code are not subject to the
audit by the auditors.

DECLARATION OF CONFORMITY WITH

THE GERMAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Managing Board and the Supervisory Board of Siemens AG
approved the following Declaration of Conformity pursuant to
Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act as of October
1, 2012:

“Declaration of Conformity by the Managing Board and the
Supervisory Board of Siemens Aktiengesellschaft with the
German Corporate Governance Code

Siemens AG fully complies and will continue to comply with
the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance
Code (‘Code’) in the version of May 15, 2012, published by the
Federal Ministry of Justice in the official section of the elec-
tronic Federal Gazette (‘elektronischer Bundesanzeiger’).

Since making its last Declaration of Conformity dated October 1,
2011, Siemens AG has complied with the recommendations of
the Code in the prior version of May 26, 2010, with the exception
stated and explained therein (that, contrary to the provisions of
Section 5.4.6 para. 2 sentence 1 of the Code in the prior version
of May 26, 2010, the rules for the compensation of the Super-
visory Board members contain no performance-related compen-
sation components since, in our view, a purely fixed compensa-
tion reinforces the independence of the Supervisory Board). The
deviation no longer applies, because the recommendation for
performance-related compensation for Supervisory Board mem-
bers is no longer included in the new version of the Code.

Berlin and Munich, October 1, 2012
Siemens Aktiengesellschaft

The Managing Board The Supervisory Board”
INFORMATION ON

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
Suggestions of the Code

Siemens voluntarily complies with the Code’s non-binding
suggestions, with the following exception:

In fiscal 2011, the Supervisory Board decided to appoint
Dr. Roland Busch, Klaus Helmrich and Dr. Michael SiiB to the

Managing Board, each for a term of five years, and therefore to
no longer follow the suggestion set out in Section 5.1.2 para. 2
sentence 1 of the Code, according to which the maximum pos-
sible appointment period of five years should not be the rule
for first-time appointments to a Managing Board.

The Code can be downloaded from the Internet at:
] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/289a.

Further Corporate Governance Practices applied beyond legal
requirements are contained in our Business Conduct Guidelines.

Our Company's values and

Business Conduct Guidelines

In the 165 years of its existence, our Company has built an ex-
cellent reputation around the world. Technical performance,
innovation, quality reliability, and international engagement
have made Siemens one of the leading companies in electron-
ics and electrical engineering. It is top performance with the
highest ethics that has made Siemens strong. This is what the
Company should continue to stand for in the future.

The Business Conduct Guidelines provide the ethical and legal
framework within which we want to maintain successful activi-
ties. They contain the basic principles and rules for our conduct
within our Company and in relation to our external partners and
the general public. They set out how we meet our ethical and
legal responsibility as a company and give expression to our cor-
porate values of being “Responsible — Excellent — Innovative.”

The Business Conduct Guidelines can be downloaded from the
Internet on: ] www.SIEMENS.COM/289a.

OPERATION OF THE MANAGING BOARD,

THE SUPERVISORY BOARD, AND COMPOSITION
AND OPERATION OF THEIR COMMITTEES

The composition of the committees of the Managing and Super-
visory Boards is given under chapter —> p.7 SUPERVISORY BOARD
AND MANAGING BOARD ON PAGES 232-238, respectively of the An-
nual Report, as is a description of the composition of the Man-
aging Board and the Supervisory Board. The compositions can
be accessed via the Internet on: [ www.SIEMENS.COM/289a.

A general description of the functions and operation of the
Managing Board and the Supervisory Board can be found under
the heading “Management and control structure” under chap-
ter — B.1.1 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ON PAGES 22-25 and
on: [l www.slEMENS.com/289a. Further details regarding the
operation of the Managing and Supervisory Boards can be de-
rived from the description of the committees as well as from
the bylaws for the corporate bodies concerned. These docu-
ments can be found at: L] www.sSIEMENS.cOM/289a.
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B.3 COMPLIANCE REPORT

For Siemens, promoting integrity means acting in accordance
with our values — responsible, excellent and innovative —
wherever we do business. A key element of integrity is compli-
ance, which means for us: adherence to the law and to our
own internal regulations. We have zero tolerance for corrup-
tion and violations of the principles of fair competition. Pre-
venting misconduct before it occurs is our primary goal. When
we can't prevent wrongdoing in individual cases, we investi-
gate and take rigorous disciplinary action irrespective of the
people involved or their positions.

Our Business Conduct Guidelines describe how we fulfill our
compliance-related responsibilities. They're also an expression
of our values and lay the foundation for our own internal requ-
lations. For us, compliance is not just a program but the way
we do business and uphold integrity at our Company. Our
compliance system instills a permanent awareness of these
responsibilities in all our managers and employees. We actively
support the ratification and enactment of the United Nations
Convention against Corruption, which provides important
guidance for our entire organization.

B.3.1 Our compliance priorities

In fiscal 2011, we focused our compliance activities on four
priorities that provide the basis for the ongoing development of
our compliance system. This approach has proven its worth. Our
compliance priorities take into account and fulfill the continu-
ously evolving requirements in the field of compliance - require-
ments that are the result of our own compliance work, on the
one hand, and of changing market conditions, on the other.

| THE SIEMENS COMPLIANCE SYSTEM

We've revised our compliance priorities for fiscal 2013:

> Stand for integrity

> Committed to business

> Manage risk and assurance
> Focus on efficiency

The following topics will also be the focus of our activities in
fiscal 2013.

B.3.2 Integrity dialogue — Communica-
tion between managers and employees

We keep managers and employees in areas with high risk pro-
files up to date on the latest compliance requirements. This is
an established and key element of our preventive measures.
For us, strengthening our managers’ personal responsibility
for compliance is vital. That's why we strive to ensure their
commitment to our compliance goals and help them foster
integrity visibly and energetically.

The principle is simple. First, Compliance Officers train the top
managers in their respective units. These managers then train
their immediate subordinates, who, in turn, train those under
them. This compliance training is integrated into already
scheduled meetings and personal discussions and, thus, in-
creases the importance of dialogue between managers and
their teams. Business units select the training materials from a
catalogue of modules that's available Company-wide and sup-
plement these with specific compliance-related topics relevant
for their own businesses.

Management responsibility

> Compliance risk management

> Policies and procedures

> Training and communication

> Advice and support

> Integration in personnel processes
> Collective action

> Whistleblowing channels “Tell us”
and ombudsman

> Compliance controls

> Monitoring and compliance reviews

> Compliance audits

> Compliance investigations

> Consequences for misconduct
> Remediation
> Global case tracking
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We'll begin introducing our integrity dialogues Company-wide
in fiscal 2013. Compliance Officers will support managers
throughout the process. Theyll also support the business units
in selecting the employees for whom participation in compliance
training programs and integrity dialogues is obligatory. Man-
agers will select participants on the basis of Company-wide
regulations, taking into account, among other things, the re-
sults of compliance risk assessments (CRAs) — a process that
will enhance both management responsibility for compliance
and the business-specific and risk-related orientation and effi-
ciency of our entire compliance system.

B.3.3 Compliance risk assessments
at business units

Initiating effective measures to detect and minimize com-
pliance-related risks in business operations at an early stage is
the heart of a successful compliance system. Our assessment
and monitoring processes are being further improved by our
CRAs. In use since the beginning of fiscal 2012, the CRA pro-
cess improves the links between compliance and business
operations at Siemens.

Every year, the CEOs of our business units meet with other key
managers and the relevant Compliance Officers to systemati-
cally determine the compliance-related risks at their respective
units. The compliance-related risks identified in the process
are then assessed and measures for reducing them defined.
The resulting analyses are incorporated into the Company-
wide compliance risk analysis, which covers the material com-
pliance-related risks for Siemens as a whole.

The accurate assessment of compliance-related risks depends
on close and trust-based cooperation between the managers
and specialists at our business units, on the one hand, and our
Compliance Officers, on the other.

B.3.4 Collective action — Supporting
business success through fair competition

Siemens promotes ethical business practices and fair competi-
tion beyond Company boundaries - this, too, is one of our key
compliance priorities.

Going it alone can have only a limited impact in the fight
against corruption. If real progress is to be made, as many
stakeholders as possible must act in concert. That's why we've
joined forces with other organizations to combat corruption
and promote ethical markets through collective action and
through the Siemens Integrity Initiative.

Now that we've established collective action throughout the
Company and involved a large number of our business units
engaging with numerous partners in its implementation, we
plan to focus our collective action activities in fiscal 2013 on
our particular business requirements more intensively than in
the past. There are many ways to do this. For example, future
CRAs can increase the emphasis on defining collective action
measures such as fair competition partnerships between bid-
ders for large contracts or the voluntary self-commitment of
industry federations to compliance standards that reduce com-
pliance-related risks. As in the other areas described, close and
trust-based cooperation between Compliance Officers, sales
personnel and managers will play a key role here in identifying
appropriate measures.

The further development of our compliance system entails
continuously adapting it to the evolving requirements in the
field of compliance. Our overall aim remains unchanged: we
want to anchor compliance permanently throughout our glob-
al Company in order to ensure that we continue making sound
business decisions based on clear principles of integrity.

To learn more, please see:
—> CHAPTER C.8.10. OF THE COMBINED MANAGEMENT REPORT
] WWW.SIEMENS.COM/COMPLIANCE
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B.4 COMPENSATION REPORT

The Compensation report outlines the principles underlying
the determination of the total compensation of the members
of the Managing Board of Siemens AG, and sets out the struc-
ture and level of the remuneration of the Managing Board
members. It also describes the policies governing, and levels
of, the compensation paid to Supervisory Board members.

This section is based on the recommendations of the German
Corporate Governance Code and includes disclosures in accor-
dance with the requirements of the German Commercial Code
(HGB), German Accounting Standards (DRS), and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The Compensation Report
is an integral part of the Combined Management Report.

B.4.1 Remuneration of members
of the Managing Board

B.4.1.1 REMUNERATION SYSTEM

The remuneration system for the Managing Board at Siemens
is intended to provide an incentive for successful corporate
management with an emphasis on sustainability. Members of
the Managing Board are expected to make a long-term commit-
ment to and on behalf of the Company, and may benefit from
any sustained increase in the Company’s value. In the interest

| REMUNERATION SYSTEM FOR MANAGING BOARD MEMBERS

of that aim, a substantial portion of their total remuneration
is linked to the performance of Siemens stock. A further aim
is for their remuneration to be commensurate with the
Company's size and economic position. Exceptional achieve-
ments are to be rewarded adequately, while falling short of
goals is intended to result in an appreciable reduction in remu-
neration. The Managing Board's compensation is also struc-
tured so as to be attractive in comparison to that of competi-
tors, with a view to attracting outstanding managers to our
Company and keeping them with us for the long term.

The system and levels for the remuneration of the Managing
Board are determined and reviewed regularly by the Supervisory
Board, based on proposals from the Chairman’s Committee.
The Supervisory Board reviews remuneration levels annually
to ensure that they are appropriate. In that process, the eco-
nomic situation and the results of the Company as well as the
performance of the individual Managing Board members are
taken into account. In addition, the Supervisory Board consid-
ers the adequacy of remuneration in comparison with stan-
dard practice at similar companies and with the compensation
structure valid elsewhere in the Company. The remuneration
system that has been used for the Managing Board members
since fiscal 2011 was approved by a large majority at the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting on January 25, 2011.

Compensation

Granted in Timing

Long-term compensation
(target parameter: stock price
compared to 5 competitors)
Variability: 0 — 200%

Long-term compensation
(target parameter: @ earnings
per share)

Variability: 0 — 200%

Stock-based
compensation

Restriction period and
period for target

measurement: 4 years
Stock Awards ¥

(forfeitable F------
grants of stock)

bmmmmm ey

Performance period: 3 years, including year of compensation;
subsequent restriction period: 4 years

Bonus (target parameters: revenue
growth (organic), ROCE (adjusted),

Performance period: Year of compensa-

(non-forfeitable ion; subsequent waiting period: 4 years

grants of stock)

-
1
Bonus Awards !
'
'
'

free cash flow)
Variability: 0 — 200%

Cash

compensation .
Base compensation

including other compensation

_______ et

Performance period:
Year of compensation

Cash

FY 2010 FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 2013 FY 2014 FY 2015 FY 2016

Share Ownership
Guidelines

Obligation to hold shares for duration of membership in Managing Board

Non-performance-based components
B Performance-based components
B Performance-based components with deferred payout
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In fiscal 2012, the remuneration system for the Managing Board
had the following components:

Non-performance-based components

Base compensation

Base compensation is paid as a monthly salary. It is reviewed
regularly, and revised if appropriate. The base compensation
of President and CEO Peter Loscher was set at the time of his
appointment on July 1, 2007, and has remained essentially
unchanged since then. It is €2,000,000 per year. The base
compensation of the other members of the Managing Board
has been €900,000 per year since October 1, 2010.

Other compensation

Other compensation includes costs, or the cash equivalent, of
non-monetary benefits and perquisites, such as provision of
a Company car, contributions toward the cost of insurance,
reimbursement of fees for legal advice, tax advice and accom-
modation and moving expenses, including a gross-up for any
taxes that have to be borne in this regard, as well as costs
relating to preventive medical examinations.

Performance-based components

Variable compensation component (bonus)

The variable compensation component (bonus) is based on
the Company’s business performance in the past fiscal year.
The targets for the variable compensation component are de-
rived from One Siemens, our target system for sustainably en-
hancing corporate value. On the basis of this target system,
the Supervisory Board at the beginning of each fiscal year
defines specific targets for several parameters. These target
parameters — in addition to other factors — also apply to senior
executives, with a view to establishing a consistent target sys-
tem throughout the Company.

For a 100% target attainment (target amount) the amount of
the bonus equals the amount of base compensation. The
bonus is subject to a ceiling (cap) of 200%. If targets are sub-
stantially missed, the variable component may potentially not
be paid at all.

The Supervisory Board is entitled to revise the amount result-
ing from attaining targets, by as much as 20% upward or down-
ward, at its duty-bound discretion (pflichtgeméaBes Ermessen);
the adjusted amount of the bonus paid can be as much as
240% of the target amount. In choosing the factors to be con-
sidered in deciding on possible revisions of the bonus payouts
(x20%), the Supervisory Board takes account of incentives for
sustainable corporate management. The revision option may
also be exercised in recognition of Managing Board members’
individual achievements.

The bonus is paid half in cash, and half in the form of non-for-
feitable stock commitments (Bonus Awards). After a four-year
waiting period, the beneficiary will receive one share of
Siemens stock for each Bonus Award. Instead of the transfer of
Siemens stock, an equivalent cash settlement may be effected.

Long-term stock-based compensation

Long-term stock-based compensation consists of a grant of
forfeitable stock commitments (Stock Awards). The beneficiar-
ies will receive one free share of Siemens stock for each Stock
Award after a restriction period. Beginning with fiscal 2011, the
restriction period for Stock Awards ends at the close of the sec-
ond day after publication of the operating results for the fourth
calendar year after the date of the award.

In the event of extraordinary unforeseen developments that
have an impact on the stock price, the Supervisory Board may
decide to reduce the number of promised Stock Awards retro-
actively, or it may decide that in lieu of a transfer of Siemens
Stock only a cash settlement in a defined and limited amount
will be paid, or it may decide to postpone transfers of Siemens
Stock for payable Stock Awards until the developments have
ceased to have an impact on the stock price.

In the event of a 100% target attainment, the annual target
amount for the monetary value of the Stock Awards commit-
ment will be €2.5 million for the President and CEO, and €1 mil-
lion for each of the other members of the Managing Board. Be-
ginning with fiscal 2011, the Supervisory Board has the option
of increasing, on an individual basis, the target amount for a
member of the Managing Board who has been reappointed by
as much as 75% above the amount of €1 million, for one fiscal
year at a time. This option enables the Supervisory Board to
take account of the Managing Board member’s individual ac-
complishments and experience as well as the scope and de-
mands of his or her function. This rule does not apply to the
President and CEO.

The foundation for the performance-based component of long-
term stock-based compensation is One Siemens, our target
system for sustainably enhancing corporate value. The allo-
cation rules for long-term stock-based compensation take this
focus into account as follows:

> On the one hand, half of the annual target amount for the
annual Stock Awards is linked to the average basic earnings
per share (EPS) for the last three completed fiscal years (from
continuing and discontinued operations). In principle, the
target value is the average basic earnings per share (from
continuing and discontinued operations) from the past three
fiscal years completed prior to the year of compensation. At
the end of each fiscal year, the Supervisory Board decides on
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a figure that represents that year's target attainment, which
may lie between 0% and 200% (cap). This target attainment
will then determine the actual monetary value of the award
and the resulting number of Stock Awards.

> On the other hand, the development of the performance of
Siemens’ stock compared to its competitors is to have a di-
rect effect on compensation. For this purpose, with respect
to the other half of the annual target amount for the Stock
Awards, the Supervisory Board will first grant a number of
Stock Awards equivalent to the monetary value of half the
target amount on the date of the award. The Supervisory
Board will also decide on a target system (target value for
100% and target curve) for the performance of Siemens
stock relative to the stock of competitors (at present ABB,
General Electric, Philips, Rockwell, Schneider). The refer-
ence period for measuring the target will be the same as the
four-year restriction period for the Stock Awards. After this
restriction period expires, the Supervisory Board will deter-
mine how much better or worse Siemens stock has per-
formed relative to the stock of its competitors. This determi-
nation will yield a target attainment of between 0% and
200% (cap). If target attainment is above 100%, an additional
cash payment corresponding to the outperformance is ef-
fected. If target attainment is less than 100%, a number of
Stock Awards equivalent to the shortfall from the target will
expire without replacement.

With regard to the further terms of the Stock Awards, the same
general principles apply for the Managing Board and for senior
executives; these principles are discussed in more detail in
—> NOTE 33 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
That note also includes further information about the stock-
based employee investment plans.

Share Ownership Guidelines

The Siemens Share Ownership Guidelines are an integral part
of the remuneration system for the Managing Board and senior
management. These guidelines require the members of the
Managing Board - after a certain buildup phase - to hold
Siemens stock worth a multiple of their base compensation
(300% for the President and CEO, 200% for the other members
of the Managing Board) during their term of office on the Man-
aging Board. The determining figure in this context is the aver-
age base compensation that the relevant member of the Man-
aging Board has drawn over the four years of the buildup
phase. Accordingly, changes that have been made to base com-
pensation in the meantime are included. Non-forfeitable stock
awards (Bonus Awards) are taken into account in determining
compliance with the Share Ownership Guidelines.

Evidence that this obligation has been met must first be pro-
vided after the buildup phase, and updated annually thereafter.
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If the value of the accrued holdings declines below the mini-
mum to be evidenced from time to time because the market
price of Siemens stock has fluctuated, the member of the
Managing Board must acquire additional shares.

Pension benefit commitments

The members of the Managing Board, like all Siemens AG em-
ployees, are included in the Siemens Defined Contribution
Benefit Plan (BSAV). Under the BSAV, members of the Manag-
ing Board receive contributions that are credited to their per-
sonal pension account. The amount of the annual contribu-
tions is based on a predetermined percentage which refers to
the base compensation and the target amount for the bonus.
This percentage is decided annually by the Supervisory Board;
it was set most recently at 28%. The non-forfeitability of pen-
sion benefit commitments is in compliance with the provi-
sions of the German Company Pensions Act (Betriebsrenten-
gesetz). Special contributions may be granted to Managing
Board members on the basis of individual decisions of the
Supervisory Board. In the case of new appointments of mem-
bers of the Managing Board from outside the Company, these
contributions may be defined as non-forfeitable from their
inception. If a member of the Managing Board had earned a
pension benefit entitlement from the Company before the
BSAV was introduced, a portion of his contributions went
toward financing this prior commitment.

Members of the Managing Board are entitled to benefits under
the BSAV on reaching the age of 60, at the earliest. They may
choose to have their accrued pension benefit balance paid out
as a pension, as a lump sum, or in a maximum of twelve annu-
al installments. If the pension option is chosen, a decision
must be made as to whether it should include pensions for
surviving dependents. If a member of the Managing Board dies
while receiving a pension, benefits will be paid to the member’s
surviving dependents if the member has chosen such benefits.
The Company will then provide a limited-term pension to sur-
viving children until they reach age 27, or age 25 in the case of
commitments made on or after January 1, 2007.

Benefits from the retirement benefit system that was in place
before the BSAV was introduced are normally granted as pen-
sion benefits with a surviving dependents’ pension. In this
case as well, a payout in installments or a lump sum may be
chosen instead of pension payments.

Members of the Managing Board who were employed by the
Company on or before September 30, 1983, are entitled to
transition payments for the first six months after retirement,
equal to the difference between their final base compensa-
tion and the retirement benefits payable under the corporate
pension plan.
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Commitments in connection with

termination of Managing Board membership
Managing Board contracts provide for a compensatory pay-
ment if membership on the Managing Board is terminated pre-
maturely by mutual agreement, without serious cause. The
amount of this payment must not exceed the value of two
years’ compensation (cap). The amount of the compensatory
payment is calculated on the basis of the base compensation
and the variable components of compensation actually re-
ceived for the last fiscal year before termination. The compen-
satory payment is payable in the month when the member
leaves the Managing Board. In addition, a one-time exception-
al contribution is made to the BSAV. The amount of this contri-
bution is based on the BSAV contribution that the Board mem-
ber received for the previous year, together with the remaining
term of the appointment, but is limited to not more than two
years’ contributions (cap). The above benefits are not paid if an
amicable termination of the member’s activity on the Manag-
ing Board is agreed upon at the member's request, or if there is
serious cause for the Company to terminate the employment
relationship.

In the event of a change of control that results in a substantial
change in the position of the Managing Board member (e.g.,
due to a change in corporate strategy or a change in the Man-
aging Board member’s duties and responsibilities), the mem-
ber of the Managing Board has the right to terminate his or her
contract with the Company for good cause. A change of con-
trol exists if one or more shareholders acting jointly or in con-
cert acquire a majority of the voting rights in Siemens AG and
exercise a controlling influence, or if Siemens AG becomes a
dependent enterprise as a result of entering into an intercom-
pany agreement within the meaning of Section 291 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act, or if Siemens AG is to be merged
into an existing corporation or other entity. If this right of ter-
mination is exercised, the Managing Board member is entitled
to a severance payment in the amount of not more than two
years’ compensation. The calculation of the annual compensa-
tion includes not only the base compensation and the target
amount for the bonus, but also the target amount for the Stock
Awards, in each case based on the most recent completed fis-
cal year prior to termination of the contract. The stock-based
components for which a firm commitment already exists will
remain unaffected. There is no entitlement to a severance pay-

ment if the Managing Board member receives benefits from
third parties in connection with a change of control. Moreover,
there is no right to terminate if the change of control occurs
within a period of twelve months prior to a Managing Board
member'’s retirement.

Additionally, compensatory or severance payments cover non-
monetary benefits by including an amount of 5% of the total
compensation or severance amount. Compensatory or sever-
ance payments will be reduced by 15% as a lump-sum allow-
ance for discounted values and for income earned elsewhere.
However, this reduction will apply only to the portion of the
compensatory or severance payment that was calculated with-
out taking account of the first six months of the remaining
term of the Managing Board member's contract.

If a member leaves the Managing Board, the variable compo-
nent (bonus) is determined pro rata temporis after the end of
the fiscal year in which the appointment was terminated and
settled in cash at the usual payout or transfer date, as the case
may be. If the employment contract is terminated in the course
of an appointment period, the non-forfeitable stock awards
(Bonus Awards) for which the waiting period is still in progress
will remain in effect without restriction. If the employment
agreement is terminated because of retirement, disability or
death, a Managing Board member’s Bonus Awards will be set-
tled in cash as of the date of departure from the Board.

By contrast, stock commitments that were made as long-term
variable compensation (Stock Awards) and for which the re-
striction period is still in progress will expire without replace-
ment if the employment agreement is terminated in the course
of an appointment period. The same applies if the employ-
ment agreement is not extended after the end of an appoint-
ment period, either at the Board member’s request or because
there is serious cause that would have entitled the Company to
revoke the appointment or terminate the contract. However,
once granted, Stock Awards do not expire if the employment
agreement is terminated because of retirement, disability, or
death, or in connection with a spin-off, the transfer of an op-
eration, or a change of activity within the corporate group. In
this case, the Stock Awards will remain in effect upon termina-
tion of the employment agreement and will be honored on ex-
piration of the restriction period.
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B.4.1.2 REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS

OF THE MANAGING BOARD FOR FISCAL 2012

On the basis of our One Siemens target system, at the begin-
ning of the fiscal year the Supervisory Board set the targets and
weighting for the unchanged parameters compared to the pre-
vious year: organic revenue growth, return on capital em-
ployed (ROCE) adjusted, and free cash flow, in each case on the
basis of continuing operations, together with earnings per
share (EPS) on the basis of continuing and discontinued opera-
tions. The definition of these parameters and their weighting
acknowledges a sustainable enhancement of corporate value.
An internal review of the appropriateness of the Managing
Board's compensation for fiscal 2012 has confirmed that the re-
muneration of the Managing Board resulting from the target at-
tainment for fiscal 2012 is to be considered appropriate. Follow-
ing the decision on determining the achievement of the targets
set at the beginning of the fiscal year, the Supervisory Board
decided at its meeting on November 7, 2012, to set the variable
compensation component (bonus), the Stock Awards to be
granted and the pension benefit contributions as follows:

Variable compensation component (bonus)

In setting the targets for the variable compensation (bonus) at
the beginning of fiscal 2012, the Supervisory Board took into
account that the Company focuses on a sustainable apprecia-
tion of value:

> The primary focus of the decision was capital-efficient
growth; consequently, for fiscal 2012 more importance was
attributed to the target parameters of organic revenue
growth and return on capital employed (ROCE) adjusted.

> For ROCE adjusted, the target value from the prior year
remained unchanged.

> The target for free cash flow was increased noticeably com-
pared to the prior year.

As a consequence, the following targets were set and attained
with respect to the variable compensation component:

Target parameter Weight 100% of target Actual 2012 figure Target attainment
Revenue growth (organic)’ 40% 1% 3% 146.40%
ROCE adjusted’ 40% 16.1% 17.0% 123.75%
Free cash flow’ 20% €3,600 million €4,790 million 139.67%
Total target attainment 135.99%

| 1 Continuing operations

The values measured for target attainment were not adjusted.
The Supervisory Board decided, exercising its duty-bound
discretion (pflichtgemdBes Ermessen), to individually adjust
the bonus payout amounts resulting from target attainment
upward or downward for single Managing Board members
with business responsibility for Sector portfolios. In its deci-
sion, the Supervisory Board reflected the attained performance
of the Sectors.

Long-term stock-based compensation
For half of the annual target amount for the Stock Awards, an
average basic EPS (from continuing and discontinued opera-
tions) of €5.54 was determined for fiscal years 2010 through
2012, yielding a target attainment of 154%.
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For the other half of the annual target amount for the Stock
Awards, the Supervisory Board approved a number of Stock
Awards equivalent to the monetary value of half the target
amount on the award date. The amount by which these stock
commitments must be adjusted — or an additional cash pay-
ment must be made — after the end of the restriction period
will depend on the performance of Siemens stock compared to
the stock of five competitors (ABB, General Electric, Philips,
Rockwell, Schneider) over the coming four years, and will
therefore not be determined until after the end of fiscal 2016.

The number of stock commitments (Bonus Awards and Stock
Awards) granted was based on the closing price of Siemens
stock in Xetra trading on the date of commitment less the
present value of dividends expected during the holding period,
because beneficiaries are not entitled to receive dividends.
This figure for determining the number of commitments
amounted to €64.93 (prior year: €57.70).
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Total compensation

On the basis of the Supervisory Board decisions described
above, Managing Board compensation for fiscal 2012 totaled
€39.61 million, which is at the same level as in the previous
year (2011: €39.61 million). Of this total amount, €17.45 million
(2011: €18.94 million) was attributable to the cash compensa-
tion components and €22.16 million (2011: €20.68 million) to
stock-based compensation. Thus, more than half of the com-
pensation was paid in the form of stock-based instruments
with waiting or restriction periods of four years and therefore
on a deferred basis.

The fair values of the granted stock-based compensation com-
ponent shown in the following table do not represent a cash
inflow for Managing Board members for fiscal 2012. They rep-

resent the notional value of the Bonus Awards and Stock
Awards granted in fiscal 2012 as calculated on the basis of re-
porting standards. The transfer of one share per award will not
take place until the expiration of the four-year waiting or re-
striction period, or in other words, not until November 2016.
The number of Stock Awards linked to the performance of the
price of Siemens stock will be adjusted after the end of the
restriction period, on the basis of the actual target attainment.
Accordingly, the value of the actual shares transferred may be
higher or lower than shown here, also depending on the stock
price in effect at the time of transfer.

The following compensation was determined for each of the
members of the Managing Board for fiscal 2012 (individualized
disclosure):

Non-performance-based components
without
long-term incentive effect
non-stock-based
Base compensation Other compensation’ Variable compensation
component (bonus) —
Cash component
FY 2012 Fy 20M FY 2012 FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 20Mm FY 2012
(Amounts in number of units or €) Shares Fair value*
Managing Board members
serving as of September 30, 2012
Peter Loscher 2,000,000 | 2,000,000 30,720 29,594 | 1,359,900 | 1,973,800 20,945 | 1,359,959
Dr. Roland Busch®? 900,000 450,000 49,771 88,726 550,760 444,105 8,483 550,801
Brigitte Ederer 900,000 900,000 27,697 54,651 611,955 888,210 9,425 611,965
Klaus Helmrich? 900,000 450,000 76,961 35,318 611,955 444,105 9,425 611,965
Joe Kaeser?® 900,000 900,000 72,935 72,411 611,955 888,210 9,425 611,965
Barbara Kux 900,000 900,000 33,960 168,176 611,955 888,210 9,425 611,965
Prof. Dr. Hermann Requardt® 900,000 900,000 64,132 62,565 673,151 888,210 10,368 673,194
Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm 900,000 900,000 42,146 41,303 611,955 888,210 9,425 611,965
Peter Y. Solmssen?® 900,000 900,000 33,498 64,720 611,955 888,210 9,425 611,965
Dr. Michael SR’ 900,000 450,000 49,089 13,751 611,955 444,105 9,425 611,965
Former members of the Managing Board
Wolfgang Dehen™ - 450,000 - 25,046 - 444,105 - -
Total 10,100,000 | 9,200,000 480,909 656,261 | 6,867,496 | 9,079,480 105,771 | 6,867,709

Other compensation includes costs, or the cash equivalent, of non-monetary benefits and
perquisites, such as provision of Company cars in the amount of €257,855 (2011: €212,641)
contributions toward the cost of insurance in the amount of €87,429 (2011: €72,964),
reimbursement of fees for legal advice, tax advice and accommodation and moving ex-
penses, including any taxes that have been assumed in this regard as well as costs con-

nected with preventive medical examinations, in the amount of €135,625 (2011: €370,656).
2 The expenses recognized for stock-based compensation (Bonus Awards and Stock Awards)

and for the Share Matching Plan for members of the Managing Board in accordance with
IFRS in fiscal 2012 and 2011 amounted to €15,995,543 and €15,193,559, respectively.

The following amounts pertained to the members of the Managing Board in fiscal 2012:
Peter Loscher €3,757,710 (2011: €4,042,438), Dr. Roland Busch €735,167 (2011: €285,356),
Brigitte Ederer €950,250 (2011: €766,761), Klaus Helmrich €735,167 (2011: €285,356),

Joe Kaeser €1,781,626 (2011: €1,770,429 ), Barbara Kux €1,493,576 (2011: €1,290,005),
Prof. Dr. Hermann Requardt €1,605,244 (2011: €1,741,299), Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm
€1,571,872 (2011: €1,701,676), Peter Y. Solmssen €1,566,372 (2011: €1,696,632) and

Dr. Michael SiiB €735,167 (2011: €285,356). The corresponding expenses for the former
Board member Wolfgang Dehen amounted to €1,063,392 (2011: €1,328,251).

3 The total compensation reflects the current fair value of stock-based compensation
components. On the basis of the current monetary values of stock-based compensation
components, total compensation amounted to €39,874,058 (2011: €39,250,929).

4 For Bonus Awards as well as Stock Awards, whose target attainment depends on EPS
for the past three fiscal years, the fair value on the award date is equivalent to the respec-
tive monetary values.
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Performance-based components

with
long-term incentive effect
stock-based

Variable compensation Stock Awards? Total compensation?
component
(bonus) Bonus Awards?

FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 2011 FY 2012 FY 2011

Target attainment Target attainment Target attainment Target attainment

depending on EPS for past depending on future stock depending on EPS for past depending on future stock

three fiscal years performance three fiscal years performance

Shares Fair value* Shares Fair value* Shares Fair value® Shares Fair value* Shares Fair value®
34,208 | 1,973,802 29,648 | 1,925,045 19,252 | 1,195,549 24,697 | 1,425,017 21,664 | 1,336,014 | 7,871,173 | 8,738,227
7,697 444,117 11,859 770,005 7,701 478,232 4,940 285,038 4,333 267,215 | 3,299,569 | 1,979,201
15,394 888,234 11,859 770,005 7,701 478,232 9,879 570,018 8,666 534,430 | 3,399,854 | 3,835,543
7,697 444,117 11,859 770,005 7,701 478,232 4,940 285,038 4,333 267,215 | 3,449,118 | 1,925,793
15,394 888,234 20,754 | 1,347,557 13,477 836,922 9,879 570,018 8,666 534,430 | 4,381,334 | 3,853,303
15,394 888,234 11,859 770,005 7,701 478,232 9,879 570,018 8,666 534,430 | 3,406,117 | 3,949,068
15,394 888,234 11,859 770,005 7,701 478,232 9,879 570,018 8,666 534,430 | 3,558,714 | 3,843,457
15,394 888,234 11,859 770,005 7,701 478,232 9,879 570,018 8,666 534,430 | 3,414,303 | 3,822,195
15,394 888,234 11,859 770,005 7,701 478,232 9,879 570,018 8,666 534,430 | 3,405,655 | 3,845,612
7,697 444,117 11,859 770,005 7,701 478,232 4,940 285,038 4,333 267,215 | 3,421,246 | 1,904,226
7,697 444,117 = = = = 4,940 285,038 4,333 267,215 - | 1,915,521
157,360 | 9,079,674 145,274 | 9,432,642 94,337 | 5,858,327 103,731 | 5,985,277 90,992 | 5,611,454 | 39,607,083 (39,612,146

5 The monetary values reflecting a target attainment of 100% amount to €6,125,302

(2011: €5,250,237). For the individual members of the Managing Board, that value was: Peter
Loscher €1,250,032 (2011: €1,250,013), Dr. Roland Busch €500,026 (2011: €250,014), Brigitte
Ederer €500,026 (2011: €500,028), Klaus Helmrich €500,026 (2011: €250,014), Joe Kaeser
€875,062 (2011: €500,028), Barbara Kux €500,026 (2011: €500,028), Prof. Dr. Hermann
Requardt €500,026 (2011: €500,028), Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm €500,026 (2011: €500,028),
Peter Y. Solmssen €500,026 (2011: €500,028) and Dr. Michael Sii3 €500,026 (2011: €250,014).
The corresponding monetary value for the former Board member Wolfgang Dehen amounted
to €0 (2011: €250,014).

The Supervisory Board adjusted the bonus payout amounts resulting from target attainment
individually as follows: Dr. Roland Busch by 10% downward, equivalent to €122,391 and Prof.
Dr. Hermann Requardt by 10% upward, equivalent to €122,391.

6
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Due to rounding, numbers presented may not add up precisely to totals provided.

7 Dr. Roland Busch, Klaus Helmrich and Dr. Michael Sii were elected full members of
the Managing Board effective April 1, 2011.

The Supervisory Board increased the annual target amount for the monetary value

of the Stock Awards commitment for Joe Kaeser for fiscal 2012 by 75% to €1,750,000.

Peter Y. Solmssen will be reimbursed for relocation expenses incurred

by him upon termination of his membership on the Managing Board of Siemens AG.
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Pension benefit commitments

For fiscal 2012, the members of the Managing Board were
granted contributions under the BSAV totaling €5.7 million
(2011: €5.2 million), based on the resolution of the Superviso-
ry Board dated November 7, 2012. Of this amount, €0.1 mil-
lion (2011: €0.1 million) related to funding of pension commit-
ments earned prior to transfer to the BSAV and the remaining
€5.6 million (2011: €5.1 million) to contributions to their per-
sonal pension accounts.

The contributions under the BSAV are added to the personal
pension accounts each January following the close of the fis-
cal year, with value date on January 1. Until the beneficiary’s
time of retirement, the pension account is credited with an
annual interest payment (guaranteed interest), currently 1.75%,
on January 1 of each year.

The following table shows individualized details of the contri-
butions (additions) under the BSAV for fiscal 2012 as well as
the defined benefit obligations for the pension commitments:

Total contributions’ for Defined benefit obligation? for all pension
commitments excluding deferred compensation?

(Amounts in €) FY 2012 FY 2011 FY 2012 Fy 201
Managing Board members
serving as of September 30, 2012
Peter Loscher 1,120,000 1,120,000 14,717,395 13,047,084
Dr. Roland Busch* 504,000 252,000 1,446,910 833,494
Brigitte Ederer 504,000 504,000 1,102,958 606,730
Klaus Helmrich* 504,000 252,000 1,723,759 1,098,440
Joe Kaeser 504,000 504,000 4,388,859 3,351,837
Barbara Kux 504,000 504,000 2,201,963 1,651,8732
Prof.Dr. Hermann Requardt 504,000 504,000 4,433,581 3,498,238
Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm 504,000 504,000 2,893,761 2,204,829
Peter Y. Solmssen 504,000 504,000 14,862,470? 13,689,050?
Dr. Michael SuB* 504,000 252,000 1,789,619 1,253,272
Former members of the Managing Board
Wolfgang Dehen? - 252,000 2,374,826 2,166,086
Total 5,656,000 5,152,000 51,936,101 43,400,933

1 The expenses (service costs) recognized in accordance with IFRS in fiscal 2012 for Man-
aging Board members’ entitlements under the BSAV in fiscal 2012 came to €6,152,011
(2011: €4,521,763). The following amounts pertained to the members of the Managing
Board in fiscal 2012: Peter Loscher €1,235,653 (2011: €1,237,034), Dr. Roland Busch
€547,713 (2011: €48,829), Brigitte Ederer €552,904 (2011: €479,838), Klaus Helmrich
€547,675 (2011: €69,807), Joe Kaeser €530,970 (2011: €457,947), Barbara Kux €552,800
(2011: €479,082), Prof. Dr. Hermann Requardt €526,202 (2011: €452,475), Prof. Dr.
Siegfried Russwurm €546,850 (2011: €472,594), Peter Y. Solmssen €553,236 (2011:
€480,280) and Dr. Michael SiiB €558,008 (2011: €120,802), in addition to €0 (2011:
€223,075) for former Managing Board member Wolfgang Dehen.

2 The defined benefit obligations reflect one-time special contributions of €19,358,000 for

new appointments from outside the Company, including €8,500,000 for Peter Léscher,
€10,518,000 for Peter Y. Solmssen and €340,000 for Barbara Kux. The defined benefit

obligations under all pension commitments, including deferred compensation, to
Managing Board members serving as of September 30, 2011 came to €47.0 million,
in addition to €2.2 million for former Managing Board member Wolfgang Dehen.

3 Deferred compensation totals €7,543,061 (2011: €5,814,318), including €269,147
for Klaus Helmrich (2011: €234,828), €2,755,189 for Joe Kaeser (2011: €2,396,726),
€3,280,486 for Barbara Kux (2011: €2,096,825) and €1,238,239 for Prof. Dr. Hermann
Requardt (2011: €1,085,939).

4 Dr. Roland Busch, Klaus Helmrich and Dr. Michael St were elected full members
of the Managing Board effective April 1, 2011.

5 Wolfgang Dehen resigned from the Managing Board effective March 31, 2011.

Due to rounding, numbers presented may not add up precisely to totals provided.
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Former members of the Managing Board and their surviving
dependents received emoluments within the meaning of Sec-
tion 314 para. 1 No. 6 b of the HGB totaling €15.8 million (2011:
€15.0 million) in fiscal 2012, but no Stock Awards (2011: no
Stock Awards).

The defined benefit obligation (DBO) of all pension commit-
ments to former members of the Managing Board and their sur-
viving dependents as of September 30, 2012, amounted to
€181.6 million (2011: €161.9 million). This amount is included in
—> NOTE 23 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

Other
No loans or advances from the Company are provided to mem-
bers of the Managing Board.

B.4.1.3 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

ON STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION INSTRUMENTS
IN FISCAL 2012

This section provides information concerning the Stock
Awards and stock options held by members of the Managing
Board that were components of stock-based compensation in
fiscal 2012 and prior years, and also about the Managing Board
members’ entitlements to matching shares under the Siemens
Share Matching Plan.

Stock Commitments

The following table shows the changes in the stock commit-
ments (Bonus Awards and Stock Awards) held by Managing
Board members in fiscal 2012:

Balance at beginning of Granted during fiscal year® Vested Forfeited Balance at end of
fiscal 2012 during during fiscal 20122
fiscal year fiscal year
Forfeitable commitments
of Stock Awards
Non- Non- (Target (Target Non-
forfeitable forfeitable attainment attainment Commit- forfeitable
commit- Forfeitable commit- depending depending ments of commit- Forfeitable
ments of commit- ments of on EPS for on future Bonus Commit- ments of commit-
Bonus ments of Bonus past three stock | Awards and ments of Bonus ments of
(Amounts in number of units) Awards | Stock Awards Awards | fiscal years) | performance) |Stock Awards | Stock Awards Awards | Stock Awards
Managing Board
members serving as of
September 30, 2012
Peter Loscher = 144,180 34,208 24,697 21,664 66,402 = 34,208 124,139
Dr. Roland Busch? = 8,042 7,697 6,076 5,330 2,958 = 7,697 16,490
Brigitte Ederer = 12,422 15,394 9,879 8,666 4,179 = 15,394 26,788
Klaus Helmrich? = 11,816 7,697 6,540 5,737 4,257 = 7,697 19,836
Joe Kaeser = 57,673 15,394 9,879 8,666 26,561 = 15,394 49,657
Barbara Kux = 29,055 15,394 9,879 8,666 = = 15,394 47,600
Prof. Dr. Hermann Requardt = 57,673 15,394 9,879 8,666 26,561 = 15,394 49,657
Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm = 57,673 15,394 9,879 8,666 26,561 = 15,394 49,657
Peter Y. Solmssen = 57,673 15,394 9,879 8,666 26,561 = 15,394 49,657
Dr. Michael StiB3? = 20,435 7,697 7,118 6,244 8,884 = 7,697 24,913
Former members
of the Managing Board
Wolfgang Dehen* = 57,673 7,697 4,940 4,333 26,561 - 7,697 40,385
Total = 514,315 157,360 108,645 95,304 219,485 - 157,360 498,779

1 The weighted average fair value as of the grant-date for fiscal 2012 was €58.75 per
granted share.

2 Amounts do not include stock committments (Bonus Awards and Stock Awards) granted 4

in November 2012 for fiscal 2012. For details, see —> PAGES 36-37. However, these
amounts may include Stock Awards received as compensation by the Managing Board
member before joining the Managing Board.
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3 Dr. Roland Busch, Klaus Helmrich and Dr. Michael St were elected full members of the
Managing Board effective April 1, 2011.

Wolfgang Dehen resigned from the Managing Board effective March 31, 2011. Because
he changed positions within the Corporate group, his awards remain in effect under the
applicable guidelines.
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Stock options

The authorization to issue stock options expired in December
2006. On completion of a two-year vesting period, plan partici-
pants were entitled to exercise their subscription rights within
a three-year period. Allowing for the vesting period, the last
options were exercised in fiscal 2011. Any options still unexer-
cised expired that same year. Consequently no options were out-
standing either as of September 30, 2012, or in the prior year.

Shares from the Share Matching Plan

In fiscal 2011, the members of the Managing Board were enti-
tled for the last time to participate in the Siemens Share Match-
ing Plan, and under the plan were entitled to invest up to 50%
of the annual gross amount of their variable cash compensa-
tion component (bonus) determined for fiscal 2010 in Siemens
shares. After expiration of a vesting period of approximately
three years, plan participants will receive one free matching
share of Siemens stock for every three Siemens shares ac-
quired and continuously held under the plan, provided the
participants were employed without interruption at Siemens
AG or a Siemens company until the end of the vesting period.
The following table shows the development of the matching
share entitlements of the individual members of the Managing
Board in fiscal 2012.

Balance at beginning Due during Forfeited during Balance at end
of fiscal 2012 fiscal year fiscal year of fiscal 20122
Entitlement to Entitlement to Entitlement to Entitlement to
(Amounts in number of units) matching shares matching shares matching shares matching shares
Managing Board members
serving as of September 30, 2012
Peter Loscher - - - -
Dr. Roland Busch? 868 802 - 66
Brigitte Ederer 560 560 - -
Klaus Helmrich? 1,131 1,128 - 3
Joe Kaeser 7,661 3,855 - 3,806
Barbara Kux 698 - - 698
Prof. Dr. Hermann Requardt 5,641 3,228 - 2,413
Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm 5,459 4,926 - 533
Peter Y. Solmssen 6,051 6,051 - -
Dr. Michael SiB3 - - - -
Former members
of the Managing Board
Wolfgang Dehen* 5,845 4,140 = 1,705
Total 33,914 24,690 - 9,224

1 Amounts may include entitlements acquired before the member joined the Managing
Board.

2 The entitlements of the Managing Board members serving in fiscal 2012 had the follow-

ing fair values: Peter Loscher €0 (2011: €0), Dr. Roland Busch €3,464 (2011: €21,039),
Brigitte Ederer €0 (2011: €11,958), Klaus Helmrich €527 (2011: €25,059), Joe Kaeser
€222,277 (2011: €305,003), Barbara Kux €33,282 (2011: €33,282), Prof. Dr. Hermann
Requardt €140,823 (2011: €210,169), Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm €25,487 (2011:
€131,068), Peter Y. Solmssen €0 (2011: €129,588) and Dr. Michael SiiB €0 (2011: €0).
The entitlement of former Managing Board member Wolfgang Dehen has the following

fair value: €80,815 (2011: €169,623). The above fair values also take into account that
the shares acquired under the Base Share Program as part of the Share Matching Plan
were provided with a Company subsidy (for additional information on the Base Share
Program see —> NOTE 33 IN D.6 OF THE NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS),

3 Dr. Roland Busch, Klaus Helmrich and Dr. Michael St were elected full members of
the Managing Board effective April 1, 2011.

4 Wolfgang Dehen resigned from the Managing Board effective March 31, 2011. Because
he changed positions within the Corporate Group, his entitlements remain in effect
under the applicable guidelines.
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Share Ownership Guidelines

Different deadlines apply for the individual members of the
Managing Board to provide their first-time proof of compliance
with the Siemens Share Ownership Guidelines, depending on
the date when the member was appointed to the Managing
Board. The following table shows the number of Siemens

shares held by Managing Board members as of the deadline in
March 2012 for showing compliance with the Share Ownership
Guidelines, and the number of Siemens shares to be held per-
manently with a view to future deadlines.

Obligation under Share Ownership Guidelines

(Amounts in number of units or €) Required value’ Required number of shares? Proven number of shares?
Managing Board members required

to show proof as of March 9, 2012

Peter Loscher 5,961,250 81,874 144,419
Joe Kaeser 1,645,000 22,593 58,170
Prof. Dr. Hermann Requardt 1,645,000 22,593 48,093
Prof. Dr. Siegfried Russwurm 1,645,000 22,593 49,197
Peter Y. Solmssen 1,645,000 22,593 50,522
Total 12,541,250 172,246 350,401

1 The amount of the obligation is based on a member’s average base compensation for
the four years prior to each review of his or her achievement of the targets defined by
the Share Ownership Guidelines.

The following table shows the proof-of-compliance obligations
of the other Managing Board members in view of the Share
Ownership Guidelines:

2 Based on the average XETRA opening price of €72.81 for the fourth quarter of 2011
(October — December)

3 As per March 9, 2012 (date of proof), including 2011 Bonus Awards

Obligation under Share Ownership Guidelines

Due date for initial
(Amounts in number of units or €) Required value’ Required number of shares? measurement of adherence
Managing Board members
required to show proof in subsequent years
Dr. Roland Busch 1,800,000 24,722 March 2016
Brigitte Ederer 1,800,000 24,722 March 2015
Klaus Helmrich 1,800,000 24,722 March 2016
Barbara Kux 1,705,000 23,417 March 2013
Dr. Michael SiB 1,800,000 24,722 March 2016
Total 8,905,000 122,305

1 The amount of the obligation is based on a member’s average base compensation for
the four years prior to each review of his or her achievement of the targets defined by
the Share Ownership Guidelines. The amount shown here is based on average base
compensation since the member’s initial appointment.

2 Based on the average XETRA opening price of €72.81 for the fourth quarter of 2011
(October — December)
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B.4.2 Remuneration of members
of the Supervisory Board

The current remuneration policies for the Supervisory Board
were authorized at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting held on
January 25, 2011. Details are set out in Section 17 of the Articles
of Association of Siemens AG. The remuneration of the Super-
visory Board consists entirely of fixed compensation. The re-
muneration of the members of the Supervisory Board reflects
the responsibilities and scope of work of the Supervisory Board
members. The Chairman and deputy chairmen of the Supervi-
sory Board, as well as the Chairmen and members of the Audit
Committee and the Chairman’'s Committee, and - to a lesser
degree — the Compliance Committee and the Finance and In-
vestment Committee, receive additional compensation.

According to current rules, members of the Supervisory Board
receive an annual base compensation of €140,000; the Chair-
man of the Supervisory Board receives a base compensation of
€280,000, and each of the deputy chairmen receives €220,000.

The members of the Supervisory Board committees receive the
following additional fixed compensation for their work on
those committees: The Chairman of the Audit Committee re-
ceives €160,000, and each of the other members receives
€80,000; the Chairman of the Chairman’s Committee receives
€120,000, and each of the other members receives €80,000;
the Chairman of the Finance and Investment Committee re-
ceives €80,000, and each of the other members receives
€40,000; the Chairman of the Compliance Committee receives

€80,000, and each of the other members receives €40,000.
However, no additional compensation is paid for work on the
Compliance Committee if a member of that committee is al-
ready entitled to compensation for work on the Audit Committee.

If a Supervisory Board member does not attend a meeting of
the Supervisory Board, one third of the aggregate compensa-
tion due to that member is reduced by the percentage of
Supervisory Board meetings not attended by the member in
relation to the total number of Supervisory Board meetings
held during the fiscal year.

In addition, the members of the Supervisory Board are entitled
to receive a meeting attendance fee of €1,500 for each meeting
of the Supervisory Board and its committees that they attend.

The members of the Supervisory Board are reimbursed for
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with their
duties and for any value-added tax to be paid on their remu-
neration. For the performance of his duties, the Chairman of
the Supervisory Board is furthermore entitled to an office with
secretarial support and use of the Siemens carpool service.

No loans or advances from the Company are provided to mem-
bers of the Supervisory Board.

The following compensation was determined for each of the
members of the Supervisory Board for fiscal 2012 (individual-
ized disclosure):
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FY 2012 FY 2011
Additional com- Additional com-
Base pensation for Base pensation for
(Amounts in €) compensation | committee work' Total compensation | committee work Total
Supervisory Board members
serving as of September 30, 2012
Dr. Gerhard Cromme 280,000 280,000 560,000 280,000 280,000 560,000
Berthold Huber? 220,000 80,000 300,000 210,833 76,667 287,500
Dr. Josef Ackermann 207,778 75,556 283,333 210,833 76,667 287,500
Lothar Adler? 140,000 160,000 300,000 140,000 160,000 300,000
Jean-Louis Beffa 132,222 37,778 170,000 140,000 40,000 180,000
Gerd von Brandenstein 140,000 40,000 180,000 134,167 38,333 172,500
Michael Diekmann 140,000 = 140,000 134,167 = 134,167
Dr. Hans Michael Gaul 140,000 160,000 300,000 140,000 160,000 300,000
Prof.Dr. Peter Gruss 140,000 = 140,000 128,333 = 128,333
Bettina Haller? 140,000 80,000 220,000 140,000 80,000 220,000
Hans-Jirgen Hartung? 140,000 - 140,000 140,000 - 140,000
Harald Kern? 140,000 = 140,000 140,000 = 140,000
Jurgen Kerner?3 105,000 90,000 195,000 - - -
Dr. Nicola Leibinger-Kammiiller 132,222 - 132,222 128,333 - 128,333
Werner Ménius? 140,000 40,000 180,000 140,000 40,000 180,000
Hakan Samuelsson 140,000 40,000 180,000 128,333 36,667 165,000
Dr. Rainer Sieg 140,000 = 140,000 140,000 = 140,000
Birgit Steinborn? 140,000 120,000 260,000 140,000 120,000 260,000
Lord lain Vallance of Tummel 140,000 80,000 220,000 140,000 80,000 220,000
Sibylle Wankel? 140,000 40,000 180,000 140,000 40,000 180,000
Former Supervisory Board members
Dieter Scheitor?3 46,667 40,000 86,667 140,000 120,000 260,000
Total 3,083,889 1,363,333 4,447,2224 3,034,999 1,348,334 4,383,3334
1 Dr. Gerhard Cromme as Chairman of the Supervisory Board and of the Chairman’s 3 Jiirgen Kerner succeeded Dieter Scheitor on the Supervisory Board by court-ordered

Committee, the Compliance Committee, and the Finance and Investment Committee,
as well as a member of the Audit Committee; Berthold Huber as Deputy Chairman of
the Supervisory Board and member of the Chairman’s Committee; Dr. Josef Ackermann
as Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board and member of the Chairman’s Commit-
tee; Lothar Adler as member of the Chairman’s Committee, the Compliance Committee
and the Finance and Investment Committee; Jean-Louis Beffa as member of the Finance
and Investment Committee; Gerd von Brandenstein as member of the Finance and
Investment Committee; Dr. Hans Michael Gaul as Chairman of the Audit Committee
and member of the Compliance Committee; Bettina Haller as member of the Audit
Committee and the Compliance Committee; Jiirgen Kerner as member of the Audit
Committee and the Finance and Investment Committee; Werner Ménius as member

of the Finance and Investment Committee; Hikan Samuelsson as member of the
Finance and Investment Committee; Dieter Scheitor as member of the Audit Commit-
tee and the Finance and Investment Committee; Birgit Steinborn as member of the
Audit Committee and the Finance and Investment Committee; Lord lain Vallance of
Tummel as member of the Audit Committee and the Compliance Committee; and
Sibylle Wankel as member of the Compliance Committee, each received an additional
fixed compensation for their committee work.

2 Both the employee representatives on the Supervisory Board who represent the
employees pursuant to Section 3 para. 1 No. 1 of the German Codetermination Act
(Mitbestimmungsgesetz, MitbestG) and the representatives of the trade unions on
the Supervisory Board declared their readiness to transfer their compensation to the
Hans Boeckler Foundation, in accordance with the guidelines of the Confederation
of German Trade Unions (DGB).

B.4.3 Other

The Company provides a group insurance policy for board and  functions. The insurance policy for fiscal 2012 includes a
committee members and certain employees of the Siemens deductible for the members of the Managing Board and the
organization that is taken out for one year and renewed annu-  Supervisory Board in compliance with the requirements of
ally. The insurance covers the personal liability of the insured  the German Stock Corporation Act and the German Corporate

appointment as of the end of the day of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on January
24,2012,

In addition, the members of the Supervisory Board are entitled to receive a meeting
attendance fee of €1,500 (2011: €1,500) for each meeting of the Supervisory Board
and its committees that they attend. In fiscal 2012, Dr. Gerhard Cromme received
meeting fees of €48,000 (2011: €46,500), Dr. Hans Michael Gaul received meeting
fees of €34,500 (2011: €30,000), Lothar Adler received meeting fees of €30,000
(2011: €34,500), Bettina Haller received meeting fees of €25,500 (2011: €30,000),
Lord lain Vallance of Tummel received meeting fees of €25,500 (2011: €28,500),

Dr. Josef Ackermann received meeting fees of €22,500 (2011: €19,500), Birgit Steinborn
received meeting fees of €22,500 (2011: €30,000), Berthold Huber received meeting
fees of €18,000 (2011: €19,500), Sibylle Wankel received meeting fees of €16,500
(2011: €18,000), Gerd von Brandenstein received meeting fees of €13,500 (2011:
€16,500), Werner Mdnius received meeting fees of €13,500 (2011: €18,000), Hakan
Samuelsson received meeting fees of €13,500 (2011: €13,500), Jirgen Kerner received
meeting fees of €12,000 (2011: €0), Dieter Scheitor received meeting fees of €10,500
(2011: €30,000), Jean-Louis Beffa received meeting fees of €9,000 (2011: €16,500),
Michael Diekmann received meeting fees of €9,000 (2011: €10,500), Prof. Dr. Peter
Gruss received meeting fees of €9,000 (2011: €9,000), Hans-Jiirgen Hartung received
meeting fees of €9,000 (2011: €12,000), Harald Kern received meeting fees of €9,000
(2011: €12,000), Dr. Rainer Sieg received meeting fees of €9,000 (2011: €12,000) and
Dr. Nicola Leibinger-Kammliller received meeting fees of €7,500 (2011: €9,000).

Due to rounding, numbers presented may not add up precisely to totals provided.

in the case of a financial loss associated with employment Governance Code.
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B.5 TAKEOVER-RELEVANT INFORMATION (PURSUANT TO
SECTIONS 289 PARA.4 AND 315 PARA.4 OF THE GERMAN
COMMERCIAL CODE) AND EXPLANATORY REPORT

The Takeover-Relevant Information pursuant to Sections
289 para. 4 and 315 para. 4 of the German Commercial Code
(Handelsgesetzbuch) and Explanatory Report are part of the
Combined Management Report.

B.5.1 Composition of common stock

As of September 30, 2012, the Company’s common stock totaled
€2.643 billion (2011: €2.743 billion) divided into 881 million
(2011: 914,203,421) registered shares with no par value and a
notional value of €3.00 per share. The shares are fully paid in.
In accordance with Section 4 para. 3 of the Company’s Articles
of Association, the right of shareholders to have their owner-
ship interests evidenced by document is excluded, unless such
evidence is required under the regulations of a stock exchange
on which the shares are listed. Collective share certificates
may be issued. Pursuant to Section 67 para. 2 of the German
Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz), only those persons re-
corded in the Company’s stock register will be recognized as
shareholders of the Company. For purposes of recording the
shares in the Company’s stock register, shareholders are re-
quired to submit to the Company the number of shares held by
them and their e-mail address if they have one and, in the case
of individuals, their name, address and date of birth, or in the
case of legal entities, their company name, business address
and registered offices.

All shares confer the same rights and obligations. At the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting, each share of stock has one vote and
accounts for the shareholders’ proportionate share in the
Company’s net income. Excepted from this rule are treasury
shares held by the Company, which do not entitle the Company
to any rights. The shareholders’ rights and obligations are gov-
erned by the provisions of the German Stock Corporation Act,
in particular by Sections 12, 53a et seq., 118 et seq. and 186 of
this German Stock Corporation Act.

B.5.2 Restrictions on voting rights or
transfer of shares

Shares issued to employees worldwide under the stock
scheme implemented since the beginning of fiscal 2009, in
particular the Share Matching Plan, are freely transferable.
However, participants are required to own and hold the shares
issued to them under the rules of the Plan for a vesting period
of about three years, during which the participants have to
have been continuously employed by Siemens AG or another
Siemens company, in order to receive one matching share free

of charge for each three shares provided. The right to receive
matching shares forfeits, if the underlying shares are sold,
transferred, hedged on, pledged or hypothecated in any way
during the vesting period.

The von Siemens-Vermdgensverwaltung GmbH (vSV) has, on a
sustained basis, powers of attorney allowing it to vote, as of
October 12, 2012, 11,454,464 shares on behalf of members of
the Siemens family, whereby aforementioned shares consti-
tute a part of the overall number of shares held by members of
the Siemens family. The vSV is a German limited liability com-
pany and party to an agreement with, among others, members
of the Siemens family (family agreement). In order to bundle
and represent their interests, the members of the Siemens
family established a family partnership. This family partner-
ship makes proposals to the vSV with respect to the exercise of
the voting rights at Shareholders’ Meetings of the Company,
which are taken into account by the vSV when acting within
the bounds of its professional discretion. Pursuant to the fami-
ly agreement, the shares under powers of attorney are voted
by the vSV collectively.

B.5.3 Equity interests exceeding
10% of voting rights
We are not aware of, nor have we been notified of, any share-

holder directly or indirectly holding 10% or more of the voting
rights.

B.5.4 Shares with special rights
conferring powers of control

There are no shares with special rights conferring powers of
control.

B.5.5 System of control of any
employee share scheme where

the control rights are not

exercised directly by the employees

Shares of stock issued by Siemens AG to employees under its
employee stock scheme are transferred directly to the employ-
ees. The beneficiary employees who hold shares of employee
stock may exercise their control rights in the same way as any
other shareholder directly in accordance with applicable laws
and the Articles of Association.
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B.5.6 Legislation and provisions of the
articles of association applicable to the
appointment and removal of members
of the Managing Board and governing
amendment to the Articles of Association

The appointment and removal of members of the Managing
Board is subject to the provisions of Sections 84 and 85 of the
German Stock Corporation Act and Section 31 of the German
Codetermination Act (Mitbestimmungsgesetz). According to
these provisions, members of the Managing Board are appoint-
ed by the Supervisory Board for a maximum term of five years.
They may be reappointed or have their term of office extended
for one or more terms of up to a maximum of five years each.
Pursuant to Section 31 para. 2 of the German Codetermination
Act, a majority of at least two thirds of the members of the
Supervisory Board is required to appoint members of the Man-
aging Board. If such majority is not achieved, the Mediation
Committee shall give, within one month after the first round
of voting, a recommendation for the appointments to the Man-
aging Board. The Supervisory Board will then appoint the
members of the Managing Board with the votes of the majority
of its members. If such appointment fails as well, the Chairman
of the Supervisory Board shall have two votes in a new round
of voting.

According to Section 8 para. 1 of the Articles of Association,
the Managing Board is comprised of several members, the
number of which is determined by the Supervisory Board. Pur-
suant to Section 84 of the German Stock Corporation Act and
Section 9 of the Articles of Association, the Supervisory Board
may appoint a President of the Managing Board as well as a
Vice President. If a required member of the Managing Board
has not been appointed, the necessary appointment shall be
made, in urgent cases, by a competent court upon motion by
any party concerned, in accordance with Section 85 of the
German Stock Corporation Act. Pursuant to Section 84 para. 3
of the German Stock Corporation Act, the Supervisory Board
may revoke the appointment of an individual as member of
the Managing Board or as President of the Managing Board for
good cause.

According to Section 179 of the German Stock Corporation Act,
any amendment to the Articles of Association requires a reso-
lution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. The authority to
adopt purely formal amendments to the Articles of Association
was transferred to the Supervisory Board under Section 13 para.
2 of the Articles of Association. In addition, by resolution of
the Annual Shareholders’ Meetings on January 27, 2009 and
January 25, 2011, the Supervisory Board has been authorized
to amend Section 4 of the Articles of Association in accordance
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with the utilization of the Authorized Capital 2009 and the
Authorized Capital 2011, and after expiration of the then-appli-
cable authorization period.

Resolutions of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting require a
simple majority vote, unless a greater majority is required by
law. Pursuant to Section 179 para. 2 of the German Stock
Corporation Act, amendments to the Articles of Association
require a majority of at least three-fourth of the capital stock
represented at the voting round, unless another capital major-
ity is prescribed by the Articles of Association.

B.5.7 Powers of the Managing Board
to issue and repurchase shares

The Managing Board is authorized to increase, with the
approval of the Supervisory Board, the capital stock until Jan-
uary 26, 2014 by up to €520.8 million through the issuance of
up to 173.6 million registered shares of no par value against
cash contributions and/or contributions in kind (Authorized
Capital 2009). The Managing Board is authorized to exclude,
with the approval of the Supervisory Board, preemptive rights
of shareholders in the event of capital increases against con-
tributions in kind. In addition, preemptive rights of sharehold-
ers may be excluded in the event of capital increases against
cash contributions, (1) to make use of any fractional amounts,
(2) in order to grant holders of conversion or option rights is-
sued by the Company or any of its subsidiaries, as protection
against the effects of dilution, preemptive rights to subscribe
for new shares, and (3) if the issue price of the new shares is
not significantly lower than their stock market price and the
total of the shares issued in accordance with Section 186 para.
3 sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act (against
cash contributions not significantly below the stock market
price, with shareholders’ subscription rights excluded) to-
gether with other shares issued or disposed of by direct or
mutatis mutandis application of this statutory regulation dur-
ing the effective period of this authorization until the date of
using this authorization does not exceed 10% of the capital
stock at that point in time.

Furthermore, the Managing Board is authorized to increase,
with the approval of the Supervisory Board, the capital stock
until January 24, 2016 by up to €90 million through the issu-
ance of up to 30 million registered shares of no par value
against contributions in cash (Authorized Capital 2011). Pre-
emptive rights of existing shareholders are excluded. The new
shares shall be issued under the condition that they are offered
exclusively to employees of Siemens AG and its subsidiaries.
The new shares may also be issued to a suitable bank that as-
sumes the obligation to use these shares for the sole purpose
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of granting them to employees of Siemens AG and any of its
consolidated subsidiaries. To the extent permitted by law, em-
ployee shares may also be issued in such a manner that the
contribution to be paid on such shares is covered by that part
of the annual net income which the Managing Board and the
Supervisory Board may allocate to other retained earnings
under Section 58 para. 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act.

As of September 30, 2012, the total unissued authorized capital
of Siemens AG therefore consisted of €610.8 million nominal
that may be issued in installments with varying terms by issu-
ance of up to 203.6 million registered shares of no par value. For
details, please refer to Section 4 of the Articles of Association.

By resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of January
26, 2010, the Managing Board was authorized until January 25,
2015 to issue bonds in an aggregate principal amount of up to
€15 billion with conversion rights or with warrants attached, or
a combination of these instruments, entitling the holders to
subscribe to up to 200 million new registered shares of Siemens
AG of no par value, representing a pro rata amount of up to
€600 million of the capital stock. The bonds under this authori-
zation are to be issued against cash or non-cash contributions.

Besides, by resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of
January 25, 2011, the Managing Board was authorized until
January 24, 2016 to issue bearer or registered bonds in an ag-
gregate principal amount of up to €15 billion with conversion
rights or with bearer or registered warrants attached or a com-
bination of these instruments, entitling the holders to sub-
scribe to up to 90 million new registered shares of Siemens AG
of no par value, representing a pro rata amount of up to €270
million of the capital stock. The bonds under this authoriza-
tion are to be issued against cash contributions.

For further details of the authorizations please refer to the re-
spective resolutions of the Annual Shareholders’ Meetings. In
particular, the bonds are, as a matter of principle, to be offered
to shareholders for subscription, including the possibility of is-
suing them to banks with the obligation that they must be of-
fered to shareholders for subscription. However, the Managing
Board is authorized to exclude shareholders’ subscription
rights with the approval of the Supervisory Board (1) provided
that the issue price of the bonds is not significantly lower than
their theoretical market price computed in accordance with
generally accepted actuarial methods, (2) to the extent the ex-
clusion is necessary with regard to fractional amounts result-
ing from the subscription ratio, (3) in order to grant holders of
conversion or option rights or conversion or option obligations
on Siemens shares subscription rights as compensation against
the effects of dilution, and (4) to the extent that bonds were is-
sued against non-cash contributions, in particular within the

context of business combinations or when acquiring compa-
nies or interests therein.

In order to grant shares of stock to holders of convertible bonds
or warrant bonds issued until January 25, 2015 by the Company
or any of its consolidated subsidiaries in accordance with the
authorization of the Managing Board adopted by the Annual
Shareholders’ Meeting on January 26, 2010, the capital stock
was conditionally increased by €600 million through the issu-
ance of up to 200 million no-par value shares registered in the
names of the holders (Conditional Capital 2010). In order to
grant shares of stock to holders or creditors of convertible
bonds or warrant bonds issued until January 24, 2016 by the
Company or any of its consolidated subsidiaries in accordance
with the authorization of the Managing Board adopted by the
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 25, 2011, the capital
stock was conditionally increased by €270 million through the
issuance of up to 90 million no-par value shares registered in
the names of the holders (Conditional Capital 2011).

The total of the shares to be issued on the basis of bond issues
under these authorizations pursuant to Section 186 para. 3 sen-
tence 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act, in combination
with other shares issued or sold by direct or mutatis mutandis
application of this statutory regulation during the effective pe-
riod of these authorizations, does not exceed 10% of the capital
stock at the date of using these authorization. This limit also
includes shares of stock issued up to this point in time against
non-cash contributions, under exclusion of shareholders’ sub-
scription rights, on the basis of the Authorized Capital 2009. In
addition, the issue of convertible bonds and/or warrant bonds
pursuant to both authorizations shall be limited to convertible
bonds and/or warrant bonds that entitle or oblige to subscribe
to a maximum number of 200 million Siemens shares repre-
senting a pro rata amount of €600 million of the capital stock
while both authorizations are simultaneously effective.

In February 2012 Siemens issued bonds with warrant units
with a volume of US$3 billion. The bonds with warrant units
with a minimum per-unit denomination of US$250,000 were
offered exclusively to institutional investors outside the U.S.
Pre-emptive rights of Siemens shareholders were excluded.
The bonds issued by Siemens Financieringsmaatschappij N.V.
are guaranteed by Siemens AG and complemented with war-
rants issued by Siemens AG. The warrants entitle their holders
to receive Siemens shares against payment of the exercise
price in Euros. At issuance, the warrants resulted in option
rights relating to a total of about 21.7 million Siemens shares.
The terms and conditions of the warrants enable Siemens to
service exercised option rights also by delivering treasury
stock as well as to buy back the warrants. The bonds with war-
rant units were issued in two tranches with maturities of
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5.5 and 7.5 years, respectively. The maturities refer to both the
bonds and the related warrants. After issuance, the warrants
can be detached from the bonds, the option period com-
menced on March 28, 2012. The bonds with warrant units, the
bonds detached from warrants and the warrants detached are
listed by Deutsche Bank AG in the Open Market segment of the
Frankfurt Stock Exchange (Freiverkehr).

On January 25, 2011, the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting autho-
rized the Company to acquire until January 24, 2016 up to 10%
of its 914,203,421 shares of stock existing at the date of adopt-
ing the resolution or - if this value is lower — as of the date on
which the authorization is exercised. The aggregate of shares
of stock of Siemens AG repurchased under this authorization
and any other Siemens shares previously acquired and still
held in treasury by the Company or attributable to the Compa-
ny pursuant to Sections 71d and 71e of the German Stock Cor-
poration Act, may at no time exceed 10% of the then existing
capital stock. Any repurchase of Siemens shares shall be ac-
complished at the discretion of the Managing Board either (1)
by acquisition over the stock exchange or (2) through a public
share repurchase offer.

The Managing Board is additionally authorized, with the ap-
proval of the Supervisory Board, to complete the repurchase of
Siemens shares in accordance with the authorization de-
scribed above, with the use of certain equity derivatives (put
options, call options, forward purchases and by using a combi-
nation of these derivatives). In exercising this authorization,
all stock repurchases based on the equity derivatives are limit-
ed to a maximum volume of 5% of the capital stock of
914,203,421 shares existing at the date of adopting the resolu-
tion at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. An equity deriva-
tive's term of maturity must, in each case, not exceed 18
months and must be chosen in such a way that the repurchase
of Siemens shares upon exercise of the equity derivative will
take place no later than January 24, 2016.

Besides selling them over the stock exchange or through a
public sales offer to all shareholders, the Managing Board was
authorized by resolution of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting
on January 25, 2011 to also use Siemens shares repurchased on
the basis of this or any previously given authorization as fol-
lows: such Siemens shares may be (1) retired; (2) offered for
purchase to individuals currently or formerly employed by the
Company or any of its consolidated subsidiaries as well as to
board members of any of the Company's consolidated subsid-
iaries, or awarded and / or transferred to such individuals with
a vesting period of at least two years, provided that the em-
ployment relationship or board membership existed at the
time of the offer or award commitment; (3) offered and trans-
ferred, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to third
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parties against non-cash contributions, particularly in connec-
tion with business combinations or the acquisition of compa-
nies, businesses, parts of businesses or interests therein; (4)
sold, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, to third par-
ties against payment in cash if the price at which such Siemens
shares are sold is not significantly lower than the market price
of Siemens stock at the time of selling, or (5) used to meet ob-
ligations or rights to acquire Siemens shares arising from, or in
connection with, convertible bonds or warrant bonds issued
by the Company or any of its consolidated subsidiaries. The ag-
gregate volume of shares used under the authorization pursu-
ant to (4) and (5) by mutatis mutandis application of the provi-
sions of Section 186 para. 3sentence 4 of the German Stock
Corporation Act together with other shares issued or sold by
direct or mutatis mutandis application of this statutory regula-
tion during the effective period of this authorization until the
date of using this authorization must not exceed 10% of the
capital stock at that point in time.

Furthermore, the Supervisory Board was authorized by resolu-
tion of the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 25, 2011
to use shares acquired on the basis of this or any previously
given authorization to meet obligations or rights to acquire
Siemens shares that were or will be agreed with members of
the Managing Board of Siemens AG within the framework of
rules governing Managing Board compensation. In particular,
repurchased shares may be offered for acquisition, or awarded
and/or transferred subject to a restriction period, by the Super-
visory Board to the members of the Managing Board, provided
that Managing Board membership existed at the time of the
offer or award commitment.

In August 2012, Siemens announced a share buy back amount-
ing to up to €3 billion, using the authorization given by the An-
nual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 25, 2011. The shares re-
purchased may be used for the purposes of cancellation and
reduction of capital stock, issuance to employees, board mem-
bers of affiliated companies and members of the Managing
Board as well as to meet obligations arising under and in con-
nection with convertible bonds and warrant bonds. The share
buy back was completed on November 7, 2012, after repurchas-
ing 37,949,286 shares, the total consideration paid for the
shares amounting to about €2,9 billion (excluding incidental
transaction charges). Additionally, the Managing Board decid-
ed to cancel 33,203,421 treasury shares, which reduced the
common stock from 914,203,421 to 881 million shares. As of
September 30, 2012, the Company held 24,725,674 (2011:
39,952,074) shares of stock in treasury.

For further information on the authorized and conditional capi-
tals and on the treasury stock of the Company as of September
30, 2012 see
STATEMENTS.
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B.5.8 Significant agreements which take
effect, alter or terminate upon a change
of control of the Company following a
takeover bid

Siemens AG maintains two lines of credit in an amount of €4
billion and an amount of US$4 billion respectively which pro-
vide its lenders with a right of termination in the event that (1)
Siemens AG becomes a subsidiary of another company or (2) a
person or a group of persons acting in concert acquires effec-
tive control over Siemens AG by being able to exercise decisive
influence over its activities (Art. 3(2) of Council Regulation (EC)
139/2004). In addition, Siemens AG has a bilateral credit line at
its disposal in the amount of €450 million which may be termi-
nated by the lender if major changes in Siemens AG's corpo-
rate legal situation occur that jeopardize the orderly repay-
ment of the credit.

Framework agreements concluded by Siemens AG under Inter-
national Swaps and Derivatives Association Inc. documentation
(ISDA Agreements) grant the counterparty a right of termina-
tion upon the occurrence of the following events: (i) the
Company consolidates with, merges into, or transfers at least
substantially all its assets to a third party and (1) the resulting
entity’s creditworthiness is materially weaker than the
Company's immediately prior to such event, or (2) the resulting
entity fails to simultaneously assume the Company'’s obliga-
tions under the ISDA Agreement; or (ii) additionally some ISDA
Agreements grant the counterparty a right of termination upon
a third party acquiring the beneficial ownership of equity secu-
rities having the power to elect a majority of the Company’s
Supervisory Board or otherwise acquiring the power to control
the Company’s material policy-making decisions and the credit-
worthiness of the Company is materially weaker than it was im-
mediately prior to such event. In either situation, ISDA Agree-
ments are designed such that upon termination all outstanding
payment claims documented under them are to be netted.

In February 2012 Siemens issued bonds with warrant units
with a volume of US$3 billion. In case of a “Change of Control”,
the terms and conditions of these warrants enable their hold-
ers to receive a higher number of Siemens shares in accor-
dance with an adjusted strike price if they exercise their option
rights within a certain period of time after the Change of Con-
trol. This period of time shall end either (1) not less than
30 days and no more than 60 days after publication of the
notice of the issuer regarding the Change of Control, as deter-

mined by the issuer or (2) 30 days after the Change of Control
becomes first publicly known. The strike price adjustment de-
creases depending on the remaining term of the warrants and
is determined in detail in the terms and conditions of the war-
rants. In this context, a Change of Control occurs if a person or
persons acting in concert, respectively, acquires or acquire
control of the Company.

B.5.9 Compensation agreements with
members of the Managing Board or
employees in the event of a takeover bid

In the event of a change of control - that is if one or several
shareholders acting jointly or in concert acquire a majority of
the voting rights in Siemens AG and exercise a controlling in-
fluence, or if Siemens AG becomes a dependent enterprise as a
result of entering into an intercompany agreement within the
meaning of Section 291 of the German Stock Corporation Act,
or if Siemens AG is to be merged into another company - any
member of the Managing Board has the right to terminate the
contract of employment if such change of control results in a
substantial change in position (for example due to a change in
corporate strategy or a change in the Managing Board mem-
ber’s duties and responsibilities). If this right of termination is
exercised, the Managing Board member is entitled to a sever-
ance payment in the amount of not more than two years’ com-
pensation. The calculation of the annual compensation in-
cludes not only the base compensation and the target amount
for the bonus, but also the target amount for the Stock Awards.
This calculation will be based on the last contractual year be-
fore the termination of the contract. Additionally, the sever-
ance payments cover non-monetary benefits by paying an
amount of 5% of the compensation or severance total. Further-
more, compensatory or severance payments will be reduced
15% as a lump-sum allowance for discounted values and for in-
come earned elsewhere. However, this reduction will apply on-
ly to the portion of the compensatory or severance payment
that was calculated without taking account of the first six
months of the remaining term of the Managing Board mem-
ber’s contract. The stock-based compensation components for
which a firm commitment already exists remain unaffected.
No severance payments are made to the extent the Managing
Board member receives benefits from third parties on the occa-
sion of, or in connection with, a change of control. A right of
termination does not exist if the change of control occurs
within a period of twelve months prior to a Managing Board
member’s retirement.
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C.1 BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

C.1.1 The Siemens Group

C.1.1.1 ORGANIZATION AND

BASIS OF PRESENTATION

We are a globally operating, integrated technology company
with core activities in the fields of energy, healthcare, industry,
and infrastructure, and we occupy leading market positions
worldwide in the majority of our businesses. We can look back
on a successful history spanning 165 years, with groundbreak-
ing and revolutionary innovations such as the invention of the
dynamo, the first commercial light bulb, the first electric
streetcar, the construction of the first public power plant, and
the first images of the inside of the human body. On a continu-
ing basis, we have around 370,000 employees as of September
30, 2012 and business activities in approximately 190 countries
and reported consolidated revenue of €78.296 billion in fiscal
2012. We operate in excess of 290 major production and manu-
facturing plants worldwide. In addition, we have office build-
ings, warehouses, research and development facilities or sales
offices in almost every country in the world.

Siemens comprises Siemens AG, a stock corporation under
the Federal laws of Germany, as the parent company and a to-
tal of about 1,000 legal entities, including minority invest-
ments. Our Company is incorporated in Germany, with our
corporate headquarters situated in Munich. Siemens operates
under the leadership of its Managing Board, which comprises
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer
(CFO) as well as the heads of selected corporate functions and
the CEOs of the Sectors.

Our fundamental organizational principles are:

> the CEO principle,

> the end-to-end business responsibility of the Sectors,
Divisions and Business Units, and

> the unrestricted right of selected corporate functions to
issue instructions in relation to a function to the extent
legally permissible.

The Siemens Managing Board is the sole management body
and has overall business responsibility in accordance with the
German Stock Corporation Act (Aktiengesetz). At all other orga-
nizational levels within our Company, management responsi-
bility is assigned to individuals who make decisions and as-
sume personal responsibility (CEO principle). This principle es-
tablishes clear and direct responsibilities and fosters efficient
decision-making.
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Our Sectors, Divisions, Business Units and Financial Services
(SFS) are “global entrepreneurs” and have end-to-end business
responsibility worldwide, including with regard to their operat-
ing results. They therefore have “right of way” over the regional
units (Clusters and Countries) in business matters. The Clusters
and Countries are responsible for the local customer relation-
ship management and for implementing the business strate-
gies of the Sectors and SFS as well as the requirements set by
the corporate functions.

In addition to their particular authority to issue binding com-
pany-wide guidelines and to their monitoring and coordinating
responsibilities, the heads of selected corporate functions (Fi-
nance and Controlling, Legal and Compliance, Human Resources
and Supply Chain Management, for example) have an unrestrict-
ed right to issue instructions in relation to a function across all
parts of the Company to the extent legally permissible.

Below the Managing Board, Siemens is structured organiza-
tionally into Sectors, SFS which acts as business partner for
the Sectors and also conducts its own business with external
customers, Cross-Sector Services that support other Siemens
units, Corporate Units with specific corporate functions, and
regional Clusters. The Sectors are principally broken down into
Divisions and these in turn into Business Units.

During fiscal 2011, we initiated a change in the organizational
structure of our Sectors which became effective October 1, 2011.
Beginning with fiscal 2012, we formed a fourth Sector, Infra-
structure &Cities, in addition to our existing three Sectors, Ener-
gy, Healthcare and Industry, in order to benefit from the growth
of urban centers and the demand for infrastructure solutions.
The Infrastructure &Cities Sector comprises the activities of the
former Industry Sector’s Divisions Building Technologies and
Mobility and the former Energy Sector’s activities of the Power
Distribution Division, including Smart Grid applications. Results
for prior years are presented on a comparable basis.

Following this change in the organizational structure, our busi-
ness activities focus on four Sectors, Energy, Healthcare, Indus-
try and Infrastructure &Cities. These Sectors form four of our re-
portable segments. In addition to our four Sectors, we have two
additional reportable segments: Equity Investments and SFS.
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| BASIS OF PRESENTATION AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2012

Reporting structure

Fossil Power Diagnostics Industry Automation
Generation Drive Technologies
Wind Power

Oil&Gas

Power Transmission

Transportation &
Logistics

Power Grid
Solutions & Products
Building
Technologies

Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements

\ [

Centrally managed

. . Siemens Real Estate
portfolio activities

Eliminations,
Corporate Treasury and
other reconciling items

Corporate items
and pensions

Within this combined management report, we provide finan-
cial measures for our four Sectors and for two Businesses, each
combining two Divisions within a Sector as well as for eight Di-
visions of our Sectors. These financial measures include: new
orders, revenue, profit and profit margin. Divisions within a
Sector may do business with each other, leading to corre-
sponding new orders and revenue. Such orders and revenues
are only eliminated on a Sector level. Furthermore, our report-
able segments may do business with each other, leading to
corresponding new order and revenue. Such orders and reve-
nues are eliminated on the Siemens level within Eliminations,
Corporate Treasury and other reconciling items and are not in-
cluded in new orders and revenue with external customers
(external orders and external revenue, respectively) reported
in this document. Free cash flow and further information is re-
ported for each reportable segment in the Notes to Consolidat-
ed Financial Statements.

For information related to the definition of these financial
measures and to the reconciliation of segment financial mea-
sures to the Consolidated Financial Statements, see —> c.12
NOTES AND FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS and —> NOTE 36 IN D.6
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

On a geographic basis, Siemens is subdivided into 14 Regional
Clusters, which are in turn assigned to one of our three reporting
regions. We report financial measures for these three regions:

| REGIONAL STRUCTURE AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2012

Regional structure

Europe,
C.I.S.%, Africa,
Middle East

Asia,

Americas .
Australia

| 1 Commonwealth of Independent States.

In addition, we report financial information at group level
for certain major countries within each region, including
Germany (within the region Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East),
the U.S. (within the region Americas), and China and India
(within the region Asia, Australia).
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C.1.1.2 BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

Energy

The Energy Sector offers a wide spectrum of products, services
and solutions for the generation and transmission of power, and
the extraction, conversion and transport of oil and gas. It primar-
ily addresses the needs of energy providers, but also serves in-
dustrial companies, particularly in the oil and gas industry.

External revenue of the Sector was €27.302 billion in fiscal
2012, representing 35% of Siemens revenue. The following
chart provides a geographic breakdown of the Sector’s exter-
nal revenue in fiscal 2012.

| REVENUE SHARE IN % (LOCATION OF CUSTOMER)

Asia, Australia: 19%

Europe, C.1.S.%,
Africa, Middle East: 51%

therein Germany: 7%

Americas: 30%
therein U.S.: 20%

| 1 Commonwealth of Independent States.

At the end of fiscal 2012, the Energy Sector comprised the fol-
lowing five Divisions: Fossil Power Generation; Wind Power;
Oil &Gas; Power Transmission and Energy Service. In the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, Siemens decided to divest its so-
lar thermal business and photovoltaic business (solar busi-
ness). Following the decision the solar thermal and photovol-
taic businesses are reported as discontinued operations for all
periods covered in this annual report. Energy formed a new
Sector-led unit, Hydro &Storage. This unit comprises the Sec-
tor's hydro power generation activities including its minority
stake in Voith Hydro Holding GmbH &Co. KG as well as its en-
ergy storage devices.

The Fossil Power Generation Division offers high-efficiency
products and solutions for fossil-based power generation. The
offering extends from gas and steam turbines and generators
to complete turnkey power plants. The Division concentrates
on gas and steam turbines and turbo generators, including
control systems, in the larger power range, with an emphasis
on combined-cycle (gas and steam) power plants, heat recov-
ery steam generators, steam power plants and conventional is-
lands for nuclear power plants. It also develops solutions for
instrumentation and control systems for all types of power
plants and for use in power generation, including information
technology solutions providing management applications
from the plant to the enterprise level and is working on the de-
velopment and production of systems based on emerging
technologies such as integrated gasification and carbon cap-
ture and storage. In fiscal 2012, the Division acquired the
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NEM B.V. business, a specialist in heat recovery steam genera-
tors for combined-cycle power plants. To further expand its
global gas turbine manufacturing network, Fossil Power Gener-
ation launched a subsidiary, Siemens Gas Turbine Technologies
Holding B.V. in fiscal 2012. The Division has a 65% stake in the
subsidiary. As part of the transaction, Fossil Power Generation
completed the sale of its 25% interest in OAO Power Machines,
Russia. The Division is represented in a number of joint ventures
in China, including Shanghai Electric Power Generation Equip-
ment in which Fossil Power Generation holds a stake of 40%.

The Wind Power Division manufactures wind turbines with a
power rating ranging from 2.3 megawatts to 6.0 megawatts
and rotor diameters spanning 82 to 154 meters for on- and off-
shore applications. It also provides services to off- and onshore
wind farms. The Division holds a 49% equity stake in a joint
venture with Dong Energy A/S, A2Sea AlS, a supplier of installa-
tion services for the construction of offshore wind-farms. In
fiscal 2012, the Division entered into agreements for two joint
ventures with Shanghai Electric Group (SEG) for the produc-
tion and sales of wind turbines in China.

The Oil & Gas Division supplies highly efficient small and me-
dium gas and steam turbines for industrial power generation
and mechanical drives as well as turbo compressors for a broad
range of applications to the oil and gas industries, the process
industry and other industries. The Oil & Gas Division further of-
fers a variety of automation and electrical products, systems
and solutions for field, production and management levels, en-
terprise intelligence solutions for safe and reliable operation,
planning, scheduling and life-cycle services, including feasibil-
ity studies, as well as design and performance enhancement
programs. In addition, the Division offers a broad range of wa-
ter treatment, (re-)injection and management systems for on-
shore installations and for fixed and floating facilities offshore.
Recent acquisitions, including all of the shares of five entities
constituting the Connectors & Measurements business of Expro
Holdings UK 3 Ltd., help the Division to strategically expand its
range of products, solutions and consulting services for sub-
sea activities.

The Energy Service Division offers comprehensive services,
including parts and components, for complete power plants
including on- and offshore wind farms as well as rotating ma-
chines such as gas and steam turbines, generators and com-
pressors. It provides these services using advanced plant diag-
nostics and systems engineering. The Division also offers pow-
er plant maintenance and operation services and emissions
control services and systems. Financial results relating to the
Energy Service Division are reflected in the Fossil Power Gen-
eration Division, the Oil&Gas Division and the Wind Power
Division and are therefore not reported separately.
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The Power Transmission Division covers high-voltage trans-
mission solutions, power and distribution transformers, high-
voltage switching and non-switching products and systems,
and innovative alternating and direct current transmission
systems. The Division supplies energy utilities and large indus-
trial power users with equipment, systems and services used
to process and transmit electrical power from the source, typi-
cally a power plant, to various points along the power trans-
mission network. The Division is working with joint ventures
in China with different partners and has a joint venture with
Infineon Technologies in Germany for design, manufacturing
and sale of high performance semiconductors.

The Energy Sector distributes its products and services through
its own dedicated sales force, supported by Siemens’ world-
wide network of regional companies. Additional sales chan-
nels include joint ventures and license partners, especially in
markets requiring a high degree of local knowledge.

Overall, the Sector’s principal customers are large power utili-
ties and independent power producers. Because certain signifi-
cant areas of the Sector's business, such as power plant con-
struction, involve working on medium- or longer-term projects
for customers who may not require the Sector’s services again
in the short term, the Sector’s most significant customers tend
to vary significantly from year to year.

The Energy Sector’s business activities vary widely in size from
component delivery and comparatively small projects to turn-
key contracts for the construction of new power plants with
contract values of more than €0.5 billion each. The large size of
some of the Sector’s projects occasionally exposes it to risks re-
lated to technical performance, a customer or a country. The
Sector has experienced, and may continue to experience signifi-
cant losses on individual projects in connection with such risks.
Moreover, the Sector generates an increasing portion of its rev-
enue from oil and gas activities and industrial customers in the
developing world. While this region represents a growth market
for power generation, and transmission products and systems,
the Sector’s activities in that region expose it to risks associated
with economic, financial and political disruptions that could
result in lower demand or affect customers’ abilities to pay.

While the Sector historically competed primarily with large in-
dustrial companies from western countries, emerging market
competitors have become more and more important, as they are
increasingly expanding their operations beyond the borders of
their home markets. The Sector’s competitors vary by Division.

The Fossil Power Generation Division's market consists of a rel-
atively small number of companies, some with very strong
positions in their domestic markets. Its principal competitors

in gas turbines are Alstom, General Electric and Mitsubishi
Heavy Industries, whereas its main competitors in steam tur-
bines are Alstom, Bharat Heavy Electricals Limited, General
Electric and Toshiba. In China, manufacturers are mainly
focused on their large home market, but have recently bequn
to transform from local to international suppliers. The Division
aims to participate in growth through a Chinese joint venture.
Korean engineering and procurement companies offer a large
product and solutions range and establish themselves as one-
stop-shops which offer customer solutions out of one hand.
In instrumentation and controls, ABB and Emerson Electric are
the Division's principal competitors.

The principal competitors in the market served by the Wind
Power Division are Enercon, Gamesa, General Electric, Gold-
wind, Sinovel, Suzlon and Vestas. The competitive situation
differs between the market segments. In the market for on-
shore wind-farms, competition is widely dispersed, without
any one company holding a dominant share of the market. In
contrast, there are only a few major players in the market for
technologically more complex offshore wind-farms. Overall,
the industry currently suffers from overcapacity and is largely
regarded as being in an early stage of consolidation.

The principal competitors of the Oil & Gas Division vary by prod-
uct; in automation and electrical equipment, they are ABB and
Honeywell above all, whereas in compressors and steam and gas
turbines, they are Dresser Rand, General Electric, MAN Diesel &
Turbo and Solar Turbines. Overall, competition in the markets
served by the Oil&Gas Division is characterized by a relatively
small number of companies, some with a very strong position in
the markets and some with a regional focus, playing key roles.

The primary competitors of the Power Transmission Division
are a small group of large, multinational companies offering a
wide variety of products, systems and services. Its key global
competitors are ABB and Alstom. Further competition comes
from emerging countries, regional and niche manufacturers,
such as XD from China, Crompton Greaves from India, HHI from
Korea and Mitsubishi Electric from Japan. Power Transmission
Division entered into several joint ventures in China, which is
the Sector’s largest national power transmission market.

Healthcare

The Healthcare Sector offers customers a comprehensive
portfolio of medical solutions across the treatment chain -
ranging from medical imaging to in-vitro diagnostics to inter-
ventional systems and clinical information technology sys-
tems — all from a single source. In addition, the Sector provides
technical maintenance, professional and consulting services,
and, together with Financial Services (SFS), financing to assist
customers in purchasing the Sector’s products.
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External revenue of the Sector was €13.600 billion in fiscal
2012, representing 17% of Siemens revenue. The following
chart provides a geographic breakdown of the Sector’s exter-
nal revenue in fiscal 2012.

| REVENUE SHARE IN % (LOCATION OF CUSTOMER)

Asia, Australia: 24%

Europe, C.I1.S.T,
Africa, Middle East: 34%
therein Germany: 8%

Americas: 42%
therein U.S.: 35%

| 1 Commonwealth of Independent States.

The Healthcare Sector comprises the following three Divisions,
one Operational Unit and one separate sector-led Business
Unit. In addition to the financial results for the Sector, financial
results are also reported externally for the Diagnostics Division.

The Imaging &Therapy Systems Division provides a broad
range of medical devices for diagnostic imaging and for therapy
solutions. Imaging equipment includes computer tomographs,
magnetic resonance imaging equipment, and positron emission
tomography. Siemens is a market leader in this field. Therapy
solutions mainly comprise angiography systems, particle thera-
py systems, and minimally invasive procedures. These systems
are closely linked with imaging equipment, in particular in the
area of therapy planning. The Division leverages synergies be-
tween imaging equipment and therapy solutions in order to
strengthen its leading position in these markets. Starting in
fiscal 2011, the Division shifted the focus of certain particle ther-
apy projects primarily to research. In fiscal 2012, the Sector re-
structured its radiation oncology business and stopped the sales
of linear accelerators as of January 1, 2012.

The Clinical Products Division mainly comprises the business
with ultrasound and X-ray equipment including mammogra-
phy. In addition to providing innovative high-end solutions, the
Clinical Products Division focuses on the development of cost-
efficient, less complex equipment that meets essential custom-
er requirements, particularly in emerging economies. The Clini-
cal Products Division also comprises the internal supplier Com-
ponents and Vacuum Technology which also provides compo-
nents to the Imaging & Therapy Systems Division.

The Diagnostics Division offers products and services in the
area of in-vitro diagnostics. In-vitro diagnostics is based on the
analysis of bodily fluids such as blood or urine and supplies vital
information for the detection and management of disease as
well as an individual patient’s risk assessment. The Division's
product portfolio represents a comprehensive range of diagnos-
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tic testing systems and consumables, including clinical chemis-
try and immunodiagnostics, molecular diagnostics (i.e., testing
for nucleic acids), hematology, hemostasis, microbiology, point-
of-care testing and clinical laboratory automation solutions.

The Sector’s Operational Unit Customer Solutions manages
the sales and service organization as well as the Business Unit
covering hospital information systems. Audiology Solutions
provides hearing aids and is a sector-led Business Unit.

The customers of the Healthcare Sector include healthcare pro-
viders such as hospital groups and individual hospitals, group
and individual medical practices, reference and physician office
laboratories and outpatient clinics. The Sector sells the majori-
ty of its products and services through in-house sales staff,
which is grouped in its Customer Solutions Operational Unit,
supported by dedicated product specialists. In some countries,
it also uses dealers, particularly for the sale of low-end products
(such as low-end ultrasound and X-ray equipment). A small
portion of the Sector's revenue derives from the delivery of
products and components to competitors on an original equip-
ment manufacturer (OEM) basis. The Sector’s products are ser-
viced primarily by its own dedicated personnel.

As a large part of Healthcare's revenue stems from recurring
business, the Sector’s business activities are to a certain extent
resilient to short-term economic trends but are dependent on
regulatory and policy developments around the world. The
Healthcare Sector faces market risks in connection with ongo-
ing health care reform efforts. In the U.S., a health care reform
was enacted in the spring of 2010. In particular in connection
with this reform, it is currently expected that an excise tax will
be charged on certain medical devices from 2013 onwards.
Siemens believes that this tax will impact all businesses ex-
cept of Audiology.

The Healthcare Sector’s principal competitors in medical imag-
ing are General Electric, Philips, Toshiba, Hitachi and Hologic.
Other competitors include Roche, Abbott and Danaher for in-
vitro diagnostics, McKesson and Cerner for healthcare infor-
mation technology systems and Sonova, GN Resound, William
Demant and Starkey for audiology (hearing aids). The trend to-
ward consolidation in the Sector’s industry continues. Compe-
tition among the leading companies in the field is strong, in-
cluding with respect to price.

In fiscal 2012, the Healthcare Sector launched Agenda 2013, a
global initiative to grow its innovative capacity and make itself
more competitive. Agenda 2013 is the Sector's proactive re-
sponse to the challenges emerging from a changing market en-
vironment. To meet these challenges, Agenda 2013 includes
measures targeting innovation, regional presence, competitive-
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ness, and human resource development. These include focused
investments in product development and expanded sales activ-
ities in growth markets. Agenda 2013 also encompasses a re-
alignment of the radiation therapy business unit that includes
rightsizing measures. In addition, Agenda 2013 includes a pro-
gram to improve the cost position in the Diagnostics Division.

Industry

The Industry Sector offers a broad spectrum of products, servic-
es and solutions for the efficient use of resources and energy
and improvements of productivity and flexibility in industry. Its
integrated technologies and holistic solutions address primarily
industrial customers, such as process and manufacturing indus-
tries. The portfolio spans industry automation, industrial soft-
ware and drives products and services, system integration and
solutions for industrial plant businesses. After the close of fiscal
2012, the Sector decided to dispose of its business of mechani-
cal, biological and chemical treatment and processing of water.

External revenue of the Sector was €18.872 billion in fiscal
2012, representing 24% of Siemens revenue. The following
chart provides a geographic breakdown of the Industry Sec-
tor's external revenue in fiscal 2012.

| REVENUE SHARE IN % (LOCATION OF CUSTOMER)

Asia, Australia: 25%

Europe, C.I.S.7,
Africa, Middle East: 52%

. Americas: 23%
therein Germany: 24%

therein U.S.: 15%

| 1 Commonwealth of Independent States.

The Industry Sector consists of the three Divisions Industry
Automation, Drive Technologies and Customer Services as well
as the sector-led Metals Technologies Business Unit. Financial
results relating to the Customer Services Division are reflected
in the Industry Automation Division, the Drive Technologies
Division and the Metals Technologies Business Unit and are
therefore not reported separately.

The Industry Automation Division offers automation systems
such as programmable logic controllers and process control
systems, sensors such as process instrumentation and analyt-
ics, and industrial software such as product lifecycle manage-
ment and manufacturing execution systems software. The
Division's portfolio ranges from standard products and systems
for the manufacturing, processing and construction industries
to solutions for entire industrial vertical markets, including au-
tomation solutions for entire automobile production facilities
and chemical plants. Furthermore, the Division's offerings in

fiscal 2012 comprised equipment and related services for indus-
trial process water, industrial and municipal wastewater treat-
ment such as water purification systems, clarification systems
and systems and solutions for water recycling and reuse. As not-
ed above, Industry has decided to divest its business of mechan-
ical, biological and chemical treatment and processing of water.
The Division will continue to offer efficient solutions for the
control, management and instrumentation of water processes.
In fiscal 2012, Industry Automation completed the acquisitions
of RuggedCom Inc., a provider of robust, industrial-quality eth-
ernet communication products and network solutions as well as
several other acquisitions to enhance its offerings for industrial
software. After the close of fiscal 2012, the Division announced
the acquisition of LMS International, a provider of mechatronic
simulation software that expands and complements the Divi-
sion’s product lifecycle management portfolio.

The Drive Technologies Division offers integrated technolo-
gies that cover a wide range of drive applications with electri-
cal components such as standard motors and drives for con-
veyor belts, pumps and compressors, heavy duty motors and
drives for rolling steel mills, compressors for oil and gas pipe-
lines and mechanical components such as gears for wind tur-
bines and cement mills. With its e-Car business, the Division
develops motors and inverters for electric cars for the automo-
tive industry. Drive Technologies offers products such as auto-
mation systems and services for production machinery and
machine tools. The Division's portfolio includes standard prod-
ucts as well as industry-specific control and drive solutions for
wind power, metal forming, printing and electronic manufac-
turing as well as solutions for manufacturers of glass, wood,
plastic, ceramic, textile and packaging equipment and crane
systems. In addition, the Division offers integrated drive and
automation solutions especially for the marine and shipbuild-
ing, minerals and pulp and paper industries, including related
services over the lifecycle of the solutions.

The Customer Services Division offers a comprehensive portfo-
lio of services and supports industrial customers in their efforts
to increase their productivity. The portfolio includes product-
related services which seek to enhance reliability, profitability,
efficiency and environmental compatibility of industrial plants.

The Sector-led Metals Technologies Business Unit offers en-
gineering and plant-building services for the iron and steel in-
dustry, as well as for the rolling sector of the aluminum and
non-ferrous industries. The Business Unit provides technolo-
gies, solutions, and services for metallurgical plants, integrat-
ed steelworks and minimills. Its vertically integrated supply
capability includes mechanical equipment, drives, motors,
electrics, automation, mechatronics, technological packages
and all environmental systems.

135 D
239 E

Consolidated Financial Statements
Additional Information

129 C.10 Compensation Report, Corporate Governance 130 C1
statement pursuant to Section 289a of the
German Commercial Code, Takeover-relevant

information and explanatory report

Siemens AG (Discussion on basis of
German Commercial Code)
134 C.12 Notes and forward-looking statements



56

The Industry Sector’s principal customers are industrial cus-
tomers in a broad range of markets, including transportation
and logistics, metals and mining, machinery, utilities and au-
tomotive. The Sector is active globally, including in emerging
markets, especially those in the Asia, Australia region, which
Sector management believes have a long-term growth poten-
tial. Apart from the Siemens brand, the Sector markets some
parts of its portfolio under different brand names (such as
Flender for gears or Winergy for wind turbine components),
depending on geography and technology.

The Sector sells its products primarily through dedicated per-
sonnel in Siemens’ worldwide network of regional sales units.
In addition, it uses original equipment manufacturers, solu-
tion providers, installers, general contractors, third-party dis-
tributors and independent agents.

The large size of some of the Sector’s projects occasionally ex-
poses it to risks related to technical performance or specific
customers or countries. In the past, the Sector has experi-
enced significant losses on individual projects in connection
with such risks. For additional information on these risks, see
—> C.9 REPORT ON EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS AND ASSOCIATED MATERIAL,
OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS.

The Sector has manufacturing locations worldwide, especially
throughout North and South America, Western and Eastern
Europe, and Asia, allowing it to stay close to its major customers
and keep shipping charges low. In recent years, material costs
have been negatively affected by significant price increases for
metals, energy and other raw materials. The Sector continues to
work on reducing the use of hazardous materials (e.g., lead)
and to replace them in its products and processes. Sustainable
products and processes, such as coking coal free iron produc-
tion processes (COREX), energy efficient motors and energy
management play a major role in its innovation strategy.

Average product lifetimes in the Sector's product businesses
tend to be short (typically ranging from one to five years from in-
troduction) and are even shorter where software and electronics
play an important role. The lifecycles in the solutions businesses
tend to be longer, as the Sector supports its customers with sig-
nificant services through the whole life of their infrastructures.
The timing and extent to which a Division of the Industry Sector
is affected by economic cycles depends largely on the kind of
business activities it conducts. Business activities that tend to re-
act very quickly to changes in the overall economic environment
include many of the business activities of Industry Automation
and those business activities of Drive Technologies that serve
customers in the manufacturing industries. Business activities
that are generally affected later by the changes in the overall
economic environment include those business activities of Drive
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Technologies that serve customers in process industries as well
as in the energy and infrastructure sector.

The competitors of our Industry Sector can be grouped into
multinational companies that offer a relatively broad portfolio
and companies that are active only in certain of the geographic
or product markets served by the Industry Sector. The Sector’s
principal competitors with broad portfolios are multinational
companies such as ABB, Emerson Electric and Schneider Elec-
tric. In the industries in which the Sector is active consolida-
tion is occurring on several levels. In particular, suppliers of
automation solutions have supplemented their activities with
actuator or sensor technology, while suppliers of components
and products have supplemented their portfolio with comple-
mentary products for their sales channels.

Asian competitors are generally focused on large-scale produc-
tion and cost cutting. European competitors are focused on
high quality lifecycle service. Nevertheless, most major com-
petitors have established global bases for their businesses. In
addition, competition in the field has become increasingly fo-
cused on technological improvements and price. Intense com-
petition, budget constraints and rapid technical progress with-
in the industry place significant downward pressure on prices.
In addition, competitors continuously shift their production to
low-cost countries.

The main competitors of the Industry Automation Division are
ABB, Schneider Electric, Rockwell and Emerson Electric. Within
its product lifecycle management business, the Division also
competes with, among others, Dassault Systemes and PTC.
Competitors of the Drive Technologies Division include compa-
nies with broad business portfolios such as ABB, Emerson Elec-
tric and Mitsubishi Electric but also specialist companies such
as Fanuc and SEW. The main competitors of our Metals Tech-
nologies Business Unit are Danieli and SMS.

Infrastructure &Cities

The Infrastructure &Cities Sector offers a wide range of sus-
tainable technologies for metropolitan centers and urban infra-
structures worldwide, such as integrated mobility solutions,
building and security systems, power distribution equipment,
smart grid applications and low- and medium-voltage products.

| REVENUE SHARE IN % (LOCATION OF CUSTOMER)
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External revenue of the Sector was €16.731 billion in fiscal
2012, representing 21% of Siemens revenue. The following
chart provides a geographic breakdown of the Infrastruc-
ture &Cities Sector’s external revenue in fiscal 2012.

The Sector consists of five Divisions: Rail Systems; Mobility and
Logistics; Low and Medium Voltage; Smart Grid; and Building
Technologies. Financial results of the Rail Systems and the Mo-
bility and Logistics Divisions are reported together in the Trans-
portation &Logistics Business. Financial results of the Divisions
Low and Medium Voltage and Smart Grid are reported together
in the Power Grid Solutions &Products Business.

The Rail Systems Division comprises Siemens’ rail vehicle
business. The Division's activities consist mainly of the busi-
nesses relating to rail vehicles for mass transit, regional and
long-distance transportation, driverless systems, locomotives
for passengers or rail freight, traction systems, bogies and on-
board power supplies.

The Mobility and Logistics Division primarily provides prod-
ucts, solutions (including IT solutions) and services in operating
systems for rail transportation such as central control systems,
interlockings and automated train controls, for road traffic in-
cluding traffic detection, information and guidance, for airport
logistics including cargo tracking and baggage handling and
for postal automation including letter and parcel sorting.

The Low and Medium Voltage Division supplies electrical
grid operators and large industrial electricity consumers with
medium- and low-voltage equipment. Furthermore, the Divi-
sion provides systems and services for the distribution of elec-
trical power from high-voltage transmission grid access to me-
dium or low-voltage grids directing the electrical energy to
end consumers and their access points.

The Smart Grid Division provides energy automation solutions,
smart grid applications, transmission and distribution services,
applications for electromobility solutions and rail infrastructure
electrification solutions for mainline and mass transit applica-
tions. In fiscal 2012, the Division acquired the U.S.-based com-
pany eMeter in order to position the Division to expand its ener-
gy information and meter data management solutions.

The Building Technologies Division offers products, services
and solutions for commercial, industrial, public and residential
buildings, including building automation, comfort, building
safety and security and building operations. In addition, the
Division offers energy solutions aiming to improve a building’s
energy cost, reliability and performance, while minimizing its
impact on comfort and the environment. The Division's offer-
ings include heating and ventilation controls, security systems

and devices such as intruder detection, video surveillance and
building access control, fire safety solutions such as fire detec-
tion, protection alarm systems and non-water based fire extin-
guishing.

The Infrastructure &Cities Sector also holds the Atos S.A. (AtoS)
shares and the convertible bond, which Siemens received fol-
lowing the sale of Siemens IT Solutions and Services to AtoS.

The Infrastructure &Cities Sector distributes its products and
services through its own dedicated sales force, supported by
Siemens’ worldwide network of regional companies. In addi-
tion, the Divisions of the Sector use, to varying degrees, third-
party distributors, panel builders, original equipment manufac-
turers, value added partners, installers and general contractors.

Overall, the Sector’s principal customers are railway operators,
public utilities, industrial and infrastructure customers, elec-
trical grid operators, construction and real estate customers
and manufacturers of heating, ventilation and air-conditioning
solutions. The timing and extent to which a Division of the
Infrastructure &Cities Sector is affected by economic cycles de-
pends largely on the kind of business activities it conducts.
Business activities that tend to react very quickly to changes in
the overall economic environment include Low and Medium
Voltage. Divisions where business activities are generally af-
fected later by the changes in the overall economic environ-
ment include Smart Grid and Building Technologies. The de-
velopment of markets served by our Rail Systems Division and
Mobility and Logistics Division is primarily driven by public
spending. Customers of these Divisions usually have multi-
year planning and implementation horizons. They therefore
tend to be independent of short-term economic trends.

The Sector is globally active in a broad range of markets, in-
cluding construction and real estate, transportation and logis-
tics and utilities. The Sector’s activities include emerging mar-
kets, e.g., those in the Asia, Australia region. While the Sector
believes that these markets offer significant growth potential,
the Sector’s activities in that region expose it to risks associat-
ed with economic, financial and political disruptions that
could result in lower demand or affect customers’ abilities to
pay. Some markets, such as those served by our Divisions Rail
Systems, Mobility and Logistics and Smart Grid, are signifi-
cantly influenced by public spending. The large size of some of
the Sector’s projects (especially in the following Divisions: Rail
Systems, Mobility and Logistics and in parts of Building Tech-
nologies) occasionally exposes it to risks related to technical
performance or specific customers or countries. In the past,
the Sector has experienced significant losses on individual
projects in connection with such risks. For additional informa-
tion on these risks, see —> .9 REPORT ON EXPECTED DEVELOPMENTS
AND ASSOCIATED OPPORTUNITIES AND RISKS.
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The Sector’s principal competitors are multinational companies
such as ABB, Alstom, Ansaldo, Bombardier, General Electric,
Honeywell, Johnson Controls, Schneider Electric and Tyco. The
Sector’s competitors vary by Division. The main competitors of
the Rail Systems Division and the Mobility and Logistics Divi-
sion are Alstom, Ansaldo, Bombardier and General Electric. The
primary competitors of the Low and Medium Voltage Division
are ABB, General Electric, Honeywell and Schneider Electric.
The principal competitors of the Smart Grid Division are ABB,
Alstom, General Electric, and Schneider Electric. The main com-
petitors of the Building Technologies Division are Honeywell,
Johnson Controls, Schneider Electric and Tyco. Infrastruc-
ture &Cities also faces competition from niche competitors and
from new entrants, such as utility companies and consulting
firms, exploiting the fragmented energy efficiency market. The
Sector’s solution businesses also compete with engineering,
procurement and construction (ECP) providers while competi-
tors in the service field often include small local players.

Equity Investments

In general, the segment Equity Investments comprises equity
stakes held by Siemens that are accounted for by the equity
method, at cost or as current available-for-sale financial assets
and are not allocated to a Sector, SFS, Centrally managed port-
folio activities, Siemens Real Estate (SRE), Corporate items or
Corporate Treasury for strategic reasons. Our main investments
within Equity Investments are our stake of approximately
50.0% in Nokia Siemens Networks B.V. (NSN), our 50.0% stake
in BSH Bosch und Siemens Hausgerdte GmbH (BSH) as well as
our 49.0% stake in Enterprise Networks Holdings B.V. (EN).

Financial Services

Financial Services (SFS) provides a variety of financial servic-
es and products both to third parties and to other Siemens en-
tities and their customers. SFS has three strategic pillars: sup-
porting Siemens Sectors with financing solutions for their cus-
tomers, manage financial risks of Siemens and offering third-
party financing services and products. To better achieve this
goal, Financial Services intends to grow its business in a profit-
able, controlled manner.

SFS' business can be divided into capital business and fee busi-
ness. The capital businesses support activities for Siemens’
sales as well as third party vendors and customers and consist
of leasing, loans, asset-based lending and equity investments
(both in infrastructure projects and corporate venture capital).
The fee businesses comprise support and advisory activities
concerning financial risk and investment management, proj-
ect&export financing, and arranging of project financing for
Siemens’ projects, treasury &financing services, pension asset/
investment management, insurance brokerage as well as re-in-
surance of Siemens risks.

1 A.  Toour Shareholders

SFS conducts its business through seven Business Units: Com-
mercial Finance; Project and Structured Finance Energy; Proj-
ect-, Structured and Leveraged Finance Healthcare; Project- and
Structured Finance Infrastructure and Cities &Industry; Trea-
sury; Financing Services &Investment Management and Insur-
ance. In addition, one Business Segment (Venture Capital) is di-
rectly assigned to SFS' CEO. The SFS functions Trade Finance
Advisory and Corporate Pensions provide advisory and assis-
tance services to the entire Siemens Company. In addition, SFS
host a number of functions to support its own business.

In its transactions with Siemens and third parties, SFS acts
consistently with banking industry standards in the interna-
tional financial markets that are both applicable and mandato-
ry for these transactions. In December 2010, the Siemens Bank
GmbH was granted a license by the German Federal Financial
Supervisory Authority (Bundesanstalt fiir Finanzdienstleis-
tungsaufsicht — BaFin) to engage in banking business. In par-
ticular, the license covers engaging in loan, guarantee busi-
ness and deposit taking. Siemens Bank GmbH was established
to support the operational businesses of Siemens’ Sectors by
providing financing solutions and the license enables the bank
to gain access to the deposit and refinancing facilities of the
European Central Bank.

SFS’ competition mainly includes commercial finance opera-
tions of banks, independent commercial finance companies,
captive finance companies and asset management companies.
International competitors include BNP Paribas Equipment
Finance, De Lage Landen, General Electric Commercial Finance,
Macquarie and Société Générale Equipment Finance. Particu-
larly in the commercial finance business, SFS' competitors are
often local financial institutions and competition therefore
varies from country to country.

C.1.2 Economic environment

C.1.2.1 WORLDWIDE ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT
Growth in the global economy continues to slow down in 2012,
with real global gross domestic product (GDP) expected to rise
by only 2.5% compared to 3.0% in 2011. Above all, the unstable
economic situation in Europe burdens economic activity
worldwide. Concerns about the stability of the banking sector,
the sovereign debt crisis and the fragile economy continue to
hamper private-sector investment and consumer spending.
Moreover, austerity policies to cut government deficits and
bring down debt levels in Europe have led to a significant re-
duction of government spending. In addition, the U.S. economy
remains sluggish and growth in emerging markets has cooled
down due to spillover effects from advanced economies and
various country-specific factors.
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2 Estimate for calendar year 2012.

From a regional perspective, the slowdown is sharpest in
Europe, with economic growth coming to a standstill in 2012.
Restrictive fiscal policies, rising unemployment, large capital
outflows to northern countries and the sovereign debt crisis
have all deepened the contraction in the southern periphery
economies. This in turn increasingly hampers growth in the
core northern countries such as Germany. On top of that, the
uncertain economic situation in Europe keeps consumer
spending and private-sector investments on a low level. Gross
fixed investment, one way in which gross domestic product is
used, is expected to decline by 2.1% in 2012 compared to 2011.
To foster the stability of the Eurozone, European governments
have taken important measures. The establishment of the per-
manent European Stability Mechanism (ESM) as a substitute
for the temporary European Financial Stability Facility is aimed
at ensuring the financial solvency of the Eurozone countries.
Moreover, in order to bring down government bond yields and
to ensure the functioning of monetary operations in every
country of the monetary union, the European Central Bank
(ECB) has declared its willingness to buy sovereign bonds on
the secondary market without limit if a country meets the cri-
teria of the ESM. This announcement calmed financial markets
and reduced yields of Italian and Spanish bonds, making refi-
nancing cheaper for these countries. Economic development
in the Middle East is still affected by severe geopolitical ten-
sions involving Iran and ongoing violence and unrest in Yemen
and Syria, where the economy is contracting rapidly. In con-
trast, growth in other oil-exporting countries remains robust,
due to high oil prices. Growth in Africa is surprisingly strong
in 2012. But the continent still suffers from an unstable politi-
cal environment, and economic growth in many countries is
highly dependent on raw material prices. The C.I.S. countries
have to deal with relatively low growth of 3.6% in 2012. The
whole region is negatively affected by the European sovereign
debt crisis due to financial and trade linkages.

In the Americas, GDP growth is expected to slow slightly in
2012, to 2.3%. On one hand, the growth rate in Latin America is
expected to decrease to 2.9%, due in part to lower export de-
mand from a weak global economy. Furthermore, the global
slowdown also causes some commodity prices to fall, which
strongly affects Latin America as a major seller of commodi-
ties. Hence, investment spending has slowed down consider-
ably. Representative for the economic development in Latin
America is Brazil, which is expected to grow by only 1.6% in
2012. On the other hand, the U.S. is expected to grow slightly
faster year-over-year, with 2.1% growth compared to 1.8% in
2011. U.S. investment growth is expected to be particularly
strong: 5.6% in 2012 compared to 3.4% in 2011. Additionally,
the American housing market seems to be stabilizing towards
the end of the year. Nevertheless, the U.S. faces a high level of
debt and low employment growth. Moreover, the country’s
political gridlock creates economic uncertainty particularly re-
garding tax increases and spending cuts that will take place
automatically at the beginning of 2013 if no agreement can be
reached (the so-called fiscal cliff).
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In Asia, Australia growth is accelerating slightly in 2012, al-
though China’s and India’s extraordinarily high growth levels
are expected to cool down to 7.4% and 5.1%, respectively.
China, a leading exporter, is significantly affected by the
decrease in global demand, so gross fixed investments are
trending in line with slower GDP growth. The Chinese govern-
ment has implemented expansionary fiscal and monetary
measures in order to support the economy. The Indian econo-
my is negatively affected by strong credit linkages with a
struggling Europe and weaker capital inflows. Moreover, India
was also hit by a series of major electricity failures throughout
the whole country. Japan's economy started to recover from
the consequences of the earthquake and tsunami in March
2011. Its expected growth rate of 2.3% is caused mainly by in-
creased government spending, with a boost from stronger
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household spending. Furthermore, Indonesia, Thailand and
Vietnam continue to grow rapidly and support the economy’s
growth of the Asia, Australia region of 4.7% in 2012.

A key factor for Siemens as a manufacturer is real manufac-
turing value added, a component used in calculating gross
domestic product by means of the production approach. De-
spite accelerating growth in both the Asia, Australia and
Americas regions, growth in manufacturing value added on a
global basis is expected to decline in 2012 to 4.1% from 4.5%
in 2011. This is due to significantly slower growth in the
Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East region, including a slight
decline in Europe.

The partly estimated figures presented here for gross domestic
product, gross fixed investments and manufacturing value add-
ed are drawn from an IHS Global Insight report dated October
15, 2012. Siemens has not independently verified this data.

In addition to the common currency of the European Mone-
tary Union (the euro, €) another key currency for Siemens is
the US$. Following an appreciation of the € against the US$ at
the beginning of fiscal 2012, concerns over the sovereign debt
crisis in a number of southern European member states of the
European Monetary Union led to decline of € against the US$.
For the remainder of fiscal 2012, the value of the € relative to
the US$ remained below its level at the end of fiscal 2011. Dur-
ing July 2012, the value of the € against the US$ reached its
lowest levels of the fiscal year. Only at the end of fiscal 2012
did the value of the € begin to recover somewhat. Among the
contributing factors were the German constitutional court’s
rejection of applications to block the ESM and the ECB's an-
nouncement of the modalities of a new government bond
purchase program. Nevertheless at September 30, 2012, the
value of the € against the US$ was around 4% below the level
a year earlier.

Our businesses are dependent on the development of raw mate-
rial prices. Key materials to which we have significant cost ex-
posure include copper, various grades and formats of steel and
aluminum. In addition, within stainless steel we have consider-
able exposure related to nickel and chrome alloy materials.

The average monthly price of copper (denominated in € per
metric ton) for September 2012 was 4% higher than the aver-
age monthly price in September 2011; this reversed a previous-
ly negative trend year-over-year and was due to the release of
financial and fundamental stimulus programs. Prices on a fis-
cal-year average were 8% lower in fiscal 2012 than the average
for fiscal 2011. Prices for copper are still supported by tight sup-
ply and demand fundamentals and by speculative influences
in the commodity markets. Nevertheless, because copper is
produced in multiple locations and traded, such as across the
London Metal Exchange, the risk to Siemens is primarily a
price risk rather than a supply risk.

Average monthly prices of aluminum traded at the London
Metal Exchange faced more pressure year-over-year, losing 4%
in September 2012 compared to September 2011. While, among
other factors, high energy costs put upward pressure on alumi-
num, these were more than offset by oversupply. As with cop-
per, we see developments in the aluminum market as posing a
price risk, rather than a supply risk.

The average monthly steel prices for September 2012 came
down by 3% compared to the average monthly prices in Sep-
tember 2011. Especially at the end of fiscal 2012, steel markets
and prices for upstream raw materials (e.g. iron ore) softened
significantly (source: CRU, an independent business analysis
and consultancy group focused on, among other things, the
mining and metals sectors).
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In addition to the above-mentioned raw materials, we have ex-
posure related to rare earth metals and magnets. The market
situation for buyers improved considerably throughout fiscal
2012, with respect to both price and availability. Nevertheless,
we track these factors closely as they could still pose signifi-
cant price or supply risks for technology manufacturers, in-
cluding Siemens.

Our main exposure to the prices of copper and related prod-
ucts, and to steel and stainless steel, is in the Sectors Energy,
Industry and Infrastructure &Cities. Our main price exposure
related to aluminum is in the Energy Sector. In addition,
Siemens is generally exposed to energy and fuel prices, both
directly (electricity, gas, oil) and indirectly (energy used in the
manufacturing processes of suppliers). Some of our continu-
ing operations face price and supply risks related to rare earth
metals, particularly the Industry Sector's Drive Technologies
Division and the Energy Sector’s Wind Power Division.

Siemens employs various strategies to reduce the price risk in
its project and product businesses, such as long-term contract-
ing with suppliers, physical and financial hedging and price
escalation clauses with customers.

C.1.2.2 MARKET DEVELOPMENT

According to an analysis published by IHS Global Insight on Ju-
ly 20, 2012, investments in 2012 are expected to continue to
grow in nominal terms compared to 2011. But the pace of
growth for 2012 is expected to slow down considerably com-
pared to the prior year in almost all of the market segments
that are significant for our Sectors. This is due largely to the
sovereign debt crisis in the euro zone, especially in countries
affected by bank solvency risks, credit availability and austerity
measures, and also to repercussions of the sovereign debt cri-
sis in other regions, particularly including emerging markets.

Source: London Metal Exchange (LME) for copper and aluminum, CRU HRC Germany for steel; cash prices in € per ton

In markets significant for the Energy Sector, investments in
power utilities are expected to grow by around 5% in 2012,
slightly down from around 6% in 2011. Within these numbers,
investments in many emerging markets are expected to con-
tinue to grow clearly or significantly in 2012 compared to
2011 - yet the expected growth rates in the majority of these
countries are still slower than a year earlier. Demand in Europe
is particularly weak. Following a recovery in 2011, power utility
investments are expected to show a decline in nearly all Euro-
pean countries in 2012, especially in countries affected by the
sovereign debt crisis. In contrast, investments in the U.S. are
expected to grow moderately in 2012, following a decline a
year earlier. Investments in the oil and gas markets are expect-
ed to grow around 6% year-over-year, down markedly from
around 17% in 2011. Some of the most important countries in
this market, including the U.S., Russia and Saudi Arabia, which
increased their investments in 2011 substantially year-over-
year, are expected to either clearly reduce investment growth
in 2012 or to keep investments on the prior-year level. In the
chemical industry, which is particularly sensitive to changes in
current economic conditions, growth in investments is also
expected to slow considerably year-over-year, down to around
5% in 2012 compared to around 17% a year earlier. This includes
lower growth in China, the world's largest national market,
and shrinking investments year over-year in other major coun-
tries, among them Japan and Germany. In contrast, the growth
rate in the U.S. is expected to remain nearly steady.

Investments within the international healthcare markets,
served by our Healthcare Sector, are expected to increase by
around 2% in 2012, following a rise of around 10% in the year
before. This decline in growth includes reduced investments
not only in many European countries, but also in some emerg-
ing markets such as Brazil. Furthermore, growth in other large
emerging markets, is expected to slow down year-over-year,
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such as in China and Russia, or come to a halt, as in India. In
the U.S. market, which is particularly significant for our Health-
care Sector, growth in investments is expected to increase
slightly in 2012 compared to the prior year.

The Industry Sector is influenced by the development in some
of the markets mentioned for the Energy Sector, including by
the oil and gas markets and the chemical industry. In other
markets significant for the Industry Sector, investments in the
automotive industry are expected to grow by around 5% in
2012, down from growth in investments of around 15% a year
earlier. This change includes all major countries, which are
showing either significantly slower growth or declining invest-
ments year-over-year. These factors are particularly evident in
Europe. Investment growth is declining also in a number of
emerging markets, where investments were recently driven by
strong demand for vehicles. Notable examples include China,
which is experiencing significantly lower growth, and India,
where investments are declining year-over-year following
strong expansion a year earlier. Against this trend, growth in
investments year-over-year is expected to accelerate in Japan.
Even in the food and beverage industry, which is usually less
susceptible to fluctuations in the economy, growth in invest-
ments is expected to decline significantly in 2012 to around
5%, down from around 15% a year earlier. This is due to signifi-
cant declines in investments in many European countries, es-
pecially those affected by high unemployment and low con-
sumer confidence. Investments are also expected to decline in
a number of emerging markets as their populations are affect-
ed by rising food prices. Investments in the minerals sector are
expected to grow by around 5% in 2012, sharply lower than
growth of around 19% a year earlier. Within this sector, growth
in investments in the largest industry, mining, is expected to
contract most significantly: from around 21% in 2011 to around
5% in 2012. Among major countries in industrial mining, this
decline in growth includes sharply lower growth in China and
Canada and a reduction in investments in India year-over-year,
while growth in investments in Australia is expected to come
down only slightly. Investments in the machine building in-
dustry are expected to grow by around 7% year-over-year in
2012, compared to around 18% a year earlier. Growth in invest-
ments in the last few years was driven by exceptionally rapid
expansion in China, which is by far the world’'s most important
investor in machine building. In contrast, growth in China is
expected to slow markedly in 2012 as demand weakens in the
country’s manufacturing sector. For the pharmaceutical indus-
try, investment growth is estimated to decline to around 6% in
2012, after around 15% in 2011. Within these numbers, the larg-
est investors, China and Japan, are expected to continue to in-
crease their investments in 2012 but at a slower pace than in
2011. Against this trend, the U.S. shows increasing growth in
investments year-over-year. Investments in the pulp and paper
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sector are expected to grow by around 4% in 2012, following in-
vestment growth of around 13% a year earlier. The develop-
ment within the largest markets is expected to be mixed. While
investment growth in China is slowing significantly and
growth in Japan is nearly coming to a halt, investments in the
U.S. are growing moderately following a decline in the prior
year. In the metals industry, investments in 2012 are expected
to grow by around 5% compared to around 16% a year earlier.
Growth in China is expected to slow to single digits, and India
is forecast to reduce its investments following a substantial in-
crease a year earlier. Investment growth in Japan and South
Korea is expected to decline less significantly year-over-year.
Investments in water and wastewater utilities are expected to
grow by around 4% in 2012 compared to around 8% in 2011.
While investment growth in China is expected to be higher in
2012 compared to the prior year, and the U.S. is expected to in-
crease investments in 2012 following a decline a year earlier,
many other major countries, especially in Europe, are forecast
to reduce their investments in 2012.

The Infrastructure &Cities Sector is influenced by develop-
ments in a number of markets mentioned above for the Sec-
tors Energy, Healthcare and Industry, including power utilities,
oil and gas, healthcare and pharmaceuticals. In other markets
important to the Sector, investments in both, the transporta-
tion infrastructure and transportation services markets, are ex-
pected to grow by around 5% in 2012. The pace of growth in
the prior year was around 15% in transportation infrastructure,
faster than growth of around 8% in transportation services. For
transportation infrastructure, investments are expected to
slow in the large Chinese market and shrink in some of the
larger European countries, including France and Germany. The
U.S. and Russia are expected to keep investment growth near
the prior-year level. Overall growth in transportation service is
held back by declining investments in Europe, even as China is
expected to clearly increase investments in 2012 following a
decline in investments a year earlier. Growth in investments in
the public, research and education sector is expected to de-
cline to around 3% in 2012, down from around 9% in 2011.
While the large majority of European countries and also a
number of emerging countries including Brazil and India are
expected to reduce investments in 2012 compared to 2011, the
U.S. is forecast to expand its public investments year-over-year.
For construction and real estate, investments are expected to
grow around 3% in 2012 compared to the prior year. A year ear-
lier, growth in investments was around 12%. While these mar-
kets are depressed in Europe, growth in the U.S. is accelerat-
ing, as these industries are benefiting from low mortgage rates
and improved consumer confidence. In the post and logistics
sector, investment growth in 2012 is forecast to slow to around
2% year-over-year, compared to around 13% a year earlier.
While growth in fiscal 2012 is particularly burdened by shrink-

Combined Management Report

w N

8 Results of operations
C.4  Financial position
C.5 Net assets position

C.1 Business and economic environment
C Financial performance measures

6 Overall assessment of the economic position
Subsequent events

Sustainability

_.9 Report on expected developments and
associated material opportunities and risks




ing investment in large parts of Europe, the change year-over-
year is particularly strong in Brazil, where sharp growth a year
earlier is expected to be followed by a clear decline in invest-
ments. In the wholesale and retail sector, investment growth
is expected to decline to around 3% year-over-year, down from
around 13% a year eatlier, following the same pattern as invest-
ments in post and logistics.

C.1.3 Strategy

C.1.3.1 GLOBAL MEGATRENDS

Global megatrends are long-term developments that are expect-
ed to have an impact on all humanity. We at Siemens view
demographic change, urbanization, climate change and global-
ization as megatrends that will drive global demand in coming
decades. We have aligned our strategy with these developments
and accordingly have organized our business into four Sectors:
Energy, Healthcare, Industry, and Infrastructure &Cities.

Demographic change includes two major trends: the world’s
population continues to grow rapidly, and it continues to get
older. Together, these two trends will challenge the ability of
future healthcare systems to make affordable healthcare avail-
able to everyone. Urbanization refers to the growing number
of large, densely-populated cities around the world. This trend
intensifies the already strong demand for sustainable and ener-
gy-efficient infrastructures for buildings, transportation sys-
tems, energy and water. Climate change is a fact. The average
global surface temperature increased by 0.76°C between 1850
and the beginning of the 21% century. The reduction of green-
house gas emissions is vital to avoiding increasingly drastic
effects on our ecosystem. There is a strong need for innovative
technologies to increase efficiency and reduce the emissions
related to energy generation and consumption. Globalization
refers to the increasing integration of the world's economies,
politics, culture and other areas of life. Globalization leads to
increased competitive pressure and demand for economical,
timely-to-market, high-quality products and solutions.

C.1.3.2 STRATEGY OF THE SIEMENS GROUP
Our vision is to be a pioneer in

> energy efficiency,

> industrial productivity,

> affordable and personalized healthcare, and
> intelligent infrastructure solutions.

Our company strategy guides us in turning our vision into real-
ity. We are aiming to be a market and technology leader in our
businesses, based on our values — to be responsible, excel-
lent and innovative. We believe that this will position us to

achieve sustainable, profitable growth and thereby continually
increase our company value. As an integrated technology com-
pany, we intend to profit from the megatrends described
above.

Our strategy comprises what we call our three strategic direc-
tions:

> focusing on innovation-driven growth markets,
> getting closer to our customers, and
> using the power of Siemens.

One Siemens is our framework for sustainable value creation,
with a financial target system for capital-efficient growth and
the goal of continuous improvement relative to the market and
our competitors.

The financial target system of One Siemens defines financial
key performance indicators for revenue growth, for capital ef-
ficiency and profitability, and for the optimization of our capi-
tal structure. In addition, we set hurdle rates that generally
need to be considered before acquisitions are executed. Fur-
ther, we defined an indicator targeted at an attractive dividend
policy. We believe that these indicators will play a key role in
driving the value of our Company. For further information, see
—> C.2 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES.

To achieve our One Siemens goal of sustainably enhancing the
value of Siemens and of exploiting the full potential of our in-
tegrated technology company, we have defined three concrete
focus areas along each of the three strategic directions set
forth above, which we aim to address in the years ahead.

In the strategic direction of focusing on innovation-driven
growth markets, our first focus area is to be a pioneer in tech-
nology-driven markets. Here, we intend to concentrate on mar-
kets that are believed to have future growth potential, for ex-
ample, in vertical IT and software. Our second focus area is to
strengthen our portfolio. We are actively and systematically
managing our portfolio with the principal aim of achieving or
maintaining a No.1 or No. 2 position in our current and future
markets. To provide a leading environmental portfolio is our
third focus area: Our Environmental Portfolio enhances our
Company's revenue and makes a significant contribution to cli-
mate protection.

In the second strategic direction of getting closer to our cus-
tomers, one of our focus areas is to grow in emerging markets
while maintaining our position in our established markets. We
plan to offer more products, solutions and services for the rap-
idly growing entry-level segments, which are more price-sen-
sitive and mostly found in emerging markets. A second focus
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area is to expand our service business. We believe that the
large installed base of our products and solutions at our clients
provides promising growth opportunities for our service busi-
ness. Services play a key role in profitability at Siemens and, in
addition, long-term service agreements are less likely to be im-
pacted by economic fluctuations. To intensify our customer fo-
cus is our third focus area. We believe that customer proximity
and local presence are important factors in being able to re-
spond quickly to changing market requirements.

In the strategic direction of using the power of Siemens, our
first focus area is to encourage lifelong learning and develop-
ment of our employees. We invest continuously in expanding
the expertise of our people through demanding training and
education programs. We aim to develop our employees world-
wide by identifying talent and offering challenging tasks. To
empower our diverse and engaged people worldwide is our
second focus area. We believe that the strong potential of our
employees’ skills, experience and qualifications can give us a
clear competitive advantage in our global markets. The third
focus area is to stand for integrity. On the basis of our values,
we have formulated clear and binding principles of conduct
that cover all aspects of our entrepreneurial activities.

Beginning with fiscal 2013, we are implementing “Siemens
2014,” a company-wide program supporting the One Siemens
framework for sustainable value creation. The goal of the pro-
gram is to reduce cost, increase competitiveness, and become
faster and less bureaucratic. We intend to improve profitability
through five key enablers: cost reduction, strengthening core
activities, go-to-market, optimizing our infrastructure, and
simplifying governance. The program is aimed at raising Total
Sectors profit margin to at least 12% by fiscal 2014. To achieve
this goal, we are targeting substantial productivity gains over
the next two fiscal years from the activities just mentioned. In
the area of cost reduction, which is expected to yield the ma-
jority of these gains, we want to, for example, enhance prod-
uct design by better integrating engineering, development,
manufacturing and purchasing processes; improve global ca-
pacity utilization and presence; and increase process efficiency
and quality. To achieve these results, our Sectors are undertak-
ing a broad range of measures that are expected to result in
charges to earnings in the next two fiscal years.

C.2 FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE MEASURES

This section on financial performance measures describes
several measures that are or may be non-GAAP financial mea-
sures. Other companies that report or describe similarly titled
financial measures may calculate them differently.

As of the beginning of fiscal 2011, we introduced One
Siemens - our framework for sustainable value creation;
for further information see —> c.1.3 sTRATEGY. As part of One
Siemens, we have developed a financial target system for capi-
tal-efficient growth that we believe will increase the value of
our Company. Our goal is to achieve continuous improvement
relative to the market and our competitors. The financial target
system defines indicators for revenue growth, capital efficien-
cy and profitability, the optimization of our capital structure,
and our dividend policy. In addition, we set hurdle rates that
generally must be considered before we make acquisitions.

C.2.1 Revenue growth

We believe that an important driver for increasing our Compa-
ny's value over the long term is profitable revenue growth. Spe-
cifically, our goal is to grow our revenue faster than the average
revenue growth of our most relevant competitors. For purposes
of comparison to the revenue growth of our competitors, our
revenue growth is calculated as the growth rate of reported rev-
enue as presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

| REVENUE GROWTH

{ Revenue current period

- 1| x100%
Revenue prior-year period
Actual |

7% —

6% |

FY 2012

Fy 201

c.2.2 Capital efficiency and profitability

Our aim is to work profitably and as efficiently as possible with
the capital of our shareholders and lenders. We monitor our cap-
ital efficiency using adjusted return on capital employed, or
ROCE (adjusted), which is reported on a continuing operations
basis. This measure assesses our generated income from the
point of view of our shareholders and lenders. ROCE (adjusted)
is defined as income from continuing operations before interest
after tax divided by average capital employed. Our target is to
achieve a ROCE (adjusted) of 15% to 20%. ROCE (adjusted) in
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the fiscal years 2012 and 2011 was 17.0% and 25.3%, respective-
ly. Siemens’ weighted average cost of capital (WACC) is cur-
rently 7.5%.

RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED (ROCE) (ADJUSTED)
| (CONTINUING OPERATIONS)

Income from continuing operations before interest after tax
x 100%

Average capital employed

17.0% |

25.3% l

FY 2012

FY 201

| Target range: 15 — 20%

Our financial indicator for measuring capital efficiency at
Financial Services (SFS) is return on equity after tax, or ROE
(after tax), in line with common practice in the financial ser-
vices industry. We define ROE (after tax) as SFS’ profit after tax,
divided by SFS’ average allocated equity. For purposes of calcu-
lating ROE (after tax), the relevant income tax is calculated on
a simplified basis, by applying an assumed 30% flat tax rate to
SFS' profit, excluding income (loss) from investments account-
ed for using the equity method, net, which is basically net of
tax already, and tax-free income components and other com-
ponents which have already been taxed or are generally tax-
free. Our goal is to achieve ROE (after tax) of 15% to 20% at SFS.

| RETURN ON EQUITY (ROE) (AFTER TAX)

compared to 15.1% a year earlier. Healthcare's adjusted EBITDA
margin was 18.5%, up from 15.7% in fiscal 2011. The adjusted
EBITDA margin for our Industry Sector was 14.9%, down from
16.8% in the prior year. The adjusted EBITDA margin for Infra-
structure &Cities was 7.5%, compared to 8.3% a year earlier.

| ADJUSTED EBITDA MARGINS FY 2012

Margin | Target range
Energy 9.3% _ 10 - 15%
Healthcare 18.5% _: 15 - 20%
Industry 14.9% _: 11-17%
Infrastructure & Cities 7.5% - 8-12%

Adjusted EBITDA margins of respective markets throughout business cycle.

c.2.3 Capital structure

Sustainable revenue and profit development can be achieved
only on the basis of a healthy capital structure. A key consider-
ation for us in this regard is maintaining ready access to the
capital markets through various debt products and preserv-
ing our ability to repay and service our debt obligations over
time. Therefore, we use the ratio of adjusted industrial net
debt to adjusted EBITDA for optimizing our capital structure.
For information on this calculation and its components see
~> C.4.2 CAPITAL STRUCTURE. Our goal is to achieve a ratio in the
range of 0.5 -1.0.

| CAPITAL STRUCTURE (CONTINUING OPERATIONS)

SFS’ profit after tax

x 100%
SFS" average allocated equity

Adjusted industrial net debt

Adjusted EBITDA

FY 2012

21.9% —:l

FY 2012 0.24

FY 201 22.6% l

|

FY 2011 (0.14)

| Target range: 15 - 20%

Our goal is to achieve margins comparable to the best compet-
itors within our industries throughout the entire business
cycle. We therefore seek to maintain or improve the profitabili-
ty of our businesses as appropriate. Our measure in this regard
is adjusted EBITDA margins, defined as the ratio of adjusted
EBITDA (as presented in —> c.3.3 RECONCILIATION TO ADJUSTED
EBITDA (CONTINUING OPERATIONS)) to revenue. We have defined
adjusted EBITDA margin ranges for the respective industries of
our four Sectors. Adjusted EBITDA target margin ranges for the
Sectors, and their performance in fiscal 2012, are shown in the
chart below. The adjusted EBITDA margin for Energy was 9.3%,

Target range: 0.5-1.0

c.2.4 Dividend

At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, the Managing Board, in
agreement with the Supervisory Board, will submit the follow-
ing proposal to allocate the unappropriated net income of
Siemens AG for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012: to
distribute a dividend of €3.00 on each no-par value share enti-
tled to the dividend for fiscal year 2012 existing at the date of
the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting, with the remaining amount
to be carried forward. Payment of the proposed dividend is
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contingent upon approval by Siemens shareholders at the
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on January 23, 2013. The prior-
year dividend was €3.00.

| DIVIDEND PAYOUT PERCENTAGE

Total dividend payout
—— x100%

Net income
FY 2012 56% —
FY 2011 42% l

We intend to provide an attractive return to shareholders. We
previously set a target range for our dividend payout percent-
age of 30% to 50% of net income. The proposed dividend of
€3.00 per share for fiscal 2012 represents a total payout of
€2.569 billion based on shares outstanding as of September
30, 2012. Based on net income of €4.590 billion for fiscal 2012,
the dividend payout percentage would be 56%. The percentage
for fiscal 2011 was 42%, based on a total dividend payout of
€2.629 billion and net income of €6.321 billion.

We intend in the years ahead to propose a dividend payout
which - combined with outlays for share buybacks during the
fiscal year - results in a sum representing 40% to 60% of net in-
come, which for this purpose we may adjust to exclude excep-
tional non-cash effects. As in the past, we intend to fund the
dividend payout from free cash flow.

c.2.5 Additional measures

In addition to the financial performance measures discussed
above, we use several other metrics to assess the economic
success of our business activities. To determine whether a par-
ticular investment is likely to generate value for Siemens, we
use net present value or economic value added (EVA™). EVA™
considers the cost of capital in calculating value creation by
comparing the expected earnings of an investment against the
cost of capital employed. EVA™ is also an indicator for measur-
ing capital efficiency in our Sectors and at SFS.

To measure liquidity management of our operating activities,
we analyze net operating working capital turns. In addition,
we set hurdle rates that generally must be considered before
we make acquisitions. In particular, acquisitions should have
the potential to be accretive to EVA™ within three years after
the integration and generate a 15% cash return within five
years. Cash return is defined as Free cash flow divided by aver-
age capital employed.

c.2.6 Additional information
for financial performance measures

C.2.6.1 RETURN ON CAPITAL EMPLOYED

(ROCE) (ADJUSTED)

As part of One Siemens, we monitor our capital efficiency us-
ing the indicator return on capital employed ROCE (adjusted)
(continuing operations). The following tables report this finan-
cial indicator as defined under One Siemens.

(in millions of €) 09/30/12012 06/30/2012 03/31/2012 121312011 09/30/201M
Capital employed Fiscal 2012

Total equity 31,302 32,313 32,142 33,947 32,156
Plus: Long-term debt 16,880 15,234 14,731 14,566 14,280
Plus: Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt 3,826 5,236 4,799 2,841 3,660
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (10,891) (8,963) (8,424) (8,977) (12,468)
Plus: Pension plans and similar commitments 9,926 9,060 7,492 6,774 7,307
Less: SFS Debt (14,558) (13,644) (13,303) (13,424) (12,075)
Less: Fair value hedge accounting adjustment’ (1,670) (1,638) (1,474) (1,544) (1,470)
Capital employed (continuing operations and discontinued operations)? 34,817 37,597 35,962 34,182 31,391
Less: Assets classified as held for disposal presented as discontinued operations (4,694) (4,696) (4,894) (4,969) (4,667)
Plus: Liabilities classified as held for disposal presented as discontinued operations 2,016 1,925 1,685 1,669 1,756
Capital employed (continuing operations)? 32,138 34,825 32,753 30,882 28,479

1 Debt is generally reported with a value representing approximately the amount to
be repaid. However for debt designated in a hedging relationship (fair value hedges),
this amount is adjusted by changes in market value mainly due to changes in interest
rates. Accordingly, we deduct these changes in market value in order to end up with
an amount of debt that approximately will be repaid, which we believe is a more mean-

ingful figure for the calculation presented above. For further information on fair value
hedges see —> NOTE 31 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

2 Average capital employed for a fiscal year is determined as a five-point average in
capital employed of the respective quarters starting with the capital employed as of
September 30 of the previous fiscal year.
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(in millions of €) 09/30/12011 06/30/2011 03/31/2011 12/31/2010 09/30/12010
Capital employed Fiscal 2011

Total equity 32,156 31,542 31,483 32,057 29,096
Plus: Long-term debt 14,280 14,191 14,196 15,656 17,497
Plus: Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt 3,660 4,971 5,016 4,051 2,416
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (12,468) (13,006) (14,973) (15,662) (14,108)
Plus: Pension plans and similar commitments 7,307 5,997 5,845 7,234 8,464
Less: SFS Debt (12,075) (10,384) (10,037) (9,925) (10,028)
Less: Fair value hedge accounting adjustment’ (1,470) (808) (719) (1,037) (1,518)
Capital employed (continuing operations and discontinued operations)? 31,391 32,503 30,812 32,374 31,819
Less: Assets classified as held for disposal presented as discontinued operations (4,667) (5,636) (5,148) - -
Plus: Liabilities classified as held for disposal presented as discontinued operations 1,756 3,121 2,966 - -
Capital employed (continuing operations)? 28,479 29,987 28,630 32,374 31,819

1 Debt is generally reported with a value representing approximately the amount to
be repaid. However for debt designated in a hedging relationship (fair value hedges),
this amount is adjusted by changes in market value mainly due to changes in interest
rates. Accordingly, we deduct these changes in market value in order to end up with
an amount of debt that approximately will be repaid, which we believe is a more mean-

ingful figure for the calculation presented above. For further information on fair value
hedges see —> NOTE 31 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

Average capital employed for a fiscal year is determined as a five-point average in
capital employed of the respective quarters starting with the capital employed as of
September 30 of the previous fiscal year.

Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2012 20Mm
Income from continuing operations before interest after tax
Net income 4,590 6,321
Less/Plus: Other interest expensel/income, net (471) (376)
Less/Plus: SFS Other interest expense/income’ 462 371
Plus: Interest cost on Pension plans and similar commitments? 333 356
Less: Taxes on interest adjustments? (93) (81)
Income before interest after tax 4,821 6,590
Less/Plus: Income/loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 595 1,055
Income from continuing operations before interest after tax 5,416 7,645
Return on capital employed (ROCE) (adjusted) (continuing operations)
(1) Income from continuing operations before interest after tax 5,416 7,645
(I1) Average capital employed (continuing operations) 31,816 30,258
(1)/(11) ROCE (adjusted) (continuing operations) 17.0% 25.3%

1 SFS Other interest incomelexpense is included in Other interest income/expense, net.
Adding back SFS Other interest income/expense in the numerator corresponds to the
adjustment for SFS Debt in the denominator.

2 For fiscal 2012 and 2011, interest cost on Pension plans and similar commitments is
calculated using the weighted average discount rate of our pension benefit plans
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011 (4.5%) and September 30, 2010 (4.2%)

(both as reported in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) applied to Pension
plans and similar commitments as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position as of September 30, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Effective tax rate for the determination of taxes on interest adjustments is calculated by
dividing Income taxes through Income from continuing operations before income taxes,
both as reported in — D.1 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME.
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C.2.6.2 RETURN ON EQUITY (ROE) (AFTER TAX)
The following table reports the calculation of ROE (after tax) of
SFS as defined under One Siemens.

Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2012 201

Calculation of income taxes of Financial

Services (SFS)

Profit of SFS

(Income before Income Taxes, IBIT) 479 428

Less/Plus: Income/loss from investments

accounted for using the equity method,

net of SFS’ (168) (92)

Less: Tax-free income components

and others? 57 (16)

Tax basis 368 319

Tax rate (flat) 30% 30%
Calculated income taxes of SFS 110 96

Profit after tax of SFS

Profit of SFS (IBIT) 479 428

Less: Calculated income taxes of SFS (110) (96)
Profit after tax of SFS 368 332

ROE (after tax) of SFS

(1) Profit after tax of SFS 368 332

(I1) Average allocated equity of SFS?3 1,681 1,468
(1)/(11) ROE (after tax) of SFS 21.9% 22.6%

1 For information on Income (loss) from investments accounted for using the equity
method, net of SFS, see —> €.3.3 RECONCILIATION TO ADJUSTED EBITDA (CONTINUING
OPERATIONS).

2 Tax-free income components include forms of financing which are generally
exempted from income taxes. Others comprise result components related to the
(partial) sale/divestment of equity investments, which are reclassified from at
equity to available-for-sale financial assets and are therefore not included in the
(Income) loss from investments accounted for using the equity method, net.
Such results are already taxed or generally tax free. Others may also comprise
an adjustment for material taxable Income (loss) from investments accounted for
using the equity method, net.

3 Average allocated equity of SFS for a fiscal year is determined as a five-point average
in allocated equity of SFS of the respective quarters starting with the allocated equity
of SFS as of September 30 of the previous fiscal year.

C.2.6.3 DEFINITIONS OF OTHER

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES

We also use other financial performance measures in addition
to the measures described above, such as new orders and order
backlog for the assessment of our future revenue potential. We
define and calculate new orders and order backlog as follows:

Under its policy for the recognition of new orders, Siemens
generally recognizes the total contract amount for a new order
when we enter into a contract that we consider legally effec-
tive and compulsory based on a number of different criteria.

1 A.  Toour Shareholders

The contract amount is the agreed price or fee for that portion
of the contract for which the delivery of goods and/or the pro-
vision of services has been irrevocably agreed. Future reve-
nues from service, maintenance and outsourcing contracts are
recognized as new orders in the amount of the total contract
value only if there is adequate assurance that the contract will
remain in effect for its entire duration (e.g., due to high exit
barriers for the customer). New orders are generally recog-
nized immediately when the relevant contract is considered
legally effective and compulsory. The only exceptions are or-
ders with short overall contract terms. In this case, a separate
reporting of new orders would provide no significant addition-
al information regarding our performance. For orders of this
type the recognition of new orders thus occurs when the cor-
responding revenue is recognized.

Order backlog represents an indicator for the future revenues
of our Company resulting from already recognized new orders.
Order backlog is calculated by adding the new orders of the
current fiscal year to the balance of the order backlog as of the
end of the prior fiscal year and by subtracting the revenue rec-
ognized in the current fiscal year. If the amount of an order al-
ready recognized in the current or the previous fiscal years is
modified or if an order from the current fiscal year is cancelled,
Siemens adjusts its new orders for the current quarter and also
its order backlog accordingly, but does not retroactively adjust
previously published new orders. However, if an order from a
previous fiscal year is cancelled, new orders of the current
quarter and, accordingly, the current fiscal year are generally
not adjusted, instead, the existing order backlog is revised di-
rectly. Aside from cancellations, the order backlog is also sub-
ject to portfolio effects and to currency translation effects.

There is no standard system for compiling and calculating new
orders and order backlog information that applies across com-
panies. Accordingly, Siemens’ new orders and order backlog
measures may not be comparable with new orders and order
backlog reported by other companies. Siemens subjects its
new orders and its order backlog to internal documentation
and review requirements. Siemens may change its policies for
recognizing new orders and order backlog in the future with-
out previous notice.
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C.3 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

C.3.1 Results of Siemens

The following discussion presents selected information for
Siemens for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012:

C.3.1.1 NEW ORDERS AND REVENUE

Revenue increased steadily quarter by quarter throughout fis-
cal 2012 and came in at €78.296 billion, up 7% from the prior-
year period. Revenue growth included increases in all Sectors
and all three reporting regions, supported by Siemens’ strong
order backlog. Slowing growth in the world economy was evi-
dent in the development of new orders, which decreased 10%
year-over-year primarily due to substantially lower volume
from large orders compared to the prior-year period. This re-
sulted in a book-to-bill ratio of 0.98 for Siemens in fiscal 2012.
On an organic basis, excluding currency translation and port-
folio effects, orders decreased 13% and revenue came in 3%
above the prior year. The order backlog (defined as the sum of
order backlogs of our Sectors) was €98 billion as of September
30, 2012, up from €97 billion a year earlier, including positive
currency translation effects of €3 billion.

Orders related to external customers in fiscal 2012 declined
10% overall, with results varying among the Sectors. Orders for
Healthcare were up 5%, with most of its businesses contribut-
ing increases, and were level in Industry. Order intake declined
in Energy and Infrastructure &Cities due to substantially lower
volumes from large orders compared to the prior-year period,
which included a number of orders for large wind-farms in
Energy and a €3.7 billion order for trains in Germany won by
Infrastructure &Cities. Orders from emerging markets on a glob-
al basis, as these markets are defined by the International Mon-
etary Fund, declined 7%, less than orders overall, and accounted
for €26.244 billion, or 34%, of total orders for fiscal 2012.

In the region Europe, C.LS., Africa, Middle East, orders de-
clined 17% including double-digit decreases in Infrastructure &
Cities and Energy, which were due to the high basis of compari-
son from large orders mentioned above. This high basis of com-

| NEW ORDERS (LOCATION OF CUSTOMER)

parison was also the primary factor in the order decline in
Germany. Orders for Industry in the region were level compared
to the prior-year period and Healthcare's orders came in slightly
below the level of fiscal 2011. In the Americas, order intake rose
slightly on increases in three of the four Sectors. The Energy
Sector showed a slight decrease due in part to a lower volume
from large orders compared to the prior-year period. Order intake
in the Asia, Australia region showed a slight decrease in fiscal
2012. Double-digit order growth in Healthcare was more than
offset by decreases in the other Sectors. Order intake in India de-
creased sharply compared to the prior-year period, due primarily
to a major contract win at Energy in the prior-year period.

As previously disclosed, Siemens has decided that, subject to
certain limited exceptions, it will not enter into new contracts
with customers in Iran and has issued group-wide policies
establishing the details of its general decision. Under the origi-
nal version of the policies, among other exceptions, which
have been previously disclosed, products and services required
to maintain the installed base (e.g. deliveries of spare parts,
maintenance and assembly services) were permitted to be pro-
vided. However, in the beginning of calendar year 2012,
Siemens resolved to amend the policies to provide that no new
business with respect to products and services destined to
maintain the installed base in Iran’s oil &gas sector may be en-
tered into under any circumstances. In addition, even outside
the oil &gas sector, products and services for the installed base
in Iran may be provided only in strictly limited circumstances
which can be demonstrated to satisfy humanitarian purposes
or private purposes serving the common good (e.g. water sup-
ply and healthcare of the civilian population). In the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2012, Siemens revised its credit risk assess-
ment for Iran. In accordance with project accounting princi-
ples, Siemens therefore revised project calculations for the af-
fected projects that were still permitted to be provided under
these policies. The change in credit risk assessment resulted in
an earnings impact of €347 million. We expect further profit
impacts related to Iran in fiscal 2013. For additional informa-
tion, see —> €.9.3 RISKS.

Year ended September 30, % Change vs. previous year therein
(in millions of €) 2012 20M Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Europe, C.1.5.2, Africa, Middle East 38,655 46,711 (17)% (19)% 1% 1%
therein Germany 9,894 17,353 (43)% (43)% 0% 0%
Americas 22,271 22,077 1% (5)% 5% 1%
therein U.S. 15,403 15,732 (2)% (9)% 6% 1%
Asia, Australia 15,987 16,378 (2)% (7)% 4% 0%
therein China 6,037 6,241 (3)% (11)% 8% 0%
therein India 1,689 3,310 (49)% (45)% (4)% 0%
Siemens 76,913 85,166 (10)% (13)% 2% 1%
| 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects. 2 Commonwealth of Independent States.
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| REVENUE (LOCATION OF CUSTOMER)

Year ended September 30, % Change vs. previous year therein

(in millions of €) 2012 20M Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Europe, C.1.S.2, Africa, Middle East 39,909 38,448 4% 2% 1% 0%
therein Germany 11,072 10,810 2% 2% 0% 0%
Americas 22,864 20,470 12% 5% 6% 1%
therein U.S. 16,670 14,368 16% 7% 8% 1%
Asia, Australia 15,523 14,357 8% 3% 5% 0%
therein China 6,348 6,389 (1)% (7)% 7% (1)%
therein India 2,311 2,353 2)% 4% (5)% 0%
Siemens 78,296 73,275 7% 3% 3% 0%

| 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.

Revenue related to external customers rose 7% compared to
fiscal 2011, including increases in all Sectors. Strong conver-
sion from the Sectors’ order backlogs played a major role in
broad-based revenue growth. Energy revenue increased 12% in
fiscal 2012 and Healthcare revenue increased 9%. Revenue in
Industry and Infrastructure &Cities showed a moderate growth
compared to the prior-year period. On a global basis, emerging
markets grew 7%, and accounted for €25.652 billion, or 33%, of
total revenue in fiscal 2012.

| NEW ORDERS AND REVENUE BY QUARTER (IN MILLIONS OF €)

2 Commonwealth of Independent States.

On a geographic basis, revenue increased in all three reporting
regions, led by double-digit growth in the Americas. In the Eu-
rope, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East region, revenue increased 4%
year-over-year, including increases in all Sectors. In the Ameri-
cas, higher revenue included double-digit increases in Energy,
Industry and Infrastructure &Cities, due to revenue growth of
16% in the U.S. In the Asia, Australia region, revenue rose 8%
on substantial increases in Energy and Healthcare, which were
partly offset by decreases in Infrastructure &Cities and Industry.

New orders Revenue Book-to-bill ratio
0412 | 21,495 | 0412 | 21,703 | 099
Q312 | 17,769 |— Q312 | 19,502 | — 091
Q212 | 17,857 | — Q212 | 19,235 | 093
Q112 19,792 Q112 17,856 1.11
T T T T
Q411 21,059 ‘ ‘ Q411 20,285 ‘ ‘ 1.04
T T T T
Q311 22,879 ‘ ‘ Q311 17,782 ‘ ‘ 1.29
1 1 1 1
Q211 20,582 ‘ ‘ Q211 17,633 ‘ ‘ 1.17
1 1 1 1
Q111 20,647 ‘ ‘ Q111 17,575 ‘ ‘ 1.17
I
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C.3.1.2 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Year ended September 30, % Change
(in millions of €) 2012 201
Gross profit 22,204 22,229 0%
as percentage of revenue 28.4% 30.3% =
Research and development
expenses (4,238) (3,899) 9%
as percentage of revenue 5.4% 5.3% =
Marketing, selling and general
administrative expenses (11,162) (10,239) 9%
as percentage of revenue 14.3% 14.0% =
Other operating income 516 547 (6)%
Other operating expense (276) (374) (26)%
Income (loss) from invest-
ments accounted for using
the equity method, net (266) 210 nla
Interest income 2,234 2,200 2%
Interest expense (1,728) (1,716) 1%
Other financial income
(expense), net (5) 649 nla
Income from continuing
operations before income
taxes 7,279 9,608 (24)%
Income taxes (2,094) (2,232) (6)%
as percentage of income
from continuing operations
before income taxes 29% 23% =
Income from continuing
operations 5,184 7,376 (30)%
Loss from discontinued
operations, net of income
taxes (595) (1,055) (44)%
Net income 4,590 6,321 (27)%
Net income attributable to
non-controlling interests 132 176 -
Net income attributable to
shareholders of Siemens AG 4,458 6,145 27)%

In fiscal 2012, we achieved Income from continuing opera-
tions of €5.184 billion. While this was one of our highest re-
sults ever, it was substantially lower than in the prior year. The
primary factors in the decline were cost of goods sold; research
and development expenses; marketing, selling and general ad-
ministrative expenses; and income (loss) from investments ac-
counted for using the equity method, net. In addition, the pri-
or year included substantially higher financial income associ-
ated with a major divestment. Each of these factors is described
in more detail below. Other line items in the Consolidated
Statements of Income are discussed in —> NOTES 5, 6 AND 8 IN
D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

While revenue for fiscal 2012 rose 7% year-over-year as dis-
cussed earlier, gross profit was nearly unchanged from the pri-
or-year level and declined as a percent of revenue. Industry,
Energy and Infrastructure &Cities all dealt with a less favorable
revenue mix year-over-year, which reduced their gross profit
margins. Gross profit in Energy included €570 million in proj-
ect charges related to offshore grid-connection projects. The
majority of Healthcare's charges for its Agenda 2013 initiative
also impacted gross profit. In fiscal 2011, Healthcare's €381 mil-
lion in charges in the third quarter related to particle therapy
were included in gross profit.

Furthermore, all Sectors increased their spending for market-
ing, selling and administrative expenses and research and de-
velopment expenses in anticipation of an improving global
economic environment in the second half of the fiscal year. In
fact, global economic growth slowed instead of picking up in
the second half, leaving the Sectors with cost positions that
adversely affected income. For more details on our research
and development activities, including a split of research and
development expenses for the Sectors, see —> c.8.2 RESEARCH
AND DEVELOPMENT.

Income (loss) from investments accounted for using the equity
method, net swung from a positive €210 million in fiscal 2011
to a negative €266 million in fiscal 2012. The primary factor
was Nokia Siemens Networks B.V. (NSN), which took substan-
tial restructuring charges in connection with repositioning its
business. This in turn led to an equity investment loss of €741
million associated with NSN, compared to a loss of €280 mil-
lion in the prior year. For additional information, see —> noTE 7
IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

Income from continuing operations in fiscal 2011 benefited
from a gain of €1.520 billion on the sale of Energy'’s interest in
Areva NP S.A.S. (Areva NP), partly offset by the negative im-
pact of €682 million related to an adverse arbitration decision
associated with our decision to exit our nuclear power joint
venture with Areva S.A. (Areva). The net effect of these factors
is included in Other financial income (expense) net. For addi-
tional information, see —> NOTE 8 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

In the current period, Income from continuing operations
included €148 million in gains related to changes in other
post-employment benefits (OPEB) in the U.S., more than off-
set by profit impacts of €347 million, primarily in the Energy
Sector, related to a change in credit risk assessment for Iran.
These gains and impacts were distributed among various
line items.
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As a result of these developments, Income from continuing
operations before income taxes declined 24%. Income taxes
declined 6% year-over-year. The effective tax rate was 29%. For
comparison, the effective tax rate of 23% a year earlier benefit-
ed from the mainly tax-free Areva disposal gain.

Loss from discontinued operations, net of income taxes in
fiscal 2012 was €595 million, compared to €1.055 billion in fis-
cal 2011. Loss from discontinued operations, net of income tax-
es was comprised of the following:

Year ended September 30, % Change
(in millions of €) 2012 201
Siemens IT Solutions
and Services 41 (826) n/a
OSRAM (121) 309 n/a
Siemens’ solar business (241) (365) (34)%
Other former activities (274) (172) 59%

Results related to Siemens IT Solutions and Services, which
was sold to Atos S.A. (AtoS) in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2011,
differed substantially year-over-year. In fiscal 2012, income
was a positive €41 million, compared to a loss of €826 million
in fiscal 2011, which included significant expenses related to
the disposal.

Results for OSRAM in fiscal 2012 included a non-cash effect of a
negative €443 million (pretax). This effect arises from the fact

€.3.2 Segment information analysis

C.3.2.1 ENERGY

that Siemens no longer considered it highly probable to com-
plete its original plan to dispose of OSRAM via an initial public
offering (IPO) in the third quarter of fiscal 2012, and therefore
had to recognize accumulated depreciation, amortization, im-
pairments and equity pick-ups related to OSRAM which under
IFRS were not recognized beginning with the announcement
of the IPO plan in March 2011. The Company intends to dispose
of OSRAM via a spin-off to Siemens shareholders, which is sub-
ject to approval by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting on Janu-
ary 23, 2013. While revenue rose 7% year-over-year, benefiting
from currency translation and portfolio effects, ongoing mar-
ket challenges held back profit development.

In addition, discontinued operations include Siemens’ solar
business, which posted losses of €241 million and €365 million
in fiscal 2012 and 2011, respectively. Both years included pre-
tax impairment charges: €150 million in fiscal 2012 and €231
million in fiscal 2011.

Discontinued operations also include certain remaining items
related to former activities that were disposed of in prior years.
Fiscal 2012 included pretax expenses of €143 million related to
a settlement with the Greek State, and negative tax effects of
€115 million, both related to former Com activities. For addi-
tional information, see —> NOTE 4 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

Net income for Siemens in fiscal 2012 declined to €4.590 bil-
lion from €6.321 billion a year earlier. Net income attributable
to shareholders of Siemens AG was €4.458 billion, down from
€6.145 billion in the same period a year earlier.

| SECTOR
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2012 20Mm Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Profit 2,159 4,230 (49)%
Profit margin 7.8% 17.2%
New orders 26,881 31,407 (14)% (18)% 2% 2%
Total revenue 27,537 24,645 12% 7% 3% 1%
External revenue 27,302 24,390 12%
therein:
Europe, C.1.5.2, Africa, Middle East 14,077 13,447 5%
therein Germany 1,927 1,668 16%
Americas 8,131 7,075 15%
Asia, Australia 5,093 3,869 32%
1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects. 2 Commonwealth of Independent States.
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Energy reported a profit of €2.159 billion in fiscal 2012, a sharp
decrease compared to fiscal 2011. Sector profit was held back
by project charges related to offshore grid connection projects
totaling €570 million. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012,
Siemens revised its credit risk assessment for Iran. In accor-
dance with project accounting principles, we therefore revised
project calculations for the affected contracts. The change in
credit risk assessment resulted in earnings impacts totaling
€327 million mainly at Oil&Gas. Energy also recorded burdens
of €152 million associated with the Olkiluoto project in Fin-
land. In addition, Energy’s business expansion strategy result-
ed in higher marketing, selling and general administrative ex-
penses as well as higher research and development expenses,
and profit development was also held back by a less favorable
revenue mix. For comparison, profit of €4.230 billion in fiscal
2011 benefited from the Areva NP gain of €1.520 billion men-
tioned earlier, only partly offset by the €682 million profit im-
pact related to the arbitration decision discussed earlier and
the Sector’s €60 million share of special employee remunera-
tion costs. The Sector expects further profit impacts related to
Iran in fiscal 2013.

| NEW ORDERS BY BUSINESSES

Revenue rose on conversion from the Sector's strong order
backlog in all three reporting regions, including a substantial
increase in Asia, Australia. Orders came in 14% lower compared
to the prior year, when the Sector recorded a substantially larg-
er volume from major orders. This comparison effect was par-
ticularly notable in Europe, C.L.S., Africa, Middle East. Energy ‘s
book-to-bill ratio for fiscal 2012 was 0.98 and its order backlog
was €55 billion at the end of the period.

Fossil Power Generation generated profit of €1.933 billion
on strong profit contributions from the service and products
businesses, while results from the solutions business were
significantly lower due to a less favorable project mix com-
pared to a year earlier. Profit benefited from a €87 million gain
from the sale of the 25% interest in OAO Power Machines. In
addition, the Division recorded higher expenses for market-
ing and selling year-over-year. For comparison, profit a year
earlier included the €1.520 billion Areva NP gain and a more
favorable project mix in the component business, partly off-
set by the €682 million Areva arbitration impact. Profit in both
years was burdened by charges related to the Olkiluoto proj-

Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2012 20Mm Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Fossil Power Generation 11,116 12,487 (11)% (17)% 2% 4%
Wind Power 4,932 6,461 (24)% (26)% 2% 0%
Oil&Gas 5,307 5,551 (4)% (10)% 2% 3%
Power Transmission 5,824 7,271 (20)% (21)% 1% 0%
| 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
| REVENUE BY BUSINESSES
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2012 20Mm Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Fossil Power Generation 11,161 10,203 9% 5% 3% 2%
Wind Power 5,066 3,686 37% 29% 8% 0%
Oil&Gas 5,115 4,719 8% 3% 2% 3%
Power Transmission 6,593 6,334 4% 2% 2% 0%
| 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
| PROFIT AND PROFIT MARGIN BY BUSINESSES
Profit Profit margin
Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30,
(in millions of €) 2012 201 % Change 2012 201
Fossil Power Generation 1,933 2,837 (32)% 17.3% 27.8%
Wind Power 304 357 (15)% 6.0% 9.7%
Oil&Gas 218 467 (53)% 4.3% 9.9%
Power Transmission (302) 566 nla (4.6)% 8.9%
I
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ect in Finland, amounting to €152 million in the current year
and €87 million a year ago. Revenue rose 9% year-over-year,
with substantial growth in Asia, Australia and significant
growth in the Americas more than offsetting a moderate de-
cline in Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East. Due to a lower vol-
ume from major orders, fiscal 2012 orders came in 11% lower
than a year earlier, including a substantial decline in Europe,
C.I.S., Africa, Middle East.

Profit at Wind Power was lower year-over-year. Positive contri-
butions from substantially higher revenue were offset by high-
er expenses for research and development, marketing and sell-
ing associated with expansion, a less favorable revenue mix,
and increased pricing pressure. In addition, earnings came in
lower due to a €32 million provision related to a wind turbine
component from an external supplier and a charge of €20 mil-
lion related to capacity adjustment. Revenue rose 37% year-
over-year, due to conversion of large orders into current busi-
ness mainly in Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East, and, to a less-
er degree, in the Americas and Asia, Australia. Revenue growth
was supported clearly by positive currency translation effects.
New orders were down 24% due primarily to a lower volume
from large offshore orders in Germany. New order intake in the
U.S. was down compared to fiscal 2011. With the expected
near-term expiration of tax incentives in the U.S., orders in
that country nearly ceased towards the end of fiscal 2012. Giv-
en market developments in the U.S., Wind Power announced
plans to reduce its production capacity. Challenging market
conditions at Wind Power, including pricing pressure, are ex-
pected to continue in coming quarters.

Profit at Oil&Gas declined sharply year-over-year from the
prior year due primarily to €275 million in earnings impacts

C.3.2.2 HEALTHCARE

stemming from the change in credit risk assessment for Iran
mentioned above. In other respects, Oil & Gas performed well,
including a higher earnings contribution from its services
business as well as from its turbines business. Revenue in-
creased clearly due primarily to growth in Asia, Australia. Or-
ders decreased substantially in Asia, Australia, taking orders
lower for the Division overall.

Power Transmission reported a loss of €302 million for fiscal
2012, compared to profit of €566 million for fiscal 2011. The
major factor was €570 million in project charges related pri-
marily to technically complex grid connections to offshore
wind-farms in Germany. These charges were due to project
delays resulting from a complex regulatory environment and
the projects’ complex marine environment, which required
revised estimates of resources and personnel. In addition,
profit was impacted by charges totaling €66 million to address
structural issues in the transformers business. Earnings were
also held back by a less favorable revenue mix, due in part to
low-margin orders booked during prior periods with signifi-
cant pricing pressure. These factors were only partly offset by
the release of a provision of €64 million related to a successful
project completion. For comparison, prior-year period profit
included charges of €57 million, including for staff reduction
measures, associated with optimizing the Division’s global
manufacturing footprint. Order intake decreased 20% com-
pared to the prior year, which included a higher volume from
large orders and a sharp drop in orders in the solutions busi-
ness due in part to more selective order intake. All three
reporting regions saw lower orders. The Division expects con-
tinuing challenges, including the technically complex grid-
connection projects mentioned above and structural issues in
certain businesses.

| SECTOR
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2012 20M Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Profit 1,815 1,334 36%
Profit margin 13.3% 10.7%
New orders 13,806 13,116 5% 0% 4% 0%
Total revenue 13,642 12,517 9% 4% 4% 0%
External revenue 13,600 12,463 9%
therein:
Europe, C.1.S.2, Africa, Middle East 4,593 4,489 2%
therein Germany 1,056 992 6%
Americas 5,692 5,233 9%
Asia, Australia 3,315 2,741 21%

| 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
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The healthcare market environment reflected continuing pres-
sure on public health budgets in developed countries while
healthcare spending increased in emerging market countries,
particularly including China. In fiscal 2012, the Healthcare
Sector launched “Agenda 2013", which is a global initiative tar-
geting innovation, regional presence, competitiveness, and
human resource development. The initiative encompasses a
realignment of the radiation therapy business that includes
rightsizing measures and a program to improve the cost posi-
tion at Diagnostics.

The Healthcare Sector delivered €1.815 billion in profit in
fiscal 2012, led by continued strong earnings performance
from its imaging and therapy systems businesses. Results for
the year were influenced by “Agenda 2013", including €184
million in charges. The Sector expects additional charges in
coming quarters. Profit development also included higher
expenses for research and development as well as higher
marketing, selling and general administrative expenses, due
in part for investments in product development and expand-
ed sales activities in emerging markets. These effects were
partly offset by the Sector’s €49 million portion of the OPEB-
gain in the U.S. mentioned earlier and a net gain of €34 mil-
lion from the successful pursuit of a patent infringement
claim. For comparison, Healthcare profit in fiscal 2011 was
held back by negative impacts related to particle therapy
projects, primarily including €381 million in the third quarter
when the Sector shifted the focus of certain projects primar-
ily to research. Within this impact was a negative effect of
approximately €100 million related to reducing revenue from
prior periods. In addition the Sector took €32 million in
charges stemming from increased cost estimates for com-
pleting particle therapy contracts in the first quarter. Fiscal

C.3.2.3 INDUSTRY

2011 profit was held back also by the Sector's €43 million
share of the special employee remuneration allocation men-
tioned earlier and a loss of €32 million on the sale of a health-
care IT business in France.

Profit at Diagnostics came in at €314 million compared to €300
million a year earlier, driven primarily by higher revenue. In
connection with the “Agenda 2013” initiative, Diagnostics took
€80 million in charges in fiscal 2012 related to improving its
cost position. For comparison, profit at Diagnostics in fiscal
2011 was impacted by an increase in valuation allowances for
receivables triggered by a debt rating downgrade related to
Greece. Purchase price allocation (PPA) effects related to past
acquisitions at Diagnostics were €173 million in fiscal 2012. A
year earlier, Diagnostics recorded €169 million in PPA effects.

Revenue for Healthcare in fiscal 2012 increased 9% compared
to the prior-year period, including growth on a broad basis
among its businesses. Revenue a year earlier included the neg-
ative revenue effect of approximately €100 million related to
particle therapy projects mentioned above. Orders came in 5%
higher, with most businesses contributing increases. On a
geographic basis, Asia, Australia and the Americas drove reve-
nue and order growth, due to increases in China and the U.S.
The book-to-bill ratio was 1.01, and Healthcare’s order backlog
was €7 billion at the end of fiscal 2012.

The Sector’'s Diagnostics business contributed to overall
growth. Revenue and orders were up 8%, both reaching €3.969
billion from €3.667 billion and €3.678 billion, respectively, in
the prior-year period. Diagnostics showed the same develop-
ment as the Sector with regard to the regions. On an organic
basis, both revenue and orders rose 4%.

| SECTOR
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2012 20M Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Profit 2,467 2,752 (10)%
Profit margin 12.0% 14.0%
New orders 19,985 20,184 (1)% 3)% 2% 0%
Total revenue 20,508 19,590 5% 2% 3% 0%
External revenue 18,872 18,124 4%
therein:
Europe, C.1.S.2, Africa, Middle East 9,789 9,376 4%
therein Germany 4,487 4,293 5%
Americas 4,280 3,801 13%
Asia, Australia 4,802 4,947 3)%
| 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects. 2 Commonwealth of Independent States.
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In fiscal 2012, profit at Industry declined 10% year-over year as
market conditions for the Sector became less favorable in the
second half of the period. This was particularly evident in
China and to a lesser extent in Germany, two of the Sector’s
most important national markets. Profit development in fiscal
2012 was also held back by a less favorable business mix as
well as higher marketing, selling, general and administrative
expenses associated with innovation and growth opportuni-
ties. Furthermore, profit at Industry was impacted by market
challenges for its renewable energy offerings. The Sector took
€28 million in charges related to severance programs for ad-
justing capacity and adapting its portfolio primarily related to
those offerings. These factors were only partially offset by In-
dustry’s €30 million portion of the OPEB gain mentioned earli-
er. For comparison, profit in fiscal 2011 was burdened by Indus-
try’s €75 million share of a special remuneration allocation.

Revenue in fiscal 2012 for Industry rose moderately year-over-
year on broad-based increases across its businesses. Industry’s
orders declined slightly compared to the prior fiscal year as
higher orders at Industry Automation were more than offset by
a decrease at Drive Technologies and the metal technologies
business. On a regional basis, revenue was up in the Americas
and Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East, more than offsetting a
decline in Asia, Australia. The decline in orders was due pri-
marily to lower demand from Asia, Australia. Revenue and or-
der development in fiscal 2012 benefited from positive curren-

| NEW ORDERS BY BUSINESSES

cy translation effects. On a book-to-bill ratio of 0.97, Industry's
order backlog was €11 billion at the end of fiscal 2012, un-
changed from a year earlier.

Profit at Industry Automation declined 5% year-over year. The
decline compared to the prior fiscal year was due mainly to a
less favorable business mix, higher marketing and selling,
general and administrative expenses and lower earnings from
the Division's offerings for renewable energy. On growth in all
three reporting regions, revenue for the Division was up 7%
and orders increased 6% year-over-year. Both fiscal years under
review included PPA effects from the acquisition of UGS Corp.,
acquired in fiscal 2007. PPA effects were €149 million in fiscal
2012 and €137 million a year earlier.

Profit at Drive Technologies in fiscal 2012 came in at €970 mil-
lion, down significantly from a year earlier also due mainly to a
less favorable business mix, lower earnings from its offerings
for renewable energy, and higher research and development as
well as marketing, selling and general administrative costs
compared to fiscal 2011. The Division's portion of the severance
charges mentioned for the Sector was €20 million. While reve-
nue for Drive Technologies grew moderately compared to fiscal
2011, orders declined clearly year-over year. On a regional basis,
revenue growth was driven by the Americas and supported by
moderate growth in Europe, C.I.S, Africa, Middle East. The de-
cline in orders was due to weak demand from Asia, Australia.

Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2012 201 Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Industry Automation 9,547 8,983 6% 4% 3% 0%
Drive Technologies 9,395 9,995 (6)% (8)% 2% 0%
| 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
| REVENUE BY BUSINESSES
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2012 201 Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Industry Automation 9,563 8,974 7% 3% 3% 0%
Drive Technologies 9,640 9,179 5% 3% 2% 0%
| 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
| PROFIT AND PROFIT MARGIN BY BUSINESSES
Profit Profit margin
Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30,
(in millions of €) 2012 20Mm % Change 2012 201
Industry Automation 1,335 1,411 (5)% 14.0% 15.7%
Drive Technologies 970 1,158 (16)% 10.1% 12.6%
I
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C.3.2.4 INFRASTRUCTURE &CITIES

| SECTOR
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2012 20M1 Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Profit 1,102 1,126 (2)%
Profit margin 6.3% 6.6%
New orders 17,150 21,348 (20)% (22)% 2% 0%
Total revenue 17,585 16,976 4% 1% 3% 0%
External revenue 16,731 16,166 3%
therein:
Europe, C.I.5.2, Africa, Middle East 10,121 9,590 6%
therein Germany 2,880 2,938 2)%
Americas 4,344 3,882 12%
Asia, Australia 2,267 2,694 (16)%

| 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.

Profit at Infrastructure & Cities came in at €1.102 billion, down
slightly year-over-year. While the Power Grid Solutions &Prod-
ucts business and the Building Technologies Division both im-
proved profit year-over-year, profit at Transportation & Logistics
declined substantially due mainly to €86 million in charges at
a rolling stock project in Germany. Profit development for the
Sector was also held back by €42 million in charges related to
severance programs. These negative effects were partly offset
by a positive €50 million contribution from the Sector’s inter-
est in AtoS and the Sector’s €30 million portion of the OPEB
gain mentioned earlier. For comparison, profit in fiscal 2011
was burdened by the Sector's €63 million share of a special
employee remuneration allocation.

| NEW ORDERS BY BUSINESSES

2 Commonwealth of Independent States.

Revenue grew moderately year-over-year, as higher revenue in
the regions America and Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East
more than offset a decline in Asia, Australia. Revenue growth
was driven by Power Grid Solutions &Products and Building
Technologies. Revenue at Transportation &Logistics declined
slightly year-over-year. Orders for the Sector decreased 20%
compared to the prior year, which included a sharply higher
volume from major orders at Transportation &Logistics. This
included Siemens’ largest-ever train order in Germany, worth
€3.7 billion, and a major order for high-speed trains in the U.K.
As a result, fiscal 2012 orders came in substantially lower in
Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East. Order intake was also clearly
lower in Asia, Australia, only partly offset by a slight increase
in the Americas. On a book-to-bill ratio of 0.98, Infrastruc-
ture &Cities’ order backlog was €24 billion at the end of fiscal
2012, unchanged from a year earlier.

Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2012 201 Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Transportation & Logistics 5,382 10,052 (46)% (48)% 1% 0%
Power Grid Solutions & Products 6,275 5,905 6% 4% 2% 0%
Building Technologies 5,809 5,597 4% 0% 3% 0%
| 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
| REVENUE BY BUSINESSES
Year ended September 30, % Change therein
(in millions of €) 2012 201 Actual Adjusted’ Currency Portfolio
Transportation & Logistics 5,969 6,041 (M% (4)% 2% 0%
Power Grid Solutions & Products 6,068 5,657 7% 5% 2% 0%
Building Technologies 5,820 5,468 6% 3% 3% 0%
| 1 Excluding currency translation and portfolio effects.
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| PROFIT AND PROFIT MARGIN BY BUSINESSES

Profit Profit margin

Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2012 20Mm % Change 2012 201
Transportation & Logistics 236 365 (35)% 4.0% 6.0%
Power Grid Solutions & Products 457 413 11% 7.5% 7.3%
Building Technologies 379 364 4% 6.5% 6.7%

Profit at the Transportation & Logistics business declined 35%
year-over-year. This decline was due mainly to the above-men-
tioned €86 million in charges related to delays in fulfilling a
rolling stock order in Germany. In addition, the revenue mix in
fiscal 2012 was less favorable due to lower margins associated
with large, long-term contracts from prior periods which
Transportation &Logistics began to convert into current busi-
ness in fiscal 2012. Revenue came in slightly lower year-over-
year, as higher revenue in the Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle
East region was more than offset by lower revenue in Asia,
Australia and the Americas. Order intake decreased 46% year-
over-year, due to the sharply higher volume from large orders a
year earlier. This comparison effect was particularly evident in
the Europe, C.I.S., Africa, Middle East region, where Transpor-
tation & Logistics won the above-mentioned large orders in fis-
cal 2011 for trains in Germany and the U.X.

The profit improvement at Power Grid Solutions &Products
was driven by the business’ low and medium voltage activities.
Profit from smart grid activities was held back by higher re-
search and development, marketing, selling and general ad-
ministrative expenses for growth initiatives. Revenue and or-
ders increased clearly year-over-year, particularly including
double-digit growth in the Americas.

Profit at Building Technologies increased moderately year-
over-year. Profit development in fiscal 2012 was held back by
higher research and development, marketing, selling and gen-
eral administrative expenses associated with growth initia-
tives. Growth in revenue and orders was driven by demand for
the Division's energy efficiency solutions. On a regional basis,
revenue and orders were up in all three reporting regions.

1 A.  Toour Shareholders

C3.2.5 EQUITY INVESTMENTS

In fiscal 2012, Equity Investments recorded a loss of €549 mil-
lion compared to a loss of €26 million in fiscal 2011. The differ-
ence year-over-year is due mainly to a sharply higher equity in-
vestment loss related to our share in NSN, which increased to
€741 million in fiscal 2012 compared to a loss of €280 million a
year earlier. NSN reported to Siemens that it took restructuring
charges and associated items totaling €1.059 billion in fiscal
2012 up from €151 million in the prior fiscal year. In fiscal 2012,
NSN started implementing its previously announced global re-
structuring program aimed at maintaining its long-term com-
petitiveness and improving profitability. Equity investment loss
related to our share in EN declined to €23 million in fiscal 2012
compared to €46 million a year earlier. Losses in both fiscal
years were partly offset by income from equity investments
related to our share in BSH. Furthermore, results from Equity
Investments in fiscal 2011 benefited from a €90 million gain on
the sale of our share in KMW. Results at Equity Investments are
expected to remain volatile in coming quarters.

C.3.2.6 FINANCIAL SERVICES (SFS)

Year ended September 30, % Change
(in millions of €) 2012 2011
Income before income taxes 479 428 12%
Total assets 17,405 14,602 19%

In fiscal 2012, SFS recorded a higher profit (defined as income
before income taxes) year-over-year. While both interest result
and operating expenses associated with SFS’ growth strategy
increased year-over-year, the current period was primarily af-
fected by a €78 million gain on the sale of a stake in Bangalore
International Airport Limited, a public-private partnership, re-
ducing SFS’ equity participation from 40% to 26%. This gain was

21 B. Corporate Governance 49 C. Combined Management Report
50 C.1 Business and economic environment 95 C.6 Overall assessment of the economic position
64 C.2 Financial performance measures 96 C.7 Subsequentevents
69 C.3 Results of operations 97 (.8 Sustainability
82 (.4 Financial position 111 C.9 Report on expected developments and
93 (.5 Netassets position associated material opportunities and risks



partly offset by higher credit hits. The growth strategy at SFS
has led to a significant build-up in total assets, from €14.602 bil-
lion at the end of fiscal 2011 to €17.405 billion at the end of
fiscal 2012, including positive currency translation effects.

The following table provides further information on the capital
structure of SFS as of September 30, 2012 and 2011:

Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2012 201
Allocated equity 1,790 1,593
Total debt 14,558 12,075

therein intragroup financing 14,510 12,066

therein debt from external sources 47 9
Debt to equity ratio 8.13 7.58
Cash and cash equivalents 116 178

Both Moody's and Standard &Poor’s view SFS as a captive
finance company. These rating agencies generally recognize
and accept higher levels of debt attributable to captive finance
subsidiaries in determining long-term and short-term credit
ratings.

The allocated equity for SFS is mainly determined and influ-
enced by the size and quality of its portfolio of commercial
finance as well as project and structured finance assets (pri-
marily loans and leases) and equity investments. This alloca-
tion is designed to cover the risks of the underlying business
and is in line with common risk management standards. The
actual risk of the SFS portfolio is evaluated and controlled on a
regular basis. The allocated equity is calculated quarterly.

C.3.2.7 RECONCILIATION TO

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements includes
Centrally managed portfolio activities, Siemens Real Estate
(SRE) and various categories of items which are not allocated
to the Sectors and to SFS because the Company’s management
has determined that such items are not indicative of the Sectors’
and SFS' respective performance.

Centrally managed portfolio activities

Centrally managed portfolio activities reported a loss of €29
million in fiscal 2012, compared to a loss of €40 million in fiscal
2011.

Siemens Real Estate

Income before income taxes at SRE was €115 million in fiscal
2012, compared to €150 million in fiscal 2011. This decrease is
due in part to lower income related to the disposal of real es-
tate. SRE expects to continue with real estate disposals de-
pending on market conditions.

Corporate items and pensions
Corporate items and pensions totaled a negative €302 million
in fiscal 2012 compared to a negative €257 million a year earlier.

The difference was due mainly to centrally carried pension ex-
pense, which totaled a negative €47 million in fiscal 2012, com-
pared to a positive €75 million in the prior year. The change is
due primarily to a negative effect resulting from a lower ex-
pected return on plan assets and higher interest costs.

Corporate items were a negative €255 million in fiscal 2012
compared to a negative €331 million in fiscal 2011. The amount
for fiscal 2012 benefited from positive effects related to legal
and regulatory matters, compared to net expenses, including a
provision of regional risks of €99 million, related to such mat-
ters in the prior year. In addition, fiscal 2012 includes an
amount of €103 million related to reimbursements to AtoS,
compared to €53 million in the prior year. It also includes a net
gain of €19 million related to a major asset retirement obliga-
tion, compared to a net loss of €28 million in fiscal 2011. The
prior year benefited from management'’s allocation of €267
million of personnel-related costs related to special employee
remuneration, which had been accrued in Corporate items in
fiscal 2010. Within this amount, €240 million was allocated to
the Sectors.

Eliminations, Corporate Treasury

and other reconciling items

In fiscal 2012, income before income taxes from Eliminations,
Corporate Treasury and other reconciling items was a positive
€23 million, compared to a negative €90 million a year earlier.
The main factor of the improvement was Corporate Treasury
activities, due mainly to positive changes in the fair market
value of interest rate derivatives not qualifying for hedge
accounting used for interest rate management, partly offset
by negative currency effects relating to corporate financing
activities.
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€.3.3 Reconciliation to adjusted EBITDA (continuing operations)

The following table gives additional information on topics in-
cluded in Profit and Income before income taxes and provides
areconciliation to adjusted EBITDA based on continuing opera-
tions. We report adjusted EBIT and adjusted EBITDA as a per-
formance measure. The closest comparable GAAP figure under

| FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2012 AND 2011

IFRS is Net income as reported in our “Consolidated Statements
of Income.” For further information regarding adjusted EBIT
and adjusted EBITDA, please see —> C.12 NOTES AND FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS.

Profit’ Income (loss) from investments

accounted for using the equity

method, net?

(in millions of €) 2012 20Mm 2012 201

Sectors

Energy Sector 2,159 4,230 87 75

therein: Fossil Power Generation 1,933 2,837 41 33

Wind Power 304 357 6 3)

Oil&Gas 218 467 = =

Power Transmission (302) 566 25 35

Healthcare Sector 1,815 1,334 8 9

therein: Diagnostics 314 300 - -

Industry Sector 2,467 2,752 12 19

therein: Industry Automation 1,335 1,411 2 8

Drive Technologies 970 1,158 10 7

Infrastructure & Cities Sector 1,102 1,126 25 18

therein: Transportation & Logistics 236 365 15 11

Power Grid Solutions & Products 457 413 9 7

Building Technologies 379 364 1 1

Total Sectors 7,543 9,442 133 121

Equity Investments (549) (26) (568) (44)

Financial Services (SFS) 479 428 168 92
Reconciliation to Consolidated Financial Statements

Centrally managed portfolio activities (29) (40) 7 12

Siemens Real Estate (SRE) 115 150 - -

Corporate items and pensions (302) (257) - -

Eliminations, Corporate Treasury and other reconciling items 23 (90) (5) 29

Siemens 7,279 9,608 (266) 210

1 Profit of the Sectors as well as of Equity Investments and Centrally managed portfolio
activities is earnings before financing interest, certain pension costs and income taxes.
Certain other items not considered performance indicative by Management may be
excluded. Profit of SFS and SRE is Income before income taxes. Profit of Siemens is
Income from continuing operations before income taxes. For a reconciliation of Income
from continuing operations before income taxes to Net income see —> D.1 CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF INCOME.

2 Includes impairments and reversals of impairments of investments accounted for using
the equity method.

3 Includes impairment of non-current available-for-sale financial assets. For Siemens,
Financial income (expense), net comprises Interest income, Interest expense and Other
financial income (expense), net as reported in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

1 A.  Toour Shareholders
21 B. Corporate Governance 49 C. Combined Management Report
50 C.1 Business and economic environment 95 C.6 Overall assessment of the economic position
64 C.2 Financial performance measures 96 C.7 Subsequentevents
69 C.3 Results of operations 97 (.8 Sustainability

82 (.4 Financial position
93 (.5 Netassets position

111 C.9 Report on expected developments and
associated material opportunities and risks



Financial income
(expense), net?

Adjusted EBIT*

Amortization®

Depreciation and
impairments of property,
plant and equipment
and goodwill®

Adjusted EBITDA

Adjusted EBITDA margin

2012 20M 2012 201 2012 20M 2012 20M1 2012 201 2012 ‘ 201
39 827 2,033 3,327 97 60 426 343 2,557 3,730 9.3% \ 15.1%
67 823 1,825 1,981 21 15 142 125 1,988 2,121
(5) (3) 303 364 27 9 100 63 430 435
(4) (3) 222 470 38 26 71 63 330 560
(20) 10 (308) 520 11 10 109 87 (187) 617

2 3 1,804 1,322 377 320 349 324 2,530 1,967 18.5% \ 15.7%
9 5 305 295 232 188 226 219 763 702

(15) ) 2,469 2,735 268 249 323 309 3,060 3,292 14.9% \ 16.8%
8 (1) 1,340 1,403 209 193 137 129 1,687 1,725
(6) (1) 966 1,152 48 45 172 163 1,187 1,360
29 (28) 1,048 1,136 112 115 165 163 1,324 1,414 7.5% \ 8.3%
(16) (7) 236 361 13 15 46 44 296 421
(4) (4) 452 409 39 41 71 71 562 521
) (1) 381 365 60 58 47 48 488 471
55 800 7,355 8,521 854 744 1,262 1,139 9,471 10,404
7 13 12 5 = = = = 12 5

385 299 (73) 37 7 9 264 256 197 303
= = (36) (52) 3 2 4 (31) (44)

(112) (82) 227 232 2 2 325 271 553 504
29 94 (331) (350) 16 12 51 47 (264) (290)

137 10 (109) (129) = = (41) (50) (151) (179)

501 1,133 7,043 8,264 882 770 1,862 1,667 9,788 10,701

4 Adjusted EBIT is Income from continuing operations before income taxes less Financial
income (expense), net and Income (loss) from investments accounted for using the equity

method, net.

5 Amortization and impairments, net of reversals, of intangible assets other than goodwill.

6 Depreciation and impairments of property, plant and equipment, net of reversals.

Includes impairments of goodwill of € — million in the current period and € — million
in the prior-year period, respectively.

135
239

D.  Consolidated Financial Statements
E.  Additional Information

129 C.10 Compensation Report, Corporate Governance

statement pursuant to Section 289a of the

German Commercial Code, Takeover-relevant
information and explanatory report

130 C.11 Siemens AG (Discussion on basis of
German Commercial Code)
134 C.12 Notes and forward-looking statements

81



82

C.4 FINANCIAL POSITION

C.4.1 Principles and objectives
of financial management

Siemens is committed to a strong financial profile, which pro-
vides the financial flexibility to achieve growth and portfolio
optimization goals largely independent of capital market con-
ditions.

Financial management at Siemens is executed according to
applicable laws and internal guidelines and regulations. It in-
cludes the following activities:

C.4.1.1 LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT

Our principal source of financing is cash inflows from operat-
ing activities. Corporate Treasury generally manages cash and
cash equivalents for Siemens and has primary responsibility
for raising funds in the capital markets for Siemens through
various debt products, with the exception of countries with
conflicting capital market controls. The relevant consolidated
subsidiaries in these countries obtain financing primarily from
local banks. Siemens follows a prudent borrowing policy that
is aimed towards a balanced financing portfolio, a diversified
maturity profile and a comfortable liquidity cushion. On Sep-
tember 30, 2012, Siemens held €10.891 billion in cash and cash
equivalents, mainly in euro, which were predominantly man-
aged by Corporate Treasury. Especially since the beginning of
the global financial markets crisis, Siemens monitors funding
options available in the capital markets, trends in the availabil-
ity of funds and the cost of such funding very closely to evalu-
ate possible strategies regarding its financial and risk profile.

Corporate Treasury enters into reverse repurchase agreements
with financial institutions with investment grade credit rat-
ings. Siemens holds securities as collateral under these agree-
ments via a third party (Euroclear) and is permitted to sell or
re-pledge the securities. The extent to which Siemens engages
in transactions involving reverse repurchase agreements de-
pends on its liquidity management needs and the availability
of cash and cash equivalents which varies from time to time.
For further information on reverse purchase agreements see
—> NOTE 30 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

1 A.  Toour Shareholders

C.4.1.2 CASH MANAGEMENT

Cash management comprises the management of bank part-
ner relationships and bank accounts as well as the execution
of payments, including the administration of cash pools, on a
global level. Siemens strives to raise efficiency and transparency
through a high level of standardization and continuous ad-
vancement of payment processes. Where permissible, the exe-
cution of intercompany and third party payments is effected
centrally through group-wide tools with central controls to en-
sure compliance with internal and external guidelines and re-
quirements. To ensure efficient management of Siemens’ funds,
Corporate Treasury has established a central cash manage-
ment approach: to the extent legally and economically feasi-
ble, funds are pooled and managed centrally by Corporate
Treasury. Conversely, funding needs within Siemens are cov-
ered centrally by Corporate Treasury via intercompany current
accounts and/or loans where legally and economically feasible.

C.4.1.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Investments of cash and cash equivalents are subject to credit
requirements and counterparty limits. Corporate Treasury
pools and centrally manages Siemens’ interest rate, certain
commodity and currency risk exposures and uses financial de-
rivative instruments in transactions with external financial in-
stitutions to offset such concentrated exposures. Especially
since the beginning of the global financial market crisis,
Siemens monitors counterparty risk in its financial assets and
financial derivative instruments very closely. For more detailed
information about financial risk management at Siemens see
—> NOTE 32 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

C.4.1.4 MANAGEMENT OF PENSION PLAN FUNDING
Siemens’ funding policy for its pension funds is part of its over-
all commitment to sound financial management, which in-
cludes a continuous analysis of the structure of its pension
liabilities. For more detailed information about Siemens’ pen-
sion plan funding see > c.4.4.3 FUNDING OF PENSION PLANS AND
SIMILAR COMMITMENTS.

C.4.1.5 CAPITAL STRUCTURE MANAGEMENT

AND CREDIT RATING

To effectively manage its capital structure, Siemens seeks to
maintain ready access to the capital markets through various
debt products and to preserve its ability to repay and service its
debt obligations over time. For more detailed information
about Siemens’ capital structure, see below.
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A key factor in maintaining a strong financial profile is our
credit rating which is affected by, among other factors, our
capital structure, profitability, ability to generate cash flow,
geographic and product diversification as well as our competi-
tive market position. Our current corporate credit ratings from
Moody’s Investors Service (Moody's) and Standard &Poor’s
Ratings Services (S&P) are noted as follows:

Moody's S&P
Long-term debt Aa3 A+
Short-term debt P-1 A-1+

On June 5, 2012 Moody's raised its long-term Siemens’ credit
rating from “Al” to “Aa3.” The rating classification "Aa” is the
second highest rating within Moody’s debt ratings category.
The numerical modifier “3” indicates a ranking in the lower end
of that rating category. At the same time Moody's revised its
outlook for our credit rating from “positive” to “stable.” The
Moody's rating outlook is an opinion regarding the likely direc-
tion of an issuer's rating over the medium-term. Rating out-
looks of Moody's fall into the following six categories: “posi-
tive,” "negative,” “stable,” “developing,” “ratings under review”
and “no outlook.” Moody’s announced that the rating action
was prompted by the higher levels of profitability and cash
flow leverage that the company has been able to achieve over
the past few years, and Moody's assessment that these levels
are likely to be sustainable through economic cycles, including
the current period of economic weakness in Europe.

"o

Moody's rating for our short-term corporate credit and commer-
cial paper is “P-1,” the highest available rating in the prime rating
system, which assesses issuers’ ability to honor senior financial
obligations and contracts. It applies to senior unsecured obliga-
tions with an original maturity of less than one year. On June 5,
2012 Moody's affirmed our “P-1" short-term rating.

On November 14, 2012, S&P revised its outlook for Siemens’
credit rating from “positive” to “stable”. At the same time, S&P
affirmed the “A+" long-term corporate rating and the “A-1+"
short-term rating, which is the highest short-term rating with-
in the S&P’s short-term rating scale.

The outlook revision to “stable” captures the contraction of op-
erating margin during fiscal 2012 as well as Siemens’ pursuit of
more shareholder friendly actions in the form of a share buy-
back and a revision of the shareholder distribution policy from
30%-50% payout range to 40%-60% including share buybacks.
Within S&P's long-term credit rating definitions "A” has the

third highest long-term rating category. The modifier “+" indi-
cates that our long-term debt ranks in the upper end of the "A”
category. A rating outlook indicates the potential direction of a
long-term credit rating over the medium-term. Rating outlooks
of S&P's fall into the following four categories: “positive,” "neg-
ative,” “stable” and “developing.”

The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission granted Moody's
and S&P the status of nationally recognized statistical rating or-
ganizations (NRSROs). Siemens does not have any agreements
with other nationally recognized statistical rating organiza-
tions to provide long-term and short-term credit ratings.

We believe that our high credit rating for our long-term debt
applied by Moody's and S&P's allows us to raise funds in the
capital markets with attractive conditions or to obtain flexible
financing from banks. A high credit rating generally leads to
lower credit spreads and therefore our rating also positively af-
fects our funding costs. We expect no impact on our funding
costs as a consequence of the revised rating outlook by S&P on
November 14, 2012.

Security ratings are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold
securities. Credit ratings may be subject to revision or with-
drawal by the rating agencies at any time and each rating
should be evaluated independently of any other rating.

c.4.2. Capital structure

Given the favorable capital market conditions at the end of fis-
cal 2012, Siemens announced in August 2012 that it would ad-
just its capital structure through share buybacks amounting to
up to €3 billion by December 30, 2012. The shares repurchased
may be used for the purposes of cancellation and reduction of
capital stock, issuance to employees, board members of affili-
ated companies and members of the Managing Board as well
as to meet obligations arising under and in connection with
convertible bonds and warrant bonds. In fiscal 2012, the Com-
pany repurchased 23,202,500 treasury shares at a weighted av-
erage share price of €76.14. Additionally, the Managing Board
decided to cancel 33,203,421 treasury shares, which reduced
common stock from 914 million shares to 881 million shares.
After the end of fiscal 2012 Siemens repurchased additional
14,746,786 treasury shares at a weighted average price of
€78.14 and completed this share buyback program in Novem-
ber 2012.

In September 2012, Siemens issued €1.4 billion and £1.0 billion
(€1.3 billion) in fixed-rate instruments, which were partly used
to finance this share buyback program.
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Considering the above mentioned transactions and the chang-
es in equity and debt described in —> c.5 NET ASSETS POSITION,
the capital structure changed as follows:

(loss) from investments accounted for using the equity
method, net. For further information, see > c.3.3 RECONCILIA-
TION TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

Year ended September 30, % Change Year ended September 30,
(in millions of €) 2012 20Mm (in millions of €) 2012 2011
Total equity attributable to Short-term debt and current maturities
shareholders of Siemens AG 30,733 31,530 (3)% of long-term debt’ 3,826 3,660
As percentage of total capital 60% 64% Plus: Long-term debt’ 16,880 14,280
Short-term debt and current Less: Cash and cash equivalents (10,891)| (12,468)
maturities of long-term debt 3,826 3,660 Less: Current available-for-sale financial assets (524) (477)
Long-term debt 16,880 14,280 Net debt 9,292 4,995
Total debt 20,707 17,940 15% Less: SFS Debt? (14,558)| (12,075)
As percentage of total capital 40% 36% Plus: Pension plans and similar commitments3 9,926 7,307
Total Cap'FaI Plus: Credit guarantees 326 591
(total equity and total debt) 51,440 49,470 4% - -
Less: 50% nominal amount hybrid bond* (920) (883)
T Less: Fair value hedge accounting adjustment? (1,670) (1,470)
Adjusted industrial net debt 2,396 (1,534)
We have commitments to sell or otherwise issue common - P -
K . . i Adjusted EBITDA (continuing operations) 9,788 10,701
shares in connection with established share-based compensa-
tion plfil’lS. In hscaI. 2012, commitments for share—bz.ased com- Adjusted industrial net debt/adjusted EBITDA
pensation were fulfilled through treasury shares. In fiscal 2013, (continuing operations) 0.24 (0.14)

we may again fulfill commitments for share-based compensa-
tion through treasury shares. Amongst other purposes men-
tioned above we may therefore repurchase additional treasury
shares in fiscal 2013. For additional information with respect to
share-based compensation see —> NOTE 33 IN D.6 NOTES TO CON-
SOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

As part of our One Siemens framework for sustainable value
creation, Siemens decided to continue to use an indicator to
evaluate its capital structure. For further information, see
~> C.2 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE MEASURES. A key consideration in
this regard is maintenance of ready access to the capital mar-
kets through various debt products and preservation of our
ability to repay and service our debt obligations over time.
Siemens set a capital structure target range of 0.5 — 1.0. The
ratio is defined as the item Adjusted industrial net debt divid-
ed by the item Adjusted EBITDA (continuing operations). The
calculation of the item Adjusted industrial net debt is set
forth in the table below. Adjusted EBITDA (continuing opera-
tions) is defined as adjusted earnings before income taxes
(EBIT) before amortization (defined as amortization and im-
pairments, net of reversals, of intangible assets other than
goodwill) and depreciation and impairments of property,
plant and equipment and goodwill. Adjusted EBIT is defined
as the line item Income from continuing operations before in-
come taxes less the line item Interest income, less the line
item Interest expense less the line item Other financial in-
come (expense), net as well as less the line item Income

1 The item Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt as well as the
item Long-term debt included in total fair value hedge accounting adjustments of
€1,670 million and €1,470 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012 and
2011, respectively.

2 The adjustment considers that both Moody’s and S&P's view SFS as a captive finance
company. These rating agencies generally recognize and accept higher levels of debt
attributable to captive finance subsidiaries in determining credit ratings. Following
this concept, we exclude SFS Debt in order to derive an adjusted industrial net debt
which is not affected by SFS’s financing activities.

3 To reflect Siemens'’ total pension liability, adjusted industrial net debt includes line
item Pension plans and similar commitments as presented in —> D.3 CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION.

4 The adjustment for our hybrid bond considers the calculation of this financial ratio
applied by rating agencies to classify 50% of our hybrid bond as equity and 50% as
debt. This assignment reflects the characteristics of our hybrid bond such as a long
maturity date and subordination to all senior and debt obligations.

5 Debt is generally reported with a value representing approximately the amount to
be repaid. However for debt designated in a hedging relationship (fair value hedges),
this amount is adjusted by changes in market value mainly due to changes in inter-
est rates. Accordingly we deduct these changes in market value in order to end
up with an amount of debt that approximately will be repaid. We believe this is a
more meaningful figure for the calculation presented above. For further information
on fair value hedges see —> NOTE 31 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS.

c.4.3 Cash flows

The following discussion presents an analysis of our cash
flows from operating, investing and financing activities for fis-
cal 2012 and 2011 for both continuing and discontinued opera-
tions. Discontinued operations include primarily OSRAM and
Siemens IT Solutions and Services, which were classified as
discontinued operations during the second quarter of fiscal
2011, and the solar business, which was classified as discontin-
ued operations during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012.
Siemens IT Solutions and Services was sold to AtoS in the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2011.
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| CASH FLOWS

Continuing operations Discontinued operations Continuing and

discontinued operations

Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30, Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2012 201 2012 201 2012 201

Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities 6,996 8,081 (24) (314) 6,972 7,767

Investing activities (5,034) (2,739) (650) (1,305) (5,685) (4,044)
therein: Additions to intangible assets and

property, plant and equipment (2,206) (2,163) (204) (454) (2,410) (2,617)

Free cash flow' 4,790 5,918 (228) (768) 4,562 5,150

Financing activities (3,591) (7,062) 674 1,619 (2,916) (5,443)

1 The closest comparable financial measure of Free cash flow under IFRS is Net cash
provided by (used in) operating activities. Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities from continuing operations as well as from continuing and discontinued

We report Free cash flow as a supplemental liquidity measure,
which is defined as net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities less cash used for additions to intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment. We believe that the presenta-
tion of Free cash flow provides useful information to investors
because it gives an indication of the long-term cash-generat-
ing ability of our business and our ability to pay for discretion-
ary and non-discretionary expenditures not included in the
measure, such as dividends, debt repayment or acquisitions.
We also use Free cash flow to compare cash generation among
the segments of our business. Free cash flow should not be
considered in isolation or as an alternative to measures of cash
flow calculated in accordance with IFRS. For further informa-
tion about the usefulness and limitations of this measure, see
—> C.12 NOTES AND FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.

Cash flows from operating activities — Continuing opera-
tions provided net cash of €6.996 billion in fiscal 2012, com-
pared to net cash provided of €8.081 billion in the same period
a year earlier. In the current period income from continuing
operations was €5.184 billion. Therein included were amortiza-
tion, depreciation and impairments of €2.744 billion. A build-
up of operating net working capital reduced the cash inflows
by €0.7 billion. The increase in operating net working capital
was due mainly to a decrease in billings in excess of costs and
estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts and related ad-
vances primarily in the Energy Sector due in part to lower or-
ders year-over-year. The current period also included cash out-
flows of approximately €0.3 billion related to the revaluation of
the commercial feasibility of Healthcare's particle therapy
business for general patient treatment as well as Healthcare's
Agenda 2013 initiative. In the prior-year period income from
continuing operations was €7.376 billion. Therein included
were amortization, depreciation and impairments of €2.437
billion. Income from continuing operations also included the
Areva NP disposal gain of €1.520 billion, partly offset by the
negative impact of €682 million related to an adverse arbitra-

operations is reported in —> D.4 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW. Other
companies that report Free cash flow may define and calculate this measure differently.

tion decision associated with Siemens’ decision to exit its nu-
clear power joint venture with Areva, which was deducted in
the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow within the line item
(Gains) losses on sales of investments, net. A build-up of oper-
ating net working capital in the prior-year period reduced cash
inflows near the level of fiscal 2012.

Discontinued operations used net cash of €24 million in fiscal
2012, compared to net cash used of €314 million in the prior-
year period. The largest factor of the decrease in cash outflows
year-over-year was lower cash outflows related to Siemens IT
Solutions and Services, which a year earlier included higher
payments in connection with the establishment of Siemens IT
Solutions and Services as a separate legal group, including for
carve-out activities and personnel-related matters.

Cash flows from investing activities — Net cash used in in-
vesting activities for continuing operations amounted to
€5.034 billion in fiscal 2012 compared to net cash used of
€2.739 billion in the prior-year period. The increase in cash out-
flows from investing activities was due mainly to lower pro-
ceeds from sales of investments, intangibles and property,
plant and equipment of €1.355 billion; to higher acquisitions,
net of cash acquired, of €1.011 billion; and to the higher build-
up in receivables from financing activities of €317 million relat-
ing to SFS's asset growth strategy. Proceeds of €753 million in
the current period from the sales of investments, intangibles
and property, plant and equipment included the sale of our
25% interest in OAO Power Machines, held by the Energy Sector.
In the prior-year period, proceeds from sales of investments,
intangibles and property, plant and equipment provided net
cash of €2.108 billion. This total included proceeds from the
sale of investments of €1.587 billion, mainly related to the sale
of our Areva NP stake for €1.7 billion in the second quarter of
fiscal 2011, subsequently reduced by €0.7 billion in the third
quarter of fiscal 2011 due to the arbitration decision mentioned
earlier, and the sale of our 49% minority stake in KMW. Cash
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inflows for the prior-year period also included higher proceeds
from real estate disposals at SRE. Acquisitions, net of cash ac-
quired, increased to €1.314 billion from €303 million in the pri-
or-year period, comprising several acquisitions of entities
within the Sectors to optimize our business portfolio, includ-
ing in the current period the acquisition of the Connectors and
Measurements Division of Expro Holdings UK 3 Ltd. in the En-
ergy Sector as mentioned earlier. The aggregate consideration
of this acquisition, net of cash acquired, amounted to €461
million. In the current period, cash outflows for the purchase
of investments of €234 million included the second install-
ment payment in connection with our equity investment in
A2SEA AlS, a supplier of installation services for the construc-
tion of offshore wind-farms. The equity investment is held by
the Energy Sector. For comparison, purchase of investments of
€724 million in the prior-year period included cash outflows re-
lating mainly to €500 million in new equity, which we provid-
ed to NSN in exchange for preferred shares in order to further
strengthen NSN's financial position and the first installment
payment for our equity investment in A2SEA A/S.

Discontinued operations used net cash of €650 million in fiscal
2012, compared to net cash used of €1.305 billion in the prior-
year period. These lower cash outflows related primarily to
OSRAM, which a year earlier included payments related to the
acquisition of Siteco. While both periods included cash out-
flows of a mid triple-digit million € amount relating to Siemens
IT Solutions and Services, these cash outflows were higher in
fiscal 2011.

Free cash flow from continuing operations decreased year-
over-year due primarily to cash flows from operating activities
as discussed above.

On a sequential basis Free cash flow during fiscal 2012 and fis-
cal 2011 developed as follows:

| FREE CASH FLOW (IN MILLIONS OF €)'
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| 1 Continuing operations.
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Cash flows from financing activities — Continuing opera-
tions used net cash of €3.591 billion in fiscal 2012, compared to
net cash used of €7.062 billion in fiscal 2011. The decrease in
net cash outflows in fiscal 2012 was due primarily to the pro-
ceeds from the issuance of long-term debt of €5.113 billion, in-
cluding the issuance of US$3.0 billion bonds with warrant
units in February 2012 as well as the issuance of €1.4 billion
and £1.0 billion in fixed-rate instruments in four tranches in
September 2012. These cash inflows were partly offset by the
repayment of long-term debt of €3.218 billion relating to the
redemption of €1.55 billion in 5.25%-fixed-rate-instruments,
€0.7 billion in floating rate assignable loans, US$0.5 billion in
floating rate notes and US$0.75 billion in 5.5% notes. In fiscal
2012 we recorded also cash outflows of €1.721 billion relating
to the repurchase of 23,202,500 treasury shares at a weighted
average share price of €76.14. For comparison, the prior-year
period included the redemption of €2.0 billion in 5.75% bonds,
a payment of €1.0 billion related to the binding offer to pur-
chase additional shares in order to increase our stake in our
publicly listed Indian subsidiary Siemens Ltd. and higher cash
outflows for financing discontinued operations. Both periods
included cash outflows for dividends, which were €2.629 bil-
lion (for fiscal 2011) in fiscal 2012 compared to €2.356 billion
(for fiscal 2010) in fiscal 2011.

C.4.4 Capital resources and requirements

Our capital resources consist of a variety of short- and long-
term financial instruments including, but not limited to, loans
from financial institutions, commercial paper, notes and bonds
as well as credit facilities. In addition to cash and cash equiva-
lents and to available-for-sale financial assets, liquid resources
consist of future cash flows from operating activities.

Our capital requirements include, among others, scheduled
debt service, regular capital spending, ongoing cash require-
ments from operating and SFS financing activities, including
higher cash outflows related to the growth strategy of SFS, div-
idend payments, pension plan funding, portfolio activities,
and cash outflows in connection with restructuring measures.

Total debt comprises our Notes and bonds, Loans from banks,
Obligations under finance leases and Other financial indebted-
ness such as commercial paper. Total debt comprises Short-
term debt and current maturities of long-term debt as well as
Long-term debt, as stated on the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position. Total liquidity refers to the liquid financial
assets we had available at the respective end of the reporting
period to fund our business operations and pay for near-term
obligations. Total liquidity comprises Cash and cash equiva-
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lents as well as current Available-for-sale financial assets, as
stated on the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position.
Net debt results from total debt less total liquidity. Manage-
ment uses the Net debt measure for internal corporate finance
management, as well as for external communication with in-
vestors, analysts and rating agencies, and accordingly we be-
lieve that presentation of Net debt is useful for those con-
cerned. Net debt should not, however, be considered in isola-
tion or as an alternative to short-term debt and long-term debt
as presented in accordance with IFRS. For further information
about the usefulness and limitations of Net debt, see —> c.12
NOTES AND FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS.

Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2012 201
Short-term debt and current maturities
of long-term debt 3,826 3,660
Long-term debt 16,880 14,280
Total debt 20,707 17,940
Cash and cash equivalents (10,891)| (12,468)
Available-for-sale financial assets (current) (524) 477)
Total liquidity (11,415)| (12,945)
Net debt’ 9,292 4,995

1 We typically need a considerable portion of our cash and cash equivalents as well
as current available-for-sale financial assets at any given time for purposes other
than debt reduction. The deduction of these items from total debt in the calcula-
tion of Net debt therefore should not be understood to mean that these items are
available exclusively for debt reduction at any given time. Net debt comprises items
as stated on - D.3 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION.

The changes in Net debt from fiscal 2011 to 2012 may also be
presented as follows:

| CHANGES IN NET DEBT (IN MILLIONS OF €)

6,259 9,292
697 5034  poo T
495
(7,693)

Net debt at Net cash Income and Net cash Changes Net debt at
September  used in the other used in in certain September
30,20M build-up of  changes in investing financing 30, 2012
operating net cash activities? activities?

net working  provided by
capital’ operating
activities
Total net cash provided
by operating activities?
1 Infiscal 2012, net cash used in the build-up of operating net working capital included

net cash used in inventories less advance payments received of €85 million, net cash
provided by trade and other receivables of €157 million, net cash provided by trade
payables of €197 million and net cash used in billings in excess of costs and in

estimated earnings on incompleted contracts and related advances of €965 million.

2 Continuing operations.

3 Included in fiscal 2012 primarily cash outflows related to dividends paid of totaling
€2.784 billion and to purchase of common stock of €1.721 billion.

Commercial paper program - We have a US$9.0 billion
(€7.0 billion) global multi-currency commercial paper program
in place, which includes the ability to issue US$-denominated
extendible notes. In fiscal 2012 we issued commercial paper in
varying amounts to fund our ongoing short-term capital re-
quirements. Our issuances of commercial paper typically have
a maturity of less than 90 days. As of September 30, 2012, we
had no commercial paper outstanding. All commercial paper
issued in fiscal 2012 was completely repaid within the year.

Notes and bonds — We have a “program for the issuance of
debt instruments” (debt issuance program, formerly called me-
dium-term note program) of €15.0 billion in place which we
update on a regular basis. The last update was made in May
2012. Under this program, we issued the following instru-
ments:

> In September 2012, we issued €1.4 billion and £1.0 billion in
fixed-rate instruments in four tranches comprising €400
million in 0.375% instruments due in September 2014, €1.0
billion in 1.50% instruments due in March 2020, £350 mil-
lion in 2.75% instruments due in September 2025 and £650
million in 3.75% instruments due in September 2042.

> In February 2012, we issued US$400 million in floating rate
notes (three months London Interbank Offered Rate + 1.40%)
due in February 2019.

> In February 2009, we issued €4.0 billion in fixed-rate instru-
ments in two tranches comprising €2.0 billion in 4.125% in-
struments due in February 2013 and €2.0 billion in 5.125%
instruments due in February 2017.

> In June 2008, we issued €3.4 billion in fixed-rate instru-
ments in three tranches, comprising: €1.2 billion in 5.25% in-
struments due in December 2011, which were redeemed at
face value on their maturity date; €1.0 billion in 5.375% in-
struments due in June 2014 and €1.2 billion in 5.625% instru-
ments due in June 2018.

> In August 2008, we increased two tranches of the €3.4 bil-
lion fixed-rate instruments by €750 million, including €350
million in 5.25% instruments due in December 2011, which
were redeemed at face value on their maturity date and
€400 million in 5.625% instruments due in June 2018.

> In March 2006, we issued US$1.0 billion in notes in two
tranches comprising US$500 million in floating rate notes
(three months London Interbank Offered Rate + 0.15%) due
in March 2012, which were redeemed at face value on their
maturity date and US$500 million in 5.625% notes due in
March 2016.

The nominal amount outstanding under the debt issuance pro-
gram was €9.9 billion as of September 30, 2012.
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In February 2012, Siemens issued US$ bonds with warrant
units in an aggregate principal amount of US$3.0 billion in two
tranches. The bonds due in August 2017 have a volume of
US$1.5 billion and a coupon of notional 1.05% per annum; the
bonds due in August 2019 have a volume of US$1.5 billion and
a coupon of notional 1.65% per annum. The exercise price of
the warrants was fixed at 137.5% of the reference price. On
that basis, the exercise price amounts to €104.0018 per share.
At issuance, one warrant will entitle its holder to receive
1,806.1496 Siemens AG shares. The warrants result in option
rights relating to a total of about 21.7 million Siemens AG
shares. The equivalent amount of these bonds outstanding as
of September 30, 2012 was €2.3 billion.

In September 2006, we issued a subordinated hybrid bond in two
tranches, a euro tranche of €900 million in 5.25% notes and a
British pound tranche of £750 million in 6.125% notes, both
tranches with a final legal maturity in September 2066. The com-
pany has a call option after ten years or thereafter. If the bond is
not called, both tranches will become floating rate notes accord-
ing to the conditions of the bond. The total nominal amount of
our hybrid bond as of September 30, 2012 was €1.8 billion.

In August 2006, we issued notes totaling US$5.0 billion. These
notes were issued in four tranches comprising: US$750 million
in floating rate notes (three months London Interbank Offered
Rate + 0.05%) due in August 2009, which were redeemed at
face value at their maturity date; US$750 million in 5.5% notes
due in February 2012, which were redeemed at face value on
their maturity date; US$1.750 billion in 5.75% notes due in Oc-
tober 2016 and US$1.750 billion in 6.125% notes due in August
2026. We may redeem, at any time, all or some of the fixed rate
notes at the early redemption amount (call) according to the
conditions of the notes. The nominal amount of these notes
outstanding as of September 30, 2012 was €2.7 billion.

Assignable loans — In June 2008, we issued four tranches of
assignable loans with an aggregate amount of €1.1 billion:
€370 million in floating rate notes (six months European Inter-
bank Offered Rate + 0.55%) and €113.5 million in 5.283% notes,
both maturing in June 2013 and €283.5 million in floating rate
notes (six months European Interbank Offered Rate + 0.7%)
and €333 miillion in 5.435% notes, both maturing in June 2015.

Both floating rate tranches were called in August 2011 and re-
deemed in December 2011 at face value.

Credit facilities — We have three credit facilities at our dispos-
al for general corporate purposes. Our credit facilities as of
September 30, 2012, consisted of €7.5 billion in committed
lines of credit. These facilities included:

1 A.  Toour Shareholders

> a €4.0 billion undrawn syndicated multi-currency revolving
credit facility provided by a syndicate of international banks
with a 5 year tenor and two one-year extension options,
which was signed in April 2012. It replaced a US$5.0 billion
syndicated multi-currency revolving credit facility, which ex-
pired in March 2012;

> a €450 million bilateral undrawn revolving credit facility pro-
vided by a domestic bank expired in September 2012. This
credit facility has been extended to September 2013;

> a US$4.0 billion syndicated multi-currency credit facility ex-
piring August 2013 provided by a syndicate of international
banks. This facility comprised a US$1.0 billion (€0.8 billion)
term loan which was drawn in January 2007 and is due in
August 2013 as well as an undrawn US$3.0 billion (€2.3 bil-
lion) revolving tranche.

As of September 30, 2012, €6.8 billion of these lines of credit
remained unused.

The maturity profile of the loans, notes and bonds described
above is presented below:

LOANS, NOTES AND BONDS MATURITY PROFILE
| (NOMINAL AMOUNTS OUTSTANDING IN BILLIONS OF €)

4.5

1 The maturity of the hybrid bond depends on the exercise of a call option: the
bond is callable by us in September 2016 and thereafter, with a final legal maturity
ending in September 2066.

2 We may redeem, at any time, all or some of US$-notes, issued in August 2006,
at the early redemption amount (call) according to the conditions of the notes.

As mentioned above Siemens AG maintains two lines of credit
of €4 billion and of US$4 billion, respectively. These two lines
of credit provide its lenders with a right of termination in the
event that (1) Siemens AG becomes a subsidiary of another
company or (2) a person or a group of persons acting in con-
cert acquires control over Siemens AG by being able to exer-
cise decisive influence over its activities (Art. 3 (2) of Council
Regulation (EC) 139/2004). In addition, Siemens AG has a bilat-
eral credit line at its disposal in the amount of €450 million as
mentioned above which may be terminated by the lender if
major changes in Siemens AG's corporate legal situation occur
that jeopardize the orderly repayment of the credit.
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None of our credit facilities contains a material adverse change
provision of the type often found in facilities of such nature
and none of our global commercial paper and debt issuance
programs nor our credit facilities contain specific financial cov-
enants such as rating triggers or interest coverage, leverage or
capitalization ratios that could trigger remedies, such as accel-
eration of repayment or additional collateral.

Further information about our bonds and the other compo-
nents of our debt as well as about the use of financial instru-
ments for hedging purposes is provided in —> NOTES 22 AND 31
IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

Investing activities in intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment - Additions to intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment from continuing operations in-
creased from €2.163 billion in the prior year to €2.206 billion in
fiscal 2012. The majority of the additions, €1.619 billion, took
place in the Sectors. The remaining portion, €587 million relat-
ed mainly to SRE associated with SRE'’s responsibility for uni-
form and comprehensive management of real estate of our
company worldwide.

We directed significant portions of our additions to intangible as-
sets and property, plant and equipment in fiscal 2012 to expand
capacities in strategic growth markets, particularly including
emerging markets; to safequard or enhance market share; and
to secure leadership or competitiveness in technology-driven
growth markets. Energy’s additions totaled €532 million. They
included extension of capacities and facilities such as for the
technology-driven wind power market, particularly in Europe,
as well as improvement and expansion of market presence in
Brazil, Russia, India and China (BRIC countries) at Power Trans-
mission. Considerable amounts at Energy were also used at Fos-
sil Power Generation, including for the rationalization of pro-
duction processes with regard to technical equipment and ma-
chines. Healthcare additions totaled €354 million in fiscal 2012,
including additions to intangibles such as licenses as well as
developing and implementing software and IT solutions, main-
ly relating to the medical imaging, therapy systems and labora-
tory diagnostics businesses. Industry spent a large portion of its
additions to intangible assets and property, plant and equip-
ment of €442 million for the replacement of products and ramp-
ing up capacities, particularly at Industry Automation in China,
and implementing additional productivity measures, particular-
ly at Drive Technologies. Infrastructure & Cities spent the largest
amount of its additions of €290 million at the Power Grid Solu-
tions &Products business, mainly for investments in innovations
at Low and Medium Voltage. The Sector also invested signifi-
cant amounts for strengthening its regional footprint in emerg-
ing markets and its position in fast-growing market segments.

The changes of additions to intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment from fiscal 2011 to 2012 are as follows:

ADDITIONS TO INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY,
| PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (IN MILLIONS OF €)
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For continuing operations the ratio of the items Additions to
intangibles assets and property, plant and equipment and Ad-
ditions to assets held for rental in operating leases to deprecia-
tion and impairments of property, plant and equipment, net of
reversals of impairments as well as amortization and impair-
ments, net of reversals of impairments, of intangible assets
other than goodwill was 94% for fiscal 2012.

Dividend - At the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting scheduled for
January 23, 2013, the Managing Board, in agreement with the
Supervisory Board, will submit the following proposal to allo-
cate the unappropriated net income of Siemens AG for the fis-
cal year ended September 30, 2012: distribution of a dividend of
€3.00 on each no-par value share entitled to the dividend for
fiscal year 2012 existing at the date of the Annual Shareholders’
Meeting, which in the aggregate amounts to an at present ex-
pected total distribution of approximately €2.5 billion.

Other capital requirements — As expected, the current fiscal
year included significant cash outflows relating to the divest-
ment of Siemens IT Solutions and Services in fiscal 2011. We
expect that this divestment will occasion further significant
cash outflows in future periods that might reach a remaining
mid triple-digit million € amount in total.
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As mentioned earlier, Siemens announced in August 2012 that
it would adjust its capital structure through share buybacks
amounting to up to €3 billion by December 30, 2012. In fiscal
2012 we recorded cash outflows of €1.721 billion relating to the
repurchase of 23,202,500 treasury shares at a weighted aver-
age share price of €76.14. After the end of the fiscal 2012 we re-
corded additional cash outflows of €1.2 billion relating to the
share buyback program.

Other capital requirements also include expected significant
cash outflows in coming quarters relating to charges for pro-
gram-related productivity measures in Sectors in connection
with “Siemens 2014,” a company-wide program supporting our
One Siemens framework for sustainable value creation.

With our ability to generate positive operating cash flows, our
total liquidity of €11.415 billion and our €6.8 billion in undrawn
lines of credit and given our credit ratings at year-end we be-
lieve that we have sufficient flexibility to fund our capital re-
quirements including scheduled debt service, regular capital
spending, ongoing cash requirements from operating and SFS
financing activities, dividend payments, pension plan funding
and portfolio activities. Also in our opinion, our working capi-
tal is sufficient for the Company's present requirements.

C.4.4.1 CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

In the ordinary course of business, Siemens’ primary contrac-
tual obligations regarding cash relate to debt, purchase obliga-
tions and operating leases.

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as
of September 30, 2012 that will result in future cash outflows:

| PAYMENTS DUE BY PERIOD

Total | Lessthan 1-3 4-5 After
(in millions of €) 1year years years 5 years
Debt 20,707 3,826 1,940 7,325 7,615
Purchase
obligations 20,519 14,097 3,256 1,650 1,515
Operating leases 3,167 812 1,043 543 770
Total contractual
obligations 44,392 18,735 6,239 9,519 9,899

Debt — As of September 30, 2012, Siemens had €20.707 billion
of short- and long-term debt, of which €3.826 billion will be-
come due within the next twelve months. Short-term debt in-
cludes current maturities of long-term debt, as well as loans
from banks coming due within the next twelve months. Fur-
ther information about the components of debt is given in
—> NOTE 22 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

1 A.  Toour Shareholders

Debt for Siemens as of September 30, 2012 consisted of the
following:

(in millions of €) Short-term | Long-term Total
Notes and bonds 2,018 16,194 18,212
Loans from banks 1,505 449 1,954
Other financial indebtedness 270 110 380
Obligations under finance leases 38 128 161
Total debt 3,826 16,880 20,707

Purchase obligations — Purchase obligations include agree-
ments to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and
legally binding and which specify all of the following items: (1)
fixed or minimum quantities, (2) fixed, minimum or variable
price provisions and (3) approximate timing of the transaction.
As of September 30, 2012, Siemens had €20.519 billion in pur-
chase obligations. These purchase obligations primarily relat-
ed to agreements of our Sectors on the purchase of goods such
as property plant and equipment, intangible assets, raw mate-
rials and supplies or to the purchase of services such as advertis-
ing or maintenance. These purchase obligations have not been
recognized as liabilities or expenses as of September 30, 2012.

In December 2010, Siemens and AtoS signed an option agree-
ment (written call option) which granted AtoS the right to ac-
quire Siemens IT Solutions and Services. Closing of the trans-
action was on July 1, 2011. Related to the transaction is a sev-
en-year outsourcing contract worth around €5.5 billion, under
which AtoS will provide managed services and system integra-
tion to Siemens. The expected remaining cash outflows from
the outsourcing contract are included in these purchase obli-
gations. For further information on that transaction see
—> NOTE 4 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

Operating leases — As of September 30, 2012, Siemens had
a total of €3.167 billion in total future payment obligations
under non-cancelable operating leases, mainly relating to SRE
activities.

Other - Siemens is subject to asset retirement obligations
related to certain items of property, plant and equipment. Such
asset retirement obligations are primarily attributable to envi-
ronmental clean-up costs related to remediation and environ-
mental protection, which amounted to €1.224 billion as of
September 30, 2012, and costs primarily associated with the re-
moval of leasehold improvements at the end of the lease term
of €58 million as of September 30, 2012. The environmental
clean-up costs related to remediation and environmental
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protection liabilities have been accrued based on the estimat-
ed costs of decommissioning facilities for the production of
uranium and mixed-oxide fuel elements in Hanau, Germany
(Hanau facilities), as well as a nuclear research and service
center in Karlstein, Germany (Karlstein facilities). For addition-
al information with respect to asset retirement obligations, see
—> NOTE 24 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

Our liquidity may be adversely affected in future periods by
regular or special contributions to fund our pension plans and
similar commitments. As of September 30, 2012, our liability
for pension plans and similar commitments as recognized in
the Consolidated Statements of Financial Positions amounted
to €9.926 billion. However, the recognized liability may fluctu-
ate significantly in future periods due to changes in assump-
tions, in particular the discount rate, rate of future compensa-
tion increases and pension progression. Actual developments
may differ from assumptions due to changing market, eco-
nomic and governmental regulatory conditions, thereby re-
sulting in an increase or decrease of the liability. Employer
contributions expected to be paid to the funded pension plans
during fiscal 2013 are €625 million, including contributions
due to contractual and legal obligations of approximately €0.3
billion. Additional contributions to our pension benefit plans
may be made or contractually agreed at the discretion of our
management after the end of the reporting period. In fiscal
2009, Siemens reached an agreement with the trustees of cer-
tain pension plans in the U.X., which may lead to contractually
agreed contributions of up to approximately €0.8 billion in com-
ing years. For additional information regarding contributions to
the fund our pension plans and similar commitments see
—> NOTE 23 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

For further information with respect to contractual obligations
see —> NOTE 32 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

C.4.4.2 OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

Guarantees — Siemens guarantees are principally credit guar-
antees and guarantees of third-party performance. As of Sep-
tember 30, 2012, the undiscounted maximum amount of poten-
tial future payments for guarantees was €8.205 billion, includ-
ing guarantees relating to discontinued operations. Credit guar-
antees cover the financial obligations of third-parties in cases
where Siemens is the vendor and/or contractual partner. In ad-
dition, Siemens provides credit guarantees generally as credit-
line guarantees with variable utilization to joint ventures and
associated and other companies accounted for using the equity
method. Total credit guarantees were €635 million as of Sep-
tember 30, 2012. Furthermore, Siemens issues guarantees of
third-party performance, which include performance bonds
and guarantees of advanced payments in cases where Siemens

is the general or subsidiary partner in a consortium. In the
event of non-fulfillment of contractual obligations by the con-
sortium partner(s), Siemens will be required to pay up to an
agreed-upon maximum amount. Guarantees of third-party per-
formance amounted to €1.566 billion as of September 30, 2012.

In fiscal 2007, The Federal Republic of Germany commissioned
a consortium consisting of Siemens and IBM Deutschland GmbH
(IBM) to modernize and operate the non-military information
and communications technology of the German Federal Armed
Forces (Bundeswehr). This project is called HERKULES. A proj-
ect company, BWI Informationstechnik GmbH (BWI), will pro-
vide the services required by the terms of the contract.
Siemens is a shareholder in the project company. The total
contract value amounts to a maximum of approximately €6 bil-
lion. In connection with the consortium and execution of the
contract between BWI and the Federal Republic of Germany in
December 2006, Siemens issued several guarantees legally
and economically connected to each other in favor of the Fed-
eral Republic of Germany and of the consortium member IBM.
The guarantees ensure that BWI has sufficient resources to
provide the required services and to fulfill its contractual obli-
gations. Total future payments potentially required by Siemens
amounted to €2.29 billion as of September 30, 2012 and will be
reduced by approximately €400 million per year over the re-
maining five-year contract period as of September 30, 2012.
Yearly payments under these guarantees are limited to €400
million plus, if applicable, a maximum of €90 million in un-
used guarantees carried forward from the prior year.

Other guarantees amounted to €3.714 billion as of September
30, 2012 and included indemnifications issued in connection
with dispositions of business entities. Such indemnifications,
if customary to the relevant transactions, may protect the buy-
er from potential tax, legal and other risks in conjunction with
the purchased business entity. Indemnifications primarily re-
late to NSN, disposed of in fiscal 2007, EN, disposed of in fiscal
2008, and to Siemens IT Solutions and Services, disposed of in
fiscal 2011. In the event that it becomes probable that Siemens
will be required to satisfy these guarantees, provisions are es-
tablished. Such provisions are established in addition to the
liabilities recognized for the non-contingent component of the
guarantees.

Capital commitments — As of September 30, 2012, the Com-
pany had commitments to make capital contributions to vari-
ous companies of €211 million.

For additional information with respect to guarantees and our
other commitments, see —> NOTE 28 IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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C.4.4.3 FUNDING OF PENSION PLANS

AND SIMILAR COMMITMENTS

As of September 30, 2012, the combined funded status of
Siemens’ pension plans showed an underfunding of €9.0 bil-
lion, compared to an underfunding of €6.2 billion as of Sep-
tember 30, 2011. A significant increase in Siemens’ defined
benefit obligation (DBO) was only partly offset by an increase
in the fair value of Siemens’ funded pension plan assets.

The DBO of Siemens’ pension plans, which takes into account
future compensation and pension increases, amounted to
€33.0 billion on September 30, 2012, an increase of €5.9 billion
from the DBO at the end of the prior fiscal year. The DBO in-
creased primarily due to a decrease in the discount rate for do-
mestic pension plans and almost all our foreign pension plans.

The fair value of Siemens’ funded pension plan assets as of
September 30, 2012, was €24.1 billion, compared to €21.0 bil-
lion at the end of the prior fiscal year. The increase was mainly
due to the actual return on plan assets, which for fiscal 2012
amounted to €3.2 billion, resulting from both fixed income and
equity investments. This represents a 15.6% actual return. For
comparison, the expected return recognized through profit or
loss for fiscal 2012 amounted to €1.3 billion, which corresponds
t0 6.3%.

FUNDED STATUS OF SIEMENS' PENSION PLANS
| (IN BILLIONS OF €)'

September 30, 2012 (9.0)

(6.2) \

September 30, 2011

| 1 Continuing operations.

The funding policy for our pension plans is part of our overall
commitment to sound financial management, which also in-
cludes ongoing analysis of the structure of its pension liabili-
ties. To balance return and risk, we have developed a pension
benefit risk management concept. We have identified that the
prime risk is a decline in the plans’ funded status as a result of
the adverse development of plan assets and/or defined benefit
obligations. The prime risk quantifies the expected maximum
decline in the plans’ funded status for a given confidence level
over a given time horizon. We monitor our investments and our

1 A.  Toour Shareholders

defined benefit obligations in order to measure such prime risk.
Arisk budget on the Group level forms the basis for determining
of our investment strategy, i.e. the strategic allocation of plan
assets among asset classes and the degree of hedging for inter-
est rate risk. We reqularly review both our risk budget and in-
vestment strategy with external experts from the international
asset management and insurance industry to afford an integrat-
ed view of pension assets and pension liabilities. We select asset
managers based on our quantitative and qualitative analysis,
and then continually monitor their performance and risk both
on a stand-alone basis, and in the broader portfolio context. We
review the asset allocation of each plan in light of the duration
of the related pension liabilities and analyze trends and events
that may adversely affect asset values, so that we can initiate
appropriate countermeasures at a very early stage.

We also regularly review the design of our pension plans. His-
torically, the majority of our pension plans have included sig-
nificant defined benefits. However, in order to reduce exposure
to certain risks associated with defined benefit plans, such as
longevity, inflation, effects of compensation increases and oth-
er factors, we implemented new pension plans during the last
several years in some of our important regional companies in-
cluding those for Germany, the U.S. and the U.K. The benefits
of these new plans are based predominantly on the contribu-
tions we make. They are still affected by longevity, inflation ad-
justments and compensation increases, but only to a minor ex-
tent. We expect to continue evaluating the need to implement
similar plan designs in coming years, to better control future
benefit obligations and related costs.

The combined funded status of Siemens’ predominantly un-
funded other post-employment benefit plans amounted to an
underfunding of €0.7 billion as of September 30, 2012, com-
pared to an underfunding of €0.8 billion at the end of the prior
fiscal year. The underfunding decreased mainly due to a plan
change of the main health care plan in the U.S. The group in-
surance program for a defined group of Siemens retirees is re-
placed by individual healthcare agreements between the af-
fected beneficiaries and healthcare insurance providers, result-
ing in a one-time reduction of current and future contributions.

For more information on Siemens’ pension plans, see —> NOTE 23
IN D.6 NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
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C.5 NET ASSETS POSITION

During fiscal 2012, total assets increased to €108.282 billion, up
from €104.243 billion the year before. Our total assets in fiscal
2012 were influenced by positive currency translation effects
of €2.644 billion due mainly to the US$. Within total assets of
€108.282 billion, total assets related to SFS increased to €17.405
billion as of September 30, 2012 from €14.602 billion a year ear-
lier, driven by the growth strategy at SFS. These amounts re-
presented 16% of Siemens’ total assets in fiscal 2012, compared
to 14% in the prior year. Total current assets were 48% in fiscal
2012, compared to 50% in the prior year.

The following table shows current assets at the respective
balance sheet dates:

Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2012 201
Cash and cash equivalents 10,891 12,468
Available-for-sale financial assets 524 477
Trade and other receivables 15,220 14,847
Other current financial assets 2,901 2,628
Inventories 15,679 15,143
Income tax receivables 836 798
Other current assets 1,277 1,264
Assets classified as held for disposal 4,800 4,917

Total current assets 52,129 52,542

Cash and cash equivalents totaled €10.891 billion as of Septem-
ber 30, 2012. The decrease of €1.577 billion from the prior-year
level was mainly due to net cash provided by operating activi-
ties of €6.972 billion, more than offset by net cash used in in-
vesting activities of €5.685 billion and net cash used in financ-
ing activities of €2.916 billion in fiscal 2012. For detailed infor-
mation, see —> €.4.3 CASH FLOWS.

The growth strategy at SFS was the primary factor in the in-
crease year-over-year of €373 million in the line item Trade and
other receivables and the increase of €273 million in the line
item Other current financial assets.

The increase of €536 million year-over-year in the line item
Inventories was due primarily to higher inventories in Total
Sectors. This factor was most notable in the Energy Sector driv-
en by higher finished goods and products held for resale and in
the Infrastructure &Cities Sector driven by an increase in costs
and earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts.

Assets classified as held for disposal decreased to €4.800 bil-
lion as of September 30, 2012 compared to €4.917 billion a year

earlier. The decline year-over-year was due primarily to lower
assets at OSRAM and the sale of our 25% interest in OAO Power
Machines partly offset by an increase in assets relating to the
solar business, which was classified as discontinued opera-
tions during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012.

Long-term assets at the respective balance sheet dates were as
follows:

Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2012 2011
Goodwill 17,069 15,706
Other intangible assets 4,595 4,444
Property, plant and equipment 10,763 10,477
Investments accounted for using

the equity method 4,436 4,966
Other financial assets 14,666 12,126
Deferred tax assets 3,777 3,206
Other assets 846 776
Total long-term assets 56,153 51,701

Goodwill increased to €17.069 billion as of September 30, 2012
compared to €15.706 billion a year earlier. The increase in
goodwill was due mainly to acquisitions and purchase ac-
counting adjustments and to a lesser extent to currency trans-
lation differences. Acquisitions and purchase accounting ad-
justments included the acquisition of the Connectors and
Measurements Division of Expro Holdings UK 3 Ltd in the
Energy Sector, RuggedCom Inc. in the Industry Sector, the
NEM B.V. business in the Energy Sector and eMeter Corpora-
tion in the Infrastructure &Cities Sector.

For information on additions to other intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment see —> c.4.4 CAPITAL RESOURCES
AND REQUIREMENTS.

Investments accounted for using the equity method decreased
year-over-year by €530 million. The main factor was a sharply
higher equity investment loss related to our share in NSN year-
over-year.

The line item Other financial assets increased to €14.666 bil-
lion as of September 30, 2012 compared to €12.126 billion a
year earlier. The change was due primarily to higher loan re-
ceivables driven by the growth strategy at SFS, an increase in
the non-current portion of the fair market values of financial
derivatives used for our hedging activities and an increase in
the market value of our shares in AtoS.
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The table below shows our current and long-term liabilities at
the respective balance sheet dates:

Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2012 20M
Short-term debt and current
maturities of long-term debt 3,826 3,660
Trade payables 8,036 7,677
Other current financial liabilities 1,460 2,247
Current provisions 4,750 5,168
Income tax payables 2,204 2,032
Other current liabilities 20,306 21,020
Liabilities associated with assets
classified as held for disposal 2,054 1,756
Total current liabilities 42,637 43,560
Long-term debt 16,880 14,280
Pension plans and similar commitments 9,926 7,307
Deferred tax liabilities 494 595
Provisions 3,908 3,654
Other financial liabilities 1,083 824
Other liabilities 2,052 1,867
Total long-term liabilities 34,344 28,527

Short-term debt and current maturities of long-term debt in-
creased by €166 million compared to the end of the prior fiscal
year. The main factor of the increase were the reclassifications
of €2.0 billion in 4.125% instruments, due in February 2013,
and of US$1.0 billion term loan, due in August 2013, which was
largely offset by redemptions, including €1.55 billion in 5.25%
fixed-rate instruments, €0.7 billion in floating-rate assignable
loans, US$0.5 billion in floating-rate notes and US$0.75 billion
in 5.5% notes.

Trade payables increased to €8.036 billion as of September 30,
2012 compared to €7.677 billion a year earlier. The main factor
in the increase was higher trade payables in the Energy Sector.

The decrease in the line item Other current financial liabilities to
€1.460 billion as of September 30, 2012 from €2.247 billion in
the prior-year is due mainly to a decrease in the current portion
of the fair market values of financial derivatives used for our
hedging activities and a decrease in miscellaneous liabilities,
including liabilities relating to purchase price adjustments as

1 A.  Toour Shareholders

well as purchase-price-related commitments in connection with
the divestment of Siemens IT Solutions and Services.

Current provisions declined by €418 million compared to the
prior year, which included substantial provisions related to
particle therapy contracts in the Healthcare Sector and the
divestment of Siemens IT Solutions and Services. Fiscal 2012
included an increase in provisions in the Energy Sector, pri-
marily related to off-shore grid connection projects.

Other current liabilities decreased by €714 million compared to
the prior year-end. The main factor was lower billings in ex-
cess of costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted con-
tracts and related advances particularly in the Energy Sector.

Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for disposal
increased to €2.054 billion as of September 30, 2012 from
€1.756 billion in the prior year. The change year-over-year was
due primarily to higher liabilities at OSRAM and the solar busi-
ness, following its classification as discontinued operations as
mentioned above.

Long-term debt increased by €2.601 billion due mainly to the
issuance of US$3.0 billion bonds with warrant units and the is-
suance of €1.4 billion and £1.0 billion in fixed-rate instruments
in four tranches. These issuances were partly offset by the
above-mentioned reclassification in the line item Short-term
debt and current maturities of long-term debt.

The line item Pension plans and similar commitments in-
creased by €2.619 billion as of September 30, 2012, reflecting
the increase in the underfunding of the funded status of
Siemens’ pension plans as of September 30, 2012 to €9.0 bil-
lion, compared to €6.2 billion a year earlier.

The increase in the line item Provisions of €254 million year-
over-year related primarily to an increase in the Energy Sector
including provisions arising from project charges mentioned
above and to liabilities relating to our Hanau and Karlstein
facilities, partly offset by a decrease in provisions related to the
divestment of Siemens IT Solutions and Services.

The line item Other financial liabilities increased by €258 mil-
lion year-over-year mainly related to an acquisition with a mi-
nority shareholder, who was granted a put-option on the non-
controlling interests.
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Shareholders’ equity and total assets were as follows:

Year ended September 30,

(in millions of €) 2012 20M1

Total equity attributable

to shareholders of Siemens AG 30,733 31,530

Equity ratio 28% 30%

Non-controlling interests 569 626
Total assets 108,282 | 104,243

Total equity attributable to shareholders of Siemens AG de-
creased from €31.530 billion at the end of fiscal 2011 to €30.733
billion at the end of fiscal 2012. In fiscal 2012, the main factors
relating to the change in total equity attributable to sharehold-
ers of Siemens AG were: (1) Dividend payments of €2.629 billion
(paid for fiscal 2011); (2) cancellation of 33,203,421 treasury
shares, which reduced common stock from 914 million shares to
881 million shares; (3) repurchase of 23,202,500 treasury shares
at a weighted average share price of €76.14; (4) net income at-
tributable to shareholders of Siemens AG of €4.458 billion.

The line item Total equity attributable to shareholders of
Siemens AG decreased by €797 million and total assets in-
creased by €4.039 billion year-over-year, and as a result our eg-
uity ratio decreased to 28% as of September 30, 2012 compared
to 30% in the prior-year.

For additional information on our net assets position, see —> p.6
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

European sovereign credit exposures — Due to the recent
uncertainties with regard to European sovereign debt expo-
sures we regularly monitor our credit exposures in particular to
public and private sector debtors in Italy, Spain, Greece, Portugal
and Ireland. These credit exposures include trade receivables
from the sale of goods and services, receivables from finance
leases and other financial assets. To evaluate these exposures
we perform a credit rating for public and private sector debtors
using different methods subject to centrally defined limits. For
exposures to public sector debtors, which represented approxi-
mately a quarter of these exposures, we applied a specific poli-
cy: This policy provides that the rating applied to individual
public sector customers cannot be better than the weakest of
the sovereign ratings provided by Moody’s, S&P's and Fitch for
the respective country. Based on our ratings and our credit ex-
posures to end customers or main contractors located in Italy,
Spain, Greece, Portugal and Ireland, totaling a low single-digit
billion € amount as of September 30, 2012, we believe that
Siemens is well-positioned to bear these risks.

C.6 OVERALL ASSESSMENT
OF THE ECONOMIC POSITION

In fiscal 2012 we increased revenue by 7% year-over-year to
€78.296 billion, with all four Sectors and all three reporting re-
gions contributing to growth. New orders came in near the
level of revenue but 10% lower compared to the prior year,
which included substantially higher volumes from large orders
in our Sectors Infrastructure &Cities and Energy. For example,
orders a year earlier included Siemens’ largest-ever order for
trains, worth €3.7 billion.

In fiscal 2012, we achieved income from continuing operations
of €5.184 billion. While this was one of our highest results ev-
er, it was substantially lower than in the prior year and lower
than we expected one year ago. The decline was due mainly to
our Energy Sector which took substantial charges mainly relat-
ed to projects with a complex marine and regulatory environ-
ment in the current period and benefited from the divestment
of its share in Areva NP in the prior year. Due mainly to chal-
lenges in these projects we reduced our income guidance dur-
ing fiscal 2012. Furthermore, profit in Energy in fiscal 2012 was
also burdened by profit impacts of €327 million (pretax) related
to a change in credit risk assessment for Iran. Income from
continuing operations in fiscal 2012 was also held back by a
less favorable market environment in the second half of the
fiscal year. This was particularly evident in the Industry Sector
where profit came in 10% lower year-over-year. Profit at Infra-
structure &Cities in fiscal 2012 also declined year-over-year, as
the Sector took €86 million (pretax) in charges at a rolling
stock project in Germany. In contrast, our Healthcare Sector in-
creased profit year-over-year. For comparison, profit at Health-
care in fiscal 2011 was burdened by charges related to particle
therapy projects. In fiscal 2012, income from continuing opera-
tions was also burdened by a sharply higher loss at Equity
Investments. This was due primarily to our share in NSN. In fis-
cal 2012, NSN took substantial restructuring charges in con-
nection with its previously announced measures aimed at
maintaining its long-term competitiveness and improving
profitability.

Net income in fiscal 2012 was €4.590 billion, down from €6.321
billion a year earlier. This decline was due to lower income
from continuing operations, only partly offset by lower losses
from discontinued operations. In the prior year, discontinued
operations were burdened by a substantial loss related to our
former Siemens IT Solutions and Services business, partly off-
set by income from discontinued operations related to OSRAM.
Income from discontinued operations related to OSRAM turned
negative in the current period.

As a result of the above-mentioned profit impacts, two of our
Sectors, Energy and Infrastructure &Cities, missed their re-
spective adjusted EBITDA target ranges in fiscal 2012.
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We achieved our target for capital efficiency measured in terms
of ROCE (adjusted) on a continuing basis, with a result of
17.0%, well within our target range of 15% to 20%. ROCE (ad-
justed) on a continuing basis a year earlier was 25.3%, benefit-
ing from the above-mentioned divestment at Energy.

Our Free cash flow from continuing operations declined to
€4.790 billion, down 19% year-over-year. Free cash flow devel-
opment was particularly influenced by lower income from con-
tinuing operations. Additional factors included cash outflows
in the current period related to project-related charges in
Healthcare.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012, we initiated a share buy-
back program of up to €3.0 billion, to be financed partly by
long-term debt, and issued bonds totaling €2.7 billion. These
measures are aimed at taking advantage of favorable capital
market conditions while reducing the gap to our capital struc-
ture target. We have set this target, defined as the ratio of ad-
justed industrial net debt to adjusted EBITDA, in the range of
0.5 to 1.0. In fiscal 2012, our capital structure was a positive
0.24 compared to a negative 0.14 in the prior fiscal year.

We believe that we achieved the goals we had announced in
our Interim report for the third quarter of fiscal 2012. With re-
gard to One Siemens, our framework for sustainable value
creation, we believe that we did not fully succeed in our fun-
damental goal of continuous improvement relative to our
markets and competitors. We believe that Agenda 2013, an

C.7 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

After the end of fiscal 2012, Siemens announced the acquisi-
tion of LMS International NV, Belgium, a leading provider of
mechatronic simulation solutions. With the acquisition, which
will be integrated in the Industry Sector’s Industry Automation
Division, Siemens intends to expand and complement the
Industry Sector’s product lifecycle management portfolio with
mechatronic simulation and testing software. The purchase
price amounts to approximately €680 million. The transaction
is subject to approval by regulatory authorities. Closing is expect-
ed in the second quarter of fiscal 2013.

1 A.  Toour Shareholders

initiative started by our Healthcare Sector at the beginning of
fiscal 2012 is making a contribution to achieve these goals.
We intend to expand these efforts on a company level. We
therefore initiated “Siemens 2014”, a company-wide program
aimed at improving our productivity. We defined action areas
for cutting our costs, strengthening our portfolio and becom-
ing faster and less bureaucratic. These goals apply company-
wide, with specific implementation measures to be devel-
oped by each Sector. While program-related productivity mea-
sures will burden Total Sectors profit, particularly in fiscal
2013, we expect that the productivity gains realized will en-
able us to achieve a Total Sectors profit margin of at least 12%
by fiscal 2014.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2012 in connection with the
“Siemens 2014" company program, we decided to divest our so-
lar business, consisting of our solar thermal and photovoltaic
activities, because they have not met our expectations with re-
gard to a number of factors, including changed market condi-
tions, lower growth and strong price pressure.

We intend to provide an attractive return to shareholders. We
previously set a target range for our dividend payout percentage
of 30% to 50% of Net income excluding selected exceptional
non-cash effects. The Siemens Managing Board, in agreement
with the Supervisory Board, proposes a dividend of €3.00 per
share, unchanged from a year earlier. This proposal represents
a dividend payout percentage of 56%, based on shares outstand-
ing as of September 30, 2012.

Also after the end of fiscal 2012, Siemens announced that
it plans to divest the business activities included in the Indus-
try Sector's Water Technologies Business Unit, which as of
September 30, 2012 was part of the Industry Automation
Division. The Business Unit's offerings comprise solutions for
municipal and industrial water purification and wastewater
treatment.
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C.8 SUSTAINABILITY

€.8.1 Sustainability at Siemens

C.8.1.1 OVERVIEW

Sustainability is a guiding principle within our Company.
Siemens has defined sustainability to mean acting responsibly
on behalf of future generations to achieve economic, environ-
mental and social progress. We are aware of the associated
high standards and the possibility of conflicting goals. Never-
theless, the aim to create sustainable added value remains a
key element of our corporate strategy. We are convinced that
sustainability, in this sense, is also a business opportunity, and
one that is worth seizing. One Siemens, our framework for
sustainable value creation and capital-efficient growth ad-
dresses this business opportunity with its three strategic direc-
tions: Focus on innovation-driven growth markets, Get closer
to our customers and Use the power of Siemens.

The products and solutions in our Environmental Portfolio and
the innovative power of Siemens play a central role in contrib-
uting to environmental and climate protection while also
strengthening our standing in these innovation-driven growth
markets.

A close customer relationship based on trust and a competi-
tive, globally balanced and localized network of suppliers sup-
ports us in getting closer to our customers all over the world.

Excellent employees are one of Siemens’ vital strengths as
they play a key role in our success and are the true power of
Siemens. Leveraging the power of Siemens also means strictly
adhering to clear principles of integrity — something we also
expect of our partners and suppliers.

| SIEMENS SUSTAINABILITY BOARD

As all these examples clearly show, sustainability is not just
embellishment at Siemens, it's the central theme of our corpo-
rate strategy. The following chapters will detail this under-
standing and will provide further information on Sustainability
at Siemens.

C.8.1.2 SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT

AND ORGANIZATION

The importance we attach to the topic of sustainability is also
evident in our programs and measures we execute and in the
central positioning within the Company’s organization. In our
Sustainability Program we focus targets and activities in
three areas: Business opportunities, Walk the talk, and Stake-
holder engagement. In the first area we turn our approach to
sustainability into concrete business opportunities. Walk the
talk means we are committed to embedding sustainability
throughout our organization and operations. In the third area
we focus on collaboration with all relevant stakeholders.

Efficient sustainability management is a company-wide task
that requires a clear organizational structure and a thorough
anchoring of sustainability in our corporate culture. All our
sustainability activities are steered by the Chief Sustainability
Officer, who is a member of our Managing Board. In order to
coordinate and manage our sustainability activities efficiently,
we established the Siemens Sustainability Board, the Sustain-
ability Office and the Siemens Sustainability Advisory Board.

The Siemens Sustainability Board, which is chaired by the
Chief Sustainability Officer, is the central steering committee
for sustainability at Siemens. In its regular meetings, it sets our
sustainability strategy and adopts appropriate measures and

Chief Sustainability Officer

Head of Head of Head of Head of Head of Head of Head of
Corporate Corporate Corporate Human Environmental Corporate Corporate Finance — Corporate Legal
Communications Strategies Resources — EMEA Protection, Health Technology — Reporting and and Compliance
and Government and Governance, Management Research &Tech- Controlling
Affairs Processes and Safety nology Center
Chief CTO of CEO of CEO of CEO of CEO of CEO of
Compliance Energy Imaging & Therapy Customer Services Low and Medium Siemens Cluster Brazil
Officer (Energy) Systems (Industry) Voltage Financial Services
(Healthcare) (Infrastructure &
Cities)
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initiatives. Our Chief Sustainability Officer also manages the
Sustainability Office, which is responsible for implementing
the sustainability strategy and for coordinating company-wide
programs and measures.

To help us maintain an objective perspective on our sustainabil-
ity challenges and performance, we have also created the
Siemens Sustainability Advisory Board composed of nine em-
inent figures in science and industry from a range of disciplines
and regions of the world. None are employees of Siemens. The
Board meets at least twice a year, and through professional ex-
changes and concrete initiatives has already contributed to the
further development of our sustainability program.

Furthermore, assigned Sustainability Managers in the Sectors
and Clusters ensure that sustainability measures are imple-
mented throughout the Company.

C.8.1.3 COLLABORATING

FOR SUSTAINABILITY AND PERFORMANCE

Our sustainability efforts are generally based on our Business
Conduct Guidelines, which provide the ethical and legal frame-
work within which we conduct our business activities. They
contain the basic principles and rules for our conduct within
our Company and in relation to our external partners and the
general public. Specific issues, such as those relating to the
environment, are covered in more detailed regulations and
guidelines. This comprehensive set of rules is generally bind-
ing for all companies controlled by Siemens.

Furthermore, we believe that close collaboration with stake-
holders supports us in addressing complex, interlocking sus-
tainability challenges and topics. Maintaining an intensive dia-
logue with partners along the supply chain and with external
stakeholder groups and organizations is important for us:
Siemens is actively engaged with leading global sustainability
organizations, such as the World Business Council for Sustain-
able Development (WBCSD), and committed to international
standards and guidelines for sustainability. For example, we
signed on to the United Nations Global Compact in 2003 and
became a signatory to the Global Compact's CEO Water Man-
date in 2008; since fiscal 2011, we are member of the steering
committee of the Global Compact’s Caring for Climate initia-
tive. We regularly report on our sustainability performance us-
ing the current guidelines (G3.0) of the Global Reporting Initia-
tive (GRI), which aim at high transparency and comparability
for corporate sustainability reporting.

Siemens has been part of the widely respected Dow Jones
Sustainability Index for thirteen consecutive years and is
ranked as Sector Leader in 2012 for Diversified Industrials for
the fifth time in a row and as Supersector Leader for Industrial

1 A.  Toour Shareholders

Goods and Services for the first time ever. We also earned high
ratings on a number of other indexes and rankings, including
those created by the prestigious Carbon Disclosure Project
(CDP). Siemens was included in CDP’s Global 500 Carbon Dis-
closure Leadership Index (CDLI) for the fifth time in a row with
one of the top scores in the world.

c.8.2 Research and development

C.8.2.1 RESEARCH AND

DEVELOPMENT ORGANIZATION AND STRATEGY

In fiscal 2012, we continued to focus on the following areas
in research and development (R&D): (1) ensuring long-term
future viability, (2) enhancing technological competitiveness,
and (3) optimizing the allocation of R&D resources.

Our R&D activities are geared toward ensuring sustainable en-
ergy supplies, which is essential to our long-term viability and
competitiveness in the energy and infrastructure industries.
Accordingly, major focus areas include:

> increasing the efficiency of both renewable and conventional
power generation,

> improving low-loss power transmission, and

> finding new solutions for intelligent power networks (smart
grids), carbon dioxide separation in power plants, and ener-
gy storage systems for volatile renewable energies.

Another major focus is promoting more efficient energy use in
buildings, industrial facilities, and the transport sector — for
example through the development of electric drives and faster
charging stations for electric vehicles.

Across all focus areas, we recognize the vital importance of so-
phisticated software solutions — not just for the areas men-
tioned above but also in nearly all of the other fields in which
Siemens is active. Siemens software was used, for example, to
virtually develop, build, test, and continually optimize the Red
Bull Formula 1 championship-winning car throughout the 2011
season. The same is true of the Mars rover “Curiosity,” which
landed on the red planet in August 2012. Siemens software
was used here to digitally design, assemble, and test a virtual
rover before the first prototype was even constructed.

R&D activities are carried out by both our Sectors and our Cor-
porate Technology (CT) department. The Sectors focus their
R&D efforts on the next generations of their products and solu-
tions. In contrast, the aim of CT is to be a strong innovation
partner for operational units and to help secure our technology
and innovation future while strengthening Siemens as an inte-
grated technology company.
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CT has more than 7,000 employees and is set up as a world-
wide network with primary locations in Germany, the U.S.,
Austria, Russia, India, and China. Among CT's employees, approx-
imately 4,000 software engineers at locations in Asia, Europe
and the Americas develop and implement software for new
products and services for our Sectors. CT makes important
contributions along the entire value chain, from research and
development to production technology, manufacturing pro-
cesses, and testing procedures.

The technology fields cover all technological areas of Siemens.
They include research on materials that help make our prod-
ucts more efficient and the creation of IT platforms, security
solutions, software architecture, technical systems, energy
technologies, sensors, and electronic components. CT also
conducts research into new solutions for automation, medical
information systems, and imaging processes. This portfolio is
supplemented by innovation projects for electric mobility, sus-
tainable urban development, and biotechnology - in other
words, fields with major strategic importance for us. All of CT's
activities are chosen to optimize the allocation of R&D resourc-
es, with a balance between support for the Sectors’ current of-
ferings and development of longer-term opportunities.

CT also strategically handles the intellectual property of
Siemens. Around 350 experts help the Company register pat-
ents and trademarks, establish them, and put them to profit-
able use. CT also acts as a coordinator and leader with regard
to key strategic issues at Siemens, such as lean management
and production, standardization, and project management.

Cooperations with universities and non-university research in-
stitutes make an important contribution to Siemens’ capacity
to innovate. The key goals of these partnerships are:

> tapping the potential for joint research and development
projects,

> developing and extending the network of universities or
research institutes with which Siemens works and
increasing communication between Siemens and these
universities or institutes, and

> strengthening the appeal of Siemens to highly qualified
young people as a potential employer.

In addition, Siemens takes part in publicly funded research pro-
grams. The most important research areas include the develop-
ment of sustainable technologies, the networking of machines,
and the creation of new materials and sustainable recycling.

C.8.2.2 RESEARCH &DEVELOPMENT FIGURES

In fiscal 2012, we recognized research and development ex-
penses of €4.238 billion, compared to €3.899 billion in fiscal
2011 and €3.547 billion in fiscal 2010. The resulting R&D inten-
sity, defined as the ratio of R&D expenses and revenue, of 5.4%
was higher than in fiscal 2011 and fiscal 2010.

| R&D INTENSITY

Research and development Research and de-

expenses (in billions of €) | velopment intensity’
FY 2012 4.238 # 5.4%
FY 2011 3.899 : : : 5.3%
FY 2010 3.547 : : : 5.2%

| 1 R&D intensity is defined as the ratio of R&D expenses and revenue.

R&D expenses and intensities for the Sectors in fiscal 2012,
2011 and 2010 were as follows:

| R&D EXPENSES

(in millions of €) FY 2012 FYy 2011 FY 2010
Energy 840 756 651
Healthcare 1,314 1,173 1,116
Industry 1,215 1,128 993
Infrastructure & Cities 699 696 591
I
| R&D INTENSITY
FY 2012 Fy 20m FY 2010
Energy 3.0% 3.1% 2.9%
Healthcare 9.6% 9.4% 9.0%
Industry 5.9% 5.8% 5.7%
Infrastructure & Cities 4.0% 4.1% 3.6%

Corporate Technology incurred additional R&D expenses.

| R&D INDICATORS'

(in thousands) FY 2012 Fy 20m
Employees? 29.5 27.7
Inventions? 8.9 8.6
First patent applications* 4.6 4.3
1 Continuing operations.
2 Average number of employees in fiscal year.
3 Number of inventions submitted by Business Units based on an internal reporting.
4 First filings as part of the inventions submitted to patent offices.
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In our continuing operations, we had an average of approximate-
ly 12,900 R&D employees in Germany and approximately 16,700
R&D employees in 30 countries outside of Germany during fiscal
2012, including the U.S., China, Austria, India, Slovakia, Switzer-
land, the UK., Croatia, Sweden, Denmark, Mexico, and France.

As of September 30, 2012, the Company held approximately
57,300 patents worldwide in its continuing operations, com-
pared to approximately 53,300 patents as of September 30,
2011. In terms of the number of published patent applications
in calendar year 2011, Siemens in total ranked third in Germany
and - for the second consecutive year — first in Europe. In
terms of the number of patents granted in the U.S., Siemens in
total ranked tenth in calendar year 2011.

201 2010 2009
Germany — German Patent
and Trademark Office (DPMA) 3 3 3
Europe —
European Patent Office (EPO) 1 1 2
U.S. — United States Patent
and Trademark Office (US PTO) 10 9 13

C.8.2.3 RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT IN THE SECTORS
Our R&D activities in the Energy Sector are focused on devel-
oping processes for the efficient generation and transmission
of electrical energy. Major R&D areas in this respect are the de-
velopment of

> technologies for low-loss electricity transmission,

> advanced gas turbines that increase the efficiency and
reduce emissions of power plants,

> combined cycle power plants to increase the availability
of electricity through higher flexibility,

> wind turbine innovations,

> technologies that extract the greenhouse gas carbon
dioxide from the flue gas that occurs during fossil fuel-
fired power generation (carbon capture and storage), and

> a subsea power grid to extract deep-sea oil and natural
gas drilling economically.

Examples of research and development at Energy include Type
B75 rotor blades for wind turbines, each of which has a length of
75 meters; this makes them, to our knowledge, the longest rotor
blades in operation in the world at the moment. At 25 tons, the
B75 is also a lightweight, as it is 10% to 20% lighter than similar
rotor blades. Heavy rotor blades are subjected to higher stress
loads and also require more massive nacelles, towers, and foun-
dations. Intelligent design and low weight therefore have a pos-
itive effect on the cost of electricity produced.

1 A.  Toour Shareholders

In 2011, a combined cycle power generation island delivered
by Siemens in Irsching, Germany, proved an unprecedented net
efficiency rating of 60.75% at an output of 578 megawatts. An
even more efficient combined cycle plant will soon be built in
Diisseldorf. With an anticipated efficiency rating of more than
61% and a previously unattained district heating range, Siemens
expects to set new records in both categories. The total capacity
factor for natural gas as a fuel will reach around 85%.

High-voltage direct-current (HVDC) technology is now making
it possible to transport electricity over great distances with min-
imal losses. In 2009, Siemens put the first overhead HVDC line
into operation with an unprecedented direct current capacity of
800,000 volts. Siemens recently successfully tested its first
HVDC transformer technology with a voltage of 1.1 million volts.
The higher the voltage carried by HVDC cables, the lower the
transmission losses and the higher the transmission capacity.

R&D activities in our Healthcare Sector focus on meeting cus-
tomer challenges from three major trends: the world's popula-
tion continues to grow rapidly and to get older. In addition,
older people make up a higher percentage of the population.
These trends put increasing pressure on healthcare providers
to gather more accurate diagnostic information more effi-
ciently about a wider range of potential disease conditions
and to integrate that information more effectively with treat-
ment options.

One focus area involves combining various imaging methods
that provide increasingly detailed and faster three-dimensional
insights into the body of a patient, while subjecting him or her
to less discomfort. We combine such imaging processes with
therapeutic measures, laboratory diagnostics, and information
technology to create more coordinated workflows. One exam-
ple is the world's only fully integrated whole-body magnetic
resonance (MR) and positron emission tomography (PET) sys-
tem, Biograph mMR, which for the first time allows physicians
to simultaneously see the position of organs within the body,
their function, and their metabolism. In this way they can, for
example, see the position of a tumor, identify 